
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Planning and Development 
Control Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 15 October 2019 – 7:00 pm 
Meeting Space (1st Floor) – 3 Shortlands, Hammersmith, W6 8DA 

 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration: Opposition 

Councillor Rachel Leighton (Chair) 
Councillor Matt Uberoi (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Colin Aherne 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
Councillor Natalia Perez 
Councillor Asif Siddique 
 

Councillor Alex Karmel 
Councillor Matt Thorley 
 

 

 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: Charles Francis 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 07776 672945 
 E-mail: charles.francis@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Public Notice 
Members of the press and public are welcome to attend this and all other Council 
meetings. Should exempt information need to be discussed the committee will pass 
a resolution requiring members of the press and public to leave. 
 

For details on how to register to speak at the meeting, please see overleaf. 
Deadline to register to speak is 4pm on Thursday 10 October 2019. 
 

For queries concerning a specific application, please contact the relevant case 
officer. 
 

The open part of this agenda is available for public inspection at the Town Hall and 
may be viewed on the Council’s website www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 

 Date Issued: 07/10/19 

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


 

PUBLIC SPEAKING AT PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
(PROTOCOL) 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend the Planning and Development Control 
Committee meeting. 
 
Who can speak? 
Only the applicant or their agent and people who have commented on the application as 
part of the planning department consultation process in support or against will be permitted 
to speak at the meeting.  They must have been registered to speak before addressing the 
committee.  Ward Councillors may sometimes wish to speak at meetings even though they 
are not part of the committee.  They can represent the views of their constituents.  The 
Chair will not normally allow comments to be made by other people attending the meeting 
or for substitutes to be made at the meeting. 
 
Do I need to register to speak? 
All speakers except Ward Councillor must register at least two working days before the 
meeting.  For example, if the committee is on Wednesday, requests to speak must be made 
by 4pm on the preceding Friday.  Requests received after this time will not be allowed.  
Registration will be by email only.  Requests are to be sent to 
speakingatplanning@lbhf.gov.uk with your name, address and telephone number and the 
application you wish to speak to as well as the capacity in which you are attending.  
 
How long is provided for speakers? 
Those speaking in support or against an application will be allowed three minutes each.  
Where more than one person wishes to speak for or against an application, a total of five 
minutes will be allocated to those speaking for and those speaking against.  The speakers 
will need to decide whether to appoint a spokesperson or split the time between them.  The 
Chair will say when the speaking time is almost finished to allow time to round up.  The 
speakers cannot question councillors, officers or other speakers and must limit their 
comments to planning related issues. 
 
At the Meeting - please arrive 15 minutes before the meeting starts and make yourself 
known to the Committee Co-ordinator who will explain the procedure. 
 
What materials can be presented to committee? 
To enable speakers to best use the time allocated to them in presenting the key issues they 
want the committee to consider, no new materials or letters or computer presentations will 
be permitted to be presented to the committee.   
 
What happens to my petition or deputation? 
Written petitions made on a planning application are incorporated into the officer report to 
the Committee.  Petitioners, as members of the public, are welcome to attend meetings but 
are not permitted to speak unless registered as a supporter or objector to an application.  
Deputation requests are not accepted on applications for planning permission. 
 

mailto:speakingatplanning@lbhf.gov.uk


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Planning and Development Control 
Committee 

Agenda 
 

15 October 2019 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  
 

5 - 9 

 To approve as an accurate record, and the Chair to sign, the minutes of 
the meeting of the Committee held on 3rd September 2019. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.   

 

4.   KENSINGTON CENTRE, 66 HAMMERSMITH ROAD, AVONMORE 
AND BROOK GREEN, 2017/04752/FUL  
 

10 - 67 

5.   THE CASTLE CENTRE, BROOMHOUSE LANE, SANDS END, 
2019/00732/FUL  
 

68 - 110 



6.   THE CASTLE CENTRE, BROOMHOUSE LANE, SANDS END, 
2019/00733/LBC  
 

111 - 115 

7.   WEST LONDON MAGISTRATES COURT, 181 TALGARTH ROAD, 
HAMMERSMITH BROADWAY, 2019/00195/FUL  
 

116 - 227 

8.   M&S WHITE CITY SITE, 54 WOOD LANE, COLLEGE PARK AND 
OLD OAK, 2019/01300/RES  
 

228 - 268 

9.   MITRE YARD, 104 - 108 SCRUBS LANE, COLLEGE PARK AND OLD 
OAK, 2019/02610/OPDOBS  
 

269 - 286 



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Planning and 
Development Control 

Committee 
Minutes 

 

Tuesday 3 September 2019 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Rachel Leighton (Chair), Matt Uberoi (Vice-Chair), 
Colin Aherne, Wesley Harcourt, Natalia Perez, Asif Siddique, Alex Karmel and 
Matt Thorley 
 
Other Councillors: Larry Culhane 
 
Officers:  
 

 
1. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Development Control Committee 
held on 2nd July 2019 be confirmed and signed as an accurate record of the 
proceedings. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
Councillor Alex Karmel declared a non-pecuniary interest in respect of item 5, 32 A 
Vereker Road as he had some contact with the applicant and some of the 
objectors. He considered that this did not give rise to a perception of a conflict of 
interests and, in the circumstances, it would be reasonable to participate in the 
discussion and vote thereon. 
 

4. DECISION TO VARY THE ORDER OF THE AGENDA 
 
In view of members of the public present for particular applications the Chair 
proposed that the agenda be re-ordered, with which the Committee agreed, and 
the minutes reflect the order of the meeting. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

5. 32A VEREKER ROAD, LONDON W14, NORTH END, 2019/01730/FUL  
 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which made minor changes to 
the report. 
 
The Committee heard several representations from residents in objection to the 
application. A number of points were raised and included: the current application 
varied only slightly from the previous application but included a seven-fold increase 
in the amount of glass to be installed, that the development would result in the loss 
of amenity and light.  The amount of excavated soil was considerable and had 
already caused significant disruption.  That the property had previously been the 
residence of a well-known portraiture artist, Henry Jamyn Brooks and the historic 
links of the property made it unique.   

 

The Committee heard representations from the applicant in support of the 
application.  A number of points were raised and included: That the property had 
not been used as an artist’s studio since the 1940s and had been used as a 
residence.  Previous objections to the application had been addressed and the 
new proposals were his view in line with the planning inspectors’ 
recommendations.  

 

The Committee heard a representation in objection to the application from 
Councillor Larry Culhane, Ward Councillor for North End. 
  
Councillor Alex Karmel proposed the motion, seconded by Councillor Matt Thorley, 
that the Committee decline to take a decision on the application given issues 
raised by both the applicant and the objectors.  The Committee voted on the 
motion as follows: 

  
For: 
4 
Against: 
4 
 
An equal number of votes required Councillor Leighton as Chair to therefore cast a 
deciding vote against, and the motion was duly rejected.   
 
Councillor Alex Karmel moved a second motion, seconded by Councillor Matt 
Thorley, to overturn the officer recommendations on the grounds that the 
application was not materially different with “very little changes…” therefore the 
same grounds to refuse the previous application were valid to this current 
application. The Committee voted on the motion as follows: 
  
For: 
2 
 
Against: 
6 
 
Not Voting: 
0 

Page 6



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

  

The motion was duly rejected. 
 
The Committee voted on application 2019/01730/FUL and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations of approval. This was put to the vote and the result was 
as follows: 
  

Officer recommendation 1: 
 
For: 
0 
 
Against: 
7 
 
Not Voting: 
1 
 
Officer recommendation 2: 
 
For: 
0 
 
Against: 
7 
 
Not Voting: 
1 
 
The Chair provided the following reasons to support the Committees decision to 
refuse the officer recommendations: that the proposed application was not in 
keeping with the character of the Barons Court Conservation Area and would harm 
the appearance of the area; that the unique nature of the property formed an 
integral part of the nature and fabric of the Barons Court Conservation Area. The 
application was also considered to be unneighbourly, over developed and would 
result in the general loss of amenity and privacy, (although not directly of the 
residents of 32 Vereker Road) for neighbouring properties.  The Committee also 
considered that there would be loss of light and excessive potential light spillage.   
 
 

5. FORMER DAIRY CREST SITE, LAND BENEATH AND BOUNDED BY 
WESTWAY AND WEST LONDON RAILWAY LINE AND ADJOINING 58 WOOD 
LANE LONDON W12 7RZ, COLLEGE PARK AND OLD OAK, 2018/00267/OUT  
 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which made minor changes to 
the report. 
 
The Committee heard a representation from the applicant in support of the 
application. A number of points were raised and included: that the applicant had 
undertaken local consultation and engagement with a view to seeking support for a 
mixed use develop which could potentially offer significant local benefits.  The 

Page 7



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

intention was to submit reserve matters applications for the future development.  
Two objections had been received. Councillor Harcourt pointed out that although 
one of these was from the Wood Lane Tenants Association they represented a 
number of residents.  One of the points made related to the height of one of the 
buildings which would consist of 32 storeys. The applicant explained that this 
would be reviewed at the detailed stage.   
 
The Committee voted on application 2018/00267/OUT and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations of approval. This was put to the vote and the result was 
as follows: 
 
Officer recommendation 1: 
 
For: 
8 
 
Against: 
0 
 
Not Voting: 
0 
 
Officer recommendation 2: 
 
For: 
8 
 
Against: 
0 
 
Not Voting: 
0 
 
 

6. JUNCTION OF COMMONWEALTH AVENUE AND BLOEMFONTEIN ROAD 
LONDON W12, WORMHOLT AND WHITE CITY, 2019/00889/FR3  
 
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which made minor changes to 
the report. 
 
The Committee agreed that they did not need to receive a presentation on this 
application and noted the contents of the officer’s report together with the 
Addendum. 
 
The Committee voted on application 2019/00889/FR3 and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations of approval. This was put to the vote and the result was 
as follows: 
 
 
Officer recommendation 1: 
 

Page 8



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

For: 
8 
 
Against: 
0 
 
Not Voting: 
0 
 
Officer recommendation 2: 
 
For: 
8 
 
Against: 
0 
 
Not Voting: 
0 

 
Meeting started: 19:00 
Meeting ended: 21:32 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Bathsheba Mall 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 020 87535758 / 07776672816 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall @lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 9



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Avonmore And Brook Green 
 

Site Address: 
Kensington Centre  66 Hammersmith Road  London  W14 8UD   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2017/04752/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
11.12.2017 
 
Committee Date: 
15.10.2019 

Case Officer: 
Ciaran Regan 
 
Conservation Area: 
 

 
  

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



 

Applicant: 
Quadrant Estates And Pirbright Holdings Limited 
C/O Agent    
 
Description: 
Demolition of existing building and erection of a building of up to 8 storeys in height 
comprising 17,486 sqm of new Class B1 office floorspace (including 904sqm of 
affordable workspace/studio space), 850sqm of Class A1/A3/D2 flexible 
retail/restaurant/gym floorspace, new public realm, plant, car parking, cycle parking and 
associated works. 
Drg Nos: A_PL_P_011 Rev.02, 031 Rev.02, 032 Rev.02, 099 Rev.02,100 Rev.02, 101 
Rev.02, 102 Rev.02, 103 Rev.02, 104 Rev.02,105 Rev.02, 106 Rev.02, 107 Rev.02, 
108 Rev.02, 201 Rev.02, 202 Rev.02, 203 Rev.02, 204 Rev.02, 205 Rev.02, 206 
Rev.02, 301 Rev.02, 302 Rev.02, 303 Rev.02, 304 Rev.02, 400 Rev.02, 401 Rev.02, 
402 Rev.02, 403 Rev.02, 404 Rev.02, 405 Rev.02, 406 Rev.02, 407 Rev.02. 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
Subject to there being no contrary direction from the Mayor for London; that the 
Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy be authorised to determine 
the application and grant permission up on the completion of a satisfactory legal 
agreement and subject to the condition(s) listed below 
 
To authorise the Director for Strategic Director, The Economy in consultation with the 
Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee 
to make any minor modifications to the proposed conditions or heads of terms or any 
subsequent minor changes arising out of detailed negotiations with the applicant 
which may necessitate the modification, which may include the variation, addition or 
deletion of the conditions and heads of terms as drafted to ensure consistency 
between the two sets of provisions. 
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date of this planning permission. 
       
 Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 2) The development shall be carried out and completed only in accordance with the 

following approved drawings: 
  
 Proposed site, block and context streetscenes:   
 A_PL_P_010 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_011 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_031 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_032 Rev.02 
 
  

Page 11



 

 Proposed floorplans:  
 A_PL_P_099 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_100 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_101 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_102 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_103 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_104 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_105 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_106 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_107 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_108 Rev.02 
  
 Proposed sections: 
 A_PL_P_201 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_202 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_203 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_204 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_205 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_206 Rev.02 
  
 Proposed elevations:  
 A_PL_P_301 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_302 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_303 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_304 Rev.02 
  
 Proposed detailed elevations, sections and landscape plan: 
 A_PL_P_400 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_401 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_402 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_403 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_404 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_405 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_406 Rev.02 
 A_PL_P_407 Rev.02 
  
 For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning so as to prevent 

any inadvertent deviations that could compromise the delivery of a sustainable 
development in accordance with the policies and objectives of the London Plan 
(2016) and the Hammersmith and Fulham Local (2018). 

 
 3) Prior to commencement of the works above ground hereby permitted, full details of 

the hard and soft landscaping of all areas external to the building (on all ground 
level and upper level surfaces, balconies and terraces), detailed drawings at a 
scale of not less than 1:20 to include all planting and paving, seating, fences, 
gates and other means of enclosure shall have to be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council, and the development shall not be used until such hard 
landscaping as is approved has been carried out.  Any permeable hard surfacing 
shall use infiltration unless the ground conditions are identified to be unsuitable. 
Soft landscaping shall be carried out during the first planting season available. Any 
soft landscaping removed or severely damaged, dying or becoming seriously 

Page 12



 

diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced with a tree or shrub of similar 
size and species to that originally required to be planted. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and satisfactory provision for 

permeable surfaces in accordance with policies DC1, DC2, DC8 and OS5 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

 
 4) All planting, seeding and turfing approved as part of the submitted landscaping 

scheme shall be carried out in the first planting or seeding seasons following the 
occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the 
sooner; and any trees or shrubs which die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased within 5 years of the date of the initial planting shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species. 

     
 To ensure a satisfactory provision for planting, in accordance with policy OS5 of 

the Local Plan (2018). 
 
 5) The development hereby approved shall be implemented only in accordance with 

the recommendations made in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method 
Statement, Version 2.0 dated 3/7/17, and in accordance with BS5837:2012. 

   
 To ensure that the tree within the site is retained and to prevent harm during the 

course of the construction, in accordance with policies DC1, DC2, DC8 and OS5 
of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
 6) Prior to any demolition works hereby permitted taking place the following shall be 

submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council: 
  
 a) Demolition Logistics Plan (DLP) with details including the numbers, size and 

routes of demolition vehicles, provisions within the site to ensure that all vehicles 
associated with the demolition works are properly washed and cleaned to prevent 
the passage of mud and dirt onto the highway, and other matters relating to traffic 
management to be agreed. Approved details shall be implemented throughout the 

 demolition period. 
  
 b) Demolition Management Plan (DMP) with details including all dust and 

emissions monitoring and control measures, any external illumination of the site 
during demolition, contractors' method statements, waste classification and 
disposal procedures and locations, suitable site hoarding/enclosure (including 
detailed plan, section and elevation drawings at a scale of not less than 1:20 and 
details of material and colour), noise monitoring and control measures for noise, 
vibration, delivery locations, restriction of hours of work and all associated 
activities audible beyond the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs Mondays to Fridays 
and 0800 - 1300 hrs on Saturdays, advance notification to neighbours and other 
interested parties of proposed works and public display of contact details including 
accessible 

 phone contact to persons responsible for the site works for the duration of the 
works. 

  
 The Demolition Logistics Plan and Demolition Management Plan, as approved, 

shall be implemented throughout the demolition period. 
  

Page 13



 

 To ensure that demolition works do not adversely impact on the operation of the 
public highway and that the amenity of neighbouring occupiers is not adversely 
affected by noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from the building site, 
in accordance with policy 5.3 (Sustainable design and construction) and 7.14 
(Improving air quality) of the London Plan (2016) and policies CC12 (Control of 
potentially polluting uses) and T7 (Construction and demolition logistics) of the 
Hammersmith and Fulham Local Plan (2018). 

 
 7) Prior to any construction works hereby permitted taking place the following shall 

be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council: 
  
 a) Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) with details including the numbers, size and 

routes of construction vehicles, provisions within the site to ensure that all vehicles 
associated with the construction works are properly washed and cleaned to 
prevent the passage of mud and dirt onto the highway, and other matters relating 
to traffic management to be agreed. The CLP shall identify efficiency and 
sustainability measures to be undertaken while the development is being built. 

  
 b) Construction Management Plan (CMP) with details including, all dust and 

emissions monitoring and control measures, any external illumination of the site 
during construction, contractors' method statements, waste classification and 
disposal procedures and locations, timber site hoarding/enclosure (including 
detailed plan, section and elevation drawings at a scale of not less than 1:20 and 
details of material and colour), noise monitoring and control measures for noise, 
vibration, lighting, delivery locations, restriction of hours of work and all associated 
activities audible beyond the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs Mondays to Fridays 
and 0800 -1300hrs on Saturdays, advance notification to neighbours and other 
interested parties of proposed works and public display of contact details including 

 accessible phone contact to persons responsible for the site works for the duration 
of the work. 

  
 The Construction Logistics Plan and Construction Management Plan, as 

approved, shall be implemented throughout the construction period. 
  
 Reason: To ensure that construction works do not adversely impact on the 

operation of the public highway and that the amenity of neighbouring occupiers is 
not adversely affected by noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from 
the building site, in accordance with policy 5.3 (Sustainable design and 
construction) and 7.14 (Improving air quality) of the London Plan (2016) and 
policies CC12 (Control of potentially polluting uses) and T7 (Construction and 
demolition logistics) of the Hammersmith and Fulham Local Plan (2018). 

 
 8) No development shall commence until a scheme for temporary site hoarding 

and/or enclosure of the site where necessary has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Council (including detailed plan, section and elevation 
drawings at a scale of not less than 1:20 and details of material and colour). The 
site hoarding and/or enclosure shall be erected in accordance with the approved 
details and retained for the duration of the building works. No part of the site 
hoarding and/or enclosure of the site shall be used for the display of advertisement 
hoardings. 

      

Page 14



 

 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance of the site, in accordance with 
policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 9) The B1(a) office use hereby permitted shall only be used as an office and for no 

other purpose (including any other separate purpose in B1 of the Schedule to the 
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (or in any provision 
equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification).   

   
 In granting this permission, the Council has had regard to the special 

circumstances of the case. Certain other uses within the same use class may be 
unacceptable due to effect on residential amenity or traffic generation, in 
accordance with policies CC13 and T3 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
10) Prior to commencement of the construction of the superstructure, details and 

samples of all materials to be used in the external faces of the building, must have 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council. A sample panel shall 
be erected onsite for the Council's inspection and approval prior to the 
commencement of the works. The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details, and permanently retained as such thereafter. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies 7.4 

(Local character) and 7.6 (Architecture) of the London Plan (2016) and policies 
DC1 (Built environment) and DC2 (Design of new build) of the Hammersmith and 
Fulham Local Plan (2018).  

 
11) With the exception of the terrace and balcony areas indicated on the approved 

drawings, no part of any other roof of the approved buildings shall be used as a 
terrace or other amenity space. The upper floor terrace areas shall not be used 
after 21:30 and before 0800 the following day Mondays to Fridays and shall not be 
used after 21:30 and before 0900 hours the following day on Saturdays, Sundays 
and Bank Holidays.  No live or amplified music shall be played or performed on the 
external terrace areas hereby approved.  

          
 To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties, and to 

avoid overlooking and loss of privacy and the potential for additional noise and 
disturbance, in accordance with policies CC11 and HO11 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
12) Save for works below ground level, no development shall commence until detailed 

plans, sections and elevations at a scale of 1:20 of the rooftop plant and plant 
screening have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the details as approved. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and to preserve the character and appearance of the area and nearby 
conservation areas in accordance with Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 

 
13) The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until detailed 

drawings of typical bays of the new development (to include details of proposed 
planting) in plan, section and elevation at a scale of no less than 1:20 are 

Page 15



 

submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

      
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and prevent harm to the street 

scene, in accordance with policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
14) Prior to the commencement of each of the Demolition and Construction phases of 

the development, an Air Quality Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The AQDMP 
must include an Air Quality Dust Risk Assessment (AQDRA) that considers 
sensitive receptors on-site and off-site of the development and is undertaken in 
compliance with the methodology contained within Chapter 4 of the Mayor of 
London 'The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition', 
SPG, July 2014 and the identified measures recommended for inclusion into the 
AQDMP. The AQDMP submitted must comply with the Mayor's SPG and should 
include: Inventory and Timetable of dust generating activities during demolition 
and construction; Site Specific Dust mitigation and Emission control measures in 
the table format as contained within Appendix 7 of Mayor's SPG including for on-
road and off-road construction traffic; Detailed list of Non-Road Mobile Machinery 
(NRMM) used on the site. The NRMM should meet as minimum the Stage IIIB 
emission criteria of Directive 97/68/EC and its subsequent amendments. This will 
apply to both variable and constant speed engines for both NOx and PM. An 
inventory of all NRMM must be registered on the NRMM register 
https://nrmm.london/user-nrmm/register; Ultra Low Emission Vehicle Strategy 
(ULEVS) for the use of on-road Ultra Low Emission Vehicles in accordance with 
the emission hierarchy (1) Electric (2) Hybrid (Electric-Petrol) (3) Petrol, (4) Hybrid 
(Electric-Diesel)  (5) Diesel (Euro VI HGV); Details of Air quality monitoring of 
PM10 where appropriate and used to prevent levels exceeding predetermined Air 
Quality threshold trigger levels. Developers must ensure that on-site contractors 
follow best practicable means to minimise dust and emissions at all times. 
Approved details shall be fully implemented and permanently retained and 
maintained during the demolition and construction phases of the development. 

  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2012), policies 7.14a-c of The 

London Plan (2016) and policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
15) Prior to occupation of the development a report with details of the Ultra-Low NOx 

Gas fired boilers, and Emergency Diesel Generator units shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall include the 
following: 

  
 a) Details to demonstrate that the termination height above roof level of the 

shared Flue stack for the Ultra Low NOx Gas fired Boiler plant, and Emergency 
Diesel Generator Plant has been installed a minimum of 3 metres above any 
openable window and/or roof level amenity area  

  
 b) Details to demonstrate that all the Ultra Low NOx Gas fired boilers, 

Emergency diesel Generator Plant and associated abatement technologies shall 
meet a minimum dry NOx emissions standard of 30 mg/kWh (at 0% O2) and 
100mg/Nm-3 (at 5% O2) respectively. 

  

Page 16



 

 c) Details of emissions certificates, and the results of NOx emissions testing of 
each Ultra Low NOx gas boiler and Emergency Diesel Generator Plant by an 
accredited laboratory shall be provided to verify the relevant emissions standards 
in part b) have been me following installation of combustion based energy plants 
certificates, and the results of NOx emissions testing of each Ultra Low NOx gas 
boiler and Emergency Diesel Generator Plant by an accredited laboratory shall be 
provided to verify the relevant emissions standards in part b) have been met. 
Where any combustion based energy plant does not meet the relevant emissions 
Standards in part b) above, it should not be operated without the fitting of suitable 
secondary NOx abatement Equipment or technology as determined by a specialist 
to ensure comparable emissions.  

  
 d) Details to demonstrate where secondary abatement is used for the 

Emergency Diesel Generator the relevant emissions standard in part b) is met 
within 5 minutes of the generator commencing operation. 

       
 During the operation of the emergency Diesel generators there must be no 

persistent visible emission. The maintenance and cleaning of the systems shall be 
undertaken regularly in accordance with manufacturer specifications. The diesel 
fuelled generators shall only be used for a maximum of 48 hours when there is a 
sustained interruption in the mains power supply to the site, and the testing of 
these diesel generators shall not exceed a maximum of 12 hours per calendar 
year.  

  
 Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the 

development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 
   
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2012), policies 7.14a-c of The 

London Plan (2016) and policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
16) Prior to occupation of the development a Low Emission Strategy for the 

operational phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. 
The Low Emission Strategy must detail the remedial action and mitigation 
measures that will be implemented to protect receptors (e.g. design solutions). 
This Strategy must make a commitment to implement the mitigation measures that 
are required to reduce the exposure of future residents to poor air quality and to 
help mitigate the development's air pollution impacts in particular the emissions of 
NOx and particulates from on-site and off-site transport via a Ultra Low Emission 
Vehicle Plan (ULEVP) e.g. use of on-road Ultra Low Emission Vehicles in 
accordance with the emissions hierarchy (1) Electric Vehicle (Zero emission), (2) 
Hybrid (non-plug in) Electric Vehicle (HEV), (3) Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle 
(PHEV), (4) Alternative Fuel e.g. CNG, LPG, (5) Petrol (6) Diesel (Euro 6-HGV) 
and energy generation sources. The strategy must re-assess air quality neutral 
and/ or Air Quality positive in accordance with the Mayor of London guidance. 
Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the 
development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 

  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2018), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016) and policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
17) Prior to commencement of the development, (excluding site clearance, demolition 

and basement works) a report for B1 and D2 Gym use shall be submitted to and 

Page 17



 

approved in writing by the Council. The report shall demonstrate the B1 and D2 
Gym use avoids areas of exceedance above the annual mean objective APEC-B 
(38ug/m-3) criteria for NO2 and include the following information: 

  
 a) Details of the air intake locations at roof level on the rear elevations 
  
 b) Details of the independently tested mechanical ventilation system with NOx, 

PM2.5, PM10 filtration for B1 and D2 Gym use. The NO2 filtration system shall 
have a minimum efficiency of 90% in the removal of Nitrogen Oxides/Dioxides, 
PM2.5 and PM10 in accordance with BS EN ISO 10121-1:2014 and BS EN ISO 
16890:2016. 

  
 The whole system shall be designed to prevent summer overheating and minimise 

energy usage. Chimney/boiler flues and ventilation extracts shall be positioned a 
suitable distance away from ventilation intakes, openable windows, balconies, roof 
gardens, terraces, and receptors. The maintenance and cleaning of the systems 
shall be undertaken regularly in accordance with manufacturer specifications, and 
shall be the responsibility of the primary owner of the property.  Approved details 
shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the development and 
thereafter permanently retained and maintained 

  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2018), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016) and policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
18) Prior to the occupation of the development, details of the construction of green 

infrastructure (including details of planting species and maintenance) on the 
section of development facing Hammersmith Road (A315) shall be submitted to 
and approved by the local planning authority. The green infrastructure shall be 
constructed and planted in order to mitigate air pollution and shall be in full 
accordance with the Phytosensor Toolkit, Citizen Science, May 2018 and the 'First 
Steps in Urban Air Quality', TDAG, 2017 guidance documents within the first 
available planting season following completion of the development. Any plants 
which die, are removed, become seriously damaged and diseased within a period 
of five years from completion of these buildings shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of similar size and species. Approved details shall be 
fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the development and thereafter 
permanently retained and maintained.  

  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2018), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016) and policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
19) No development shall commence until a site investigation scheme is submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Council. This scheme shall be based upon and 
target the risks identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment and shall 
provide provisions for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, ground 
gas, surface and groundwater. All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 

Page 18



 

are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with policy CC9 the Local Plan 
(2018) and Key principles LC1 to LC7 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (2018). 

 
20) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, following a site investigation undertaken in compliance with the 
approved site investigation scheme, a quantitative risk assessment report is 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This report shall: assess the 
degree and nature of any contamination identified on the site through the site 
investigation; include a revised conceptual site model from the preliminary risk 
assessment based on the information gathered through the site investigation to 
confirm the existence of any remaining pollutant linkages and determine the risks 
posed by any contamination to human health, controlled waters and the wider 
environment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent 
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and 
testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with policy CC9 the Local Plan 
(2018) and Key principles LC1 to LC7 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (2018). 

 
21) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, a remediation method statement is submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council. This statement shall detail any required remediation works 
and shall be designed to mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved 
quantitative risk assessment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and 
by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with policy CC9 the Local Plan 
(2018) and Key principles LC1 to LC7 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (2018). 

 
22) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until the approved remediation method statement has been carried out 
in full and a verification report confirming these works has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing, by the Council. This report shall include: details of the 
remediation works carried out; results of any verification sampling, testing or 
monitoring including the analysis of any imported soil; all waste management 
documentation showing the classification of waste, its treatment, movement and 

Page 19



 

disposal; and the validation of gas membrane placement. If, during development, 
contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site, the 
Council is to be informed immediately and no further development (unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Council) shall be carried out until a report 
indicating the nature of the contamination and how it is to be dealt with is 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Council. Any required remediation shall 
be detailed in an amendment to the remediation statement and verification of 
these works included in the verification report. All works must be carried out in 
compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the 
current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with policy CC9 the Local Plan 
(2018) and Key principles LC1 to LC7 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (2018). 

 
23) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until an onward long-term monitoring methodology report is submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council where further monitoring is required past 
the completion of development works to verify the success of the remediation 
undertaken. A verification report of these monitoring works shall then be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council when it may be demonstrated that no 
residual adverse risks exist. All works must be carried out in compliance with and 
by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with policy CC9 the Local Plan 
(2018) and Key principles LC1 to LC7 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (2018). 

 
24) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-
enacting that Order with or without modification), no aerials, antennae, satellite 
dishes or related telecommunications equipment shall be erected on any part of 
the development hereby permitted, without planning permission first being 
obtained. 

   
 In order to ensure that the Council can fully consider the effect of 

telecommunications equipment upon the appearance of the building, in 
accordance with policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
25) The development hereby approved shall not be occupied before a Refuse 

Management Plan, including full details of refuse storage (including provision for 
the storage of recyclable materials) have been submitted to, and approved in 

Page 20



 

writing by, the Council. The approved details shall be implemented prior to the 
occupation of the development and shall thereafter be permanently retained. All 
refuse/recycling generated by the development hereby approved shall be stored 
within the agreed areas. These areas shall be permanently retained for this use.  
Refuse and recyclables shall be stored only within the curtilage of the application 
site. 

    
 To ensure that the use does not give rise to smell nuisance and to prevent harm 

arising from the appearance of accumulated rubbish, in accordance with policies 
DC2 and CC7 of the Local Plan (2018) and Key principles WM1 to WM11 of the 
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 

 
26) No water tanks, water tank enclosures or other structures shall be erected upon 

the flat roofs of the building hereby permitted. 
   
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies DC1, 

DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
27) No plumbing, extract flues or pipes, other than rainwater pipes, may be fixed on 

the elevations of the building hereby permitted. 
          
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies DC1, 

DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
28) Prior to the installation of the solar panels hereby approved, details of the solar 

panels including details of the angle of the PV panels relative to the surface of the 
roof, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Council. The 
development shall not be used/occupied until the scheme has been carried out in 
accordance with the approved details, and it shall thereafter be permanently 
retained as such. 

   
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, and to prevent harm to the 

area/conservation area, in accordance with policies 5.3, 7.6 and 7.7 of The 
London Plan (2016), policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
29) No alterations shall be carried out to the external appearance of the building, 

including the installation of air-conditioning units, ventilation fans or extraction 
equipment not shown on the approved drawings, without planning permission first 
being obtained.  Any such changes shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

            
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the 

amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties, in accordance 
with policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
30) Neither music nor amplified voices emitted from the building hereby permitted shall 

be audible at any residential/noise sensitive premises.  
   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance with policies CC11 and 
CC13 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 

Page 21



 

31) The office use hereby permitted shall not commence until all external doors to 
these premises have been fitted with self-closing devices, which shall be 
maintained in an operational condition and at no time shall any external door be 
fixed in an open position. 

   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance with policies CC11 and 
CC13 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
32) The development hereby permitted shall be constructed and operated in 

accordance with the Access Statement included in the submitted Design and 
Access Statement dated July 2018. 

    
 To ensure that the proposal provides an inclusive and accessible environment in 

accordance with policy DC2 of the Local Plan (2018) and The London Plan (2016) 
policy 7.2. 

 
33) Save for works below ground level, no development shall commence until details 

of any window cleaning equipment including appearance, means of operation and 
storage have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the details as approved. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and to preserve the character and appearance of the area and nearby 
conservation areas in accordance with Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 

 
34) Prior to the commencement of above ground works (other than works of site 

preparation, excavation and demolition of the existing building), the details of 
measures to demonstrate how 'Secured by Design' requirements will be 
adequately achieved within the development shall be submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include, but not be 
limited to, CCTV coverage, access controls and basement security measures. The 
approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development and 
shall be permanently retained thereafter. 

  
 To ensure that the development incorporates suitable measures to minimise 

opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour in accordance with policy 7.3 
(Designing out crime) of the London Plan (2016) and policy DC2 (Design of new 
build) of the Hammersmith and Fulham Local Plan (2018). 

 
35) The main lift core within the development shall contain at least one fire rated lift, 

details of which shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in 
writing prior to the occupation of the building. All lifts within the building, including 
the car stacker units, shall have enhanced lift repair service running 365 day/24 
hour cover to ensure that no occupiers (including wheelchair users) are trapped if 
the lift breaks down. The fire rated lift shall be installed as approved and 
maintained in full working order for the lifetime of the development. 

  
 To ensure that the proposal provides an inclusive and accessible environment in 

accordance with policy DC2 of the Local Plan (2018) and The London Plan (2016) 
policy 7.2. 

Page 22



 

36) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until 259 long-stay 
secure, covered cycle parking spaces and 51 short-stay cycle parking spaces 
have been provided. The cycle parking shall be permanently retained for the 
lifetime of the development and shall be permanently accessible for the storage of 
bicycles for staff and visitors to the development. 

    
 To ensure the suitable provision of cycle parking within the development to meet 

the needs of future site occupiers and users, in accordance with policies 6.9 and 
6.13 of The London Plan 2016 and policy T7 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
37) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until 2 active and 1 

passive electric vehicle charging spaces have been provided. The electric vehicle 
charging shall be permanently retained for the lifetime of the development and 
shall be permanently accessible. 

    
 To ensure the suitable provision of electric vehicle charging within the 

development to meet the needs of future site occupiers and users, in accordance 
with policy T4 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
38) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied/used until 4 motorcycle 

parking spaces have been fully demarcated, and the motorcycle parking spaces 
shall be permanently retained for the life of the development, as indicated on 
approved drawing No: A_PL_P_100 Rev 02. 

  
 To ensure the suitable provision of motorcycle parking within the development to 

meet the needs of future site occupiers and users, in accordance with policy T4 of 
the Local Plan (2018) and Key principle TR8 of the Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 

 
39) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied/used until the accessible 

parking space for wheelchair users, as indicated on drawing no: A_PL_P_100 Rev 
02, has been fully demarcated, and the accessible parking space shall be 
permanently retained for the life of the development. 

   
 In order to ensure easy and convenient access for all users, including disabled 

people, in accordance with policy T4 of the Local Plan 2018 and policies 4.5 and 
7.2 of The London Plan 2016. 

 
40) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied/used until it has been 

erected in accordance with the submitted Revised Sustainability Statement 
Revision No. 02 (dated July 2018), together with the details included in the 
Sustainability Statement Revision 02 (Dated July 2018) and the Proposed 
BREEAM Approach Revision 02 (Dated July 2018). A post construction BREEAM 
assessment shall be submitted to the Council within 6 months of occupation for 
approval in writing to confirm that the measures have been implemented as 
required. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and the integration of energy 

generation from renewable sources, consistent with the Mayor's sustainable 
design objectives in accordance with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 and 5.7 of The London 
Plan (2016) and policies DC1, DC2, DC8, CC1, CC2, CC3, CC4 and HO11 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

Page 23



 

41) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied before implementation of 
the energy efficiency, low/zero carbon and renewable energy measures detailed in 
the submitted Revised Energy Strategy and Energy Statement (Both Revision 02 - 
dated July 2018).  All details shall be implemented prior to occupation/use of the 
development hereby permitted, and thereafter be permanently retained.  

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and the integration of energy 

generation from renewable sources, consistent with the Mayor's sustainable 
design objectives in accordance with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 and 5.7 of The London 
Plan (2016) and policies DC1, DC2, DC8, CC1, CC2, CC3, CC4 and HO11 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

 
42) No above ground works on the development hereby permitted shall commence 

until the full detailed design of the proposed blue, brown and green roofs, to 
include details of the substrate depth and confirmation of the attenuation volume 
provided, have been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Council.  The 
blue, brown and green roofs shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to occupation/use of the development hereby permitted, and 
thereafter be permanently retained and maintained in line with the agreed details. 

   
 To ensure acceptable surface water management, in accordance with policy 5.13 

of The London Plan (2016) and policies CC1, CC2, CC3 and CC4 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 

 
43) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied prior to the 

implementation of the measures contained within the revised Flood Risk 
assessment revision 02 (dated July 2018) and the revised SUDS Statement 
revision 02 (dated July 2018). All details shall be implemented prior to 
occupation/use of the development hereby permitted, and thereafter be 
permanently retained.     

  
 To prevent the increased risk of flooding and to protect existing and future 

occupants, and to ensure that surface water run-off is managed in a sustainable 
manner, in accordance with policy 5.13 of The London Plan (2016) and policies 
CC2, CC3 and CC4 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
44) No above ground works on the development hereby permitted shall commence 

until the full detailed design of the measures proposed for the basement level flood 
proofing have been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Council.  The 
flood proofing measures shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details prior to occupation/use of the development hereby permitted, and 
thereafter be permanently retained and maintained in line with the agreed details. 

  
 To prevent the increased risk of flooding and to protect existing and future 

occupants, and to ensure that surface water run-off is managed in a sustainable 
manner, in accordance with policy 5.13 of The London Plan (2016) and policies 
CC2, CC3 and CC4 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
45) Prior to the use of the development hereby approved, a non return valve and 

pump device should be installed to prevent sewage 'back-surging' into the 
basement in times of heavy rain and to allow the property's sewage to continue to 
flow properly into the sewer network. 

Page 24



 

 To prevent the increased risk of flooding and to protect future occupants, and to 
ensure that surface water run-off is managed in a sustainable manner, in 
accordance with policy 5.13 of The London Plan (2016) and policies CC2, CC3 
and CC4 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
46) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied or used until the shower 

rooms and changing areas (as indicated on plan A_PL_P_099 Revision 02 have 
been provided in the proposed building for use by staff/occupiers of the building. 
These facilities shall be provided prior to first use and they shall be permanently 
retained for the use of employees. 

    
 In order to ensure satisfactory facilities for staff including cyclists, in accordance 

with policy T3 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
47) No delivery, refuse or service vehicles shall enter or depart the site between 2200 

hours and 0700 the following day. 
     
 To ensure that the amenities of the surrounding residential occupiers are not 

unduly affected by noise from vehicles entering, leaving or manoeuvring within the 
site, in accordance with policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
48) No advertisements shall be displayed on either the external faces of the 

development and/or inside any windows, without details of the advertisements 
having first been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Council. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and to preserve the character and appearance of the conservation area in 
accordance with Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
49) No external roller shutters shall be attached to the building at ground floor level. 
   
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and to preserve the character and appearance of the area and nearby 
conservation areas in accordance with Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 

 
50) Prior to the display of any illuminated sign or advertisement, details shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Council, of artificial lighting levels 
(candelas/ m2 size of sign/advertisement). Details shall demonstrate that the 
recommendations of the Institution of Lighting Professionals in the 'Guidance 
Notes For The Reduction Of Light Pollution 2011' will be met, particularly with 
regard to the 'PLG05,2015-The Brightness of Illuminated Advertisements'. 
Approved details shall be implemented prior to use/ display of the 
sign/advertisement and thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of surrounding properties are not unduly 

affected by artificial lighting, in accordance with policies CC12 and CC13 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

 
51) No external seating areas should be permitted at ground floor level for the 

A1/A3/B1 uses and public amenity use, within a minimum of 10 m of the kerbside 

Page 25



 

on Hammersmith Road (A315) in order to mitigate air pollution without written 
approval in writing from the local planning authority.   

  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2018), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016) and policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
52) No above ground works on the development hereby permitted shall commence 

until details of external artificial lighting shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Council. Lighting contours shall be submitted to demonstrate that 
the vertical illumination of neighbouring premises is in accordance with the 
recommendations of the Institution of Lighting Professionals in the 'Guidance 
Notes For The Reduction Of Light Pollution 2011'.  Details should also be 
submitted for approval of measures to minimise use of lighting and prevent glare 
and sky glow by correctly using, locating, aiming and shielding luminaires.  
Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development and 
thereafter be permanently retained.   

   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by lighting, in accordance with policies CC12 and CC13 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
53) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied before details of 

measures to mitigate light spillage from all floor levels of the proposed building 
towards neighbouring residential properties and a scheme for the control of the 
operation of internal lighting (during periods of limited or non-occupation) have 
been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Council. The details as 
approved shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the building hereby 
permitted and thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the amenities of surrounding residential properties are not unduly 

affected by light pollution, in accordance with policies CC12 and CC13 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 

 
54) The external sound level emitted from plant, machinery or equipment at the 

development hereby approved shall be lower than the lowest existing background 
sound level by at least 10dBA in order to prevent any adverse impact. The 
assessment shall be made in accordance with BS4142:2014 at the nearest and/or 
most affected noise sensitive premises, with all machinery operating together at 
maximum capacity. A post installation noise assessment shall be carried out 
where required to confirm compliance with the sound criteria and additional steps 
to mitigate noise shall be taken, as necessary.  Approved details shall be 
implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be 
permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by noise from mechanical installations/ 
equipment, in accordance with policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
55) Prior to use, machinery, plant or equipment, extract/ ventilation system and 

ducting at the development shall be mounted with proprietary anti-vibration 
isolators and fan motors shall be vibration isolated from the casing and adequately 
silenced and maintained as such.  

Page 26



 

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by noise from mechanical installations/ 
equipment, in accordance with policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
56) Prior to commencement of the use, details shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Council, of the installation, operation, and maintenance of any odour 
abatement equipment and extract system, including the height of the extract duct 
and vertical discharge outlet, in accordance with the 'Guidance on the Control of 
Odour and Noise from Commercial Kitchen Exhaust Systems' January 2005 by 
DEFRA.  Approved details shall be implemented prior to the commencement of 
the use and thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by cooking odours, in accordance with Policies 
CC10 and CC13 of  the Local Plan (2018). 

 
57) No customers shall be on the flexible A1, A3, D2 ground floor premises hereby 

approved between the hours of 23:00 hours and 0730 hours the following day.    
   
 In order that noise and disturbance which may be caused by customers leaving 

the premises is confined to those hours when ambient noise levels and general 
activity are sufficiently similar to that in the surrounding area, thereby ensuring that 
the use does not cause demonstrable harm to surrounding residents, in 
accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
58) The development hereby permitted shall be constructed and operated in 

accordance with the Access Statement included in the submitted Design and 
Access Statement Appendix B (dated July 2018). 

    
 To ensure that the proposal provides an inclusive and accessible environment in 

accordance with policy DC2 of the Local Plan (2018) and The London Plan (2016) 
policy 7.2. 

 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 1) 1. Land Use: The use of the site primarily as a Class B1 office building is 

considered to be acceptable in the context of the existing use of the site and the its 
location close to Hammersmith Town Centre with excellent public transport 
facilities. The introduction of retail uses would also complement the development 
and improve facilities in the area. The proposed development would achieve a 
sustainable development, whilst optimising the use of previously developed land.  
Policies E1, E2 and E4 of the Local Plan (2018) and Policy 4.2 of The London 
Plan (2016), would thereby be satisfied. 

  
 2. Design and Conservation: The proposed development would be a high 

quality development which would have regard to the pattern and grain of existing 
development in the area and make a positive contribution to the urban 
environment.  The proposed development would be compatible with the scale and 
character of existing development and its setting. The proposal would preserve the 
setting the nearby conservation areas, listed buildings and Buildings of Merit. The 
development would therefore be acceptable in accordance with the NPPF (2018), 

Page 27



 

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, 
London Plan (2016) policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 and 7.8, policies DC1, DC2 
and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018) and Key principles CAG2, CAG3 and CAG6 of 
the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 

  
 3. Landscaping and Biodiversity: Landscaping would be provided by the 

development, enhancing biodiversity, which complies with the relevant planning 
policy context set out in the London Plan (2016) policies 7.5, 7.19, 7.21 and Local 
Plan (2018) policies OS1, OS2, OS4, and OS5.  

  
 4. Impact on Neighbouring Residents: The impact of the proposed development 

upon neighbouring occupiers is considered to be acceptable with regards to noise 
and impacts on overlooking, sunlight, daylight and outlook. In this regard the 
development would respect the principles of good neighbourliness. The 
development would therefore be acceptable in accordance with policy 7.15 of the 
London Plan (2016), policies CC11, CC13, DC2 and HO11 of the Local Plan 
(2018) and Key principles 6, 7 and 8 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (2018). 

  
 5. Safety and Access: The development would provide a safe and secure 

environment for all users in accordance with London Plan (2016) policy 7.3 and 
policies DC1 and DC2 of the Local Plan (2018).  The proposal would provide ease 
of access for all people, including disabled people, in accordance with London 
Plan (2016) policy 3.8, policies DC1, DC2 of the Local Plan (2018) and Key 
principles DA1, DA2, DA3, DA6 and DA7 of the Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 

  
 6. Transport: There would be no adverse impact on traffic generation and the 

scheme would not result in congestion of the road network. Conditions and a legal 
agreement would secure no access to parking permits and provision of cycle and 
refuse storage.  The development would therefore be acceptable in accordance 
with the NPPF (2018), London Plan (2016) policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11, 6.12 
and 6.13, policies CC7, T1, T2, T3, T4 and T7 of the Local Plan (2018), and Key 
principles TR3, TR12, WM1, WM2, WM5 and WM6 of the Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 

  
 7. Flood Risk: A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted as required. 

Detailed drainage matters would be secured by condition.  In this respect the 
proposal is therefore in accordance with the NPPF (2018), London Plan (2016) 
policies 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15, policies CC1, CC3, CC4 and CC5 of the 
Local Plan (2018) and Key principles FR1, FR2 and FR3 of the Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 

  
 8. Energy and Sustainability: An Energy Statement has been submitted 

outlining the energy efficiency and low/zero carbon measures to be implemented 
as part of the development with the aim of minimising energy use and associated 
CO2 emissions.  The proposal would be consistent with consistent with the Mayor 
of London's sustainable design objectives in accordance with NPPF (2018) 
chapter 14 'Meeting the challenge of climate change...', policies CC1, DC1 and 
DC2 of the Local Plan (2018) and policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 5.4A, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8, 5.9, 
5.10 and 5.11 of The London Plan (2016). 

  

Page 28



 

 9. Land Contamination: Conditions would ensure that the site would be 
remediated to an appropriate level for the sensitive residential and open space 
uses.  The proposed development therefore accords with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), policy CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018), and Key 
principles LC1, LC2, LC4, LC5, LC6 and LC7 of the Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 

  
 10. Air Quality: With regards to Air Quality considerations, the Council's 

Environmental Quality Team have reviewed the Air Quality Assessment submitted 
with the application proposal and consider that, subject to conditions, the 
development to be acceptable and complaint with London Plan Policy 7.14 and 
LBHF Local Plan Policy CC10. 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 8th December 2017 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  
2018 

 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
Hammersmith BID 11.05.18 
Thames Water - Development Control 15.01.18 
Historic England London Region 09.01.18 
Greater London Authority - Planning Decisions Unit 28.02.18 
Transport For London - Land Use Planning Team 12.10.18 
London Underground Limited 11.01.18 
Natural England 20.01.18 
Hammersmith & Fulham Historic Buildings Group 26.01.18 
Avonmore Residents Association 08.05.18 
Hammersmith & Fulham Historic Buildings Group 28.09.18 

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 

Town Hall King Street London W6 9JU  08.05.18 
NAG     08.05.18 
136 Baker Street London W1U 6UD   15.03.18 
36 Burne Jones Hse North End Road W14 8TA  18.01.18 
Flat 2 Kensington west Blythe rd London W140jg  23.04.18 

Page 29



 

136 Baker Street London w1u 6ud   15.03.18 
Flat 85 Kensington West Blythe Road W14 0JQ  29.01.18 
23 Sandringham House 44 Windsor Way London W14 0UD  20.08.18 
32 Woodger road London w12 8nn   04.05.18 
23 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   21.01.18 
23 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   02.05.18 
23 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY   17.08.18 
Dartmouth Castle Pub 26 Glenthorne Rod London W6 0LS  22.01.18 
3 charlotte Mews London w140qw   01.02.18 
LANE HOUSE 24 PARSONS GREEN LANE SW6 4HS  18.01.18 
Transport And Technical Serv Town Hall Ext King St W6 9JU  02.03.18 
22 Rugby Mansions Bishop Kings Road London W14 8XD  31.01.18 
22 Rugby Mansions Bishop Kings Road London W14 8XD  06.05.18 
22 Rugby Mansions Bishop Kings Road London W14 8XD  11.08.18 
22 Rugby Mansions Bishop Kings Road London W14 8XD  17.02.19 
Flat 19 Kensington west Blythe road London w140jg  05.02.18 
3 Regent House 43 Windsor Way London W140UB  08.03.18 
3 Regent House 43 Windsor Way London W140UB  23.04.18 
PO Box 91 Doha Qatar   08.02.18 
3 Charlotte Mews London W14 0QW   21.08.18 
15 Rugby Mansions Bishop Kings Road London W14 8XD  09.01.18 
Lane House 24 Parsons Green Lane London SW6 4HS  26.04.18 
39 Colfe Road London SE23 2ES   30.01.18 
NAG     06.02.18 
32 Woodger road Hammersmith W12 8nn   30.01.18 
Flat 55 Kensington West Blythe Road W14 0JQ  26.01.18 
8 Rugby Mansions Bishop King's Road London W14 8XD  21.08.18 
Flat 23 Kensington West Blythe Road London W14 0JG  24.01.18 
Flat 5 Kensington West Blythe Road London W14 0JG  24.01.18 
Flat 20 Tudor House 47 Windsor Way London W14 0UG  31.01.18 
Flat 91 Kensington West Blythe Road London W14 0JQ  16.08.18 
Flat 3 Regent House 43 Windsor Way London W14 0UB  23.04.18 
Flat 51 Kensington West Blythe Road London W14 0JG  31.01.18 
Flat 56 Kensington West Blythe Road London W14 0JQ  25.01.18 
32 Argyll Mansions Hammersmith Rd West Kensington W14  27.01.18 
32 Woodger road Hammersmith W12 8nn   18.08.18 
Flat 23 Sandringham House 44 Windsor Way London W14 0UD  23.01.18 
Flat 71, Kensington West Blythe Road London W14 0JQ  23.04.18 
69 Edith Road London W14 0TH   05.09.18 
Edith Road London W14 0TJ   15.10.18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



 

Addendum Report 
 
0.1 The application, at Appendix 01, was presented to the committee at the meeting 
held on 9th October 2018.  The application was for the demolition of the existing 
building and redevelopment of the site by the erection of a building of up to 8 storeys in 
height comprising 17,486 sqm of new Class B1 office floorspace (including 904sqm of 
affordable workspace/studio space), 903sqm of Class A1/A3/D2 flexible 
retail/restaurant/gym floorspace, new public realm, plant, car parking, cycle parking and 
associated works.  
 
0.2 Members resolved to grant planning permission for the proposal subject to 
conditions, completion of a legal agreement and no contrary direction from the Mayor of 
London.   
 
0.3 Following committee, officers submitted the Stage 2 referral to the Mayor of 
London.  The Mayor issued his Stage 2 decision on 13/08/2019, which raised no 
objection to the application subject a change to the section 106 cycle contribution so 
that it was payable  to Transport for London (TfL) rather than the Council.  Post 
committee this financial contribution was confirmed at £100,000, however, the 
requirement for these monies to be payable to TfL was not known at the time of 
committee and therefore was not reported to members (see Appendix 01 paragraph 
3.159).  Officers therefore are therefore seeking approval to amend this head of term, 
so it now reads as follows: 
 
- A financial contribution of £100,000 towards cycle infrastructure within the borough 
to be paid to Transport for London and spent in consultation with the council. 
 
0.4 Furthermore, the committee report also identified a section 106 head of term for a 
financial contribution towards a feasibility study to establish shared public realm works 
to Lyons Walk (see Appendix 01, paragraph 3.159). Since committee a subsequent 
planning application for the redevelopment of Olympia has secured section 106 
obligations with the developer towards environmental and public realm improvements to 
Lyons Walk and securing its long-term future ownership and management.   Officers are 
therefore now proposing to amend this head of term as follows: 
 
- Financial contribution of £88,000 towards highways and environmental 
improvements within the vicinity of the site.  
 
0.5 All the other heads of terms remain the same as previously agreed, as outlined in 
para 3.159 of the original report (Appendix 01). 
 
0.6 The Council is under a duty when dealing with planning applications to have 
regard to all material considerations and following the Stage 2 response the Council is 
able to reconsider the Heads of Terms further. It is considered that the proposed 
resultant changes are such that Committee need to be fully advised of these and to 
ratify the proposed changes to the agreed heads of terms. 
  
0.7 In regard to the cycle contribution, the revised head of term would allow for the 
contribution to be paid to TfL (as per the Mayors direction) but ensure monies are spent 
on cycle improvements within the borough and  that the Council is consulted before any 
monies are transferred to TfL.  
 

Page 31



 

0.8 With regard to the proposed contribution for public realm improvements to Lyons 
Walk, the subsequent committee resolution to approve the redevelopment of Olympia  
has negated the need for this contribution However, to ensure appropriate mitigation of 
the potential impacts of the proposal at 66 Hammersmith Road the new proposed s106 
head of term  would secure a financial contribution to other highways and environmental 
improvements within proximity of the site.   
 
Officer Recommendation 
Committee resolve to approve the amended heads of terms appended to the previous 
resolution.  
 

APPENDIX 1: Original Report 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The site is currently occupied by an existing 7-storey building completed in 1986 
providing 8,726sqm (Gross External Area) of office space, together with 64 car parking 
spaces and ground and basement level.   
 
1.2 It is located on the north side of Hammersmith Road immediately east of the 
junction with Blythe Road which continues in a curve around the site's north side. The 
east of the site is bound by Lyons Walk which is a no-through road and which is partially 
pedestrianised at its southern end. 
 
1.3  Therefore, although it is not located in a conservation area it nevertheless sits in 
close proximity to a number of conservation areas including Avonmore, Dorcas Estate 
and Olympia. In particular, it is sited immediately adjacent to Olympia Conservation 
Area whose boundary extends to Lyons Walk on the site's east side (and includes 
within it the Grade II Listed Olympia Exhibition Centre). It also lies directly opposite 
Dorcas Terrace Conservation Area which takes in the south side of Hammersmith Road 
(and includes within it the Grade II Listed Dorcas Terrace at 99-119 Hammersmith 
Road).   
 
1.4 In addition, either side of the Listed Dorcas Terrace are Buildings of Merit including 
Llewellyn Mansions (121-127a Hammersmith Road) to the west and the terrace at 85-
97 Hammersmith Road to the east. Continuing further eastward all of the Mansion 
Buildings extending between North End Road and Avonmore Road on the south side of 
Hammersmith Road are also identified as Buildings of Merit. Hammersmith Road is part 
of the Strategic Road Network. The proposed Cycle Superhighway Route 9 (CS9) will 
run past the frontage of the site on Hammersmith Road. The site has an excellent 
Public Transport Access Level of 6a, on a scale of 1-6a/b where 1 is 'poor' and 6b being 
rated as 'excellent'.  
 
1.5 Other development plan designations that apply to the site are as follows: 
 

 PTAL (Public Transport Accessibility Level) - 6a (Excellent) 

 Flood Zone 1 

 Air Quality Management Area 

 Controlled Parking Zones E and B 

 A315 - Local Distributor Road (Hammersmith Road) 
 
 

Page 32



 

1.6 Relevant Planning History 
 
2017/03916/SCREIA 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Screening Opinion pursuant to Regulation 6 of 
the Town and Country Planning (EIA) Regulations 2017 for the redevelopment of the 
site to include the erection of an eleven storey building (double-height ground floor with 
nine storeys above) with an estimated height of approx. 40m, providing approx. 24,000 
sq.m GIA of office space, including an element of "affordable" office space at ground 
floor mezzanine level and approx. 800 sq.m of retail space at ground and basement 
levels. 
OPINION ISSUED: 30.10.2017 
 
Planning history of neighbouring sites 
 
G Gate Marshalling Yard Olympia Exhibition Centre (Site on east side of Lyons Walk) 
 
2013/03806/FUL 
Full Planning Permission: Redevelopment by the erection of a part 7 and part 9 storey 
hotel building (Class C1) providing 242 bedrooms with ancillary uses, including a 
restaurant and bar at first floor level and café at ground floor level to Hammersmith 
Road, following demolition of the existing boundary treatments on the site; Creation of a 
taxi-drop off facility and landscaping on Lyons Walk. A ground level marshalling yard for 
use by Olympia Exhibition Centre would be retained and internal pedestrian links to the 
Olympia Central and West Hall buildings of Olympia Exhibition Centre would be 
created. 
GRANTED WITH A LEGAL AGREEMENT: 02/07/2014 
 
2013/03807/LBC 
Listed Building Consent: The alteration and part removal of the west facade of the 
Olympia Central building, in connection with the provision of internal connections above 
ground floor level to a proposed part 7 and part 9 storey hotel building on the adjacent 
G-Gate site (planning application ref. 2013/03806/FUL). 
GRANTED: 02/07/2014 
 
Details of proposal 
1.7 This application is for the demolition of the existing building and redevelopment of 
the site by the erection of a building of up to 8 storeys in height comprising 17,486 sqm 
of new Class B1 office floorspace (including 904sqm of affordable workspace/studio 
space), 903sqm of Class A1/A3/D2 flexible retail/restaurant/gym floorspace, new public 
realm, plant, car parking, cycle parking and associated works. 
 
Design Review Panel 
1.8 An earlier iteration of the scheme was presented to the Design Review Panel on 
20th September 2017. A summary of the DRP's comments is as follows; 
 
- The move to align the building back to the street edge and to redefine and contribute 
to the townscape of the street is considered to be an appropriate response.  
- Not convinced of the façade design to the north elevation, this needs further 
refinement 
- No consensus reached over the height of the building but noted that it is taller than its 
neighbours and that the re-alignment of the frontage to the street edge results in a 
significantly different impact on the street than the existing building. However, it was 

Page 33



 

considered that the mass at the top of the building could be further reduced, with the 
corollary benefit of also reducing its apparent height, by recessing the elevations and 
enabling the creation of roof terraces in front.  
- Concern expressed at the proposed public realm and questioned whether the loss of 
the existing soft landscaping is being adequately repaid.  
 - Questioned the potential success of the space created on the south-western corner, 
and whether the right ingredients were in place at this stage to make it a success.  
- Questioned the space created at Lyons Walk and whether this could be more 
generous given that it is borrowing from existing public realm. 
- Advised that the developers/promoters should consult with the local community before 
submitting any application 
 
Public Engagement 
1.9 The applicants submitted a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) with the 
application. This explains that meetings were held in October/November 2017, with 
local elected representatives, The Hammersmith Society, also representing 
Hammersmith and Fulham Historic Buildings Group, the LEO Computers Society, and 
the Friends of Brook Green. 
 
1.10 It confirms that meetings were also held with representatives of neighbours of the 
site, namely Harrod's, Columbia Threadneedle and Yoo Capital (the latter being the 
owners of the Olympia Exhibition Centre). 
 
1.11 A website to publicise the proposed development was also created to publicise the 
proposals and this received around 260 visitors with 24 people signing up and 
comments being left by 42 people. 
 
1.12 A public exhibition was also held on the site on Thursday, 2nd November 2017 
(4pm-8pm) and Saturday 4th November 2017 (10am-2pm) and was publicised in 
advance by a newsletter sent to 7,874 local residents and businesses. A total of 70 
people attended the exhibition over the two days. Eighteen completed feedback forms 
had been received at the time of writing the SCI. The feedback covered issues ranging 
from land use, public realm, highways impacts and car parking, trees and landscaping, 
building height and architecture.  
 
1.13 In response to the DRP comments, public engagement and discussions with 
officers, the proposed development has been significantly revised twice with arguably 
the most significant change each time being the lowering of the building's (maximum) 
height from its initial height of 10 storeys to 9 storeys and then by a further storey to its 
current height of 8 storeys.  
 
1.14 The application is referable to the Mayor of London due to the height and 
floorspace of the proposed building. 
 
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS 
 
2.1 The application was publicised by means of a press and site notice as well as 
individual letters of notification to neighbouring occupiers (998 letters). A second and 
third consultation was carried out in April and August 2018. 
 
2.2 A total of 38 responses have been received (from properties in Kensington West, 
Burne Jones House, Glenthorne Road, Sandringham House, Argyle Mansions, 

Page 34



 

Woodger Road, Colfe Road, Tudor House, Charlotte Mews, Regent House, Blyth Road, 
Fitzgeorge Avenue) 34 of which object to the development with 4 responses in support. 
The objections to the proposal can be summarised as follows:  
 
- Unsustainable to demolish existing office building 
- Loss of open view along Hammersmith Road 
- Loss of trees and associated landscaping and vegetation 
- Loss of sunlight, particularly morning sunlight, to flats in Kensington West 
- Loss of daylight 
- Loss of privacy particularly from the upper floors of the building 
- Loss of environmental amenity 
- Excessive bulk 
- Excessive height 
- Harmful, over-dominant impact on the adjacent Olympia Exhibition Centre (Grade II 
Listed building) and other Grade II Listed buildings 
- Harm to the carefully preserved frontages on opposite side of Hammersmith Road  
- Over-dominant impact on the skyline 
- Overbearing impact on the views from North End Road and the small scale side 
streets of Vernon Street and Munden Street.  
- Excessive overbearing enclosure along Hammersmith Road 
- Increased noise (traffic-related) 
- Traffic congestion 
- Increased pressure on street parking  
- Traffic disruption during construction 
- The combined construction impacts of the concurrent proposals at 66 and 68-72 
Hammersmith Road should be considered.  
- Increased demand on over-stretched utilities and infrastructure 
- There is no need for the development as there is already an ample supply of office / 
workspace, gyms and retail uses along Hammersmith Road. 
 
2.3    The Avonmore Residents Association (commenting on earlier iteration) 
commented as follows: 
- the proposed building is virtually double the volume of the current building. Its 
proposed location right up to the pavement line will have an overbearing impact on the 
flats opposite on the south side of Hammersmith Rd and they will suffer a loss of 
privacy. 
-   the new development will mean the loss of the mature planting and green space and 
the loss of planting will make air pollution worse.  
-   there is an alarming lack of parking provision. To provide only 11 spaces with a single 
'accessible' parking bay is completely inadequate.  Visitors will inevitably be unfamiliar 
with the area and will look for short term meter parking in nearby Zones A, B, E and EE,  
- zones which are already at near maximum capacity.  
 
2.4 The comments in support (from Fitzgeorge Avenue, Colfe Road, Baker Street, 
Kensington West) have made the following points: 
 
- Well designed building that enhances the street 
- Current landscaping is a barrier, not welcoming 
- Appearance will improve the area 
- Had some concerns about height, this has been reduced, so it is for LA to 

determine if this is satisfactory 

Page 35



 

- Would like historic LEO plaque incorporated into the external face of the 
development.  

 
2.5 The Hammersmith Society's most recent comments (in relation to the previous 9-
storey high scheme), can be summarised as follows: 
 
The reduction in height (to 9 storeys) does not alter the Society's concerns about the 
application. The height of the building is still overly dominant in relation to  the small 
buildings on the opposite side of Hammersmith Road, an effect which is compounded 
by the way in which the development takes up more of the site than does the present 
building, moving the building line much closer to the street. The combination of height, 
bulk and massing would fundamentally alter the character of this stretch of 
Hammersmith Road and have a damaging impact on the adjacent Listed buildings and 
Conservation Areas. The Hammersmith Society continues to object to the scheme. 
 
2.6 The Hammersmith and Fulham Historic Buildings Group have responded, 
indicating that they object to the application. Their comments can be summarised as: 
-   The most recent variation does not address our main concerns.  We are still of the 
opinion that it remains over dominant in respect of the small scale listed buildings 
opposite and the surrounding residential streets.  
-   Its bulk and increased floor plate over the existing development fails to enhance or 
improve the adjoining Conservation Areas or the neighbouring listed Olympia buildings 
-   Developing up to the building line increases its dominance on this stretch of the 
Hammersmith Road which currently has a much more spacious atmosphere. We repeat 
our view that this application be refused. 
 
2.7 Transport for London, Environment Agency, and the London Fire and Emergency 
Planning Authority, have not responded to the consultation.  
 
2.8 Thames Water have written to suggest conditions and informatives for the 
proposed development.  
 
2.9 Historic England have commented that they do want to make comments in relation 
to this development. 
 
2.10 London Underground Infrastructure protection has written to state they have no 
comment to make on this planning application.  
 
2.11 Natural England wrote to confirm they have no comments to make on this 
application.  
 
2.12 The application was referred to the Greater London Authority (GLA) under 
Category 1C of the Town and Country Planning (Mayor of London) Order 2008, as the 
height of the new building would exceed 30m.  The GLA also considered that the 
application was referable under Category 1B, as floorspace of the extended building 
would exceed 20,000 sqm.  The Mayor of London's Stage 1 report to the Council is 
summarised as follows: 
 
- Land use: the quantitative and qualitative improvements to office provision is 
supported. 
- Urban design: concerns about the western Blythe Road elevation, layout and materials 

Page 36



 

- Energy: Further information required on the `be lean` modelling; heating schematics 
and proposed air source heat pumps. 
- Transport: further details required on public transport trip data, undertake a road safety 
audit, reduce car parking spaces, increase cycle parking spaces, amend the Travel 
Plan. 
- Recommendation: That Hammersmith & Fulham Council be advised that the 
application does not comply with the London Plan but that the resolution of these issues 
could lead to the application becoming compliant with the London Plan. 
 
2.13 The scheme has been revised/amended since these original issues were raised. 
Further information has been provided. The planning issues raised will be considered in 
the body of the report below. 
 
3.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1 The main issues for consideration in relation to this application are: 
- Whether the development would accord with the appropriate policies in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2018), The London Plan, the Local Plan (2018) and 
the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 
- Whether the proposal is acceptable in land use terms. 
- The quantum of the development in terms of its height, scale, massing and alignment. 
- The design quality/external appearance including materials of the proposal 
- The impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding conservation areas 
and the surrounding townscape. 
- The potential for traffic generation and the impact on the highway network. 
- The impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers in terms of outlook, light, 
privacy and noise/disturbance. 
- Energy efficiency and sustainability. 
 
POLICY  
3.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2018) sets out the Government's 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied in favour of 
sustainable development. The NPPF is a material consideration in decisions on 
planning applications. 
 
3.3 The London Plan was published in July 2016. It sets out the overall strategic plan for 
London and a fully integrated economic, environmental, transport and social framework 
for the development of the Capital over the next 20-25 years. It forms part of the 
development plan for Hammersmith and Fulham. 
 
3.4 The new draft London Plan was published on the 29th of November 2017 and 
consultation has ended. An Examination in Public (EiP) is due to be held in early 2019, 
and publication of the new London Plan is expected in late 2019. Once adopted it would 
supersede the current London Plan. As the document is in early stages towards 
adoption, it is considered that limited weight should be applied to the draft policies in 
determining this application. 
 
3.5 On 24 January 2018, the Council resolved to adopt the Hammersmith & Fulham 
Local Plan (2018). The adoption of the new Local Plan took effect on the 28th of 
February 2018 and the policies within the new Local Plan together with the London Plan 
2016 make up the statutory Local Development Framework (LDF) for the Borough. 
 

Page 37



 

3.6 The Development Plan for the Borough therefore comprises of the London Plan 
(2016) and the Hammersmith and Fulham Local Plan (2018). The new Local Plan 
(2018) policies supersede those within the Core Strategy (2011) and Development 
Management Local Plan (2013), and the new Planning Guidance SPD (2018) Key 
principles supersede the SPD policies of the former Planning Guidance SPD (2018), the 
now superseded documents having formed the development plan at the time this 
application was submitted. The Mayor's Supplementary Planning Guidance is also a 
material consideration. The following policies of these documents are considered to be 
of particular relevance to this application: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2018) 
 
Section 2. Achieving sustainable development 
Section 4. Decision-making 
Section 6. Building a strong, competitive economy 
Section 8. Promoting healthy and safe communities 
Section 9. Promoting sustainable transport 
Section 11. Making effective use of land 
Section 12. Achieving well-designed places 
Section 14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Section 15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Section 16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
London Plan (2016) 
 
Policy 4.2 - Offices 
Policy 4.3 - Mixed use development and offices 
Policy 4.7 - Retail and town centre development 
Policy 4.8 - Supporting a successful and diverse retail sector 
Policy 5.1 - Climate change mitigation 
Policy 5.2 - Minimising carbon dioxide emissions 
Policy 5.3 - Sustainable design and construction 
Policy 5.6 - Decentralised energy in development proposals 
Policy 5.7 - Renewable energy 
Policy 5.8 - Innovative energy technologies 
Policy 5.9 - Overheating and cooling 
Policy 5.10 - Urban greening 
Policy 5.11 - Green roofs and development site environs 
Policy 5.12 - Flood risk management 
Policy 5.13 - Sustainable drainage 
Policy 5.14 - Water quality and wastewater infrastructure 
Policy 5.15 - Water Use and Supplies 
Policy 5.21 - Contaminated land 
Policy 6.9 - Cycling 
Policy 6.10 - Walking 
Policy 6.13 - Parking 
Policy 7.1 - Building London's neighbourhoods and communities 
Policy 7.2 - An inclusive environment 
Policy 7.3 - Designing out crime 
Policy 7.4 - Local character 
Policy 7.5 - Public realm 
Policy 7.6 - Architecture 

Page 38



 

Policy 7.7 - Location and design of tall and large buildings 
Policy 7.8 - Heritage assets and archaeology 
Policy 7.14 - Improving air quality 
Policy 7.19 - Biodiversity and access to nature 
Policy 7.21 - Trees and woodlands 
Policy 8.2 - Planning obligations 
Policy 8.3 - Community infrastructure levy 
 
Hammersmith and Fulham Local Plan (2018)  
CC1 - Reducing carbon dioxide emissions 
CC2 - Sustainable design and construction 
CC3 - Minimising flood risk and reducing water use 
CC4 - Minimising surface water run-off with sustainable drainage systems 
CC7 - On-site waste management 
CC9 - Contaminated land 
CC10 - Air quality 
CC11 - Noise 
CC12 - Light pollution 
CC13 - Control of potentially polluting uses 
DC1 - Built Environment 
DC2 - Design of new build 
DC3 - Tall buildings 
DC8 - Heritage and conservation 
DC11 - Basements and lightwells 
E1 - Range of employment uses 
E2 - Retention of employment uses 
E4 - Local employment and training 
INFRA 1 - Planning contributions and Infrastructure planning 
OS5 - Greening the borough 
T1 - Transport 
T2 - Transport assessments and travel plans 
T3 - Increasing and promoting opportunities for cycling and walking 
T4 - Vehicle parking standards 
T5 - Blue badge parking 
T6 - Borough road network 
T7 - Construction and demolition logistics 
TLC1 - Hierarchy of town and local centres 
 
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document 2018 
 
Land Use 
3.7 The development proposes to substantially demolish the existing building (save for 
the basement) and in its place provide a new office-led mixed-use development 
comprised of 17,486 sqm of office floorspace (Use Class B1(a)) (which would include a 
904sqm affordable co-working office space) and 850 sqm of flexible retail space, i.e., 
shop, restaurant/café and/or gym uses (Use Classes A1/A3/D2). The proposed 
development would therefore represent a significant uplift in the amount of office 
floorspace on the site (from 8,092 sqm to 20,032 sqm) and in so doing it would also 
replace outdated office accommodation for accommodation of a much higher 
specification. 
 

Page 39



 

3.8 The NPPF (2018) states that 'Significant weight should be placed on the need to 
support economic growth and productivity' and that planning policies should 'set out a 
clear economic vision and strategy which positively and proactively encourages 
sustainable economic growth'. 
  
3.9 Presumption in favour of sustainable development is at the heart of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, which for decision-taking means approving development 
proposals that accord with the development plan without delay. 
 
3.10 London Plan Policy 1.1 'Delivering the Strategic Vision and Objectives for London' 
sets out strategic directive for growth and change managed to realise the Mayor's 
Vision for sustainable development. 
 
3.11 London Plan Policy 2.1 'London and its Global, European and United Kingdom 
Context', requires the Mayor to ensure that London retains and extends its global role 
as a sustainable centre for business, innovation, creativity, health, education, and 
research.  
 
3.12 London Plan Policy 4.1 'Developing London's Economy' outlines strategic Mayoral 
directive to promote and enable the continued development of a strong, sustainable, 
and diverse economy ensuring the availability of sufficient and suitable workspaces in 
terms of type, size, and cost. It emphasises the need for greater recognition of the 
importance of enterprise and innovation. 
 
3.13 London Plan Policy 4.2 'Offices' sets out Mayor's strategic directive and requires 
boroughs to support the management and mixed-use development of office provision to 
improve London's competitiveness. Increases in current stock should be sought where 
there is authoritative, strategic and local evidence of sustained demand for office based 
activities, and renewal and modernisation of existing office stock in viable locations to 
improve its quality and flexibility is encouraged. The existing business and employment 
strengths in the borough are outlined within Policy E1 'Providing a Range of 
Employment Uses' of the LBHF Local Plan, which supports proposals for new 
employment uses. 
 
3.14 Strategic Policy HRA of the Local Plan (2018) explains that Hammersmith is an 
office centre of sub-regional significance and that its role as an office centre extends to 
the east along Hammersmith Road to Olympia (para.5.46). 
 
3.15 Policy 4.12 of the London Plan 'Improving Opportunities for All' requires planning 
decisions within strategic development proposals to support local employment skills 
development and training opportunities. Policy E4 'Local Employment, Training, and 
Skills Development' of the Local Plan (2018) echoes this requirement compelling 
provision for appropriate employment and training initiatives for local people of all 
abilities in the construction of major developments. 
 
3.16 Local Plan (2018) policy E1 goes on to say that new employment floor space 
above 2,500sqm should be directed to the Borough's three town centres and that the 
Council will consider:  
a. the scale, nature and local impact on the surrounding area, and public transport 
accessibility is acceptable and is assessed in detail in Sections 9 (Design and Heritage), 
10 (Amenity), 11 (Landscaping and Biodiversity) and 12 (Transport and Access).  

Page 40



 

b. the impact upon small and medium sized businesses that support the local 
community would be beneficial specifically because the new buildings would have a 
physical relationship to the North Campus Masterplan in terms of both the built 
environment and the academic linkages between the research and translational 
businesses that will be accommodated within Building C and the I-HUB. The aim is to 
foster the growth of businesses to enable them to expand into larger premises within the 
ecosystem on the White City Campus, taking space in the I-HUB, (Imperial's translation 
and innovation hub) or in future phases of the southern Masterplan.  
c. the scale and nature of employment opportunities generated in the new development 
is therefore highly desirable for the Borough and the city.  
d. there would be no displacement of community facilities or housing associated with 
the development.  
e. regard has been given to the Hammersmith and Fulham Economic Growth Plan and 
the council economic strategies as outlined in the following paragraphs of this section.  
 
3.17 Local Plan (2018) Policy E2 'Land and Premises for Employment Uses' is also 
relevant and requires land to be retained for providing continued accommodation for 
employment. 
 
3.18 The development complies with London's strategic economic agenda and Policy 
4.1 of the London Plan. 
 
3.19 The application site falls within a location which has a PTAL level of 6a which is 
classed as excellent using Transport for London's methodology. Most public transport 
modes in London are currently available which include London Underground, London 
Overground, and buses, which are within walking distance of the application site. 
 
3.20 The site already provides an established office development of significant scale. 
Strategic Policy HRA of the Local Plan (2018) acknowledges that Hammersmith's role 
as an office centre extends to the east along Hammersmith Road to Olympia, therefore 
the proposed extension of this existing office building would be in line with the aims of 
this strategic policy which would also accord with regional and national policies which 
seek to encourage new office development in viable locations. It is therefore considered 
that there is no planning policy objection to the scheme which would retain and extend 
the amount of office floor space on this site. This would be in line with the aims of Policy 
E2 of the Local Plan (2018), as the proposal would intensify the employment use by 
increasing the volume and floorspace of employment space. This is particularly the case 
as the proposed scheme would result in the replacement of an outdated office building 
with new high-quality office accommodation built to modern standards, together with the 
provision of affordable office space, and additional retail space. This would allow the 
site to continue to provide significant employment in the local area. Whilst the 
acceptability of the proposal is also dependent on other factors such as the design of 
the building and the impact on neighbouring residents and the surrounding area, 
Officers raise no objection in regard to land use. 
 
3.21 The Council's Economic Development Team have been consulted on the 
development and as a result commitment within the proposed S106 legal agreement 
has been secured for a 'Jobs, Employment, and Business Strategy', which will include 
an assessment of economic contributions to the borough, comprising apprentice 
placements and local labour during on-site construction and work experience. It will also 
secure opportunities and alignment with the Hammersmith and Fulham Local 
Procurement Code in order to work with the Council or its nominated consultants. 

Page 41



 

 
3.22 For the above reasons, Officers support the principle of the extension of the 
existing use, which is considered to be appropriate within this location, and is consistent 
with relevant national, regional and local planning policies. 
 
DESIGN 
3.23   The site currently hosts the eastern end of a meandering, 7-storey office 
development of the 1980s that has been cut off by the southern end of Blythe Road, 
created around the same time. The building's plan form does not follow the surrounding 
streets and as a result, creates external spaces with a variety of hard surfaces and 
dense planting facing the public realm. The overall impression is that of an isolated 
building with a dated and introverted appearance that - although not dominating or 
encroaching on the historic townscape to the south due to the mature planting along its 
boundaries - is disengaged from its urban context and contributes little to the townscape 
or to a positive setting for the listed terrace and buildings of merit visible in its context. 
 
3.24   The northern side of Hammersmith Road otherwise is characterised by a mix of 
building types of residential and commercial uses with generally larger scales as the 
buildings and terraces that are typical for the southern side of Hammersmith Road in 
this area. This relationship was established in the beginning of the 20th Century when 
the Lyons factory complex was created that included the Victorian Cadby Hall, and 
Olympia Exhibition Centre expanded to the south facing Hammersmith Road. Other 
large scale mansion blocks and office buildings were built along the north side of 
Hammersmith Road leading to the town centre, with a general height of up to 8 storeys. 
 
3.25   The development does not lie within a conservation area but there are a number 
in the vicinity. Two of these, Olympia and Avonmore Conservation Area and Dorcas 
Estate Conservation Area, are adjacent to the site and can be seen in close context to 
it. The existing building is not listed or designated as Building of Merit, but it lies within 
the setting of a number of listed buildings - the Grade II Listed Olympia Exhibition 
Centre to the east of the site and the grade II listed terrace 99-119 Hammersmith Road 
on the southern side of the Hammersmith Road. The listed terrace is framed by terraces 
designated as Buildings of Merit. 
 
Policy Context 
NPPF  
3.26  The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) seeks to secure high quality 
design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and 
buildings. The NPPF also requires that proposals should conserve heritage assets in a 
manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their 
contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations. 
 
3.27  The NPPF (2018) states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development, and should contribute positively to making places better for people. Part 
12 of the NPPF outlines the requirement for good design and sets out that planning 
policies and decisions ensure that developments should:  
- Function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but 
over the lifetime of the development;  
- Be visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping;  

Page 42



 

- Be sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change (such as increased densities);  
- Establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive 
places to live, work and visit;  
- Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate development and sustain an 
appropriate mix of uses (including green and other public space) and support local 
facilities and transport networks;  
- Create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and 
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users46; and where 
crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or 
community cohesion and resilience.  
 
London Plan  
3.28  Chapter 7 of the London Plan sets out the Mayor's policies on a range of issues 
regarding places and space, setting out fundamental principles for design. Policy 7.1 - 
Lifetime Neighbourhoods states that the design of new buildings and the spaces they 
create should help reinforce or enhance the character, legibility, permeability, and 
accessibility of the neighbourhood. Policy 7.2 - An Inclusive Environment requires all 
new development in London to achieve the highest standards of accessible and 
inclusive design. Policy 7.3 - Designing Out Crime seeks to ensure that developments 
reduce the opportunities for criminal behaviour and contribute to a sense of security, 
without being overbearing or intimidating. 
 
3.29  Policies 7.4 - Local Character, 7.5 - Public Realm and 7.6 - Architecture of the 
London Plan are all relevant and promote the high quality design of buildings and 
streets. Policy 7.4 states that development should have regard to the form and function, 
and structure of an area, place or street and the scale, mass and orientation of 
surrounding buildings whilst policy 7.6 states that buildings and structures should not 
cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and buildings. 
 
3.30  London Plan policy 7.1 requires that all new development is of high quality that 
responds to the surrounding context and improves access to social and community 
infrastructure contributes to the provision of high quality living environments and 
enhances the character, legibility, permeability and accessibility of the surrounding 
neighbourhood. 
 
3.31  London Plan Policy 7.4 states that 'Buildings, streets and open spaces should 
provide a high quality design response that: a) has regard to the pattern and grain of the 
existing spaces and streets in orientation, scale, proportion and mass, b) contributes to 
a positive relationship between the urban structure and natural landscape features, c) is 
human in scale, ensuring buildings create a positive relationship with street level activity 
and people feel comfortable with their surroundings, d) allows existing buildings and 
structures that make a positive contribution to the character of a place to influence the 
future character of the area, and e) is informed by the surrounding historic environment.' 
Policy 7.5 promotes public realm and requires the provision of high quality public realm 
that is comprehensible at a human scale. Policy 7.6 addresses architecture and states 
that buildings should be of the highest architectural quality which 'is often best achieved 
by ensuring new buildings reference, but not necessarily replicate, the scale, mass and 
detail of the predominant built form surrounding them, and by using the highest quality 
materials. Contemporary architecture is encouraged, but it should be respectful and 

Page 43



 

sympathetic to the other architectural styles that have preceded it in the locality'. Policy 
7.7 relates to the design of tall buildings. Policy 7.8 requires that development respects 
affected heritage assets by being sympathetic to their form, scale, materials and 
architectural detail. Policy 7.21 seeks the retention of existing trees of value with new 
development, and their replacement when lost.  
 
Local Plan  
3.32  LBHF Local Plan 2018 Policy DC1 Built Environment requires all development 
within the borough to create a high quality urban environment that respects and 
enhances its townscape context and heritage assets. 'An approach to accessible and 
inclusive urban design that demonstrates how good design, quality public realm, 
landscaping, heritage assets and land use can be integrated to help regenerate places' 
is also required. The development has been through rigorous pre-application process 
on matters of design whereby the Council's Design and Conservation Team have made 
recommendations and comments on design development which have been 
incorporated into the proposal set out in this application. It is therefore considered that 
the development complies with Policy DC1. 
 
3.33  Policy DC3 (Tall Buildings) highlights that tall buildings are appropriate within the 
several areas of the borough, including the White City Regeneration Area, subject to a 
number of considerations, such as the proposal demonstrating that it has a positive 
relationship to the surrounding townscape context in terms of scale, streetscape and 
built form. 
 
3.34  Policy DC4 of the Local Plan (2018) relates to alterations and extensions to 
existing buildings. This policy states that the council will require a high standard of 
design in all alterations and extensions to existing buildings, and that these should be:  
- compatible with the scale and character of existing development, neighbouring 
properties and their setting;  
- successfully integrated into the architectural design of the existing building; and  
- subservient and should never dominate the parent building in bulk, scale, materials or 
design. 
  
3.35  Policy DC8 states that the Council will conserve the significance of the borough's 
historic environment by protecting, restoring and enhancing its heritage assets. 
 
3.36   The replacement building has been designed to create a commercial building that 
would be flexible and resilient to future changes to space standards and operational 
needs for commercial occupiers as well as robust enough to allow for adaptation and 
alterations. The massing is contained within an external, structural framework and is 
based on a 9m grid that has been put together to form 5 east-west orientated "fingers" 
of varying heights, the tallest of 8 storeys plus plant deck being in the centre, dropping 
down to 7 storeys to the north  
and 6 storeys to the south facing Hammersmith Road. The stepping of the massing has 
been further refined by varying degrees of infilling of the top levels of the framework to 
create external terraces that would visually reduce the massing and provide amenity 
spaces for the occupiers. 
 
3.37   The overall height and stepping of the proposed building has been amended 
twice during the course of the application, reducing it by one storey each time to 
address officers' concerns about the impact on the townscape and heritage as well as 

Page 44



 

to address similar comments from the public as detailed in the section "Design Review 
Panel and Public Consultation responses". 
 
3.38   The building would be arranged on site to align with the Hammersmith Road 
building line of Olympia and the consented hotel scheme to the east. This would 
reinstate the original building line of Cadby Hall and more positively respond to the 
townscape context of Hammersmith Road. The northern-most "finger" would step away 
from the northern site boundary to provide breathing space to the residential 
development north and west of Blythe Road. Here, only a narrow, single storey "finger" 
would push into this space that is designed to animate Blythe Road with a fully glazed 
elevation to the workspace at lower ground floor level and a terrace for the occupiers of 
the raised ground floor. In the eastern elevation, the central three "fingers" are pushed 
in to provide a more generous space at Lion's Walk, and the same "fingers" are pushed 
out in the western elevation to follow the curved street line of Blythe Road. The grid 
structure would be applied strictly, resulting in a staggered building line in the western 
elevation and an open space at the corner of Hammersmith Road and Blythe Road. 
 
3.39   The southern, eastern and western elevations of the ground level of the building 
have been slightly pushed into the plan between the framing to emphasise the base of 
the building, in particular the retail frontage with its prominent canopies in Hammersmith 
Road that would respond in rhythm and scale to the retail frontages of the terraces on 
the south side of Hammersmith Road. 
 
Detailed design 
3.40   The architectural language of the elevational treatment is determined by the 
structural steel frame and grid, and the design is influenced by the traditional warehouse 
architecture that characterized the northern side of Hammersmith Road in the 20th 
Century, featuring large window openings within robust brick walls and expressed 
structural elements such as columns, beams, trusses and arches.  
The typical bays of the office elevations would be arranged between the expressed 
steel framework and would reflect the warehouse style in a contemporary manner, using 
panels made up of vertically stacked, small terracotta rectangles, or a similar material, 
with a warm, natural colour. The terracotta would be slightly angled and overlap to 
convey solidity, texture and robustness. The panels would frame the sides of a large 
window opening while black metal spandrel panels would frame the top and bottom of 
the glazing. Further detail and depth would be added by horizontal brise soleils in front 
of the lower part of the bays that would obstruct views into the floor areas of the offices. 
 
3.41   This pattern would be varied in the main south facing elevation to respond to the 
smaller scale of buildings and features on the south side of Hammersmith Road, and to 
reduce light spillage. Here, the window openings would be reduced in size and refined 
by inserting a full height louvred panel in front of the centre of the glazing. By contrast, 
the side elevations face less sensitive neighbours and therefore these elevations would 
have a more open arrangement, some without solid vertical panels, others with fewer, 
featuring a dark blue or dark green glazed ceramic finish as a reference to industrial, 
glazed brick and tiles used in Victorian factories, to break up the repetitive pattern of the 
bays. Other variations include pushing the elevations deeper behind the framework to 
create balconies with a planted green balustrade which would increase the provision of 
urban greening and visually soften the impact of the proposed massing. 
 
3.42   The eastern and western ends of the central finger house stair cases and 
plantrooms. The elevations would be clad with fixed glass louvres that would obscure 

Page 45



 

views while light would still filter through. This treatment would contribute to a clear 
definition of the fingers in the side elevations and provide further variation and visual 
interest.  
 
3.43   The proposed retail and office entrance frontages within the external framework 
are designed to engage with the public realm and to reflect human scale. Within each 
bay, metal clad portals with yellow pressed metal awnings would animate the shopfronts 
and entrances. Dark green glazed ceramic panels are proposed in the reveals of the 
portals to further enliven and accentuate the retail entrances. The bright yellow awnings 
are a reference to the historic shop fronts of the Lyons factory that featured large 
awnings along Hammersmith Road.  
 
3.44   The west elevation in Blythe Road has been considered to be the least sensitive 
in terms of impact on the residential neighbourhood and the main pedestrian routes, 
and therefore would be most suitable to locate service entrances. The staggered 
building line would allow to create forecourts for vehicles and deliveries where needed 
but it would also accommodate planting to create a green buffer for the amenity of 
pedestrians in Blythe Road. The green buffer would link into the planted areas of the 
residential blocks and into the new open space at the corner of with Hammersmith 
Road. Some glazing would be incorporated into the ground floor elevations to provide 
passive surveillance, and the planting would be specified to keep clear views between 
the building and the footway. All service entrance doors, louvres and solid cladding 
materials would be designed to fit into the architectural language and materiality of the 
building and will be considered in detail under the attached conditions. 
 
3.45   The terraces at roof level would be covered with yellow metal awnings that are 
prominently visible from the ground through the open steel frame, and together with the 
planted edge hedging provide visual interest in street and higher level views. All other 
solid roofs would be green, partially with PV panel installations. The plant installations 
on the roof deck would be obscured from high level views by louvres and grillage. 
 
Landscaping 
3.46   The proposed building would be set back from the site boundary in all 4 
elevations to allow for soft and hard landscaping, not only to benefit the public realm but 
also to reinstate and maximise urban greening at ground level in addition to the green 
roofs, planted terraces and green hedge balustrades on the building. This will 
compensate for the loss of the trees/planting that currently exist on the site. This current 
planting is a fairly solid barrier like planting that separates the site from the public realm. 
 
3.47   Blythe Road curves around the northern and western edge of the building and its 
edges currently are characterized by overgrown planting and more manicured 
landscape features on the site of the residential block. The public footway suffers from 
poor surveillance and lack of animation. The proposed landscaping would be a 
combination of tree planting and low, formal planting to achieve a visual relationship 
with the ground floor of the building with activated frontages wherever possible. 
 
3.48   At the corner with Hammersmith Road, the western elevation is recessed to form 
an open space animated by retail entrances.  A green wall, planters and tree planting 
would protect the space from direct impacts of the traffic. The planters would link into a 
green verge of planters and trees along Hammersmith Road that divides the public 
footway along the road from the proposed walkway along the retail frontages. 
 

Page 46



 

3.49   Further landscaping options have been considered for Lyons Walk that lies 
outside the site boundary. Lyons Walk could become a well-protected green space 
which could incorporate an area suitable for events and markets. The proposed eastern 
building line would allow for appropriate breathing space between the façade and Lyons 
Walk independent from future public open space proposals. 
 
Heritage Considerations 
Policy Context  
3.50   The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 sets out the 
principal statutory duties which must be considered in the determination of any 
application affecting listed buildings or conservation areas. 
 
3.51  It is key to the assessment of this application that the decision-making process is 
based on the understanding of specific duties in relation to the listed buildings and 
conservation areas required by the relevant legislation, particularly the Section 16, 66 
and 72 duties of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
together with the requirements set out in the NPPF. 
 
3.52  Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires that: In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority, or as the case 
may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving 
the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
it possesses. 
 
3.53  Section 72 of the above Act states in relation to conservation areas that: In the 
exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, of any 
functions under or by virtue of any of the provisions mentioned in subsection (2), special 
attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area. 
 
3.54   Paragraph 190 of the NPPF (2018) states that local planning authorities should 
identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected 
by a proposal (including the setting of any asset). The assessment of significance 
should be taken into account when considering the impact of a proposal. 
 
3.55   Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that: 'When considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the 
greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm 
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.' 
 
3.56   Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states that:  
'Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its 
alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear 
and convincing justification.'  
 
3.57  Policy 7.8 of the London Plan relates to Heritage Assets and Archaeology and 
states that development affecting heritage assets and their setting should conserve their 
significance by being sympathetic to their form, scale, materials and architectural detail. 
 

Page 47



 

3.58  Local Plan policy DC8 relates to heritage and conservation, and states that the 
Council will conserve the significance of the borough's historic environment by 
protecting, restoring and enhancing its heritage assets. Applications affecting 
designated heritage assets, including alterations and extensions to buildings, will only 
be permitted if the significance of the heritage asset is conserved or enhanced, and 
applications should conserve the setting of, make a positive contribution to, or reveal 
the significance of heritage assets.  
 
3.59  The site does not lie within a conservation area and does not include any heritage 
assets. However, the designated heritage asset indirectly affected by the proposals are: 
 

- Olympia and Avonmore Conservation Area 
The area is defined by a historic mix of large scale commercial and exhibition buildings, 
mansion blocks and small scale terraces, developed along the important route of 
Hammersmith Road into London in the 19th and early 20th Century. Views along 
Hammersmith Road, into and out of the conservation area are affected by the 
development on site. 
- Dorcas Estate Conservation Area 
The area is defined by Victorian residential terraces of up to 3 storeys and its historic 
fabric remains largely intact. The Hammersmith Road frontage of the conservation area 
lies directly opposite the site and its setting is affected by the development on site. 
- No 99-119 Hammersmith Road, grade II listed 
This terrace is of late Georgian origin and has a unified composition with emphasized 
end bays. The ground floor elevation is characterised by projecting shopfronts. It was 
redeveloped behind retained facades at the end of the 20th Century. It lies directly 
opposite the site and its setting is affected by the development on site. 
-       Olympia Exhibition Centre, grade II listed 
 
The undesignated heritage assets indirectly affected by the application are the following 
Buildings of Merit: 
 

 No 121 - 127a Hammersmith Road - the Albion Public House and Lewellyn 
Mansions, a 3-storey Arts and Crafts terrace with a characteristic roofscape, 
red brick elevations and shopfronts with contrasting façade features and stone 
facing. 

 85-97 Hammersmith Road, a 3-storey, early Victorian terrace with projecting 
shopfronts at ground level. 

 
3.60   Consideration needs to be given to the impact of the development on the 
character and appearance of the conservation areas and on the settings of the heritage 
assets that would be visible in the context of the application site. 
The significance of each asset has been assessed in accordance with Historic 
England's methodology for assessing "significance" as set out in 'Conservation 
Principles Policies and Guidance for the Sustainable Management of the Historic 
Environment".  
 
3.61   The identified heritage assets that are affected by the redevelopment of the site - 
the conservation areas, the listed terrace and the Buildings of Merit - are important 
elements that contribute to the historic character of Hammersmith including ensuring the 
legibility of the historic development into the suburbs and its characteristic patterns of 
uses along the main arteries into London. The heritage assets are therefore considered 

Page 48



 

to have historical and aesthetic value by virtue of their architecture and townscape 
contribution in this characteristic location. 
 
3.62   When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that "…great weight 
should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the 
greater the weight should be)". Paragraph 194 further clarifies that "Any harm or loss 
should require clear and convincing justification". Paragraph 200 requires Local 
Planning Authorities to "look for opportunities for new development within Conservation 
Areas and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of heritage assets, to enhance or 
better reveal their significance." 
 
3.63   In this case, the proposed development overall would not result in harm to the 
character and appearance of the conservation area or to the settings of the listed 
terrace and the Buildings of Merit. The reasons are set out below in conjunction with the 
assessment of the submitted townscape views. 
 
Townscape views and heritage impact assessment 
3.64   To assess the impact of the proposed development, a Townscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment has been provided. Officers agreed a number of viewpoint locations 
around the site with the applicants, resulting in the detailed assessment of 14 short and 
long range viewpoints that are accurate visual representations of the proposed 
development. During the consultation, out of the 14 viewpoints, 6 views were 
considered to demonstrate significant impacts of the development on the townscape 
and the surrounding heritage assets. This assessment concentrates on those 6 views. 
 
View 1 - Blythe Road, south-east corner of Blythe House Post Office 
 
The height of the proposed building that was reduced by overall 2 storeys since the 
original submission would fit comfortably into its context formed by Olympia and the 
residential Kensington West building. The facade design clearly conveys the 
commercial use of the building. However, the detailed design of the green terraces at 
the top and the part solid façade treatment with terracotta panels would respond well to 
both the residential building and the listed Olympia building, and the composition and 
materiality of the proposed building is considered to have a positive impact on the 
setting of the listed building in this view. The transparency of the base of the proposed 
building would create visual interest and a good visual relationship between the 
streetscape and the office accommodation and enliven the public realm of Blythe Road. 
 
View 4 - Hammersmith Road, between Argyll Mansions and Palace Mansions 
 
This view shows the proposed building approaching from west along Hammersmith 
Road in context with the listed Olympia building and the historic, southern edge of 
Hammersmith Road with its mansion blocks and terraces. The scale and horizontal 
emphasis of the proposed building would be similar to that of the Olympia building but 
the architecture would be of a contemporary expression. The building would step down 
in height to overall 6 storeys on Hammersmith Road and the more solid and contrasting 
façade treatment of the south facing façade is designed to pay respect to the historic 
buildings on the south side of the road. However, the historic change in scale and 
character between the two sides of Hammersmith Road remains clearly legible. The 
proposed continuation of the building line on the north side would strengthen this 

Page 49



 

character, enliven the streetscape and have a positive effect on the setting of the 
Olympia building. 
 
View 8 - Vernon Street, outside No. 14 
 
This viewpoint is located within the small scale residential neighbourhood to the south of 
Hammersmith Road and allows views of the eastern part of the south elevation. The 
existing building with 7 storeys appears clearly lower in scale but its appearance lacks 
any positive relationship to the townscape. The height of the proposed Hammersmith 
Road frontage would match that of the existing building but behind the 6-storey frontage 
of the proposed building, the step up to 8 storeys becomes visible and exaggerated by 
the new alignment of the frontage further forward towards Hammersmith Road. 
However, overall, the height of 8 storeys is typical for the north side of Hammersmith 
Road, and the massing would visually be broken up and reduced by the formation of 
setbacks to the sides of the building and behind the structural frame to create roof 
terraces. The new facades would be strongly articulated, vertically by the rhythm of 
façade elements and horizontally, on the recessed top floors, by green hedging and 
yellow canopies. This would add depth and interest to the appearance and positively 
engage with the surroundings. The building therefore is not considered to be visually 
overbearing in this view and would not harm the character and appearance of the 
adjacent conservation area. 
 
View 9 - Munden Street, opposite No. 17 
 
This viewpoint has a similar character as View 8, but the existing view focusses on the 
landscaped, western edge of the site that obscures larger development in the 
background, and only the roof of the existing building is visible above the roof of the 
listed terrace in Hammersmith Road. The proposed taller building with its larger footprint 
would push into this view and clearly define the edge of the small scale residential area 
and allow legibility of its location within the wider area. None of the larger scale 
buildings to the north side of Hammersmith Road are visible in this view and therefore, 
to avoid the visual impression of a "cliff edge" between the north and the south side of 
Hammersmith Road some elements of the upper floors on the south-western edge of 
the building would be pushed in behind the structural frame to lighten the massing and 
soften the edges with terrace planting. The overall effect of these measures would be a 
diminished scale and prominence of the edge of the building in this view, and the 
combination of architectural features within the visible structural frame is considered to 
be a positive response to the general character of the area and a positive engagement 
with its townscape. The character and appearance of the adjacent conservation area to 
the south and the setting of the listed terrace to the east of Munden Street and the 
locally listed terrace to the west of Munden Street therefore are not considered to be 
harmed. 
 
View 11 and 12 - Hammersmith Road, outside St Mary's Church and outside No. 135 
 
These views show the Hammersmith Road frontage when approaching the site from the 
town centre. It demonstrates both the contrast between the smaller scale, historic, 
southern side of the road and larger commercial development on the opposite side, as 
well as the visual impact of the landscaped buffer zone created in the 1980s. While the 
existing landscaping softens this contrast, the streetscape of Hammersmith Road lacks 
animation and character, and the existing development on site is poorly integrated. The 
proposed height and massing brought forward to the historic building line of 

Page 50



 

Hammersmith Road would improve the definition of the streetscape, positively address 
the public realm and reinstate the historic character of the road as an important route 
into London. 
 
3.65   The reestablished building line would result in a very prominent new building 
corner at the junction with Blythe Road. In these views the architectural concept of the 
building that allows a flexible response to varying conditions around the site within its 
overall structural frame would be clearly expressed. The building would set back from 
the corner creating an open amenity space with significant landscaping as well as urban 
greening in form of landscaped terraces and hedges on the upper floors of the building 
to combine the benefits of urban greening and a strong building line along 
Hammersmith Road. The building would also step down in height to 6 storeys to 
achieve a respectful relationship with the listed and locally listed terraces on the south 
side of the road. The visual impact would be further softened by the creation of 
generous public realm in Hammersmith Road that would provide space for street trees 
and landscaping. Overall, the proposed building is considered to be a well designed 
response to its context and contributes positively to the characteristic townscape of the 
surrounding area. 
 
Design Conclusion 
3.66   The proposed design has been assessed against the relevant national guidance 
and regional and local policies. The proposals would significantly increase the massing 
on site but it still remains within the existing townscape scale of the north side of 
Hammersmith Road. The proposed building is designed in the spirit of the industrial 
history of the area but in its scale, materiality and design detail would be respectful of its 
unique townscape context. The design of the proposed development is thought to be 
well considered and would provide substantial benefits with regard to urban design and 
townscape, urban greening, and amenity of the public realm. The use of a limited 
palette of high quality materials would vary to respond to the differences of the adjacent 
townscape whilst maintaining an overall consistency throughout the scheme. The 
distinct retail base would respond to and enliven the character of Hammersmith Road 
and, and generally, well defined, overlooked street edges that improve the quality of the 
pedestrian environment and safety would be created. 
 
3.67   Officers have assessed the impact of the proposal on the affected heritage assets 
and consider that it is compliant with Section 66 and section 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The proposals are not considered to harm 
the setting of the neighbouring listed and locally listed terraces. Overall, it is considered 
that the proposed development would appear as part of a coherent pattern of 
development in the wider area and therefore would not harm the character and 
appearance of the conservation area. 
 
Accessibility 
3.68 Policy 7.2 of The London Plan requires all new development to achieve the 
highest standards of accessible and inclusive design. Policy T5 of the Local Plan (2018) 
states that new developments that include vehicular access must provide accessible, off 
street car parking bay for Blue Badge holders. Policies DC1, DC3, DC8 of the Local 
Plan 2018 and, Key Principles DA1,DA6, DA7 and TR6 of the PGSPD 2018 require new 
developments to be designed to be accessible and inclusive to all who may use or visit 
the proposed buildings. The proposed development would include one designated off-
street car parking space for people with disabilities within the ground floor level. Officers 
consider this space is appropriately located close to the core of the building, in the 

Page 51



 

service area which would provide easy access to the ground floor of the development. 
The location of the car parking space will be secured by condition (No.39). 
 
3.69 All entrances from the street would be level and there would be level access to 
lifts, providing level access to all floor levels. A condition (No.58) requires the 
implementation of the Accessible Design detailed in Appendix B of the Design and 
Access Statement (Dated July 2018). A further condition (No.35) requires details a fire 
rated lift, and that all lifts within the building, have enhanced lift repair service to ensure 
that no occupiers (including wheelchair users) are trapped if lifts break down. 
 
Crime Prevention 
3.70 Policy 7.3 of The London Plan advises that new development should seek to 
create safe, secure and appropriately accessible environments. Local Plan (2018) policy 
DC2 advises that developments throughout the borough should be designed to enhance 
safety and minimise the opportunities for crime.  
 
3.71 Full details of how the proposed development would incorporate crime prevention 
measures to provide a safe and secure environment are required by condition (No.34) 
including how there would be site wide CCTV coverage. 
 
HIGHWAYS MATTERS 
 
3.72  The NPPF requires that developments which generate significant movement are 
located where the need to travel would be minimised, and the use of sustainable 
transport modes can be maximised; and that development should protect and exploit 
opportunities for the use of sustainable transport modes for the movement of goods or 
people. 
 
3.73   Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13 of The London Plan set out the intention to 
encourage consideration of transport implications as a fundamental element of 
sustainable transport, supporting development patterns that reduce the need to travel or 
that locate development with high trip generation in proximity of public transport 
services. The policies also provide guidance for the establishment of maximum car 
parking standards. 
 
3.74   Local Plan (2018) policy T2 states that all development proposals will be 
assessed for their contribution to traffic generation and their impact on congestion. 
Policies T3, T4 and T5 of the Local Plan (2018) set out vehicle parking standards, cycle 
standards and Blue Badge requirements which brings them in line with London Plan 
standards. 
 
3.75  The development site is surrounded by Hammersmith Road and Blythe Road. The 
application site is very well served by public transport and has a Public Transport 
Accessibility level(PTAL) of 6a, which is classed as excellent in terms of its location to 
public transport network, service availability and walking time to public transport. There 
are a variety of shops and services locally, with easy access to central London and links 
to major transport nodes. 
 
3.76  Hammersmith Road is classified as a London Distributor Road, while Blythe Road 
is classified as a Local Access Road. The nearest on-street parking to the site is along 
Edith Road, Auriol Road and Munden Street opposite the site to the south. There is no 
controlled parking on Hammersmith Road or Blythe Road. Hammersmith Road is mainly 

Page 52



 

double yellow lined except for a short single yellow lined section in front of the site 
entrance with parking restrictions from Monday to Saturday 8:30am-6:30pm. Blythe 
Road is mainly single yellow lined with parking restrictions from Monday to Sunday 
7:00am-Midnight. 
 
3.77   In the existing building there are 64 car parking spaces spread between a split-
level basement which are accommodated within a double basement and a ground floor 
car park. The existing vehicular access into the site and building is via Lyons Walk 
which is a no through road and which is partially pedestrianised at its southern end. 
Existing servicing and refuse collection takes place on-site within the ground-floor car 
park. 
 
3.78     In terms of the proposed development, 11 car parking spaces accessed from the 
internal servicing and delivery bay, 10 which will be provided using the WOHR 
automated parking system. A dedicated DDA parking bay is proposed at ground floor 
level. This represents a reduction of some 52 parking spaces. Electric vehicle charging 
points will be provided as required by policy located by the proposed parking spaces. 
 
3.79   London Plan standards and policy T4 of the Local Plan 2018 allow up to 1 space 
per 600-1,000 sqm gross floor space. With a proposed floor area of over 20,000 sqm, 
20 - 33 car parking spaces could meet this standard. The parking provision proposed in 
this development would therefore be well below the maximum parking standards set out 
in The London Plan and borough standards and would support a reduction in the 
potential number of car borne trips arising from the redevelopment. Due to the fact that 
the development would reduce the number of existing parking spaces, the parking 
provision is considered to be acceptable in this instance. 
 
3.80   The provision for electric vehicles is compliant with The London Plan which 
requires 20% active and 10% passive charging points.  The blue badge parking 
provision is compliant with the Blue Badge parking standards contained in London Plan 
(2016). Swept path analysis plans have been submitted for the servicing and parking 
areas and are satisfactory. 
 
3.81   SPD Key Principle TR8 relates to motorcycle parking and states that 'The council 
will require motorcycle parking facilities in developments that require a Transport 
Assessment. At least four spaces should be provided'. In line with this policy Highways 
Officers requested that motorcycle parking be incorporated into the proposal, and 
revised plans now include 4 motorcycle parking spaces at ground floor level. 
 
3.82   The development would include two stacker systems proving the car parking 
spaces. In line with PG SPD key Principle TR26 it is considered necessary that the 
Applicants submit a scheme for the maintenance and emergency repair of the car 
stackers to avoid impact from breakdowns (condition No.35). 
 
Deliveries, servicing and refuse collection 
3.83    PG SPD Key Principle TR27 seeks off-street servicing for all new developments. 
The current development provides an off-street servicing area accessed from Blythe 
Road. This provision is considered to be acceptable. Notwithstanding this provision it is 
considered that a condition is attached to secure a delivery and servicing plan in 
accordance with Transport for London's Delivery and Service Plan Guidance. It should 
also address all the other delivery and servicing needs of the development. 
 

Page 53



 

3.84   Deliveries and servicing for the proposed development are proposed to take 
place within the service yard, accessed from Blythe Road. The applicant has used the 
TRICS database to attain the proposed servicing trip rates. The sites which have been 
used to derive the trip rates are accepted. The applicant has provided an outline 
delivery and servicing plan as a part of this planning application. It has been noted that 
all delivery and servicing generated by the proposed development is to take place away 
from public highway, in the proposed loading bays.  
 
3.85       The proposed development is estimated to generate a total of 57 daily 
servicing trips, an increase of 31 daily servicing. The applicant has stated that this 
equates to less than 5 servicing trips per hour across a 12-hour day and this will be 
managed through the implementation of a service management plan. The Highway 
Authority notes the significant increase in servicing trips and encourages the applicant 
to actively survey and monitor the delivery and servicing operations of the site to 
minimise future delivery and servicing trips.  
 
3.86       Whilst the applicant has noted that unloading is permitted on the southern side 
of Hammersmith Road outside of peak hours. The use of the public highway for 
unloading would be contrary to Key Principal TR27 which requires the provision of off-
street servicing for all new developments. The revised swept-path analysis for the 
delivery and servicing of the site is satisfactory.  
 
3.87       The site must not be first occupied until the applicant has submitted a detailed 
Delivery and Servicing Plan for approval to the Local Authority. The Delivery and 
Servicing Plan shall be reviewed and submitted for approval to the Local Authority at 
Year 1, Year 3 and Year 5 and a payment of £2,000 for monitoring fees at each review. 
 
3.88   Refuse stores would be provided at basement level for the for storage and 
collection of segregated waste. It is intended that refuse would be collected from within 
the service yard, away from the public highway. A Refuse Management Plan will be 
required by condition (No25), to ensure accordance with policy CC7 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 
 
Cycle Parking 
3.89   Policy T3 and Table 12 of the Local Plan (2018) seek to ensure that satisfactory 
cycle space is provided for all developments. 
 
3.90    The development will provide 310 cycle spaces (259 long term and 51 short 
stay), the majority of which will be provided within a secure dedicated area at basement 
level, accessed by a ramp (1:17 cycle ramp). The level of provision accords with the 
Councils standards and also complies with the emerging standards in the new Draft 
London Plan. The Council's Highways Officers are satisfied with this level of provision. 
The proposed cycle parking is therefore acceptable. The provision of these spaces is 
covered by condition (No.36), that the total cycle parking spaces would be monitored 
and increased in line with future additional parking demand. Shower, changing and 
locker facilities are provided at basement level, adjacent to the internal cycle parking 
and in line with London Plan policy 6.9. 
 
Trip Generation 
3.91     The applicant has assumed that 85% of the workforce will be at work on any 
given date and that 55% of a typical London office will arrive and 10% depart in the AM 
peak. This methodology is accepted by the Highway Authority. 

Page 54



 

3.92       The information submitted regarding the predicted modal split is satisfactory 
(See below). Raw modal split data from the 2011 census has been used to derive the 
modal split and has then been applied to the total person trips, to determine how many 
trips are likely to be undertaken by each mode. The results of the proposed future office 
trip generation are presented in the Table below: 
 

 
 
3.93   It is accepted that the retail uses are likely to attract ancillary trips associated with 
the proposed office use and therefore trip rates are not provided for the respective class 
use. The Highway Authority is satisfied with the trip generation information which the 
applicant has submitted. 
 
Pedestrian impact 
3.94     The Applicant's transport consultants have carried out a Pedestrian Environment 
Review System (PERS) audit to assess the existing facilities and the likely impact of 
these additional trips on the pedestrian environment. The PERS audit indicates that the 
additional pedestrian trips could be accommodated without adversely affecting existing 
pedestrian facilities, and Officers concur with this assessment. 
 
3.95     TfL have commented that it would be appropriate to seek a contribution by the 
Applicant towards the Cycle Superhighway 9 (CS9) scheme, and which proposes 
improvements to highways in close vicinity of the site. The Council's Highways Officers 
have confirmed that they are supportive of this approach. The route of CS9 will pass 
adjacent to the site. This would therefore be directly related and of great benefit to the 
future occupants of development proposed in this application, and would help to 
mitigate the road safety impacts of additional pedestrian and vehicular trips generated 
by this development. As such a contribution towards the CS9 scheme is proposed by 
the Applicant, and this will be secured by the S106 agreement accompanying any 
planning permission. 
 

Page 55



 

Travel Plan 
3.96   A framework Travel Plan for the site has been submitted alongside the Transport 
Assessment, for consideration. The requirement to provide a final travel plan and to 
include ongoing monitoring will form part of the S106 requirements.  
 
3.97       The outline travel plan for the site has passed TFL's ATTrBuTE travel plan 
assessment. Some of the measures include: 

 Encouraging walking and cycling to work through promotion and additional 
information including given, 

 Provision of high quality and well-maintained cycling and pedestrian routes 
through the site, 

 Promotion of care clubs near the application site, 

 Information on local transportation links and routes near the application site, 
 
3.98   It has been noted that different tenants will set out their own targets, and  these 
targets should be updated along with the mode shares before submitting the final travel 
plans for approval by the Council. It is also noted that within the TA a Travel Plan 
Coordinator is to be appointed for this site. As the site is in PTAL zone 6a, it is 
considered that there is capacity within the existing public transport network to 
accommodate the additional trips proposed from this development. Officers welcome 
the provision of Travel Plans in support of the proposal to promote sustainable travel for 
occupiers of the development. 
 
3.99   A Construction Workers Travel Plan will also be required as part of the legal 
agreement.  
 
Demolition and Construction Logistic Plans 
3.100   A framework construction logistics plan was submitted with the application. At 
this stage of the planning process the detailed information relating to the Construction 
Logistics Plan has yet to be detailed, and therefore this information needs to be 
developed. Officers consider this information needs to be improved in compliance with 
TfL guidelines. The plans will be required to include demolition details, contractors' 
construction method statements, waste classification and disposal procedures and 
locations, dust and noise monitoring and control, provisions within the site to ensure that 
all vehicles associated with the demolition/construction works are properly washed and 
cleaned to prevent the passage of mud and dirt onto the highway, and other matters 
relating to traffic management to be agreed. The plans would need to be developed to 
be in accordance with TfL requirements, which seek to minimise the impact of 
construction traffic on nearby roads and restrict construction trips to off peak hours only. 
These are secured by conditions (Nos 06 and 07).  
 
Works to the highway 
3.101   The applicant proposes the provision of a new vehicular access to the ground 
floor service yard and car park taken from Blythe Road. The Highway Authority is 
satisfied with the submitted visibility splays. The applicant has undertaken a Stage 1 
Road Safety Audit to fully assess the acceptability of the proposed vehicular access 
with Blythe Road. 
 
Works proposed to the highways includes: 
1.  Footway - The footway surrounding the application site is not in accordance with 
LBHF's Streetsmart and is highly likely to be in disrepair due to the construction of the 
proposed development. The applicant is therefore required to repave the footway 

Page 56



 

abutting the application site in accordance with LBHF's Streetsmart. The applicant 
should submit plans detailing the repaved footway to the Highway Authority for 
approval,  
 
2. Lyons Walk Access and Public Realm - The applicant has expressed a desire to 
improve the public realm for pedestrians during pre-application discussions with the 
council. The public realm improvements would be of benefit to the future users of the 
proposed development and the wider public. It is therefore considered the applicant 
should include the public realm improvement works to the proposed s278 works which 
include the proposed vehicular access, footway repaving and closure of existing 
vehicular access. 
 
Conclusion on highways matters 
3.102   There are no objections to the proposal based on highways, traffic or parking. 
The scheme has been developed in compliance with relevant London Plan and local 
transport policies. It is considered that the capacity of the existing highway network 
could sufficiently support the development without further detriment, and that public 
transport capacity is sufficient to serve the additional trips generated. The proposal is 
considered not to lead to any detrimental impact on on-street parking given the 
excellent public transport facilities and the provision of off-street parking within the 
development. 
 
IMPACT ON RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
   
3.103 Policy 7.6 of the London Plan states that buildings and structures should not 
cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and buildings, particularly 
residential buildings, in relation to privacy, overshadowing, wind and microclimate.  This 
is particularly important for tall buildings.  Policy 7.7 states that 'tall buildings should not 
affect their surroundings adversely in terms of microclimate, wind turbulence, 
overshadowing, noise, reflected glare, aviation, navigation and telecommunication 
interference'. 
 
3.104 Policy DC2 of the Local Plan (2018) relates to alterations and extensions to 
existing buildings.  This policy states that extensions should be compatible with 
neighbouring properties and their setting, and should respect the amenities of the 
neighbouring properties, and other properties most directly affected by the proposal. 
 
3.105 The site's surrounding neighbours to the east and west are currently in 
office/exhibition centre use, with an extant permission of a hotel immediately to the east 
of the application site. The apartment blocks to the north of the site are in residential 
use, and there are residential units on upper floors of the buildings containing 
commercial units to the south of the development, on the opposite side of Hammersmith 
Road.  The nearest residential dwellings are in Kensington West to the north are a 
minimum of 18m away from the proposed development at its closest point).  
 
Daylight and sunlight 
 
3.106 The Applicants have submitted a daylight and sunlight assessment, in line 
with the guidance provided in the Building Research Establishment (BRE) document 
entitled 'Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight' (2011).  
 

Page 57



 

3.107 The impact of the proposed development on the nearest residential 
properties has been considered.  The properties considered in the assessment are: 
 
- 67 - 135 Hammersmith Road  
- Stuart House, Balmoral House, Regent and Sandringham House on Windsor Way 
- Kensington West, Blythe Road 
 
3.108 Only residential accommodation has been assessed for daylight/sunlight 
impacts.  No assessment of the impact on surrounding office/commercial uses has been 
presented.  The BRE guide recommends that only windows and rooms within residential 
properties need to be assessed, and does not require any assessment on commercial 
or business properties, although it states that they may also be applied to non-domestic 
buildings where the occupants have a reasonable expectation of daylight.  Taking this 
advice into account, Officers consider it unnecessary to assess the non-residential 
buildings within the vicinity of the site, as offices are routinely lit with electric lights in the 
daytime given their deep floorplates.  Rights to light to the existing neighbouring 
commercial development would need to be protected in the scheme, but this would be 
through a process separate from planning. 
 
Daylight (assessment methodology) 
3.109 For all properties assessed an analysis of the daylight (vertical sky 
component (VSC) and no-sky line (NSL)) that would reach an affected window has 
been submitted with the application.  Figures showing the existing situation compared 
with the effect of the proposed development have been presented. 
 
3.110 The BRE Guidance sets out three different methods of assessing daylight to 
or within a room, the Vertical Sky Component (VSC) method, the plotting of the no-sky-
line (NSL) method and the Average Daylight Factor (ADF) method. 
 
3.111 The VSC method measures the amount of sky that can be seen from the 
centre of an existing window and compares it to the amount of sky that would still be 
capable of being seen from that same position following the erection of a new building.  
The measurements assess the amount of sky that can be seen converting it into a 
percentage.  An unobstructed window will achieve a maximum level of 40% VSC.  The 
BRE guide advises that a good level of daylight is considered to be 27% VSC.  Daylight 
will be noticeably reduced if after a development the VSC is both less than 27% and 
less than 80% of its former value. 
 
3.112 The plotting of the NSL measures the distribution of daylight within a room.  It 
indicates the point in a room from where the sky cannot be seen through the window 
due to the presence of an obstructing building.  The NSL method is a measure of the 
distribution of daylight at the 'working plane' within a room.  In houses, the 'working 
plane' means a horizontal 'desktop' plane 0.85 metres above floor level.  This is 
approximately the height of a kitchen work surface. 
 
3.113 The NSL divides those areas of the working plane in a room which receive 
direct sky light through the windows from those areas of the working plane which do not.  
If a significant area of the working plane lies beyond the NSL (i.e. it receives no direct 
sky light), then the distribution of daylight in the room will be poor and supplementary 
lighting may be required. 
 

Page 58



 

3.114 The impact of the distribution of daylight in an existing building can be found 
by plotting the NSL in each of the main rooms.  For dwellings this would include living 
rooms, dining rooms and kitchens.  Bedrooms should also be analysed, although they 
are considered less significant in terms of receiving direct sky light.  Development will 
affect daylight if the area within a room receiving direct daylight is less than 80% of its 
former value. 
 
3.115 The ADF method uses a mathematical formula which involves values for the 
transparency of the glass, the net glazed area of the window, the total area of room 
surfaces, their colour reflectance and the angle of visible sky measured from the centre 
of the window.  This is a method that measures the general illumination from skylight 
and takes into account the size and number of windows, room size, room qualities and 
room use.  The BRE test recommends an ADF of 5% for a well daylit space or 2% for a 
partly daylit space.  The minimum standards for ADF recommended by the BRE for 
individual rooms 2% for kitchens, 1.5% for living rooms and 1% for bedrooms. 
 
3.116 When reviewing the daylight results for each property, the methods would 
normally be considered sequentially; VSC, NSL and then ADF.  In the first instance, 
therefore, the VSC results should be considered.  
 
3.117 If all the windows in a building meet the VSC criteria, it can be concluded that 
there will be adequate daylight.  If the windows in a building do not meet the VSC 
criteria, the NSL analysis for the room served by that window needs to be considered.  If 
neither the VSC nor NSL criteria are met, the ADF results could then be considered. 
 
Daylight Impact - results 
3.118 The results demonstrate that of the properties analysed, those in Stuart 
House, Balmoral House, Regent House and Sandringham House (All Windsor Way) will 
all comply with the BRE Guidelines (greatest loss experienced would be 5.86%, 
significantly lower than the 20% VSC reduction allowed). 
 
3.119 Properties 121 - 135 Hammersmith Road (residential on upper floors) were 
assessed and the results indicate that the windows would all maintain good levels of 
daylight following the proposed redevelopment. No windows within these properties 
would experience reductions in VSC below the levels identified in the BRE Guidance, 
i.e. all windows maintain at least 80% of their former VSC value, and therefore any 
reduction in daylight will not be perceptible. 
 
3.120 Properties 67, 73, 79/81, 85/87, 89, 91, 93, 95 and 97 Hammersmith Road 
have residential accommodation on the upper floors have also been assessed. The 
results indicate that 2 windows (serving 1 room) out of 126 windows assessed (less 
than 2%) would experience a mean reduction in VSC of 21.85% (marginally in excess of 
the 20% reductions allowed). When the NSL is assessed for this room, it was found that 
the loss would be less than the 20% judged to be acceptable (8.8%). As such any 
reduction in daylight will not be perceptible. 
 
3.121 Kensington West is located to the north of the application site and contains 
residential accommodation. 317 windows facing the proposed development have been 
assessed. 10 windows out of 317 (3.2%) would experience reductions in VSC of greater 
than 20%. These losses range from 20.79% to 25.72%, which officers consider can be 
considered as minor transgressions from the guidance. The assessment also 

Page 59



 

demonstrates that the rooms served by these windows do not experience any loss of 
NSL in excess of the 20% figure in the guidance.  
 
3.122 Officers recognise that there would be a minor impact on daylight as a result 
of the proposed development, this is in the context of the existing large office buildings 
and their relationship in close proximity to the residential buildings to the north. As such 
it is considered that, on balance, the scheme complies with the aims of with Local Plan 
policy DC4. 
  
Sunlight 
3.123 To assess loss of sunlight to an existing building, the BRE guidance suggests 
that all main windows to dwellings should be checked if they have a window facing 
within 90 degrees of due south.  The guidance states that kitchens and bedrooms are 
less important, although care should be taken not to block too much sun.  
 
3.124 The Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) predicts the sunlight availability 
during the summer and winter for the main windows of each habitable room that faces 
90 degrees of due south.  The summer analysis covers the period 21 March to 21 
September, the winter analysis 21 September to 21 March.  The BRE Guidance states 
a window may be adversely affected if the APSH received at a point on the window is 
less than 25% of the annual probable sunlight hours including at least a 5% of the 
annual probable sunlight hours during the winter months and the percentage reduction 
of APSH is 20% or more.  
 
3.125 Where a window does not meet the first criteria, retaining at least 25% total 
APSH with 5% in the winter months but the percentage reduction is less than 20% it will 
experience a negligible impact, as the area receiving reduced levels of sunlight is 
comparatively small when considering the baseline sunlight levels. 
 
3.126 All south-facing windows in the identified neighbouring properties have been 
analysed.  None of the habitable rooms in Stuart House, Balmoral House, Regent 
House and Sandringham House (All Windsor Way) would experience any loss in  APSH 
and all these properties would therefore be fully compliant with the relevant guidance.  
 
3.127 The Hammersmith Road properties windows are all orientated to the north 
and therefore not required to be assessed for impact on sunlight.  
 
3.128 With regards to Kensington West, due to the `U` shaped design of the 
building inherits some natural constraints to sunlight as many of the windows face 
almost directly east or west thus only just fall into the BRE testing parameters and only 
receive sunlight at certain times of the day Generally this is when the sun is at its lower 
trajectory in the sky. A total of 131 rooms within the development were considered, and 
it is estimated that around 38 of these rooms would experience some losses in direct 
sunlight. The losses are primarily (34 from 38) from the Winter sunshine (when the sun 
path is at its lowest). 
 
3.129 Whilst it is accepted that the development will reduce the availability of 
sunlight to neighbouring properties in Kensington West, it is acknowledged that any 
redevelopment of the application site is likely to result in a larger building than that on 
site at present. There are already a number of large buildings on this side of 
Hammersmith Road and the proposed development is in keeping with this pattern. The 
BRE Guidance is not necessarily ideal for urban developments, and also recognises 

Page 60



 

that "a higher degree of obstruction may be unavoidable if new developments are to 
match the height and proportions of existing buildings.." On balance, officers consider 
that the impact on sunlight is not sufficient on its own to withhold planning permission 
for this development, and that the scheme complies with the aims of with Local Plan 
policy DC4. 
  
Outlook 
3.130 The proposed development would not project further rearward of the existing 
building line in relation to the Kensington West properties on Blythe Road.  Whilst the 
proposed replacement building will be higher than the existing building, due to the set 
backs it is not considered that the development would harm outlook for these properties. 
It is considered that this would be suitably set away from the residential properties to the 
north, and many of these flats already have a similar relationship with large buildings 
along Hammersmith Road including at the application site.  The replacement building 
will be closer to the properties on the opposite side of Hammersmith Road, however, 
again due to the set backs it is considered that this will not have a detrimental impact on 
outlook for the residential properties on the upper floors. In this urban context, it is 
considered that the impact of the proposed development would not be overbearing on 
these properties and would therefore have an acceptable impact with regards to 
outlook. 
 
Privacy 
 
3.131 Key Principle HS7 of the Planning Guidance SPD states that new windows 
should normally be positioned so that they are a minimum of 18 metres away from 
existing residential windows as measured by an arc of 60 degrees taken from the centre 
of the proposed window.  The windows in both the northern and southern elevations of 
the proposed development will be at a distance of at least 18m from existing residential 
windows. Similarly,  the proposed terraces to the development would all be more than 
18m from the nearest residential windows to the north or south.  Also, the proposed 
windows in the development would serve predominantly an office use rather than 
another residential use, and would thus be potentially less intrusive in terms of 
privacy/overlooking.  In this respect it is considered that the windows and terraces at the 
proposed development would not have an unreasonable impact on privacy to 
neighbouring properties. 
  
Noise and disturbance 
 
3.132 London Plan Policy 7.15 states that development proposals should seek to 
reduce noise by minimising the existing and potential adverse impacts of noise, 
separating new noise sensitive development from major noise sources through the use 
of distance screening or internal layout, and promoting new technologies and improved 
practices to prevent noise.  Policy CC11 of the Local Plan relates to noise, and policy 
CC13 relates to the control of potentially polluting uses. 
  
3.133 The site along a busy main road and in an area of mixed commercial and 
residential activity, and is thus in an area with a high level of background noise.  The 
site itself already provides a significant office building, however, the redevelopment 
would provide significant additional office space with the resulting increase in staff, as 
well as new plant.  Areas of roof would also become external amenity space for office 
workers. 
 

Page 61



 

3.134 A Noise Impact Assessment has been submitted with the application, 
including a noise assessment of the existing background noise.  The report concludes 
that noise from new mechanical plant is capable of achieving compliance with the 
Council's noise standards (i.e. ensuring that the noise is at least 10dB below 
background noise).  Conditions are suggested to ensure that all mechanical plant is 
adequately sound insulated and fitted with anti-vibration devices, to ensure that plant 
complies with these noise standards in the daytime and at night (condition Nos. 54 and 
55). 
  
3.135 In terms of other sources of noise, servicing and deliveries would take place 
from the off-street service area at ground floor level which would be an improvement 
versus the existing servicing at the site. Significant noise from the enclosed service area 
is thus expected to be minimised.  As outlined in the Highways section above, the 
development is expected to involve an increase of delivery and servicing vehicle trips in 
and out of the site a day.  A Delivery and Service Management Plan would ensure that 
the times for servicing and deliveries are restricted to reasonable daytime hours.  Due to 
the proposed servicing within the building and the suggested condition it is expected 
that there would not be significant further noise disturbance associated with servicing 
and deliveries to the extended building. 
 
3.136 A number of roof terraces are proposed at 2nd, 3rd, 4th, 5th, 6th and 7th floor 
levels, some which would be close to the residential properties at Kensington West 
(approximately 18m at the closest point). Other terraces are on the southern, western 
and eastern elevations. There would also be new landscaped areas at ground floor. If 
the building was in residential use, Officers would have serious concerns about the 
potential for noise from these outside areas.  As an office building, however, it is 
considered that the terrace, balconies and landscaped areas would be used 
predominantly in the daytime, and would be likely to attract individual office workers or 
small groups instead of large gatherings of people causing significant noise.  A 
condition (No.11) will ensure that the use of the terrace and balconies is restricted to 
certain hours, and that no loudspeaker announcements or amplified music are played 
outside.  For these reasons, no objection is raised to the presence of the roof terraces in 
this proposal.  
 
Construction Works 
3.137 The disruption of construction works and the noise and disturbance to nearby 
residents and businesses is acknowledged to be a key local concern, particularly given 
the number of other large construction sites in the near vicinity. Whilst it would be 
unreasonable to refuse planning permission for a development scheme based on the 
temporary impact of construction works, the Council will take steps to ensure that 
disruption and noise/disturbance are minimised as far as possible. A demolition and 
construction logistics plan, a demolition and construction management plan, and an Air 
Quality Dust Management Plan are required to be submitted and agreed as part of 
planning conditions for planning approval, and these documents would be required to 
take into account the impacts and logistics of any existing nearby construction sites. 
The developer has indicated that they would require their contractors to adhere to the 
Considerate Constructors Scheme. 
 
Light Pollution 
3.138 The redevelopment would result in a greater number and larger windows 
within the scheme compared to the existing, and the building would be taller. As the 
proposed building would be in office use on the upper floors, however, it is considered 

Page 62



 

that measures should be put in place to mitigate against any unacceptable increase in 
light pollution, which can include switching off lights at night. A scheme addressing the 
mitigation of light pollution is subject to conditions (No.52 and 53) in order to mitigate 
light spillage from all floor levels of the proposed building towards neighbouring 
residential properties, including and a scheme for the control of the operation of internal 
lighting (during periods of limited or non-occupation). As such it is recommended that no 
objections are raised in this regard. 
 
3.139 For the reasons given above, it is considered that the development, subject 
to suitably worded conditions, would not give rise to unacceptable harm from noise and 
disturbance or light pollution to neighbouring occupiers and that the proposal therefore 
complies in these respects with the relevant sections of policies CC11, CC12 and CC13 
of the Local Plan (2018), and London Plan policy 7.15. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS  
 
Carbon reduction 
3.140 Policy CC1 requires developments to implement energy conservation 
measures to meet CO2 reduction targets, minimise emissions, use energy efficiency 
measures. The Local Plan is concerned with promoting sustainable design and 
construction and states that sustainable measures should be included in developments 
and sustainability statements are required for all major developments to ensure that a 
full range of sustainability uses are taken into account.  
 
3.141 As required, an Energy Statement has been submitted with the application. 
This outlines the energy efficiency and low/zero carbon measures proposed to be 
implemented in the scheme. Passive design and energy efficiency measures are 
proposed to reduce CO2 emissions. On-site renewable energy generation is proposed 
in the form of low-carbon Air Source Heat Pumps and solar PV panels. 
 
3.142 Overall, the energy strategy is calculated to reduce annual CO2 emissions by 
29.4%, which is slightly short of the 35% target. The applicants propose to make a 
payment in lieu of this (as allowed by policy CC1). It is estimated that a payment of circa 
£42,239 would be required (See S106 contributions). No objection is therefore raised 
under the above mentioned policy. The implementation of the carbon reduction 
measures, together with the payment in lieu would be secured by condition and S106 
Agreement.   
 
Sustainable Design & Construction 
3.143  A Sustainability Statement has been submitted, alongside the Energy Statement, 
which includes information on wider sustainable design and construction issues. The 
assessment shows that the new building would be designed to implement a range of 
measures such as water efficient fittings and appliances, use of environmentally friendly 
materials, promotion of sustainable waste behaviour and recycling, reducing pollution 
impacts, promoting sustainable transport etc. 
 
3.144 A BREEAM Pre-assessment was carried out and submitted which showed that 
the development would target an 'Excellent' rating. A condition is recommended 
requiring the submission of a post construction BREEAM assessment.   
 
3.145 Officers consider that these levels of performance would demonstrate 
compliance with the Council's sustainability requirements in policy CC2 of the Local 

Page 63



 

Plan 2018. Implementation of the proposed sustainable design and construction 
measures would be conditioned within an acceptable development. 
 
Air Quality 
3.146 The entire borough was designated as an Air Quality Management Area 
(AQMA) in 2000 for two pollutants - Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and Particulate Matter 
(PM10). The main local sources of these pollutants are road traffic and buildings (gas 
boiler emissions). 
 
3.147 Policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018), states that the Council will seek to 
reduce adverse air quality impacts of new developments, policy 7.14 of The London 
Plan seeks that development proposals minimise pollutant emissions and promote 
sustainable design and construction to reduce emissions from the demolition and 
construction of the buildings and also to minimise exposure to poor air quality.  
 
3.148 An air quality assessment has been carried out. This assesses the 
development's potential impacts on local air quality and also considers the issue of 
exposure to pollution for occupiers within the new scheme. The assessment takes 
account of the potential temporary impacts during the demolition and construction 
phases and the operational impacts caused by increase in traffic flows and emissions 
from the plant on the site. The air quality assessment indicates that the general sources 
of air pollution (construction activities, road traffic and space heating) emission arising 
from the proposed development would be during the construction phases and on 
completion of the development the assessment predicts the development to have 
negligible effect on air quality. 
 
3.149 Accordingly, officers consider that subject to appropriate conditions, covering 
issues such as Air Quality Management Plan (during demolition and construction 
phases), Mechanical Ventilation for B1/D2 uses, details of ultra low NOx boilers and 
emergency diesel generators, low emissions strategy for operation of site, no external 
seating for A3 use and details of green infrastructure  (3, 15 -18), the development 
would meet policy requirements. 
 
Contamination  
3.150  Policy 5.21 of the London Plan, Policy CC9 of the Local Plan (2018) state that 
the Council will support the remediation of contaminated land and that it will take 
measures to minimise the potential harm of contaminated sites and ensure that 
mitigation measures are put in place.  
 
3.151 A Preliminary Environmental Risk Assessment has been submitted as part of 
this application. Potentially contaminative land uses, past or present, are understood to 
occur at, or near to this site. A more detailed site investigation scheme together with a 
risk assessment, remediation and long term monitoring would all need to be carried out 
during and following any redevelopment works to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
would be caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment. Conditions 
(Nos19-23) to this effect are proposed, in accordance with policy CC9 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 
 
Flood Risk/SUDS 
3.152   The site lies within Flood Zone 1, an area described by the Environment Agency 
as being of 'low risk', to flooding from the Thames, with an annual average chance of 

Page 64



 

flooding of less than 0.1%. The site is also in a low risk area in terms of surface water 
flooding.  
 
3.153   The existing basement structure is to be retained, and this is expected to 
already incorporate appropriate structural waterproofing measures, although further 
details are required to confirm this (Condition 44). Basements are at risk of sewer 
surcharge flooding during major storms, so a suitable surcharge protection measures 
such as non-return valve or other active drainage device should be installed to prevent 
backflow of sewer water into the basement. This is covered by a condition. The Flood 
Risk Assessment confirms  that water using facilities in the basement will include low-
flow appliances, as required by the water efficiency requirements of Local Plan Policy 
CC3. The proposed development reduces the existing soft landscaping on the site but 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) measures are proposed for the new building to 
attenuate surface water run-off. SuDS features include living roofs and also a blue roof 
which provides a roof level water storage system. These will intercept rainfall and 
prevent some of it entering the sewer system. The remainder will be stored temporarily 
and then be discharged at a reduced rate into the existing surface water sewer network. 
This helps reduce flood risks and the living roofs also provide other benefits such as 
biodiversity improvements. Permeable paving and soft landscaping will also be used 
around the site at ground floor level. The design provides a 93% reduction in peak run-
off rates compared to the existing site, which is in line with the requirements of Local 
Plan Policy CC4.  
 
3.154   Officers have assessed the flood risk and SuDs proposals and consider that the 
proposed measures will be satisfactory, subject to conditions requiring the 
implementation of the Flood Risk measures and the SuDS measures and provision of 
additional information on the level of structural waterproofing proofing and provision of 
sewer surcharge protection in the basement. In this respect it is considered that the 
development complies with policies CC3 and CC4 of the Local Plan (2018). 
Furthermore, the development is considered to comply with London Plan policies 5.12 
to 5.14. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
3.155   This development would be subject to a London-wide community infrastructure 
levy. The Mayor's CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) came into effect in April 2012 
and is a material consideration to which regard must be had when determining this 
planning application. This contributes towards the funding of Crossrail. 
 
3.156  The GLA expect the Council, as the Collecting Authority, to secure the levy in 
accordance with London Plan Policy 8.3 and is chargeable in this case at a rate of 
£50/sqm on the net uplift in floorspace (GIA) on the site. It is estimated that the 
proposed development would generate a Mayoral CIL contribution of approximately 
£1,200,000. 
 
Planning obligations 
3.157  London Plan policy 8.2 recognises the role of planning obligations in mitigating 
the effects of development and provides guidance on the priorities for obligations in the 
context of overall scheme viability. 
 
3.158  The Council is obliged to assess planning proposals against the policies and 
standards contained within the development plans for the area and to consider any 
other material planning considerations. In some instances, it may be possible to make 

Page 65



 

acceptable development proposals which might otherwise be unacceptable, through the 
use of planning conditions or, where this is not possible, through planning obligations. 
 
3.159  The Applicant is expected to agree to enter into a legal agreement with the 
Council to which would include the following site-specific items (i.e. items which are not 
on the CIL Regulation 123 list): 
 
- Provision and retention of affordable office space (including costs, and how this is 
managed and run) 
- A contribution of £100,000 towards the Mayor of London's Cycle Super Highway 9, or 
other cycle scheme or transport improvements in the vicinity. 
- Contribution of £334,075 towards jobs and skills plus a local procurement contribution 
of £8250. 
- Enter into a S278 agreement re highways improvements in vicinity of the site 
- Provision of a Travel Plan, plus review with monitoring fees to be met by the applicant.  
Monitoring cost at £3000 per review and review will be carried out in year 1, 3 and 5. 
- Construction Workers Travel plan 
- Provision of a Servicing and Deliveries Management Plan (including refuse collection). 
- Travel plan for development 
- A carbon off-set payment of £42,239 (or a different figure in line with any changes to 
the Energy Strategy during the development  
- Prior to occupation the applicants will undertake a feasibility study with regard to a 
shared public realm scheme on Lyons Walk, based on study contributions to be agreed 
with Council, and a contribution towards these works 
- Management Plan for the disabled parking space, and 
- Commitment to meet the costs of the Council's Legal fees 
 
4.0 CONCLUSION and RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1 Officers consider that the proposed redevelopment of this prominent site would 
bring regeneration benefits and provide high quality office space which would fit well 
with the regeneration of this area and would significantly increase the employment 
capacity of this site. The revised scheme would also facilitate improved areas of public 
realm around the building. The affordable office space provided will be a benefit to small 
business enterprises. 
 
4.2 The office and related uses support the Council's policies, and the impacts on traffic 
and energy sustainability are considered to be acceptable. The use of the site primarily 
as high quality offices is acceptable in the context of the existing use of the site and its 
location close to Hammersmith Town Centre with excellent public transport facilities. 
The proposed development would achieve a sustainable development, whilst optimising 
the use of previously developed land. The proposal would be of a high standard of 
design. It is considered that the building would enhance the appearance of the area and 
have an acceptable impact upon nearby conservation areas and heritage assets.  
 
4.3 There would be no adverse impact on traffic generation and the scheme would not 
result in congestion of the primary road network. Off-street parking and servicing would 
be provided and the development is considered not to have the potential for contributing 
significantly towards pressure on on-street parking due to its high accessibility to public 
transport and existing parking controls in the area but also subject to satisfactory 
measures to discourage trips to and from the site by private car which would be 

Page 66



 

contained in a Travel Plan. Adequate provision for servicing and the storage and 
collection of refuse and recyclables would be provided. 
 
4.4 The development would provide level access, lifts to all levels, suitable circulation 
space and dedicated parking space for wheelchair users. 
 
4.5 The application proposes a number of measures to reduce CO2. The proposal 
would seek to achieve an 'excellent' BREEAM rating and the implementation of 
sustainable design and construction measures would be a condition of the approval. A 
Sustainable Drainage Strategy would be required by condition. 
 
4.6 The impact of the proposed development upon neighbouring occupiers is on 
balance considered to be acceptable. Measures would be secured by condition to 
minimise noise and disturbance to nearby occupiers from the operation of the proposed 
development. 
 
4.7   In line with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town and Country 
Planning (Pre commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018, officers have consulted 
the applicant on the pre-commencement conditions included in the agenda and the 
applicant has raised no objections. 
 
4.8 The application is therefore recommended for approval, subject to conditions, the 
completion of a satisfactory legal agreement and no contrary direction from the Mayor of 
London. 
 
APPENDIX 2: 
Extract from the Planning and Development Control Committee Minutes for the meeting 
on 9th October 2018  
 
103. KENSINGTON CENTRE, 66 HAMMERSMITH ROAD, LONDON W14 8UD, 
AVONMORE AND BROOK GREEN Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes 
which amended the report. The Committee heard a representation in support of the 
application from the agent. The main points raised were the applicant had scaled back 
the massing and had included an element of affordable work space within the proposal. 
The Committee discussed the application and the following issues were explored: the 
likely impact on traffic generation, given its proximity to Olympia and the service and 
delivery implications. Further topics included the intended hours of operation of the 
terraces. Councillor Wesley Harcourt proposed an amendment to Condition 13, limiting 
the use of the roof terrace from 8 am to 9:30 pm only. This was seconded by Councillor 
Alex Karmel. Councillor Wesley Harcourt noted the reference within the report to cycle 
funding (s106 and CIL) towards CS 9 and proposed that this wording be amended to 
state a more general "contribution to cycling". This was seconded by Councillor Alex 
Karmel. The Committee voted on application 2017/04752/FUL and whether to agree the 
officer recommendation of approval, two amendments (listed above) and the changes 
set out in the addendum. This was put to the vote and the result was as follows: For: 6 
Against: 2 Not Voting: 0 RESOLVED THAT: Planning Application 2017/04752/FUL be 
approved for the reasons set out in the report, the two amendments and addendum. 
 
 

Page 67



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Sands End 
 

Site Address: 
The Castle Centre   Broomhouse Lane  London  SW6 3DP   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2019/00732/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
28.03.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
15.10.2019 

Case Officer: 
Graham Simpson 
 
Conservation Area: 
Constraint Name: Hurlingham Conservation Area - 
Number 4 

 
  

Page 68

Agenda Item 5



 

Applicant: 
Ten Wandsworth 
C/O Town Planning Bureau The Barn 43 Oakdene Road Redhill 
RH1 6BT 
 
 
Description: 
Alterations and extensions to the Grade II listed building including the demolition of the 
summer house, erection of a part-one, part-two and part-three storey extension and 
excavation of a partial basement beneath the extension, in connection with the use of 
the site as a 33-bedroom nursing home (Use Class C2) together with the demolition and 
replacement of front and side boundary walls, and re-instatement of a means of access 
to the highway on Daisy Lane. 
Drg Nos: Flood Risk Assessment dated March 2019;(03)-P-0B0 Rev PO;(03)-P-0G0 
Rev P9;(03)-P-0L1 Rev P3;(03)-P-001 Rev PL;(03)-P-002 Rev PO;(03)-P-003 Rev 
PO;(03)-E-001 Rev PL;(03)-E-002 Rev PO;(03)-E-003 Rev PO;(03)-E-004 Rev PO;(03)-
E-005 Rev PL;(03)-E-006 Rev PL;(03)-X-001 Rev PO;(03)-X-002 Rev PO;(03)-X-003 
Rev PO;(03)-X-004 Rev PO;(90)-E-OG0_R PL;(90)-E-001 PL;(90)-E-002 PL;(90)-E-
OG0 PL;(90)-X-001 PL;(90)-X-002 PL;(03)-D-OG0 P4;(03)-D-OG1 P4;(03)-D-OG2 
P2;(03)-P-0L2 Rev P5;(03)-P-004 Rev P2;(03)-X-005 Rev P3;(03)-X-007 Rev P2; 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission up on the completion of a satisfactory 
legal agreement and subject to the condition(s) listed below  
 
To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the Director of 
Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee to make any 
minor changes to the proposed conditions or heads of terms of the legal agreement, 
any such changes shall be within their discretion. 

 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date of this planning permission. 
    
 Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1) (a) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 2) The development shall not be erected otherwise than in accordance with the 

following approved drawings: (03)-P-0B0 Rev PO;(03)-P-0G0 Rev P9;(03)-P-0L1 
Rev P3;(03)-P-001 Rev PL;(03)-P-002 Rev PO;(03)-P-003 Rev PO;(03)-E-001 
Rev PL;(03)-E-002 Rev PO;(03)-E-003 Rev PO;(03)-E-004 Rev PO;(03)-E-005 
Rev PL;(03)-E-006 Rev PL;(03)-X-001 Rev PO;(03)-X-002 Rev PO;(03)-X-003 
Rev PO;(03)-X-004 Rev PO;(90)-E-001 PL;(90)-E-002 PL;(90)-E-OG0 PL;(90)-E-
OG0_R PL;(90)-X-001 PL;(90)-X-002 PL;(03)-D-OG0 P4;(03)-D-OG1 P4;(03)-D-
OG2 P2;(03)-P-0L2 Rev P5;(03)-P-004 Rev P2;(03)-X-005 Rev P3;(03)-X-007 Rev 
P2. 

Page 69



 

   
 To ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved and to 

prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in accordance 
with Policies DC1, DC4, and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 3) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (including demolition and 

site clearance works) until a Demolition Method Statement and Construction 
Management Plan have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. These shall include details of the proposed control measures 
and monitoring for noise, vibration, lighting, delivery locations, restriction of hours 
of work and all associated activities audible beyond the site boundary to 0800-
1800hrs Mondays to Fridays and 0800-1300hrs on Saturdays, advance notification 
to neighbours and other interested parties of proposed works and public display of 
contact details including accessible phone contact to persons responsible for the 
site works for the duration of the works. The details shall also include the numbers, 
size and routes of construction vehicles, any vehicle holding areas and access 
arrangements, delivery locations on the site, use of Ultra Low Emission Zone 
(ULEZ) compliant Vehicles e.g. Euro 6 and Euro VI, provisions within the site to 
ensure that all vehicles associated with the construction works are properly 
washed and cleaned to prevent the passage of mud and dirt onto the highway, 
and other matters relating to traffic management to be agreed. The Demolition 
Method Statement and Construction Management Plan shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details throughout the relevant project period. 

   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from the building site, 
in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 4) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a detailed 

Construction Logistics Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. This shall be in accordance with Transport for London 
Guidance on Construction Logistics Plans and shall include the demolition phase 
of the development. Each CLP shall include the following minimum information:  

  

 site logistics and operations;  

 construction vehicle routing;  

 Details of the estimated number, size and routes of construction vehicles per 
day/week 

 details of the use of Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant Vehicles e.g. 
Euro 6 and Euro VI; 

 details of the access and egress arrangements 

 delivery locations on the site;  

 details of any vehicle holding areas; and other matters relating to traffic 
management to be agreed as required 

 Efficiency and sustainability measures to be undertaken for the works 

 Membership of the Considerate Contractors Scheme.  
  
 The works shall be carried out in accordance with the relevant approved CLP with 

the Local Planning Authority. Approved details shall be fully implemented and 
retained and maintained throughout the construction phase of the development. 

      

Page 70



 

 To minimise the impacts of construction-related vehicle movements and facilitate 
sustainable construction travel to the site in accordance with policies T1 and T6 of 
the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 5) The relevant parts of the development hereby permitted shall not commence until: 
 a.) detailed drawings in plan, section and elevation at a scale of no less than 1:20 

of typical bays, to include cladding details, soffits, balustrades, entrances, plant 
enclosures and external light fittings;  

 b.) detailed drawings in plan, section and elevation at a scale of no less than 1:20 
of the junctions between the extension and the listed building; 

 c). detailed drawings in plan, section and elevation at a scale of no less than 1:20 
and material samples (including a sample panel showing pointing style, mortar 
mix, mortar colour and brick bond, to be viewed onsite) of the proposed boundary 
treatment; 

 d.) landscape plans and sections, planting schedules/tree specifications and hard 
landscaping material samples 

 are submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The relevant parts of 
development shall be carried out in accordance with such details as have been 
approved and thereafter permanently retained in this form, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the local planning authority. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, to preserve the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area; and the setting and special architectural and historic interest of 
the listed building in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan 
(2016) and Policies DC1, DC4, and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 6) Prior to installation of the relevant parts of the development hereby permitted, 

details including samples of all external materials including cladding mock-up 
panel(s) showing all main cladding material and junctions between them, to be 
viewed on site, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details; and 
permanently retained as such. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, to preserve the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area; and the setting and special architectural and historic interest of 
the listed building in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan 
(2016) and Policies DC1, DC4, and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 7) No alterations shall be carried out to the external appearance of the building, 

including the installation of air-conditioning units, ventilation fans or extraction 
equipment not shown on the approved drawings, without planning permission first 
being obtained. Any such changes shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

            
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, preserve the setting of the listed 

building and character and appearance of the Conservation Area and to prevent 
harm to the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties, in 
accordance with Policies DC1, DC4, and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 

Page 71



 

 8) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no aerials, 
antennae, satellite dishes or related telecommunications equipment shall be 
erected on any external part of the approved building, without planning permission 
first being obtained. 

        
 To ensure that the Council can fully consider the effect of telecommunications 

equipment on the setting of the listed building and the character and appearance 
of the Conservation Area in accordance with Policies DC1, DC4, and DC8 of the 
Local Plan 2018. 

 
 9) Prior to commencement of the development, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Council, of the external sound level emitted from plant/ 
machinery/ equipment and mitigation measures as appropriate.  The measures 
shall ensure that the external sound level emitted from plant, machinery/ 
equipment will be lower than the lowest existing background sound level by at 
least 10dBA in order to prevent any adverse impact. The assessment shall be 
made in accordance with BS4142:2014 at the nearest and/or most affected noise 
sensitive premises, with all machinery operating together at maximum capacity. A 
post installation noise assessment shall be carried out where required to confirm 
compliance with the sound criteria and additional steps to mitigate noise shall be 
taken, as necessary.  Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of 
the development and thereafter be permanently retained. 

   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ adjacent 

dwellings/ noise sensitive premises is not adversely affected by noise, in 
accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018.    

 
10) Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, machinery, plant or 

equipment, extract/ ventilation system and ducting at the development shall be 
mounted with proprietary anti-vibration isolators and fan motors shall be vibration 
isolated from the casing and adequately silenced and maintained as such.  

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site and surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by vibration, in accordance with Policies CC11 
and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
11) Prior to commencement of the development, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Council, of the installation, operation, and maintenance 
of the odour abatement equipment and extract system, including the height of the 
extract duct and vertical discharge outlet, in accordance with Appendix 4G of the 
LBHF Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document 2018.  Approved 
details shall be implemented prior to the commencement of the use and thereafter 
be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by cooking odour, in accordance with Policy 
CC13 of the Local Plan 2018.    

 
12) With the exception of the roof terraces at first floor level hereby approved, no part 

of the flat roof areas provided by the development hereby approved shall be used 

Page 72



 

as a terrace or other accessible amenity space. No walls, fences, railings or other 
means of enclosure other than those shown on the approved drawings shall be 
erected around the roofs, and no alterations shall be carried out to the approved 
building to form access onto these roofs. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and so that the use of the buildings 

does not harm the amenities of the existing neighbouring residential properties 
and future residential occupiers of the development due to overlooking, loss of 
privacy and noise and disturbance, in accordance with Policies DC1, DC4 and 
HO11 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
13) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied prior to the 

provision of the cycle storage for the development hereby approved, as indicated 
on the approved drawing no. (03)-P-OG0 Rev P2 and such storage facilities shall 
be permanently retained thereafter in accordance with the approved details. 

   
 To promote alternative, sustainable forms of transport, in accordance with Policy 

6.9 and Table 6.3 of the London Plan (2016), and Policy T3 of the Local Plan 
2018.   

 
14) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied prior to the 

provision of the refuse storage enclosures, as indicated on the approved drawing  
(03)-P-OG0 Rev P2. The refuse storage enclosures shall be permanently retained 
thereafter in accordance with the approved details.  

   
 To ensure that the use does not give rise to smell nuisance and to prevent harm to 

the character and appearance of the Conservation Area arising from the 
appearance of accumulated rubbish, in accordance with Policies DC8, CC6 and 
CC7 of the Local Plan 2018.   

 
15) The development shall be implemented in accordance with the recommended 

flood mitigation measures in the Flood Risk Assessment dated March 2019 as 
hereby approved by the local planning authority. A non-return valve or other 
suitable device (which may need to be a pumped device) shall be installed to 
avoid the risk of the sewerage network surcharging wastewater to 
basement/ground level during storm conditions. The recommended mitigation 
measures shall be permanently retained thereafter.  

  
 To reduce the impact of flooding to the proposed development and future 

occupants, in accordance with Policies 5.11, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 of the London 
Plan (2016), and Policy CC3 of the Local Plan 2018  

 
16) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a revised 

Sustainable Drainage Strategy, which details how surface water will be managed 
on-site in-line with the proposals outlined in the 'Drainage Strategy' report, has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council.  Information shall 
include details on the design, location and infiltration capabilities of the new 
soakaway and any other sustainable drainage measures such as permeable 
surfaces, including green roofs, along with confirmation of the levels of attenuation 
achieved. Details of the proposed flow controls and flow rates for any discharge of 
surface water to the combined sewer system should also be provided. If use of the 
proposed soakaway is not possible for any reason then a revised SuDS Strategy 

Page 73



 

should be provided to show how surface water will be managed in line with the 
requirements of the London Plan Drainage Hierarchy. The Strategy shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by, the Council and implemented in 
accordance with the approved details, and thereafter all SuDS measures shall be 
retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

    
 To prevent any increased risk of flooding and to ensure the satisfactory storage 

of/disposal of surface water from the site in accordance with Policy 5.13 of The 
London Plan (2016), Policy CC2 of the Core Strategy (2011) and Policy CC3 of 
the emerging Local Plan 2017. 

 
17) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied before implementation of 

the sustainable design and construction measures, energy efficiency, low carbon 
and renewable energy measures detailed in the submitted Energy Strategy and 
Sustainability Assessment.  All details shall be implemented prior to 
occupation/use of the development hereby permitted, and thereafter be 
permanently retained.  

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and the integration of energy 

generation from renewable sources, consistent with the Mayor's sustainable 
design objectives in accordance with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 and 5.7 of The London 
Plan (2016), and Policies DC1, DC4, DC8, CC1 and CC2 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
18) Prior to the commencement of the demolition phase of the development hereby 

permitted, an Air Quality Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) in order to mitigate air 
pollution shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The AQDMP must include an Air Quality Dust Risk Assessment 
(AQDRA) that considers sensitive receptors off-site of the development and is 
undertaken in compliance with the methodology contained within Chapter 4 of the 
Mayor of London 'The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and 
Demolition', SPG, July 2014 and the identified measures recommended for 
inclusion into the AQDMP. The AQDMP submitted must comply with the Mayor's 
SPG and should include: Inventory and Timetable of dust generating activities 
during demolition; Site Specific Dust mitigation and Emission control measures in 
the table format as contained within Appendix 7 of Mayor's SPG including for on-
road and off-road construction traffic; Detailed list of Non-Road Mobile Machinery 
(NRMM) used on the site. The NRMM should meet as minimum the Stage IV 
emission criteria of Directive 97/68/EC and its subsequent amendments. This will 
apply to both variable and constant speed engines for both NOx and PM. An 
inventory of all NRMM for the first phase of demolition shall be registered on the 
NRMM register https://nrmm.london/user-nrmm/register prior to commencement of 
demolition works and thereafter retained and maintained until occupation of the 
development; use of on-road Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant vehicles 
in accordance with the emission hierarchy (1) Electric (2) Hybrid (Electric-Petrol) 
(3) Petrol, (4) Hybrid (Electric-Diesel) (5) Diesel (Euro 6 and Euro VI); Details of 
MCERTS compliant monitoring of Particulates (PM10) used to prevent levels 
exceeding predetermined PM10 threshold trigger levels. Developers must ensure 
that on-site contractors follow best practicable means to minimise dust, 
particulates (PM10, PM2.5) and NOx emissions at all times. Approved details shall 
be fully implemented and permanently retained and maintained during the 
demolition phases of the development. 

  

Page 74



 

   
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2012), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016), and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
19) Prior to the commencement of the construction phase of the development hereby 

permitted, an Air Quality Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) in order to mitigate air 
pollution shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The AQDMP must include an Air Quality Dust Risk Assessment 
(AQDRA) that considers sensitive receptors off-site of the development and is 
undertaken in compliance with the methodology contained within Chapter 4 of the 
Mayor of London 'The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and 
Demolition', SPG, July 2014 and the identified measures recommended for 
inclusion into the AQDMP. The AQDMP submitted must comply with the Mayor's 
SPG and should include: Inventory and Timetable of dust generating activities 
during construction; Site Specific Dust mitigation and Emission control measures 
in the table format as contained within Appendix 7 of Mayor's SPG including for 
on-road and off-road construction traffic; Detailed list of Non-Road Mobile 
Machinery (NRMM) used on the site. The NRMM should meet as minimum the 
Stage IV emission criteria of Directive 97/68/EC and its subsequent amendments. 
This will apply to both variable and constant speed engines for both NOx and PM. 
An inventory of all NRMM for the first phase of construction shall be registered on 
the NRMM register https://nrmm.london/user-nrmm/register prior to 
commencement of construction works and thereafter retained and maintained until 
occupation of the development; use of on-road Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) 
compliant vehicles in accordance with the emission hierarchy (1) Electric (2) 
Hybrid (Electric-Petrol) (3) Petrol, (4) Hybrid (Electric-Diesel) (5) Diesel (Euro 6 
and Euro VI); Details of MCERTS compliant monitoring of Particulates (PM10) 
used to prevent levels exceeding predetermined PM10 threshold trigger levels. 
Developers must ensure that on-site contractors follow best practicable means to 
minimise dust, particulates (PM10, PM2.5) and NOx emissions at all times. 
Approved details shall be fully implemented and permanently retained and 
maintained during the construction phases of the development. 

  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2012), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016), and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
20) Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted a Ultra Low Emission 

Strategy (ULES) for the operational phase of the development in order to mitigate 
the impact of air pollution shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council. The Low Emission Strategy ULES must detail the remedial action and 
mitigation measures that will be implemented to protect receptors (e.g. design 
solutions). This Strategy must make a commitment to implement the mitigation 
measures that are required to help mitigate the development's air pollution 
impacts, in particular non-combustion energy generation sources the emissions of 
NOx and particulates from on-road vehicle transport by the use of Ultra Low 
Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant Vehicles in accordance with the emissions 
hierarchy (1) Cargo bike (2) Electric Vehicle, (3) Hybrid (non-plug in) Electric 
Vehicle (HEV), (4) Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle (PHEV), (5) Alternative Fuel e.g. 
CNG, LPG, (6) Diesel (Euro 6 & Euro VI). A monitoring report of the 
implementation of the ULES shall be submitted on annual basis to the LPA. 
Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the 
development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 

Page 75



 

   
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2012), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016), and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
21) Prior to commencement of above ground works in the development a Ventilation 

Strategy Report to mitigate the impact of air pollution shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall include the 
following information: 

  
 a) Details and locations of the air ventilation intake locations on rear elevations  

b) Details of non-openable windows for habitable rooms (bedrooms, living 
rooms) with front elevations on Broomhouse Lane 

 c) Details and locations of ventilation extracts, chimney/boiler flues, to 
demonstrate that they are located a minimum of 2 metres away from the air 
ventilation intakes, openable windows, balconies, roof gardens, terraces 

 d) Details of the independently tested mechanical ventilation system with 
Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and Particulate Matter (PM2.5, PM10) filtration with air 
intakes on the rear elevation to remove airborne pollutants. The filtration system 
shall have a minimum efficiency of 75% in the removal of Nitrogen 
Oxides/Dioxides, Particulate Matter (PM2.5, PM10) in accordance with BS EN ISO 
10121-1:2014 and BS EN ISO 16890:2016. 

  
 The whole system shall be designed to prevent summer overheating and minimise 

energy usage. The maintenance and cleaning of the systems shall be undertaken 
regularly in accordance with manufacturer specifications, and shall be the 
responsibility of the primary owner of the property. Approved details shall be fully 
implemented prior to the occupation/use of the development and thereafter 
permanently retained and maintained. 

   
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2012), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016), Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
22) Prior to occupation of the development, details of a post installation report of the 

approved ventilation strategy to mitigate the impact of air pollution shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Approved 
details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the development 
and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 

  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2012), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016), Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
23) Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, a report with details 

of the combustion plant in order to mitigate air pollution shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the council. The report shall include the following: 

  
 a) Details to demonstrate that the termination height of the shared Flue stack for 

the combustion Plant has been installed a minimum of 2 metres above any 
openable window and/or roof level amenity area of the buildings  

  
 b) Details of emissions certificates, and the results of NOx emissions testing of 

each Ultra Low NOx gas boiler and Emergency Diesel Generator Plant to 
demonstrate that all the Ultra Low NOx Gas fired boilers, Emergency Diesel 

Page 76



 

Generator Plant and associated abatement technologies shall meet a minimum 
dry NOx emissions standard of 30 mg/kWh (at 0% O2) and 95 mg/Nm-3 (at 5% 
O2) respectively by an accredited laboratory shall be provided following installation 
and thereafter on an annual basis to verify compliance of the relevant emissions 
standards in part b). Where any combustion plant does not meet the relevant 
emissions Standards in part b) above, it should not be operated without the fitting 
of suitable secondary NOx abatement Equipment or technology as determined by 
a specialist to ensure comparable emissions.  

  
 c) Details to demonstrate where secondary abatement is used for the 

Emergency Diesel Generator the relevant emissions standard in part b) is met 
within 5 minutes of the generator commencing operation. During the operation of 
the emergency Diesel generators there must be no persistent visible emission. 
The maintenance and cleaning of the systems shall be undertaken regularly in 
accordance with manufacturer specifications. The diesel fuelled generators shall 
only be used for a maximum of 48 hours when there is a sustained interruption in 
the mains power supply to the site, and the testing of these diesel generators shall 
not exceed a maximum of 12 hours per calendar year.  

  
 Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the 

development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 
  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2012), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016), Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018.  
 
24) No development shall commence until a preliminary risk assessment report, in 

connection with land contamination, is submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council. This report shall comprise: a desktop study which identifies all current and 
previous uses at the site and surrounding area as well as the potential 
contaminants associated with those uses; a site reconnaissance; and a conceptual 
model indicating potential pollutant linkages between sources, pathways and 
receptors, including those in the surrounding area and those planned at the site; 
and a qualitative risk assessment of any potentially unacceptable risks arising from 
the identified pollutant linkages to human health, controlled waters and the wider 
environment including ecological receptors and building materials; and a 
statement of whether a site investigation is necessary to address these potentially 
unacceptable risks. All works must be carried out in compliance with the approved 
details and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK 
requirements for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy 
(2011), policies DM H7 and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan 
(July 2013), SPD Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (July 2013) and Policy CC9 of the emerging Local Plan 2017. 

 
25) No development shall commence until a site investigation scheme, if a site 

investigation is to be required under the approved preliminary risk assessment, is 

Page 77



 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This scheme shall be based 
upon and target the risks identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment 
and shall provide provisions for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, 
ground gas, surface and groundwater. The site investigation should then progress 
in accordance with the agreed site investigation scheme. All works must be carried 
out in compliance with the approved details and by a competent person who 
conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
26) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, following the site investigation undertaken in compliance with the 
approved site investigation scheme if required by the approved preliminary risk 
assessment a quantitative risk assessment report is submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council. This report shall: assess the degree and nature of any 
contamination identified on the site through the site investigation; include a revised 
conceptual site model from the approved preliminary risk assessment based on 
the information gathered through the approved site investigation to confirm the 
existence of any remaining pollutant linkages which would require the submission 
of a remediation method statement and determine the remaining risks posed by 
any contamination to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment. 
All works must be carried out in compliance with the approved details and by a 
competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan 2016, and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
27) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, a remediation method statement, if deemed to be required in the 
approved quantitative risk assessment, is submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Council. This statement shall detail any required remediation works and shall 
be designed to mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved quantitative 
risk assessment. This statement will also include a plan to verify that the required 
remediation works are undertaken in line with the remediation method statement 
which will be compiled into a verification report. The remediation should then 
progress in accordance with the agreed remediation method statement. All works 
must be carried out in compliance with the approved details and by a competent 
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and 
testing. 

Page 78



 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
28) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until the approved remediation method statement has been carried out 
in full if required by the approved quantitative risk assessment, and a verification 
report confirming these works has been submitted to, and approved in writing, by 
the Council. This report shall include: details of the remediation works carried out; 
results of any verification sampling, testing or monitoring including the analysis of 
any imported soil; all appropriate waste Duty of Care documentation and the 
validation of gas membrane placement. If, during development, contamination not 
previously identified is found to be present at the site, the Council is to be informed 
immediately and no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Council) shall be carried out until a report indicating the nature of the 
contamination and how it is to be dealt with is submitted to, and agreed in writing 
by, the Council. Any required remediation shall be detailed in an amendment to 
the remediation method statement to be submitted and approved by the Council 
and verification of these works included in the verification report. All works must be 
carried out in compliance with the approved details and by a competent person 
who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and 
testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
29) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until an onward long-term monitoring methodology report, is submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council setting out where further monitoring is 
required past the completion of development works (as identified in the approved 
site investigation scheme or the approved remediation statement or the approved 
verification report) to verify the success of the remediation undertaken. If required, 
a verification report of these monitoring works shall then be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council when it may be demonstrated that no residual 
adverse risks exist. All works must be carried out in compliance with the approved 
details and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK 
requirements for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 

Page 79



 

following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
30) Prior to occupation of the Development hereby permitted, a Delivery and Servicing 

Management Plan (DSMP), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The DSMP shall include, freight consolidation facilities, 
vehicle tracking, detail the management of deliveries, emergency access, 
collection of waste and recyclables, times and frequencies of deliveries and 
collections, silent reversing methods, Use of Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) 
compliant vehicles in accordance with the emissions hierarchy (1) Cargo bike (2) 
Electric Vehicle, (3) Hybrid (non-plug in) Electric Vehicle (HEV), (4) Plug-in Hybrid 
Electric Vehicle (PHEV), (5) Alternative Fuel e.g. CNG, LPG, (6) Diesel (Euro 6 & 
Euro VI), location of loading bays with active electric vehicle charging points, quiet 
loading/unloading measures and vehicle movements. The approved measures 
shall be implemented and thereafter retained for the lifetime of the commercial 
uses of the site 

     
 To ensure that the resulting servicing arrangements are satisfactory in terms of 

their impact on highway safety and the free-flow of traffic in accordance with 
policies T1 and T6 of the Local Plan 2018.   

 
31) Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved details of the 

proposed measures to ensure that the development achieves "secured by design" 
status shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. No part of the 
development thereby affected shall be occupied prior to the implementation of the 
approved details and will thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the development incorporates suitable design measures to 

minimise opportunities for, and the perception of, crime, in accordance with 
Policies 7.3 and 7.13 of the London Plan (2011) and policies DC1 and DC4 of the 
Local Plan 2018. 

 
32) The green infrastructure (including planting and landscaping) hereby approved 

shall be constructed and planted in full accordance with the approved details 
within the first available planting season following completion of buildings. Any 
plants which die, are removed, become seriously damaged and diseased within a 
period of five years from completion of these buildings shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with others of similar size and species. Approved details shall 
be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the development and thereafter 
permanently retained and maintained. 

   
 In order that the Council may be satisfied as to the details of the development in 

the interests of visual amenity of the area in accordance with policy OS5 of the 
Local Plan 2018.   

 
33) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Tree Protection 

Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
to ensure all works near the Sycamore tree fronting Broomhouse Road, which is to 
be retained, shall be carried out in accordance with BS5837:2012, and that the 
tree to be retained is not accidentally damaged. The approved details shall be 
implemented for the duration of demolition and construction works. 

  

Page 80



 

 To preserve the health and well-being of the tree to be retained on the site in 
accordance with Policy OS5 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
34) Prior to use of the terrace fronting Broomhouse Lane hereby approved, a sample 

of the obscure glazed screening to be used for the proposed roof terrace shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council.  The terrace shall not be 
used until the screening has been installed in accordance with the approved 
details, and shall be permanently retained in this form thereafter. 

  
 In order to ensure no overlooking or loss of privacy in accordance with Policies 

DC1, HO11 and DC4 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
35) The premises shall be used for purposes specified within the permission (nursing 

home); and for no other purpose (including any other purpose in Use Classes C2 
of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (or 
in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and 
re-enacting that Order with or without modification). 

  
 In granting this permission, the Council has had regard to the special 

circumstances of the case. Certain other uses within the same use class may be 
unacceptable due to effect on residential amenity or traffic generation, in 
accordance with Policies CC11, and T1 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
36) Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of the 

installation including location and type of the electric vehicle charging point within 
the car parking area must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The approved electric vehicle charging point shall be installed 
and retained in working order for the lifetime of the development.  

                                       
 To encourage sustainable travel in accordance with policies 5.8, 6.13 and 7.2 of 

the London Plan (2016), Policies T1, T2 and T4 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
37) All the roof terraces within the building shall only be used between 0800hrs and 

2100hrs Monday to Sunday, and shall not be used at any other time. No music 
(either acoustic or amplified) shall be played at any time on any of the terraces. 

  
 To ensure that the amenities of the occupiers of surrounding residential properties 

are not unduly affected as a result of noise and disturbance, in accordance with 
Policies DC1, HO11 and CC11 of the Local Plan (2018). 

  
 
38) The development shall not be occupied until details of external lighting, including 

security lights, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The details shall include the number, location, height, design 
and appearance of lights, together with data concerning levels of illumination and 
light spillage. The lighting details shall be implemented as approved in accordance 
with a programme agreed by the local planning authority and shall be permanently 
retained thereafter. 

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site / surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by lighting, in accordance with policies HO11 
and CC12 of the Local Plan (018). 

Page 81



 

39) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied prior to the 
provision of the two disabled parking spaces, as indicated on the approved 
drawing  (03)-P-OG0 Rev P2. The parking spaces shall be installed as approved 
and retained for the lifetime of the development. 

  
 To ensure the satisfactory provision and retention of disabled car parking facilities, 

in accordance with Policy 7.2 of the London Plan and Policy E3, T1 and T5 of the 
Local Plan 2018. 

 
40) The visitor parking spaces as indicated on the approved drawing (03)-P-OG0 Rev 

P2 shall be retained for visitors only, and shall as no time be used by staff.  
  
 To encourage sustainable travel in accordance with policies 5.8, 6.13 and 7.2 of 

the London Plan (2016), Policies T1, T2 and T4 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
41) Prior to first occupation of the care home, details of fire rated lifts shall be 

submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All the lifts shall 
have enhanced lift repair services, running 365 days/24-hour cover, to ensure no 
wheelchair occupiers are trapped if a lift breaks down. The fire rated lifts shall be 
installed as approved and maintained in full working order for the lifetime of the 
development. 

    
 To ensure that the development provides for the changing circumstances of 

occupiers and responds to the needs of people with disabilities, in accordance with 
policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan, and Policy DC1 and HO6 of the Local 
Plan 2018. 

 
42) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied before details of the 

walls, fences, gates and other means of enclosure, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council. The boundary treatment shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details, before the occupation or use of any part of 
the development hereby permitted.  

     
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, to preserve the character and appearance of the area; 
and the setting and special architectural and historic interest of the listed building 
in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan (2016) and 
Policies DC1, DC4, and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
43) Prior to installation of the relevant parts of the development hereby permitted, 

details of new and replacement fenestration including opening style shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council.  The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details; and permanently retained as 
such. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, to preserve the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area; and the setting and special architectural and historic interest of 
the listed building in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan 
(2016) and Policies DC1, DC4, and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 

Page 82



 

44) Details of a local history plaque including the proposed size, shape, material, 
colour, lettering style and size, text and location for public display on the street 
elevation of the listed building shall be submitted to the Local Authority and 
approved in writing prior to occupation of the development.  The local history 
plaque shall be installed in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
occupation of the development and thereafter permanently retained. 

  
 In order to ensure that the historic identity of the listed building is commemorated 

as a point of reference for the future, in accordance with policy DC8 of the Local 
Plan 2018. 

 
45) Details of the height, location and paint colour of a temporary timber site hoarding 

to be erected around the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council prior to the commencement of demolition works.  The hoarding shall be 
installed in accordance with the approved details prior to the commencement of 
demolition works and shall be retained for the duration of the demolition and 
construction works. No part of the temporary fencing and/or enclosure of the site 
shall be used for the display of advertisement hoardings. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, to preserve the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area; and the setting and special architectural and historic interest of 
the listed building in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan 
(2016) and Policies DC1, DC4, and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 1) 1. Land Use:  It is considered that the proposed land use is acceptable. The 

nursing home (Use Class C2) use is acceptable and in accordance with the NPPF 
(2018), Policies 3.16 and 3.17 of the London Plan (2016), and Local Plan Policy 
HO7.  

     
 2. Heritage, design and conservation: It is considered that the extensions and 

alterations to the listed building and boundary wall would be appropriate in scale, 
height, mass, proposed materials and design.  The demolition of the listed summer 
house would cause harm to the significance of the listed building as would the 
impact of the extension on the setting of the main listed building.  The harm to the 
listed building as a whole is considered to be less than substantial and it is 
considered that the public benefits would outweigh that harm. The building would 
be designed to meet local social needs, whilst also presenting a suitable response 
to the context of the surrounding development. The proposal would preserve and 
enhance the character and appearance of Hurlingham Conservation Area. The 
development would therefore be acceptable in accordance with the NPPF (2018), 
7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2016) and Local Plan 2018 
Policies OS1, OS2, OS5, DC1, DC4 and DC8. 

     
 3.  Residential Amenity and Impact on Neighbouring Properties: The impact of the 

proposed development upon adjoining occupiers is considered acceptable with no 
undue worsening of noise, overlooking, loss of sunlight or daylight or outlook to 
neighbouring occupiers. Further, conditions would be attached to ensure that the 
roof terraces are within acceptable limits.  In this regard, the development would 
respect the principles of good neighbourliness. The development would therefore 

Page 83



 

be acceptable in accordance with Policies HO11 and DC4 of the Local Plan 2018, 
and Key Principles HS6, HS7 and HS8 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (2018). 

     
 4. Safety and Access: The development would provide a safe and secure 

environment for all users in accordance with London Plan (2016) Policy 7.3 and 
Policy DC1 Local Plan 2013 (2018). The proposal would provide ease of access 
for all people, including disabled people, in accordance with Policy 3.8 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policies DC1, DC4, HO6 of the Local Plan 2018.  

     
 5. Transport:  There would be no significant impact on traffic generation and the 

scheme would not result in congestion of the road network. Conditions will secure 
provision of cycle and refuse storage. The development would therefore be 
acceptable in accordance with the NPPF (2018), Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11, 
6.13 of the London Plan (2016), and Local Plan 2018 policies T2, T3, T4, T5 and 
T7. 

     
 6.  Flood Risk: A Flood Risk Assessment dated March 2019 (FRA) has been 

submitted and has considered risks of flooding to the site and adequate 
preventative measures have been identified. Implementation of the submitted 
details will be secured by condition. Details of SUDS will be secured by a 
condition. In this respect the proposal is therefore in accordance with the NPPF 
(2018), Policies 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan (2016), and 
policies CC3 and CC4 in the Local Plan 2018.  

     
 7. Land Contamination:  Conditions will ensure that the site would be remediated 

to an appropriate level for the sensitive residential and open space uses.  The 
proposed development therefore accords with Policy 5.21 of the London Plan 
(2016), and policy CC9 in the Local Plan 2018.  

     
 8. Air Quality: Subject to additional air quality, mechanical ventilation and fresh air 

intake details, the proposal will ensure neutral air quality outcomes in accordance 
with Policies 3.2, 5.3 and 7.14 of the London Plan (2016) and Policy CC10 of the 
Local Plan 2018. 

   
 9. Conditions: In line with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town 

and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018, officers 
have consulted the applicant on the pre-commencement conditions included in the 
agenda and the applicant agrees to the addition of the conditions. 

 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 11th March 2019 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 

Page 84



 

Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 
The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  
2018 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
London Borough Of Ealing 06.06.19 
Fulham Society 24.05.19 
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison 08.04.19 
Historic England London Region 08.04.19 
Thames Water - Development Control 22.04.19 
Peterborough Road And Area Residents' Association 01.05.19 

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 

Flat 237 Sullivan Court Broomhouse Lane London SW6 3DW  29.04.19 
68A Rosebury Road  Fulham SW6   30.04.19 
252 Sullivan Court London SW6 3DW   29.04.19 
44 Sullivan court Fulham SW6 3by   30.04.19 
10 Daisy Lane London SW6 3DD   29.04.19 
40 Bowerdean Street London SW6 3TW   24.04.19 
336 Sulivan ct London SW6 3bz   03.05.19 
Flat 404 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DL   30.04.19 
17 Daisy Lane London SW6 3DD   30.04.19 
401 Sulivan court Peterborough rd London SW6 3dl  30.04.19 
46 Peterborough Road London SW6 3EB   29.04.19 
335 Sulivan court Peterborough road London Sw63bz  03.05.19 
40 Bowerdean Street London SW6 3TW   24.04.19 
50 Sulivan court Peterborough road London SW6 3 by  30.04.19 
435 Sulivan Court Broomhouse Lane London SW6 3DL  13.05.19 
NAG     27.04.19 
19 daisy lane London SW6 3DD   17.05.19 
22, Daisy Lane London SW63DD   27.04.19 
312 Sulivan ct London SW6 3da   03.05.19 
13 clancarty road London SW6 3ah   30.04.19 
NAG     26.04.19 
408 Sullivan court Broomhouse Lane Fulham SW6 3dl  30.04.19 
289 Sulivan court Broomhouse lane London SW6 3dw  03.05.19 
297 Sulivan court London Sw63dw  03.05.19 
46 Sullivan court London SW6 3by   30.04.19 
Flat 239 Sullivan Court Broomhouse lane London SW6 3DW  29.04.19 
19 daisy lane London SW6 3DD   17.05.19 
39 Sulivan court London Sw63by   30.04.19 
268 Sulivan ct London SW6 3dw   03.05.19 
47sulivan court Fulham Sw63by   30.04.19 
41 Sulivan ct Fulham London SW6 3by  30.04.19 

Page 85



 

229 Sullivan Court London SW6 3dw   29.04.19 
181 Rivermead Court Ranelagh Gardens SW6 3SG   13.04.19 
Fulham Society 1 Rosaville  Road London SW6 7BN  02.05.19 
41 Broomhouse Lane London SW6 3DP   13.04.19 
265 Sulivan Ct Fulham SW6 3dw   03.05.19 
NAG     01.05.19 
21 linver road London SW6 3ra   01.05.19 
405 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
213 Sullivan Court Broomhouse Lane London SW6 3DN  29.04.19 
397 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
256 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
243 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
219 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
200 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
85 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
62 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
58 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
52 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
48 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
43 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
37 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
35 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
30 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DB   02.05.19 
346 Sullivan Court     14.05.19 
14 Linver Road London SW6 3RB   14.05.19 
278 Sulivan Court  Broomhouse Lane    14.05.19 
30 Linver Road London SW6 3RB   14.05.19 
12 Broomhouse Road London SW6 3QX   14.05.19 
139 Carnwath Road London SW6 3EJ   14.05.19 
50 Linver Road London SW6 3RB   14.05.19 
443 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DL   14.05.19 
344 Sullivan Court     14.05.19 
424 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DL   14.05.19 
265 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DW   14.05.19 
16 Broomhouse Road London SW6 3QX   14.05.19 
19 Broomhouse Road London SW6 3QU   14.05.19 
333 Sulivan Court London SW6 3BZ   14.05.19 
362 Sulivan Court London SW6 3BZ   14.05.19 
9 Linver Road London SW6 3RA   14.05.19 
48 Linver Road London SW6 3RB   14.05.19 
355 Sulivan Court London SW6 3BZ   14.05.19 
275 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DW   14.05.19 
434 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DL   14.05.19 
42 Linver Road London SW6 3RB   14.05.19 
NAG     20.05.19 
371sulivan court Peterborough road Fulham Sw63bz  03.05.19 
16 Daisy Lane London, UK London, UK SW6 3DD  08.04.19 
34 Sulivan Court London SW6 3BY   30.04.19 
57 Sulivan Road London SW6 3DT   02.05.19 
8 Daisy Lane London SW6 3DD   03.06.19 
20 Daisy Lane London SW6 3DD   29.04.19 
13 Daisy Lane London SW6 3DD   30.04.19 

Page 86



 

173 Sulivan Court London SW6 3DN   25.04.19 
33 Sulivan Court London SW6 3BY   02.05.19 
36 Sulivan Court London SW6 3BY   02.05.19 
222 Sulivan Court SW6 3DW    02.05.19 
33 Chiddingstone Street London SW63TQ   26.04.19 
22, Daisy Lane London SW63DD   24.05.19 
22, Daisy Lane London SW63DD   27.04.19 
197 Sullivan curt Broomhouse lane Fulham SW6 3DW  29.04.19 
18 Daisy Lane London SW6 3DD   23.04.19 
262 Sullivan court Broomhouse Lane Fulham SW6 3DW  29.04.19 
54  Sullivan Peterborough road London SW6 3by  30.04.19 
13 Clancarty road London SW6 3ah   30.04.19 
6 Hurlingham Road London SW6 3QY   13.05.19 
 
 
1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION AND RELEVANT HISTORY 
   
Site and Surrounding Area  
          
1.1 The rectangular shaped application site (0.2ha) consists of the two storey Castle 
Centre with its main frontage on Broomhouse Lane to the west, and side frontage facing 
Daisy Lane.  The building and its curtilage structures are listed at Grade II.  The site lies 
within the Hurlingham Conservation Area. 
     
1.2 The site includes the main building (Castle Club) plus two adjoining residential 
lodges and an ancillary glazed single storey summerhouse. The Castle Club is a highly 
ornate Gothic Revival building built in red brick with Bath stone dressings and slated 
roofs.  Originally built as a free school (or ragged school) for the education of local 
children, called the Elizabethan School, it was acquired by the LCC in 1904 and 
became a school for tubercular children in 1921.  In 1931 the building was classed as 
an "open air" school.  The ownership of the building passed from the LCC to the GLC 
and then to the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham. The main building was 
occupied until October 2007 by Children's Services as a youth club and after school 
service, after which it was used as a single family dwelling.  The site is currently vacant. 
    
1.3 The main access is from Daisy Lane to the north of the site, and another 
secondary pedestrian entrance off of Broomhouse Lane to the west.  
       
1.4 The townscape around the application site is varied in character. Immediately 
north of the site is Sulivan Court Estate, a post-war housing estate of 5 storey brick 
apartment blocks set back significantly from the footway within generous grounds of 
lawn gardens. To the west, and opposite the main entrance to the listed Castle Club 
building, the site faces the eastern entrance and boundary of the Hurlingham Club 
which is characterised by a tall brick perimeter wall with mature trees behind that largely 
conceal the Club buildings. The site directly adjoins the Parsons Green Sports and 
Social club on its southern and eastern boundary.  
      
1.5 The site has public transport accessibility level (PTAL) of partly 1b and partly 2 on 
a scale of 1- 6b with 6b having the highest PTAL. The site is located within Flood Zone 
2 and 3. 
 
   

Page 87



 

1.6 Relevant Planning History 
   
In February 2008 planning permission was granted (Ref. 2007/03853/FR3) for the use 
of the whole property as a single dwellinghouse (Class C3).   
     
In November 2008 planning permission was granted (Ref. 2008/02572/FUL) for the 
excavation of front and rear lightwells, in connection with the creation of a new 
basement; erection of a single storey glazed extension to the rear of the premises; 
relocation of summer house; alterations to outbuilding to create a new garage, together 
with new vehicular access onto Daisy Lane; and related alterations, in connection with 
the use of the premises as a single dwelling house. 
    
In August 2017 planning permission was granted (Ref. 2017/02287/FUL) for the 
complete renewal of the existing damp proofing course to the ground  floor slab around 
the entire perimeter of the building; complete lifting and relaying of  floorboards adjacent 
to walls where dry rot is present in the ground  floor North Eastern and South Eastern 
rooms to facilitate rot treatment;  localised removal and repair to floor joists where 
extent of decay has made them structurally unsound; complete removal of timber 
wainscot style panelling in the main hall where wet rot is present; complete removal of 
existing internal plaster which has blown from the backing where damp and dry rot is 
present; complete removal and replacement of existing failed roof, including all battens, 
insulation and Welsh slates; replacement of all new lead ashings where appropriate; 
minor repairs to the external brick and diaper patterned brick facade including localised 
stone repair where structurally unsound and pointing repair; replacement pointing with a 
lime mortar with black aggregate to match to suit adjacent area; where existing 
cementitious pale coloured mortar is retained, to be soot washed to blend with the new 
works; full overhaul and redecoration of all metal framed windows, including the 
complete replacement of all glazing 1m from  floor level to toughened glass; chimneys 
and roof castellation to be reviewed and investigated for structural integrity; replacement 
of doors with new hardwood timber close boarded doors. 
   
In December 2017 planning permission (Ref. 2017/03172/FUL) and listed building 
consent (Ref. 2017/03173/LBC )was granted for the demolition of the summer house 
and external metal stair on the rear elevation; internal repairs and reconfiguration of the 
building including removal of internal walls at ground and first floors of south wing; 
erection of new internal stair in south wing; insertion of new internal doors; replacement 
of ceiling; and associated restoration and alterations. 
    
Current proposal 
    
1.7 The application is for alterations and extensions to the Grade II listed building 
including the demolition of the summer house, erection of a part-one, part-two and part-
three storey extension and excavation of a partial basement to the rear in connection 
with the use of the building as a 33-bedroom nursing home (Use Class C2)  together 
with the demolition and replacement of front and side boundary wall, and re-instatement 
of a new means of access to the highway from Daisy Lane. 
   
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION:      
 
2.1      The application has been advertised by means of a site notice and a press 
advert. Individual notification letters were sent to the occupiers of 469 neighbouring 
properties.  

Page 88



 

Seventy-four letters of support have been received, supporting the use of the Listed 
Building as the nursing home, the creation of employment opportunities, and that the 
proposal would not have significant impacts on highways matters. Twenty objections 
have been received in relation to the original submissions including letters from the 
Fulham Society, the Victorian Society and Peterborough Road Residents Association.  
The grounds of objection can be summarised as follows: 
  
- Proposed scale and massing of the extension building would be overdevelopment and 
have an adverse impact on the character of the conservation area and surroundings, 
and the setting of the Listed Building 
- Design of the extension building out of keeping with the character and appearance of 
the Listed Building, in particular the east elevation 
- The business model will not be sustainable economically 
- Lack of need for a nursing home 
- Nursing home would alter the character of the area, and should be a school instead 
- Increase in traffic and parking stress 
- Inappropriate use for the Listed Building, as it would limit its public use. A school would 
be a better use of the building.  
- Lack of outdoor space for residents 
 
2.2    Follwoing the submission of amendments, the Victorian Society and Fulham 
Society have withdrawn their objections following amendments. 
  
2.3 Historic England: Objected to the removal of internal stairs, which has since been 
omitted from the proposal.  
  
2.4 Environment Agency: No objection. 
  
2.5 Thames Water: No objection subject to conditions.  
 
3.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
   
3.1 The main planning considerations in light of the London Plan (2016), and the Local 
Plan 2018 (hereafter referred to as LP 2018) and the Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document 2018 (hereafter referred to as Planning Guidance 
SPD), include: the principle of the development in land use terms; quantum and 
intensity of development; heritage, design and appearance; existing residential 
amenities of neighbouring properties; environmental matters; and traffic impact on the 
highway network.  
 
3.2 The new draft London Plan was published on 29 November 2017. The Plan's 
consultation ended on 2 March 2018. An Examination in Public (EiP) commenced in 
January 2019, and publication of the new Plan is expected in the autumn of 2019. It is 
therefore considered that the new draft London Plan should be given limited weight at 
this stage in determining this application. In the interim, consideration shall be given to 
the London Plan (Consolidated with Further Alterations 2016).  
 
 
 
 
 
   

Page 89



 

LAND USE 
           
Care home use 
         
3.3 The application is for the use of the site as a 33 bedroom residential care 
home(C2) with specialist assisted living care for people with dementia. 
   
3.4 Local Plan Policy HO7 states that the council will encourage and support 
applications for new special needs and supported housing, including specialist housing 
for older people, subject to the following criteria:  
   
 a. Established local need; 
 b. Standard of the facilities; 
 c. Good level of accessibility to public transport and other facilities; and  
 d. No detrimental impact to the amenity of the local area or to local services.  
  
3.5 Hammersmith and Fulham's Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (2013-2014) states 
that the number of people with dementia in the borough is expected to rise by 24% in 
the next decade due to the ageing of the baby boom population, improved life 
expectancy and survival from other chronic disease. JSNA Dementia Full Report (2015) 
notes that LBHF has the sixth lowest provision of care homes in the country. The 
proposed 33 assisted living units (Use Class C2) would result in a material public 
benefit that would result in the provision of additional specialist care accommodation for 
which there is a known need. The proposal is acceptable in principle, and would accord 
with Policy HO7 of the Local Plan, subject to the standard of the facilities being 
satisfactory. The potential impact on the surroundings in terms of amenities and 
highways matters is considered further in the body of this report below.  
  
Loss of residential use 
   
3.6 Policy HO1 of the LP 2018 (Housing supply) seeks the retention of existing 
residential accommodation. The proposal would result in the loss of one residential unit. 
The potential benefits of the scheme include securing a viable future use for the listed 
building and its long term conservation; restoration of historic architectural features and 
the provision of new specialist care accommodation. These potential public benefits are 
considered to outweigh the loss of the single residential unit.  In this case the loss of the 
residential unit is therefore considered acceptable.      
    
Loss of open space: 
   
3.7 Under the terms of LP Policy OS2 'Access to Parks and Open Space' the loss of 
public or private open space will not be permitted where such land either individually or 
cumulatively has local importance for its open character or as a sport, leisure or 
recreational facility or for its contribution to local biodiversity or visual amenity, unless it 
realises a qualitative gain for the local community and provides for the relocation of the 
open space.  
          
3.8 The existing Castle Centre is located on a confined site and the existing external 
areas available are limited. The proposal would lead to the loss of a predominantly 
green and landscaped area, including trees, along the east and south boundaries of the 
site, which will be taken up by the link and new building. It is considered that the 
location of the proposed buildings have been carefully considered to maintain the 

Page 90



 

maximum amount of external open space and in terms of limiting the harm to the setting 
of the listed building. Although there would be a loss of open space, it is considered that 
the balance between sufficient outdoor space, and the provision of an acceptable 
standard of facilities with adequate internal rooms standards would be met.  
    
3.9 The remaining open space is considered sufficient to meet the needs of the care 
home. In view of the above the proposed development is judged to be acceptable in 
terms of LP Policy OS2.  
    
Trees 
     
3.10 London Plan Policy 7.19 'Biodiversity and Access to Nature' and Policy 7.21 'Trees 
and Woodland' are concerned with protecting biodiversity and trees. The policies 
require that if a tree is to be removed, it should be replaced following the principle of 
'right tree, right place'.  
     
3.11 LP Policy DM OS5 'Greening the Borough' seeks to protect existing trees and 
maximise planting.  
    
3.12 The site has a total of 3 trees, including a Sycamore to the front on the 
Broomhouse Lane side, with an Ash and a Mulberry tree near the rear corner. None of 
the trees are subject to a Tree Preservation Order. The Ash and Mulberry are in a poor 
condition with very limited safe useful life expectancy and are to be removed on 
arboricultural safety grounds. It is therefore proposed to retain only the Sycamore to the 
front which is in a reasonable condition and provides the most public visual amenity 
value. The Council's tree officer has considered the proposals and concludes that the 
loss of the two trees is acceptable subject to conditions ensuring the retention of the 
most prominent Sycamore tree.   
    
3.13 A Tree Protection Plan has been submitted, detailing measures to ensure the 
protection of the Sycamore tree during construction. The implementation of these 
measures is to be secured by Condition 34 and subject to this, the proposal is 
considered to be acceptable with regards to LP Policy OS5. 
       
HERITAGE IMPACT, DESIGN AND EXTERNAL APPEARANCE 
    
Background 
 
3.14 The proposals are for the redevelopment of the site and restoration and 
refurbishment of the existing Grade II listed Castle Club building, to create a nursing 
home. The application seeks to demolish the existing summerhouse within the grounds 
and replace it with a modern part one, part-two-storey plus basement building, which 
forms a single storey link with the existing listed building. The proposal also includes the 
demolition and replacement of the existing boundary walls to a design based upon the 
original wall built in 1855. The proposed redevelopment intends to restore the refurbish 
the existing listed building as a landmark within the local area and provide quality 
accommodation for its use as a nursing home. 
 
Site location, surrounding townscape, and heritage context 
 

Page 91



 

3.15 The site lies to the south of Fulham Town Centre and Parsons Green. The site is 
set between large open spaces, with the Hurlingham Park and Club Grounds to the 
west and South Park to the east. 
 
3.16 The site is located on the corner of Broomhouse Lane and Daisy Lane. The 
townscape around the application site is varied in character. Immediately north of the 
site is Sulivan Court Estate, a post-war housing estate of 5 storey brick apartment 
blocks set back significantly from the footway within generous grounds of lawn gardens. 
To the west, and opposite the main entrance to the listed Castle Club building, the site 
faces the eastern entrance and boundary of the Hurlingham Club which is characterised 
by a tall brick perimeter wall with mature trees behind that largely conceal the Club 
buildings. The site directly adjoins the open sports pitches of the Parsons Green Sports 
and Social club on its southern and eastern boundary. Further to the east is the 
Hurlingham Academy, a modern school design set around two internal courtyards 
behind the two storey residential terraces that line the eastern end of Daisy lane. 
Further to the south also fronting Broomhouse Lane are two locally listed buildings of 
merit - Sycamore and Ivy Cottages which are of a domestic residential scale.  
Broomhouse Lane is one of the main north south routes from the river towards Parsons 
Green and is therefore well-used. The western edge of the road is highly inactive served 
only by the Hurlingham Clubs boundary wall. In this context, the prominent Castle Club 
building commands the corner site and holds the townscape together.  
 
3.17 The site lies within the Hurlingham Conservation Area and the Castle Club 
buildings are Grade II Listed. There are no other statutory listed buildings within the 
immediate surroundings, with the exception of the two located listed buildings of Merit, 
located just to the south of the site (Sycamore Cottage and Ivy Cottage).  
 
History 
 
3.18 The history of the local area and its characteristic open townscape is largely due to 
the development of Hurlingham House (1760) and the grounds of The Hurlingham Club 
(1869) which was founded and remains as a private sports club. Like much of Fulham 
until the 18th century the area was largely rural, with a number of large riverside 
mansions developed as retreats for the upper echelons of society. The wider area 
began to develop more densely in the early 1900s with the advance of local industry 
and its associated increase in population size which spurred the development of 
residential neighbourhoods to the north of the site, in Walham and Parsons Green. 
 
Existing Buildings 
 
3.19 The site is currently occupied by the Grade II Listed Castle Club building and an 
ancillary glazed single storey summerhouse. 
 
3.20 Formerly known as the 'Elizabethan School' the Castle Club was commissioned by 
the Sulivan Family and built as a 'ragged School' by Architects Frederick and Horace 
Francis in 1854. It has remained as a school and youth club for most its life. The main 
building is of gothic revival style, built of red brick with black diaper and stone dressings. 
It is symmetrical in form, bookended by richly decorated projecting wings on its north 
and south elevations, with a dominant central tower embellished by an ornate oriel 
window at first floor level over the principle entrance and crenelated stone parapet. 
Original external decorative details included quoined buttresses, elaborate tracery and 
surrounds to mullioned-and-transomed windows, grouped chimneys, and a delicate 

Page 92



 

stone parapet to the central tower with quatrefoil motifs and crocketed finials with 
weathervanes. Given the level of detailing, location, and scale of the building, it makes a 
strongly positive contribution to the streetscape and conservation area. However, the 
building is currently vacant and in a neglected condition, suffering from decay caused by 
water ingress and wet and dry rot.  
 
3.21 The pavilion summerhouse building, located to the rear of the school, is a more 
modern addition to the site having been granted planning permission in 1935 to provide 
an open air learning space for children with tuberculosis. The building sits on a concrete 
base with solid walls to half height and multi-pane glazing above. The hipped roof profile 
incorporated a ridge vent, rooflights with internally exposed timber rafters.  It is a rare 
surviving example of an LCC open air interwar school building, albeit on a modest 
scale. 
 
3.22 The site is currently bound by a relatively high modern brick wall built in the 1960's 
which replaced the original boundary wall. The earlier wall was constructed in red brick 
with stone piers and copings topped with decorative cast iron railings. Sitting in the 
south west corner of the site is an ornate red brick bench with stone detailing which 
presents a unique and unusual feature within the grounds.  
 
Listed building application history  
 
3.23 A series of applications have been approved for works to the listed building to 
facilitate its repair and re-use. Applications have included repair and restoration works 
to the external elevation (windows, doors, masonry, roof covering) and internal 
alterations including moderate alterations to ceiling heights and the circulation and 
layout of the building. 
 
Application Refs: 
- Approvals - 2017/01893/LBC and 2017/02287/FUL: A complete renewal of the 
existing damp proofing course to the ground  floor slab around the entire perimeter of 
the building; complete lifting and relaying of  floorboards adjacent to walls where dry rot 
is present in the ground  floor North Eastern and South Eastern rooms to facilitate rot 
treatment;  localised removal and repair to floor joists where extent of decay has made 
them structurally unsound; complete removal of timber wainscot style panelling in the 
main hall where wet rot is present; complete removal of existing internal plaster which 
has blown from the backing where damp and dry rot is present; complete removal and 
replacement of existing failed roof, including all battens, insulation and Welsh slates; 
replacement of all new lead flashings where appropriate; minor repairs to the external 
brick and diaper patterned brick facade including localised stone repair where 
structurally unsound and pointing repair; replacement pointing with a lime mortar with 
black aggregate to match to suit adjacent area; where existing cementitious pale 
coloured mortar is retained, to be soot washed to blend with the new works; full 
overhaul and redecoration of all metal framed windows, including the complete 
replacement of all glazing 1m from  floor level to toughened glass; chimneys and roof 
castellation to be reviewed and investigated for structural integrity; replacement of doors 
with new hardwood timber close boarded doors. 
 
3.24 The successful refurbishment of the Listed building and integration of the new 
nursing home building within its grounds is key to the development. The design of the 
new Castle Club building would need to be of high quality and respectful of its heritage 

Page 93



 

setting and corner location with the Hurlingham Conservation Area. The proposal is 
described in further detail below. 
 
Policy Framework 
 
3.25 The NPPF states that development should respond to local character and history 
and the surrounding environment and setting, whilst not preventing innovation - but 
extends this to recognise a role for change and increased densities. The NPPF 
advocates a positive strategy for conserving and enhancing the historic environment, 
taking account of (amongst other things) the desirability of new development to make a 
positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness. The NPPF state that 
economic, social and environmental gains are to be sought jointly and simultaneously in 
order to deliver positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic 
environment.  
 
3.26 The NPPF states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
and should contribute positively to making places better for people. Part 12 of the NPPF 
outlines the requirement for good design and Paragraph 127 sets out that planning 
policies and decisions should ensure that developments: 
 
a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development; 
b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping; 
c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change (such as increased densities); 
d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive 
places to live, work and visit; 
e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount 
and mix of development (including green and other public space) and support local 
facilities and transport networks; and 
f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and 
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where 
crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or 
community cohesion and resilience. 
 
3.27 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 sets out the 
principal statutory duties which must be considered in the determination of any 
application affecting listed buildings or conservation areas. 
 
3.28 It is key to the assessment of this application that the decision making process is 
based on the understanding of specific duties in relation to Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas required by the relevant legislation, particularly the Section 16, 
Section 66 and Section 72 duties of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 together with the requirements set out in the NPPF 
 
3.29 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires that: In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case 
may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving 

Page 94



 

the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
it possesses. 
 
3.30 Section 72 of the above Act states in relation to Conservation Areas that: In the 
exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, of any 
functions under or by virtue of any of the provisions mentioned in subsection (2), special 
attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area. Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 ('Listed Buildings Act') states in relation to listed buildings 
that : 'In considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works, the local 
planning authority or the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving the [listed] building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses. 
 
3.31 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that: When considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the 
greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm 
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 
 
3.32 Paragraph 195 of the NPPF states that: Where a proposed development will lead 
to substantial harm to (or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local 
planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the 
substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that 
outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the following apply: 
 
a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and 
b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 
appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and 
c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public 
ownership is demonstrably not possible; and 
d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use. 
 
3.33 Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states that: Where a development proposal will lead 
to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this 
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
 
3.34 Paragraph 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that: The effect 
of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken 
into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or 
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage 
asset. 
These paragraphs make a clear distinction between the approach to be taken in 
decision-making where the proposed development would result in 'substantial' harm and 
where it would result in 'less than substantial' harm. 
 
3.35 Case law indicates that following the approach set out in the NPPF will normally 
be enough to satisfy the statutory tests. However, when carrying out the balancing 
exercise in paragraphs 195 and 196, it is important to recognise that the statutory 

Page 95



 

provisions require the decision maker to give great weight to the desirability of 
preserving the heritage asset and/or its setting. 
 
3.36 The Planning Practice Guidance notes which accompany the NPPF remind 
decision makers that it is the degree of harm to the asset's significance rather than the 
scale of the development that is to be assessed. 
 
3.37 As summarised above, the NPPF requires local authorities to conserve heritage 
assets in a manner appropriate to their significance. The more important the asset, the 
greater the weight that should be given to its conservation. National Policy does not 
preclude development of heritage assets or development which may affect them or their 
setting, but aims to put in place the requirement for a considered analysis of when and 
where this may be acceptable. 
 
3.38 London Plan Policy 7.4 requires developments to provide high quality design 
responses to existing spaces, to create a positive relationship with street level activity 
and to allow 'existing buildings and structures that make a positive contribution to the 
character of a place to influence the future character of an area'. London Plan Policy 7.5 
requires public realm to be comprehensive at a human scale through appropriate 
treatment such as gateways, focal points, landmarks and landscape treatment. 
Proposals should be informed by the heritage of an area, reinforcing the connection 
between public spaces and (inter alia) local features that may be of heritage 
significance. Proposals should further consider integration with high quality public art. 
Policy 7.6 sets high architectural standards for all buildings and structures, and requires 
these to enhance, activate and define the public realm. It allows for materials that 
complement but do not necessarily replicate the local architectural character. Policy 7.8 
(Heritage assets and archaeology) states that development affecting heritage assets 
and their setting should conserve their significance by being sympathetic to their form, 
scale, materials, and architectural detail. 
 
3.39 Local Plan Policy DC1 states that all development within the borough 'should 
create a high quality urban environment that respects and enhances its townscape 
context and heritage assets. There should be an approach to accessible and inclusive 
urban design that demonstrates how good design, quality public realm, landscaping, 
heritage assets and land use can be integrated to help regenerate places'. 
 
3.40 Local Plan Policy DC2 permits new build development that is of a high design 
standard and compatible with the scale and character of existing development and its 
setting. It requires proposals to respect: 
 
- historical context, townscape and the sense of place of a site; 
- the surrounding area scale, mass, form and grain; 
- the relationship of the proposed development to the existing townscape; 
- local design context to promote and reinforce local distinctiveness; 
- good neighbourliness and principles of residential amenity; 
- local landscape context, providing high quality landscaping and public realm with good 
permeability where appropriate; 
- sustainability objectives; 
- the principles of accessibility and inclusive design; and 
- the principles of Secured by Design. 
 

Page 96



 

3.41 Policy DC8 (Heritage and Conservation) aims to conserve the significance of the 
borough's historic environment by protecting, restoring and enhancing its heritage 
assets. 
 
Design Evolution 
 
3.42 The design sets out to achieve several objectives within the above policy 
constraints. The proposals seek to restore and repair the fabric of the Grade II listed 
building and provide nursing home facility of the highest architectural quality which does 
not compete with the integrity of the Listed building in terms of its form and massing, but 
which has a positive identity of its own.  
 
3.43 The key aims for the site were identified and agreed with the applicants at the 
outset. Most importantly, the existing 19th century Castle Club building needed to be 
repaired sensitively with minimal interventions to the internal layout. The massing and 
plan form of the new building, which replaces the Summer House, needed to respond 
to, and integrate with the setting of the site and connect with the existing building in an 
unobtrusive way.  Views from the street to the listed buildings need also not be 
disrupted, and the facades be confident and clearly legible as a separate modern 
building, with a civic quality which acknowledges the institutional nature of its use as 
well as its position fronting Broomhouse Lane.  
 
3.44 During the development of the proposed design, in addition to officer negotiations, 
comments were received both from the public consultation exercises carried out and an 
earlier iteration of the scheme as a school site was reviewed at the Design Review 
Panel in April 2017. Comments of relevance to the current proposals are outlined below 
and have been adopted where possible.  
 
Design Review Panel- Key issues 
 
3.45 The Panel raised comments on the following topics and encouraged the design 
team to ensure that they are carefully considered so that the design fulfils its potential: 

 To pursue the revised entrance sequence 

 To pursue a robust and coherent landscape strategy. This strategy should 
include an arboriculture report and consider planting on the street frontage 
on Daisy lane to improve the local townscape.   

 To advance the internal space planning of the building and the explore the 
need for setbacks which break the strong vertical rhythm of the building. 

 To pursue alternative boundary design options.  

 To develop greater articulation of the elevations addressing the Sports 
Grounds.  

 To consider a reduced palette of materials.  
 
3.46 The panel welcomed the scheme to restore the listed building. The applicants 
have addressed the points raised by the Design Review Panel in their development of 
the design. 
 
Nursing home extension 
 
3.47 Various options were explored for the massing of the extension along the eastern 
boundary of the site. The proposed massing is based on an L shaped plan form which 
pushes the bulk of the new extension into the far south-east corner of the site allowing 

Page 97



 

the Listed Building to retain its prominence in the street scene on both Broomhouse 
Lane and Daisy Lane.  The height of the extension takes its datum from the top of the 
first floor wings of the existing school, and does not rise higher than this at any point. 
The mass also responds to the existing school though incorporating a set-back on the 
northern elevation, so that views to the north lodge wing remain clear, and a break at 
first floor level which introduces a hierarchy at first floor level that echoes the form of the 
existing building.  The basement excavation would be below a small part of the main 
part of the extension building to house plant. The basement level would therefore not be 
visible, and would be set away from the Listed Building.  
 
3.48 The elevations adopt a vertical articulation and rhythm which is well proportioned 
and expressed through the use of a repeating slim bay framed with reconstituted Bath 
stone surrounds and a deep reveal. Each bay is headed by a simple anodised 
aluminium panel in a colour to compliment the Bath stone.  On the eastern elevation the 
rhythm of the bays changes to try and give relief to the longest elevation.  Four two 
storey height bays with patterned brick slip panels and stone frames are equally divided 
by a slimmer bay which uses panels of green wall at lower level with wrap around 
glazing above.   
 
3.49 On the elevations facing Broomhouse and Daisy Lane, bays are set around 
rusticated reconstituted Bath stone clad piers. The set back on the north elevation and 
its terrace is bound by a frameless glass balustrade which creates a clean horizontal 
break between ground floor and first levels. Drawn in from its perimeter, the new 
building will be topped by a brown roof and a suite of PV panels.  
 
3.50 The ground floor link element between the main listed building and the extension 
takes a clearly modern and visually light weight form with large glazed bays framed with 
reconstituted stone. The link, achieved by a simple glazed connection with minimal 
intervention into the listed fabric ensures a legible distinction between the Listed fabric 
and the new addition.  
 
3.51 The design of the extension provides a high-quality response to the listed building. 
The use of stone creates a calm and neutral backdrop which does not compete with the 
more intricate detail of the Listed building. Overall, materials and forms will be clean, 
simple, and sympathetic to the surroundings, allowing the existing building to remain the 
primary focus of the site.  
 
Public realm and Landscaping:  
 
3.52 The proposed boundary treatment is for a short brick wall topped with stone piers 
and decorative cast iron railings which replicates the original boundary wall built in 
1855. The boundary would match the original building and ensure it would have greater 
presence in the street, by virtue of its scale and use of visually permeable railings, 
which would enable greater views of the school from the street.   
 
3.53 The western area of the site will be softly landscaped with a lawn and planting of, 
giving it a verdant character, whereas areas to the rear that will be more heavily used 
will be surfaced with hard permeable landscaping (Permeable paving tiles and resin 
bound gravel). Ornamental planting is used at the base of both buildings to create a 
buffer and compliment the formality of their bases.   
 

Page 98



 

3.54 Access to the site will be gained through a new entrance gate on its north edge 
along Daisy Lane which will provide level access. Car and cycle parking spaces have 
been included within the central hard landscaped area. A ramp running alongside the 
western elevation of the new building has been provided to enable access to the glazed 
reception area.  Access to the listed building will still be primarily from the north wing via 
several steps. 
 
HERITAGE ASSETS 
 
Overview  
 
3.55 The proposal includes the demolition of the summer house to make way for a new 
two storey nursing home building which connects to the rear of the listed building via a 
single storey link element.  
 
Policy Framework 
 
Impact on Heritage Assets 
 
3.56 This is a substantial piece of development which due to its nature has significant 
implications for the listed Castle Centre building and its setting, as well as to the 
conservation area and the surrounding townscape.  Officers assessment of the proposal 
first turns to proposals for internal changes to the listed building together with the 
acceptability of the demolition of the summer house and the erection of new extensions 
to evaluate the impact that they would cause to the significance of the heritage assets.  
Secondly, officers have assessed the visual impact of the scheme on the setting of the 
listed building and the character and appearance of the Hurlingham Conservation Area.   
 
First assessment: Impact on Heritage assets 
 
Repairs and Internal alterations: 
 
3.57 Works to the listed building include the complete refurbishment and restoration of 
doors, joinery, windows, and replacement of missing skirting, in addition to the 
restoration of stone floors and re-instatement of the missing chimney pieces. Externally, 
the proposals include the re-instatement of the missing boundary wall and cast iron 
railings and the replacement of the existing modern gates on Broomhouse Lane with a 
historic design.  
 
3.58 Within the building, the eastern room of the northern wing will see the highest level 
of alteration with the proposed installation of a kitchen. However, drawings supplied at 
this stage demonstrate that the new units will respect the existing windows and cils, and 
that the ventilation to the cooker will have a negatable impact on the external facade, 
being located discreetly behind a flush ventilation grill. 
 
3.59 Officers consider that the proposed repair and restoration work would not harm the 
significance of the listed building and will provide heritage benefits.  
 
Demolition of the summer house: 
 
3.60 The list description plan identifies the summer house as an element within the 
setting of the main school building. The significance of the Summer House therefore lies 

Page 99



 

in its relationship to the historic school in terms of its use and design, having been built 
to enable and improve the educational function of the Listed building as a school for 
children with tuberculosis. It is therefore of historical significance. However, it is less 
significant to the setting or Conservation Area, to which it makes a minimal contribution 
by virtue of its discreet location to the rear of the main building, which prevents views to 
the building from the surrounding townscape.   
 
3.61 Officers consider that the demolition of the summer house would lead to less than 
substantial harm to the listed building overall. Its demolition is considered essential to 
creating sufficient space on the site for the development of high quality nursing home 
facility centred around the restored listed building, with the potential to deliver public 
benefits and to secure the reuse and long term future conservation of the main listed 
building on the site. 
 
New buildings link: 
 
3.62 A connection between the living accommodation for the nursing home and existing 
Listed building is gained via a single storey link element. The connection of the link 
element to the existing building require minimal intervention to the existing fabric. The 
glazed element will be locally, and cleanly chased into the brickwork, with the rear 
elevation of the building being fully retained and visually expressed through the glazed 
link.  This element is not considered to cause harm to the significance of the listed 
building. 
 
Second Assessment: Visual Impact 
 
3.63 Officers have assessed the key views analysis to form a judgement of the impact 
of the new building on the setting of the Listed building and local Conservation Area. 
Local views were tested from viewpoints to the south along Broomhouse Lane and the 
north and east along Daisy Lane. 
 
Broomhouse Lane views: 
 
3.64 View 1: View from the south, looking north along Broomhouse Lane, shows that 
the adjoining approved scheme at Parsons Green Sports Club will fully obscure views to 
the new building, leaving the Castle Club to appear as an independent element on the 
street edge. This mid distant view indicates the importance and success of the set-back 
building line in the south-western area of the site.  
 
3.65 View 2: Close range view looking east from Broomhouse Lane towards the 
southern end of the site, shows the extension sitting alongside the existing Castle Club. 
While highly visible, the extension is lower in height, set back, and of a contrasting 
materiality which ensures it is read as a subservient addition to the Listed Building. Its 
modern design and quality is considered to add positively to the townscape. These 
views demonstrate that the impact of the extension on the setting of the listed building 
has been minimised.  
 
Daisy Lane Views: 
 
3.66 View 3 and 4: Views looking south west demonstrate that while the extension 
would be highly visible, views to the north wing and its entrance would not be impaired. 
Views close to the site reveal the importance of the first floor set back within its minimal 

Page 100



 

terrace balustrade and the depth and layering to the vertical bays. View point 4 looking 
south from the corner of Sulivan Court towards the site demonstrates that only the front 
of north elevation would be seen. Importantly, the prominence of the Castle Club 
building would be retained with the extension sitting subserviently in the background. 
Further, the views demonstrate the benefit of a smaller and visually permeable 
boundary which enables greater views of the school. 
 
Internal site views: 
 
3.67 View 5: Taken from inside the grounds looking south to the entrance lobby, this 
view indicates the importance of a large central bay to mark the entrance to the nursing 
home and the lightweight fixing of the link element to the listed building. The large 
glazed bays allow for the brick of the listed building to be read behind.  
 
Townscape Assessment Summary 
 
3.68 The view studies have enabled officers to assess the impact of the proposed 
development and conclude that the development would result in some harm to the 
setting of the Castle Club. However, the proposal would also bring some enhancement 
to the character and appearance of the Hurlingham Conservation Area and 
improvement to the surrounding townscape. 
 
DESIGN AND HERITAGE CONCLUSION 
 
3.69 Officers consider the Proposals to have been carefully designed, responding to the 
significance of the listed building and its setting, so that when the two elements are 
viewed together they are seen as complimentary with the prominence of the listed 
building remaining unchallenged. The proposal is therefore in accordance with both 
national guidance in the National Planning Policy Framework and strategic and local 
policies on design of new buildings in a heritage context. 
 
3.70 The proposed built form of the new nursing home building is broadly sympathetic 
to the adjoining form of the Castle Club building. In addition, the detail of its elevations, 
which have a contemporary architectural language and materiality, respectfully contrast 
with the Castle Club to ensure its prominence is not diminished.  Furthermore, the 
proposed repairs and internal alterations to the listed building and boundary walls, and 
the formation of the new linking structure between the new and existing buildings are 
considered acceptable in terms of their impacts on the affected heritage assets. Overall, 
the scheme presents an opportunity to secure the long term conservation of the main 
Castle Club building, bringing it and its grounds back into use.  The character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area and the surrounding townscape would be 
enhanced.  
 
3.71 Officers have assessed the overall impact of the proposal on heritage assets and 
mindful of the statutory duties and NPPF guidance have given great weight to the 
conservation of heritage assets.  Officers consider it would the proposal would cause 
less than substantial harm to the significance of the listed building as a whole, as a 
result of the demolition of the summer house and some harm to the setting of the main 
listed building on the site arising from its juxtaposition with the extension.  However 
Officers acknowledge the public benefits of the proposals, including heritage benefits 
and consider that on balance it is compliant with Sections, 16, 66 and Section 72 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The proposal is also in 

Page 101



 

accordance with national guidance in the NPPF, London Plan policies and Local Plan 
policies on the historic environment and urban design.  
  
   
ACCESSIBILITY  
       
3.72 London Plan Policy 7.2 'An Inclusive Environment' and LP Policies DC1 and DC2 
all relate to access to buildings, requiring that buildings should be accessible and 
inclusive both internally and externally. For residents, visitors and staff, the main 
approach to the site is through the new Daisy Lane entrance. Currently several steps 
lead up to all the existing entrances to the building and there are presently no provisions 
for level access. To provide appropriate access arrangements for users of the site, level 
access measures are proposed through ramped landscaping up to the new reception 
area. Level access lifts are proposed within the new and existing building to enable 
disabled access. The proposal's access arrangements form an essential part of this 
proposal and are considered acceptable and in accordance with London Plan Policy 7.2 
'An Inclusive Environment' and LP Policies DC1 and DC2. 
 
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY  
                                                   
3.73 Policies DC1, DC4, CC11, CC13 and HO11 of the LP 2018 require all proposals to 
be formulated to respect the principles of good neighbourliness. SPD Housing Key 
Principles 6, 7 and 8 seeks to protect the existing amenities of neighbouring residential 
properties in terms of outlook, light, privacy and noise and disturbance. 
           
3.74 There are residential properties on two sides of the proposed extension building. 
To the north east is the end of the row of two storey terraced houses on the south side 
of Daisy Lane (No.s 5-22 Daisy Lane). To the south, the application site adjoins the 
clubhouse of the Parsons Green Sports Club, which is currently under construction 
includes residential floorspace on the upper floors.   
  
Outlook: 
                           
3.75 SPD Housing Key Principle Policy HS6 acknowledges that a building's proximity 
can have an overbearing and dominating effect detrimental to the enjoyment by 
adjoining residential occupiers of their properties. Although it is dependent upon the 
proximity and scale of the proposed development a general standard can be adopted by 
reference to a line produced at an angle of 45 degrees from a point 2 metres above the 
adjoining ground level of the boundaries of the site where it adjoins residential 
properties. If any part of the proposed building extends beyond these lines then on-site 
judgement will be a determining factor in assessing the effect which the extension will 
have on the existing amenities of neighbouring properties. 
 
Daisy Lane 
  
3.76 To the north east No. 22 Daisy Lane is 30m away from the application site, and as 
such would not be affected by the proposed building.  
 
 
 
    

Page 102



 

Parsons Green Club 
         
3.77 To the south of the application site is the four storey Parsons Green Club 
clubhouse which has residential accommodation on the upper three floors. The flank 
elevation of the proposed three storey extension would face that neighbouring building. 
 
3.78 The nearest opposing habitable windows (serve bedrooms) to the proposed 
extension building would at least 9.5m away, which are in the side elevation at first and 
second floor level of the clubhouse building. It is acknowledged that the proposal would 
infringe upon a line produced at an angle of 45 degrees from a point 2 metres above the 
adjoining ground level taken from the shared boundary. Key Principle SH6 makes clear 
that on-site judgement is the determining factor in these situations. 
 
3.79 While the proposed extension would increase the height of development on the 
southern boundary shared with the Club, the main living area windows face to the and 
the most affected windows are above ground floor level and at least  9.5m away. 
Officers consider that the proposed development would retain a satisfactory sense of 
openness to the nearest flats within the clubhouse by reason of the proposed distance 
of separation. The siting and massing of the proposed building would not have an 
overbearing effect, to a degree that would warrant the refusal of planning permission.  
 
3.80 Officers conclude that the development would not give rise to unacceptable levels 
of loss of outlook and sense of enclosure and would therefore be acceptable in terms of 
SPD Housing Key Principle Policy HS6.  
         
Privacy: 
              
3.81 SPD Housing Key Principle HS7 states that new windows should normally be 
positioned so that they are a minimum of 18 metres away from existing residential 
windows as measured by an arc of 60 degrees taken from the centre of the proposed 
window, or be designed to prevent overlooking. In addition, it states that a roof 
terrace/balcony is unacceptable if it would result in an additional opportunity for 
overlooking and consequent loss of privacy. 
                
3.82 While there are no opposing windows in the south elevation of the proposed 
extension building within the application site, there is a proposed roof terrace which 
faces four habitable room windows at first and second floor level in the north elevation 
of the Parsons Green Club which is nearing completion.  The proposals therefore 
include a 1.7m high obscure glass screen on the side elevation facing the Parson Green 
Club which would prevent opportunities for overlooking or loss of privacy (Condition 35). 
In this form the proposal is considered to comply with Policies HO11 and DC1 and DC4 
of the LP 2018, and SPD Housing Key Principle HS7. 
            
Noise and disturbance: 
               
3.83 Policies CC11 and CC13 of the LP 2018 relate to environmental nuisance and 
require all development to ensure that there is no undue detriment to the general 
amenities enjoyed by existing surrounding occupiers, particularly those of residential 
properties. SPD Key Principle HS8 adds that roof terraces or balconies likely to cause 
harm to the existing amenities of neighbouring properties by reason of noise and 
disturbance will not be supported.    
  

Page 103



 

3.84 It is difficult to predict with any accuracy the likely level of noise/disturbance that 
would be generated by the use of the proposed terrace areas at second floor level. 
While it is considered that due to the prospective users of the spaces unlikely that 
having regard to the size of the proposed terraces. Although the terraces are relatively 
large at 50sqm and 39sqm respectively, given the nature of the proposed users of the 
site, it is not considered that the terraces would have any significant potential to harm 
the existing amenities of adjoining occupiers as a result of additional noise and 
disturbance. However, a condition is to be attached to any permission controlling the 
hours of use, and to prevent any music being played to ensure the amenities of the 
occupiers of surrounding residential properties are not unduly affected as a result of 
noise and disturbance (Condition 37). It is considered that the proposed development 
would accord with Policies HO11, CC11 and CC13 of the LP 2018 and SPD Key 
Principle HS8 regarding noise. 
                                       
Daylight and Sunlight:  
 
3.85 The British Research Establishment (BRE) guide on 'Site layout planning for 
daylight and sunlight', set out good practice for assessing daylight and sunlight impacts 
for new development. In urban and city centre areas, BRE Guidelines advise that the 
guidance be applied flexibly. In this case the only potentially affected building is the 
Parsons Green Club clubhouse. However, this building is orientated to the south of the 
application site, and as such would not be impacted in any significant way in terms of 
loss of daylight/sunlight.  
 
Overshadowing: 
  
3.86 The nearest residential amenity space is the rear garden of 22 Daisy Lane over 
30m away. The proposal would therefore not have any impact on any neighbouring 
properties in terms of overshadowing.   
            
3.87 Officers consider that the habitable rooms, and neighbouring gardens would on 
the whole have sufficient access to daylight and sunlight after the development has 
been constructed complying with Policies HO11, DC1 and DC4 of the LP 2018. 
        
Light pollution 
         
3.88 Policy CC12 of the LP 2018 seeks to control the adverse impacts of lighting 
arrangements including that from signage and other sources of illumination.  Subject to 
a condition requiring the submission of further details (Condition 38), officers consider 
the level of illumination from the development would not be harmful or out of character 
with the location or result in any significant harm to neighbouring properties. As such 
officers consider that the proposal accords with the requirements of Policy CC12 of the 
LP 2018.  
     
TRAFFIC AND HIGHWAYS 
        
3.89 The NPPF requires developments that generate significant movement are located 
where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport modes 
can be maximised, and development should protect and exploit opportunities for the use 
of sustainable transport modes for the movement of goods or people.   
       

Page 104



 

3.90 Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13 of The London Plan set out the intention 
to encourage consideration of transport implications as a fundamental element of 
sustainable transport, supporting development patterns that reduce the need to travel or 
that locate development with high trip generation in proximity of public transport 
services. The policies also provide guidance for the establishment of maximum car 
parking standards and cycle standards. 
         
3.91 LP Policy T1 'Transport' supports The London Plan and seeks to improve 
transportation within the borough, by working with strategic partners and relating the 
size of development proposals to public transport accessibility and highway capacity. LP 
Policy T2 'Transport Assessment and Travel Plans' states that all development 
proposals will be assessed for their contribution to traffic generation, and LP Policy T4 
of the sets out vehicle parking standards, which brings them in line with London Plan 
standards and circumstances when they need not be met. LP Policy T3 'Increasing the 
Opportunities for Cycling and Walking' seek to ensure that satisfactory cycle space is 
provided for all developments. 
  
Trip generation 
          
3.92 The development proposals comprise the refurbishment and extension of the main 
Castle Centre building to enable a care home for people with dementia. The applicant 
provided a visitor log for the comparable nursing home in Chelsea for which they are the 
operator. This has been used to forecast visitor numbers and benchmark servicing 
assumptions. Residents are not expected to travel from the site, and if so, would be on 
a very infrequent basis. Staff are expected, based on the comparison site in Chelsea, to 
use public transport, cycling or arrive by foot. There would be no on-site parking for 
staff. Applying the trip rates observed at the comparable nursing home to the proposal, 
the 33 bedrooms will result in a total daily demand of 9 visitors, 31 staff trips and up to 7 
delivery and servicing trips. This equates to a total of 47 trips per day (across all 
modes). The analysis demonstrates that the forecast traffic generation will have a 
negligible impact on the highway and public transport networks. 
      
Access 
     
Vehicular access: 
 
3.93 The historic vehicular access along Daisy Lane would be reinstated. The site at 
present has a gated access which was used as a vehicular access. However, LBHF 
have reinstated the footway and kerbing in this location and a crossover is no longer 
present. The vehicle crossover will involve the removal of two car parking spaces from 
this section of Daisy Lane. The overnight parking occupancy figures show that of the 32 
bays along the south side of Daisy Lane, 22 were occupied with a resulting parking 
occupancy of 59%. Reinstatement of the vehicular access does not raise concerns. 
   
3.94 The vehicular access location on to Daisy Lane is more than 10 metres from the 
junction on Broomhouse Lane and is therefore considered acceptable. All work on the 
public highway would have to be carried out by the Council's highway contractors and 
would be secured by a s278 agreement to fund the works. 
 
 
 
    

Page 105



 

Service access 
  
3.95 Refuse collection will occur on-street from Broomhouse Lane, where there is 
sufficient space along the carriageway to allow for on-street refuse collection. It is 
envisaged that loading and unloading will be carried out within the demise of the 
development. The proposals include a loading bay within the car parking area, providing 
a loading bay for a vehicle up to a 7.5T box van. Sufficient space will be provided to 
allow for vehicles to enter and exit the development in a forward gear. This is 
considered acceptable, and could be secured through condition. 
   
Car parking 
   
3.96 The Site will provide a total of four on-site parking spaces, two of which will be 
disabled parking spaces. One of the car parking spaces would be fitted with an electric 
vehicle charging point, in accordance with London Plan and Local Plan policies.  One 
loading bay is also proposed on site.  
 
3.97 The development is located in PTAL area 2 meaning it has poor access to public 
transport. Considering the usage of the development, 4 parking spaces (including 2 
disabled) is considered acceptable. 
    
Cycle parking 
    
3.98 London Plan Policy 6.9 on Cycling, includes minimum standards. According to the 
London Plan, the minimum cycle parking provision would be 5 long stay spaces based 
on 25 staff at any one time. There is also a requirement of 1 short stay space per 20 
bedrooms. A total of 8 spaces are proposed, which is considered acceptable. The 
provision of the cycle storage is to be secured by condition (Condition 13).  
    
Refuse/recycling 
    
3.99 London Plan Policy 5.16 outlines the Mayors approach to waste management. 
Policy CC6 and CC7 of the LP 2018 requires development to incorporate suitable 
facilities for the storage and collection of segregated waste. The plans indicate bin 
storage within the curtilage of the site, accessed from Broomhouse Road (Condition 
14). The submission of details of a Service and Delivery Management Plan will be 
secured by Condition 28. 
       
3.100 It is considered that the development would not adversely impact on the local 
highway network. In the respect the development would be acceptable with regards to 
Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13 of The London Plan and Local Plan (2018) 
Policies T1 and T2.  
       
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 
          
Flood Risk: 
       
3.101 The NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but where 
development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  
         

Page 106



 

3.102 London Plan Policy 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 requires new 
development to comply with the flood risk assessment and management requirements 
of national policy, including the incorporation of sustainable urban drainage systems, 
and specifies a drainage hierarchy for new development.  
             
3.103 LP Policies CC3 and CC4 DM H3 which relate to Flood Risk and Sustainable 
Urban Drainage requires development proposals to reduce the use of water and 
minimise existing and future flood risk and the adverse effects of flooding on people by 
implementing a range of measures such as Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS) 
(where feasible) and also the use of water efficient appliances.  
       
3.104 The proposals include redevelopment of the site including addition of new 
buildings and future use as a nursing home. As required, a Flood Risk Assessment 
(FRA) has been provided with the application. This site is in the Environment Agency's 
Flood Zone 3 and is well protected by flood defences such as the Thames Barrier and 
local river walls. However, if these failed or were breached, parts of the site could be 
impacted by flood water according to Environment Agency modelling. In the 
Environment Agency's 2100 breach scenario there is a risk of flood water impacting on 
part of the site, but the FRA notes that finished floor levels (FFLs) for the ground floor of 
the building are above the levels that would be expected to be impacted by flooding 
from a breach event. The potential impacts of groundwater, surface water and sewer 
flooding have also been assessed and mitigated. The FRA identifies a series of 
mitigation measures to reduce flood risks. These include structural water-proofing 
measures, protection of the sunken garden through use of watertight parapet wall and 
flood gate; preparation of a flood response plan; subscription to the Environment 
Agency's free Flood warning Service; provision of safe refuge at higher floors in case of 
flood event which prevents evacuation; finished floor levels to be set at a level that 
protects from flood water entry; inclusion of structural water-proofing measures for the 
new basement and pumped non-return valves to help protect from sewer surcharge 
flooding. A range of additional flood resilient design measures are also planned which 
would help the building recover in the event of a flood. 
 
3.105 In terms of the flood protection measures proposed, these are considered 
acceptable and they can be conditioned. The submission provides details of the 
structural flood proofing measures, which are considered acceptable and would be 
secured through condition (Condition 15).  
    
SUDS  
     
3.106 SUDS are proposed in the form of a brown roof on the new building; 
permeable paving around the north and west of the new building and an underground 
attenuation tank. In broad terms, the proposals are broadly acceptable, however as 
indicated in the FRA, there may be scope to include measures such as rainwater 
harvesting and ground level soft landscaping measures to be maximised. It is therefore 
considered necessary to attach a condition securing the submission of a revised 
Surface Water Strategy that considers the feasibility of integrating SuDS measures in 
addition to those outlined in the submitted FRA in line with the Drainage Hierarchy 
requirements with the aim of maximising attenuation and reducing surface water run-off 
to the sewer. It is therefore proposed to secure final details, and the implementation of 
the SuDS strategy through condition (Condition 16).  
   
 

Page 107



 

Contaminated land 
               
3.107   Policy 5.21 of the London Plan and Policy CC9 of the LP 2018 states that the 
Council will support the remediation of contaminated land and that it will take measures 
to minimise the potential harm of contaminated sites and ensure that mitigation 
measures are put in place.            
            
3.108   Potentially contaminative land uses, past or present, are understood to occur at, 
or near to, this site. To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, 
controlled waters, or the wider environment during and following the development works 
conditions would be attached covering the assessment and remediation of 
contaminated land if the application were to be approved (Conditions 22-27).   
   
Sustainable Design and Construction: 
         
3.109 As required, a Sustainability Statement has been submitted, as has a 
BREEAM Assessment. The BREEAM assessment shows that the sustainable design 
and construction measures planned for the new building will achieve the "Excellent" 
BREEAM rating. This is adequate to meet the requirements of Local Plan policy DM H2 
and London Plan policy 5.3 on sustainable design and construction. Measures planned 
for the site include measures to reduce energy use and CO2 emissions, reduce use of 
other resources such as water, make use of building materials with low environmental 
impacts, minimise waste and promote recycling. Condition 17 is attached to secure the 
implementation of the sustainability measures as outlined in the Sustainability 
Statement and BREEAM assessment and require submission of a post construction 
BREEAM assessment to confirm that the measures have been implemented as 
required. 
         
Carbon Reduction 
         
3.110 In terms of the submitted Energy Strategy, the London Plan Energy 
Hierarchy has been used to guide the approach to integrating energy efficiency and 
low/zero carbon measures. The new development will include the integration of energy 
efficiency measures, improved air permeability measures to reduce heat loss and also 
energy efficient lighting. Renewable energy generation is planned in the form of solar 
PV panels. The energy assessment shows an improvement of just over 40% in terms of 
CO2 emissions reductions compared to the minimum requirements of the Building 
Regulations 2013. The proposed sustainable energy measures reduce CO2 emissions 
and meet the London Plan target of a 35% reduction in CO2 emissions. The Energy 
Strategy is therefore satisfactory, and its implementation can be conditioned (Condition 
17).  
  
Air Quality  
 
3.111   London Plan Policy 7.14 and Policy CC12 of the LP 2018 seek to reduce the 
potential adverse air quality impacts of new major developments by requiring all major 
developments to provide an air quality assessment that considers the potential impacts 
of pollution from the development on the site and on neighbouring areas and requiring 
mitigation measures to be implemented to reduce emissions where assessments show 
that developments could cause a significant worsening of local air quality or contribute 
to exceedances of the Government's air quality objectives. 
              

Page 108



 

3.112 The Council's Environmental Quality team have considered the proposal and 
have recommended conditions relating to air quality, namely in relation to Air Quality 
Dust Management Plan, Low Emissions Strategy, a Ventilation Strategy, and 
Combustion Plant Emissions (Conditions 18, 19, 20 and 21). 
      
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY 
            
Mayoral CIL  
                
3.113   Mayoral CIL came into effect in April 2012 and is a material consideration to 
which regard must be had when determining this planning application. This 
development will be subject to a London-wide community infrastructure levy. This will 
contribute towards the funding of Crossrail, and further details are available via the GLA 
website at www.london.gov.uk. The GLA expect the council, as the collecting authority, 
to secure the levy in accordance with London Plan policy 8.3. An estimate of £ 
£113,360 plus indexation, based on the additional floorspace has been calculated. 
                
Local CIL: 
                
3.114   The Council's Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge normally levied 
on the net increase in floorspace arising from development to fund infrastructure that is 
needed to support development in the area. The CIL Charging Schedule was presented 
to Council and approved 20 May and has formally taken effect since the 1st September 
2015. Residential care homes (Class C2) developments are exempt from the Council's 
CIL. 
     
Planning obligations 
       
3.115 In dealing with planning proposals, local planning authorities consider each 
on its merits and reach a decision based on whether the application accords with the 
relevant development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Where 
applications do not meet these requirements, they may be refused. However, in some 
instances, it may be possible to make acceptable development proposals which might 
otherwise be unacceptable, using planning conditions or, where this is not possible, 
through planning obligations. London Plan policy 8.2 recognises the role of planning 
obligations in mitigating the effects of development and provides guidance on the 
priorities for obligations in the context of overall scheme viability. 
       
3.116 Site-specific contributions would be included in the S106 agreement and 
would include the following: The heads of terms of the proposed Legal Agreement are 
summarised below: 
   
-   Development to be car permit free, to exclude the occupiers of the care home units 
from obtaining residents' parking permits to park on-street in the controlled parking 
zone.  
 - A S278 agreement for funding towards footway works along the frontage of the 
Development, including the provision for cross-over works including ancillary issues 
such as amendment to the parking bays. 
-        Travel Plan review and monitoring fees (£3000 per review for Year 1, Year 3 and 
Year 5 submissions)  
-  A Jobs, Employment and Business Strategy to be produced and agreed with the 
Council prior to the commencement of the development, a Local Procurement 

Page 109



 

contribution of £3,400 and a financial contribution of £10,500 (employment & skills 
contribution) towards paid work experience, paid apprenticeships and a separate 
contribution towards our local supply chain initiative during the construction of the 
development, including: 
 
- 1 apprentice,  
- 1 paid work placement, 
- 1 unpaid work placement,  
- 10% local labour, and  
- a contribution for the supply chain initiative.  
 
4.0 CONCLUSION  
                
4.1 The design, height and massing of the development would be compatible with the 
surrounding development. The proposed development creates a well-designed scheme 
that would help to secure the long term conservation of the main listed building on the 
site and enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. The 
development has an acceptable impact on neighbouring living conditions. The impact of 
the development subject to conditions would not have a significant impact on the 
highway, parking, flooding or the environment. 
 
4.2      The less than substantial harm to the significance of the listed building overall 
caused by the demolition of the summer house and the juxtaposition of the extension 
building with the main listed building on the site would be outweighed by the public 
benefits arising from the provision of a specialist care facility in the Borough and 
heritage benefits 
 
4.3      The proposal is considered to be in accordance with the NPPF, Planning 
Practice Guide, London Plan policies, the Local Plan, and Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document Key Principles. 
   
5.0     RECOMMENDATION: 
             
5.1     That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director of the Economy 
Department be authorised to determine the application and grant permission upon the 
completion of a satisfactory s106 legal agreement securing the heads of terms 
contained within this report and subject to conditions. 
 
5.2 To authorise that the Strategic Director of The Economy Department in 
consultation with the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development 
Control Committee to make any minor modifications to the proposed conditions or 
heads of terms or any subsequent minor changes arising out of the detailed 
negotiations with the applicant which may necessitate the modification, variation, 
addition or deletion of the conditions as drafted to ensure consistency between the two 
sets of provisions. 

Page 110



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Sands End 
 

Site Address: 
The Castle Centre   Broomhouse Lane  London  SW6 3DP   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2019/00733/LBC 
 
Date Valid: 
28.03.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
15.10.2019 

Case Officer: 
Graham Simpson 
 
Conservation Area: 
Constraint Name: Hurlingham Conservation Area - 
Number 4 

 
  

Page 111

Agenda Item 6



Applicant: 
Ten Wandsworth 
C/O Town Planning Bureau The Barn 43 Oakdene Road Redhill 
RH1 6BT 
 
 
Description: 
Alterations and extensions to the Grade II listed building including the demolition of the 
summer house, erection of a part-one, part-two and part-three storey extension and 
excavation of a partial basement beneath the extension, in connection with the use of 
the site as a 33-bedroom nursing home (Use Class C2) together with the demolition and 
replacement of front and side boundary walls, and re-instatement of a means of access 
to the highway on Daisy Lane. 
Drg Nos: (03)-P-0B0 Rev PO; (03)-P-0G0 Rev P9; (03)-P-0L1 Rev P3;(03)-P-001 Rev 
PL; (03)-P-002 Rev PO; (03)-P-003 Rev PO;(03)-E-001 Rev PL; (03)-E-002 Rev PO; 
(03)-E-003 Rev PO;(03)-E-004 Rev PO; (03)-E-005 Rev PL; (03)-E-006 Rev PL;(03)-X-
001 Rev PO; (03)-X-002 Rev PO; (03)-X-003 Rev PO;(03)-X-004 Rev PO; (90)-E-001 
PL; (90)-E-002 PL;(90)-E-OG0 PL; (90)-E-OG0_R PL; (90)-X-001 PL;(90)-X-002 PL; 
(03)-D-OG0 P4; (03)-D-OG1 P4;(03)-D-OG2 P2; (03)-P-0L2 Rev P5; (03)-P-004 Rev 
P2;(03)-X-005 Rev P3; (03)-X-007 Rev P2 
 
 
Application Type: 
Listed Building Consent 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
 That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission up on the completion of a satisfactory 
legal agreement and subject to the condition(s) listed below  
 
To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the Director of 
Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee to make any 
minor changes to the proposed conditions or heads of terms of the legal agreement, 
any such changes shall be within their discretion. 

 
 
 1) The works hereby granted consent shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date upon which this consent is granted. 
   
 Condition required to be imposed by Section 18(1) (a) of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended by section 91 of the 
Planning and Compensation Act 2004). 

 
 2) The works hereby approved are only those specifically stated in the written 

description and indicated on the approved drawing numbers outlined above. 
    
 In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the building, in 

accordance with Policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
 3) All new works and finishes and works of making good to the retained fabric shall 

match the existing adjacent work with regard to the methods used and to 

Page 112



materials, colour, texture and profile unless shown otherwise on the drawings or 
other documentation hereby approved or required by any condition(s) attached to 
this consent. 

  
 To ensure the protection of the special architectural or historic interest of the 

building in accordance with policy 7.8 (Heritage assets and archaeology) of the 
London Plan (2016) and policies DC1 (Built environment), DC4 (Alterations and 
extensions) and DC8 (Heritage and conservation) of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
 4) Detailed drawings at a scale of not less than 1:20 in plan, section, and elevation of 

the proposed works, including new works and repair and restoration of internal 
spaces within the building (including all rooms and circulation spaces) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council prior to the commencement of 
any works (other than works of site preparation, excavation, and demolition of 
existing buildings). The works shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to occupation of the building and shall thereafter be 
permanently retained. 

  
 In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the building in 

accordance with policy DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
 5) The works, including demolition works, hereby permitted shall not be undertaken 

before a signed building contract for the conversion, refurbishment, repair, 
restoration and extension of the listed building in accordance with this listed 
building consent has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 To ensure that works do not take place prematurely and to safeguard the special 

architectural or historic interest of the listed building and its setting in accordance 
with policy DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 6) A schedule and specification of all internal works including details of 

refurbishment, repairs and restoration of all rooms and circulation spaces within 
the building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the commencement of any works.  The works shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the 
building and shall thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 

building in accordance with policy DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
 7) Details and samples of all new and replacement internal materials, all surface 

finishes and all paint colours including those to be used in works to flooring, walls, 
ceilings, stairs, balustrades, internal light fittings, shall be submitted for the 
Council's approval prior to the commencement of any works (other than works of 
site preparation, excavation, and demolition of existing buildings). The works shall 
be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of 
the building and shall thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the building in 

accordance with policy DC8 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Local Plan 2018. 
 

Page 113



 8) Details including detailed drawings at a scale of not less than 1:20 in plan, section 
and elevation and material samples (where necessary) of all internal mechanical 
and electrical servicing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council prior to commencement of any works (other than works of site preparation, 
excavation, and demolition of existing buildings).  The works shall be implemented 
in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the building and 
shall thereafter permanently retained. 

  
 In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the building in 

accordance with policy DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
 9) Prior to the relevant part of the works commencing, a method Statement for the 

protection of internal and external architectural details and historic building fabric 
during the works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.  The 
works shall be implemented in accordance with approved details and the 
protection methods shall be retained for the duration of the demolition and 
construction works. 

  
 In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the building in 

accordance with policy DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
  
 
10) Detailed drawings at a scale of not less than 1:20 in plan, section and elevation of 

all new and replacement windows and doors and details of materials, frame and 
glazing bar profiles, opening style, subdivision (including window model samples 
and samples of glass) and of any secondary glazing (including details of opening 
style and sub-division) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA 
prior to the commencement of any works. The works shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the building and 
shall thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the building in 

accordance with policy DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
11) Prior to the commencement of the works hereby approved an internal and external 

photographic survey of the property including the summer house and boundary 
treatment (incorporating a master plan showing the location of each photograph) 
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council and a copy of the 
approved photographic survey shall be deposited with the Borough Archives. 

  
 To ensure that the special interest of this listed building is recorded, in accordance 

with policy 7.8 (Heritage assets and archaeology) of the London Plan (2016) and 
Policies DC1 (Built environment), DC4 (Alterations and extensions) and DC8 
(Heritage and conservation) of the Hammersmith and Fulham Local Plan (2018). 

 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 1) The proposals would cause harm less than substantial harm to the significance of 

the listed building and its setting, which would be outweighed by public benefits, in 
this respect the proposal complies with Policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local 
Plan 2018. 

 

Page 114



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 11th March 2019 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  
2018 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
Historic England London Region 10.04.19 

 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 

19 daisy lane London SW6 3DD   17.05.19 
8 Daisy Lane London SW6 3DD   03.06.19 
13 Daisy Lane London SW6 3DD   03.06.19 
19 daisy lane London SW6 3DD   17.05.19 
75 Cowcross Street London EC1M 6EJ   24.04.19 
14 daisy lane London sw6 3dd   26.04.19 
 
 
Refer to report for application ref. 2019/00733/FUL for details. 
 
 
 

Page 115



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward: Hammersmith Broadway 
 
Site Address: 
West London Magistrates Court 181 Talgarth Road London W6 
8DN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 116

Agenda Item 7



Proposed Development : Ground Floor Plan 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HOTEL 1 

HOTEL 2 

Page 117



Reg. No: 
2019/00195/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
25.01.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
15.10.2019 

Case Officer: 
John Sanchez 
 
Conservation Area: 
 

 
Applicant: 
Dominvs Project Company 9 LTD (C/O Agent) 
 
Description: 
Redevelopment and erection of two buildings, ranging from 6 to 23 storeys and 
incorporating a basement level; comprising hotel uses (Use Class C1) with ancillary 
restaurants, roof top bar, conferencing/community facilities; office use (Use Class 
B1(a); ancillary roof top plant; servicing; cycle parking; creation of a new garden 
square; wider landscaping improvements and enabling works. 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 23rd January 2018 
 
Drawing Nos:   See Condition 2 below 
 
Policy documents:  National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 
The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document 2018 
 
 
Consultation Comments: 
Comments from:         Dated: 
 
Department For Communities And Local Government   31/01/2019 
Greater London Authority – Planning Decisions Unit   18/03/2019 
Transport for London (TfL)       20/02/2019 
London Underground Limited      06/02/2019 
Historic England London Region      15/02/2019 
Historic England London Region      19/07/2019 
Environment Agency – Planning Liaison     11/02/2019 
Thames Water – Development Control     15/02/2019 

Page 118



Civil Aviation Authority       05/02/2019 
Hammersmith and Fulham Disability Forum Planning Group  20/02/2019 
Hammersmith Society       20/03/2019 
Hammersmith Society       29/09/2019 
Hammersmith & Fulham Historic Buildings Group   15/04/2019 
Hammersmith & Fulham Historic Buildings Group   15/07/2019 
Friends of Margravine Cemetery      22/03/2019 
Friends of Margravine Cemetery      29/07/2019 
Margravine Gardens & St Dunstan’s Road Residents Association 13/03/2019 
Margravine Gardens & St Dunstan’s Road Residents Association 30/07/2019 
Land Securities (Hotels) Limited, 100 Victoria Street SW1E 5JL 15/03/2019 
Land Securities (Hotels) Limited,100 Victoria Street SW1E 5JL 01/08/2019 
 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
Letters from:         Dated: 
 
1 Adie Road London W6 0PW      29/01/2019 
75 Brook Green London W6 7BE      30/01/2019 
71 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RN    01/03/2019 
58 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RJ     02/02/2019 
39 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RN    02/02/2019 
93 Yeldham Road London W6 8JQ     03/02/2019 
2 Gastein Road London W6 8LU      03/02/2019 
55 Biscay Road London W6 8JW      03/02/2019 
71 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RN    05/02/2019 
86 Yeldham Road London W6 8JG     07/02/2019 
56 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RJ     12/02/2019 
79 Yeldham Road London W6 8JG     14/02/2019 
90 Yeldham Road Hammersmith W6 8JQ    15/02/2019 
70 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RJ     15/02/2019 
62 Barons Court Road London W14 9DU    16/02/2019 
59 Margravine Gardens Barons Court W6 8RN    16/02/2019 
86 Yeldham Road London W6 8JG     20/02/2019 
86 Yeldham Road London W6 8JG     20/02/2019 
95 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8JU     23/02/2019 
36 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RB     03/03/2019 
98 Yeldham Road W6 8JG       04/03/2019 
84 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RJ     08/03/2019 
84 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RJ     10/03/2019 
59 Clancarty Road Fulham  SW6 3AH     12/03/2019 
52 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RJ     12/03/2019 
41 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RN    12/03/2019 
First Floor Flat 50 Charleville Road London W14 9JH   13/03/2019 
55 St Dunstan's Road London W6 8RE     13/03/2019 
20 Balmoral House 45 Windsor Way London W4 0UE   13/03/2019 
87 St Dunstan's Road, London W6 8RE     13/03/2019 
95 Gloucester Terrace London W2 3HB     13/03/2019 
54 St. Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RA     13/03/2019 
7 St Andrews Road London W14 9SX     13/03/2019 

Page 119



3 Palliser Road London W14 9EB      13/03/2019 
53 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RN    13/03/2019 
35 Baron’s Court Road London W14 9DZ    14/03/2019 
55 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RE     14/03/2019 
57 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RE     15/03/2019 
57 Beryl Road London W6 8JS      15/03/2019 
59 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RE     15/03/2019 
45 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RN    15/03/2019 
19 Palliser Road London W14 9EB     17/03/2019 
6 Kinnoul Road London W6 8NQ      22/03/2019 
135 Talgarth Road London W14 9DA     22/03/2019 
40 St Dunstan's Road London W6 8RB     22/03/2019 
62B Barons Court Road London W14 9DU    23/03/2019 
19 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RL    24/03/2019 
70 Biscay Road London W6 8JN      24/03/2019 
70 Biscay Road London W6 8JN      24/03/2019 
13 Colet Gardens London W14 9DH     25/03/2019 
45 Lily Close West Kensington London W14 9YA   25/03/2019 
13 Colet Gardens London W14 9DH     27/03/2019 
72 Yeldham Road, London W6 8JG     28/03/2019 
76 Yeldham Road London W6 8JG     29/03/2019 
69 Biscay Road London W6 8JW      30/03/2019 
77 Lily Close St Paul's Court London W14 9YB    31/03/2019 
St Paul's Court Colet Gardens London W14    01/04/2019 
23 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY     03/04/2019 
45 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RE     03/04/2019 
135 Talgarth Road London  W14 9DA     03/04/2019 
NAG          03/04/2019 
45 St Dunstan’s Road Hammersmith London W6 8RE   04/04/2019 
45 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RE     04/04/2019 
28c Gledstanes Road West Kensington London W14 9HU  04/04/2019 
15 Palliser Court Palliser Road London W14 9ED   04/04/2019 
15 Palliser Court Palliser Road London W14 9ED   04/04/2019 
Trollope Estates Ltd. Palliser Court W14     04/04/2019 
19 Beryl Road London W6 8JS      04/04/2019 
2 Margravine Gardens Barons Court London W6 8RH   04/04/2019 
82 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RJ     04/04/2019 
7 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RD     04/04/2019 
86 Biscay Road London W6 8JN      04/04/2019 
98 Yeldham Road London W6 8JG     04/04/2019 
28C Gledstanes Road, West Kensington London W14 9HU  04/04/2019 
18 Lily Close London W14 9YA      05/04/2019 
17 Perham Road, London W14 9SR     06/04/2019 
17 Perham Road, London W14 9SR     08/04/2019 
26 Gledstanes Road London W14 9HU     11/04/2019 
32 Vereker Road London W14 9JS     11/04/2019 
73 Beryl Road W6 8JS       12/04/2019 
16 Beryl Road, London W6 8JT      12/04/2019 
73 Beryl Road W6 8JS       12/04/2019 
16 Beryl Road, London W6 8JT      12/04/2019 

Page 120



62 Yeldham Road W6 8JG       13/04/2019 
62 Yeldham Road W6 8JG       13/04/2019 
58 Margravine Gardens W6 8RJ      14/04/2019 
66 Biscay Road Hammersmith W6 8JN     14/04/2019 
58 Margravine Gardens W6 8RJ      14/04/2019 
40 Yeldham Road W6 8JE       15/04/2019 
93 Yeldham Road W6 8JQ       15/04/2019 
48 Margravine Gardens W6 8RJ      15/04/2019 
91 Biscay Road W6 8JS       16/04/2019 
48 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RJ     16/04/2019 
68 Biscay Road W6 8JN       17/04/2019 
13 Yeldham Road W6 8JF       17/04/2019 
59 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RE     18/04/2019 
59 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RE     18/04/2019 
63 Yeldham Road W6 8JQ       25/04/2019 
66 Yeldham Road London W6 8JG     27/04/2019 
63 Yeldham Road W6 8JQ       10/05/2019 
2 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RB     16/05/2019 
72 Biscay Road, W6 8JN       18/06/2019 
72 Biscay Road London W6 8JN      03/07/2019 
68 Margravine Gardens W6 8RJ      05/07/2019 
84 Margravine Gardens London      05/07/2019 
2 Gastein Road London W6 8LU      05/07/2019 
58 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RJ     05/07/2019 
62 Barons Court Road London W14 9DU    05/07/2019 
62 Barons Court Road London W14 9DU    06/07/2019 
Ground floor 84 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RJ   06/07/2019 
45 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RB     07/07/2019 
15 St Dunstan's Road London W6 8RD     08/07/2019 
39 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RN    08/07/2019 
32 Vereker Road London W14 9JS     10/07/2019 
23 Fitzgeorge Avenue London W14 0SY     10/07/2019 
70 Biscay Road London W6 8JN      11/07/2019 
LAMDA 155 Talgarth Road London W14 9DA    26/07/2019 
45 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RE     28/07/2019 
First floor flat, 50 Charleville Road. W14 9JH    28/07/2019 
86 Yeldham Road London W6 8JG     29/07/2019 
86 Yeldham Road London W6 8JG     29/07/2019 
13 Tasso Road London W6 8LY      29/07/2019 
53 Margravine Gardens  London W6 8RN    29/07/2019 
56 Yeldham Road London W6 8JG     29/07/2019 
93 Yeldham Road London W6 8JQ     29/07/2019 
54 St Dunstan’s Road London W6 8RA     30/07/2019 
45 Lily Close West Kensington London W14 9YA   31/07/2019 
NAG          01/08/2019 
West London College, Gliddon Road W14 9BL    03/08/2019 
West London College, Gliddon Road W14 9BL    03/08/2019 
West London Business c/o The Workary 1 Dukes Avenue W4 2AB 05/08/2019 
62 Barons Court Road London W14 9DU    23/09/2019 
33A Talgarth Road W14 9DB      25/09/2019 

Page 121



16 Somer Court Anselm Road SW6 1LJ     25/09/2019 
19 Charleville Mansions, Charleville Road W14 9JA   25/09/2019 
19 Charleville Mansions, Charleville Road W14 9JA   25/09/2019 
6 Lerry Close London W14 9UZ      25/09/2019 
41 Mall Road London W6 9DG      26/09/2019 
28C Gledstanes Road, West Kensington London W14 9HU  26/09/2019 
Flat 1 London        26/09/2019 
11 Pellant Road London SW6 7NF     26/09/2019 
147 Hammersmith Grove London W6 0NJ    26/09/2019 
55 Hammersmith Grove London W6 0NE    27/09/2019 
 
 
  

Page 122



Officer Recommendation: 

1) Subject to there being no contrary direction from the Mayor of London that the 
Committee resolve that the Strategic Director for The Economy be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission upon the completion of a satisfactory 
legal agreement and subject to the conditions listed below; and 

2) To authorise the Strategic Director for The Economy after consultation with 
the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control 
Committee to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions or heads of terms 
of the legal agreement, any such changes shall be within their discretion. 

 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 
1. Time Limit 
 
The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than 3 years from the 
date of this decision 
 
Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1) (a) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 
 
2. Approved Drawings  
 
The development shall be carried out and completed in accordance with the 
following approved drawing numbers: 
 
1470 A-000 000/P1; 1470 A-120 000/P1; 1470 A-120 099/P2; 1470 A-120 100/P2; 
1470 A-100 101/P2; 1470 A-100 102/P2; 1470 A-100 103/P2; 1470 A-100 104/P2; 
1470 A-100 105/P2; 1470 A-100 106/P2; 1470 A-100 107/P2; 1470 A-100 108/P2; 
1470 A-100 109/P2; 1470 A-100 110/P2; 1470 A-100 111/P2; 1470 A-100 112/P2; 
1470 A-100 113/P2; 1470 A-100 114/P2; 1470 A-100 115/P3; 1470 A-100 116/P3; 
1470 A-100 117/P3; 1470 A-100 118/P3;  470 A-100 119/P3; 1470 A-100 120/P3; 
1470 A-100 121/P3; 1470 A-110 001/P3; 1470 A-110 002/P3; 1470 A-110 003/P3; 
1470 A-110 004/P3; 1470 A-120 001/P3; 1470 A-120 002/P3; 1470 A-120 003/P2; 
1470 A-120 004/P3 and 1470 A-120 005/P3. 
 
To ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved and to 
prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in accordance with 
Policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 7.7, 7.8, 7.9 and 7.21 of the London Plan (2016) 
and Policies DC1, DC2, DC3, DC7 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



3. Community Liaison Group 
 
No development shall commence until the establishment of a Community Liaison 
Group, to be maintained for the duration of the demolition and construction works 
hereby approved, having the purpose of:   
   
(i) informing nearby residents and businesses of the building programme and 
progress of demolition and construction works for the development;   
 
(ii) informing nearby residents and businesses of appropriate mitigation measures 
being undertaken as part of each phase of the development;   
 
(iii) informing nearby residents and businesses of considerate methods of working 
such as working hours and site traffic;   
 
(iv) providing advanced notice of exceptional hours of work, if and when appropriate;   
 
(v) providing nearby residents and businesses with an initial contact for information 
relating to the works and procedures for receiving/responding to comments or 
complaints regarding the development with the view of resolving any concerns that 
might arise;   
 
(vi) providing telephone contacts for nearby residents and businesses 24 hours daily 
throughout the works for the development; and   
 
(vii) producing a leaflet prior to the commencement of the development for 
distribution to nearby residents and businesses, identifying progress of the 
development and which shall include an invitation to register an interest in the 
Liaison Group.   
 
The terms of reference for the Community Liaison Group shall be submitted to the 
Council for approval prior to commencement of any works on site. The Community 
Liaison Group shall meet at least once every quarter until completion of the 
development.   
 
To ensure satisfactory communication with residents, businesses, and local 
stakeholders throughout the demolition and construction of the development, in 
accordance with the Policies CC10, CC11, CC12, CC13, DC2, and T7 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 
 
4. Hoardings 
 
No development shall commence until a scheme for temporary fencing and/or 
enclosure of the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, and the temporary fencing and/or enclosure has been erected in 
accordance with the approved details. The temporary fencing and/or enclosure shall 
thereafter be retained for the duration of the demolition and building works in 
accordance with the approved details. No part of the temporary fencing and/or 
enclosure of the site shall be used for the display of advertisement hoardings. 
 

Page 124



To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to surrounding 
residential occupiers, the street scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 
7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan (2016), policy DC1,DC8 and CC12 of the Local Plan 
(2018) and Key Principles of the Planning Guidance SPD (2018). 
 
5. Infrastructure Protection – London Underground  
 
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted (excluding site 
clearance and demolition works), a detailed design and method statement (in 
consultation with London Underground) for the foundations, basement and ground 
floor structures, or for any other structures below ground level, including piling 
(temporary and permanent), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority in consultation with London Underground which: 
  
• provide details on all structures; 
• provide details on the use of tall plant/scaffolding; 
• demonstrate that there will at no time be any potential security risk to the railway, 

property or structures; 
• accommodate the location of the existing London Underground structures and 

tunnels; 
• accommodate ground movement arising from the construction thereof; 
• mitigate the effects of noise and vibration arising from the adjoining operations 

within the structures. 
 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in all respects in accordance with 
the approved design and method statements, and all structures and works 
comprised within the development hereby permitted which are required by the 
approved design statements in order to procure the matters mentioned in 
paragraphs of this condition shall be completed, in their entirety, before any part of 
the development hereby permitted is occupied.  
 
To ensure that the development does not impact on existing London Underground 
transport infrastructure, in accordance with London Plan (2016) Table 6.1, draft 
London Plan policy T3 and ‘Land for Industry and Transport’ Supplementary 
Planning Guidance 2012. 
 
6. Demolition Management Plan  
 
Prior to the commencement of the demolition works hereby permitted, a Demolition 
Management Plan (DMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The DMP shall include details location of site offices, ancillary 
buildings, plant, wheel-washing facilities, stacking bays and car parking, storage of 
any skips, oil and chemical storage, membership of the Considerate Contractors 
Scheme, delivery locations and the proposed control measures and monitoring for 
noise, vibration, lighting, restriction of hours of work and all associated activities 
audible beyond the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs Mondays to Fridays and 0800-
1300hrs on Saturdays, advance notification to neighbours and other interested 
parties of proposed works and public display of contact details including accessible 
phone contact to persons responsible for the site works for the duration of the works. 
The details shall also include the use of on road Ultra Low Emission Zone compliant 

Page 125



Vehicles e.g. Euro 6 and Euro VI; provisions within the site to ensure that all vehicles 
associated with the demolition works are properly washed and cleaned to prevent 
the passage of mud and dirt onto the highway. Approved details shall be 
implemented throughout the relevant project period 
 
To ensure that occupiers of surrounding premises are not adversely affected by 
noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from the building site in accordance 
with policies 5.18, 5.19, 5.20, 5.21, 5.22 and 7.14 of the London Plan (2016) and 
Policies DC1, DC2, CC6, CC7, CC10, CC11, and CC12 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
7. Demolition Logistics Plan  
 
Prior to the commencement of the demolition works hereby permitted, a Demolition 
Logistics Plan (DLP) in accordance with the Transport for London Guidance shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works 
shall cover the following minimum requirements: 
• Site logistics and Operations; 
• Demolition vehicle routing; 
• Details of the estimated number, size and routes of demolition vehicles per 

day/week; 
• Details of the use of Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant Vehicles e.g. 

Euro 6 and Euro VI; 
• Details of the access arrangements and delivery locations on the site;    
• Details of any vehicle holding areas; and other matters relating to traffic 

management to be agreed as required; 
• Efficiency and sustainability measures to be undertaken for the works; and   

Membership of the Considerate Contractors Scheme. 
 
Approved details shall be implemented throughout the demolition period.  
 
To ensure that occupiers of surrounding premises are not adversely affected by 
noise, vibration, dust, lighting, or other emissions from the building site in  
accordance with Policies 6.11 and 6.12 of the London Plan (2016) and T1, T6 and 
T7 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
8. Construction Management Plan 
 
Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted (excluding site 
clearance and demolition works), a Construction Management Plan (CMP) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMP shall 
include a detailed plan showing phasing; relevant foundations, basement and ground 
floor structures, or for any other structures below ground level, including piling 
(temporary and permanent), contractors' method statements, waste classification 
and disposal procedures and locations, location of site offices, ancillary buildings, 
plant, wheel-washing facilities, stacking bays and car parking , details of storage and 
any skips, oil and chemical storage, membership of the Considerate Contractors 
Scheme, delivery locations and the proposed control measures and monitoring for 
noise, vibration, lighting, restriction of hours of work and all associated activities 
audible beyond the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs Mondays to Fridays and 0800-
1300hrs on Saturdays, advance notification to neighbours and other interested 

Page 126



parties of proposed works and public display of contact details including accessible 
phone contact to persons responsible for the site works for the duration of the works. 
The details shall include for each phase of works the use of on -road Ultra Low 
Emission Zone compliant Vehicles e.g. Euro 6 and Euro VI; provisions within the site 
to ensure that all vehicles associated with the construction works are properly 
washed and cleaned to prevent the passage of mud and dirt onto the highway. The 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the relevant approved CMP unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Approved details shall 
be implemented throughout the project period. 
 
To ensure that occupiers of surrounding premises are not adversely affected by 
noise, vibration, dust, lighting, or other emissions from the building site in 
accordance with policies 5.18, 5.19, 5.20, 5.21 and 5.22 of the London Plan (2016), 
Policies DC1, DC12, CC6, CC7, CC10, CC11 and CC12 of the Local Plan (2018) 
and Key Principles of the Planning Guidance SPD (2018). 
 
9. Construction Logistics Plan 
 
Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted (excluding site 
clearance and demolition works), a Construction Logistics Plan shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The method statement 
/construction management plan should include the details for all the relevant 
foundations, basement and ground floor structures, or for any other structures below 
ground level, including piling (temporary and permanent). The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the relevant approved Construction Logistics 
Management Plan unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 
Each Construction Logistics Plan shall cover the following minimum requirements: 
 
• Site logistics and operations; 
• Construction vehicle routing; 
• Contact details for site managers and details of management lines of reporting; 
• Detailed plan showing phasing; 
• Location of site offices, ancillary buildings, plant, wheel-washing facilities, 

stacking bays and car parking; 
• Storage of any skips, oil and chemical storage etc.; and 
• Access and egress points; 
• Membership of the Considerate Contractors Scheme. 
 
To ensure that appropriate steps are taken to limit the impact of the proposed 
construction works on the operation of the public highway, the amenities of residents 
and the area generally in accordance with Policies 6.11 and 6.12 of the London Plan 
(2016) and T1, T6 and T7 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
10. Archaeology (GLAAS) 
 
Prior to commencement of the development (excluding site clearance and demolition 
works), a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No development shall take place other 

Page 127



than in accordance with the agreed WSI, which shall include the statement of 
significance and research objectives, and 
 
a) The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording and the 
nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the agreed works. 
 
b) The programme for post-investigation assessment and subsequent analysis, 
publication & dissemination, and deposition of resulting material. this part of the 
condition shall not be discharged until these elements have been fulfilled in 
accordance with the programme set out in the WSI. 
 
Heritage assets of archaeological interest may survive on the site. The Local 
Planning Authority wishes to secure the provision of appropriate archaeological 
investigation, including the publication of results, in accordance with Section 12 of 
the NPPF, Policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2016), Policies DC1, DC8 of the Local 
Plan (2018) and key principles within the Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (2018). 
 
11. Contamination: Preliminary Risk Assessment 
 
No development shall commence until a preliminary risk assessment report is 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This report 
shall comprise: a desktop study which identifies all current and previous uses at the 
site and surrounding area as well as the potential contaminants associated with 
those uses; a site reconnaissance; and a conceptual model indicating potential 
pollutant linkages between sources, pathways and receptors, including those in the 
surrounding area and those planned at the site; and a qualitative risk assessment of 
any potentially unacceptable risks arising from the identified pollutant linkages to 
human health, controlled waters and the wider environment including ecological 
receptors and building materials. All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for 
sampling and testing. 
 
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or 
near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are 
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following 
the development works, in accordance with in accordance with Policies CC9 and 
CC13 of the Local Plan (2018) and SPD Key Principles LC1 to LC7 (2018). 
 
12. Contamination: Site Investigation Scheme 
 
No development shall commence within the development until a site investigation 
scheme is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This 
scheme shall be based upon and target the risks identified in the approved 
preliminary risk assessment and shall provide provisions for, where relevant, the 
sampling of soil, soil vapour, ground gas, surface, and groundwater. All works must 
be carried out in compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 
11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or 
the current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 

Page 128



Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or 
near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are 
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following 
the development works, in accordance with Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local 
Plan (2018) and SPD Key Principles LC1 to LC7 (2018). 
 
13. Contamination: Quantitative Risk Assessment Report 
 
Unless the Local Planning Authority agree in writing that a set extent of development 
must commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, a site investigation undertaken in compliance with the approved site 
investigation scheme, a quantitative risk assessment report is submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This report shall: assess the 
degree and nature of any contamination identified on the site through the site 
investigation; include a revised conceptual site model from the preliminary risk 
assessment based on the information gathered through the site investigation to 
confirm the existence of any remaining pollutant linkages and determine the risks 
posed by any contamination to human health, controlled waters and the wider 
environment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent 
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 
 
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or 
near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are 
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following 
the development works, in accordance with Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local 
Plan (2018) and SPD Key Principles LC1 to LC7 (2018). 
 
14. Contamination: Remediation Method Statement  
 
Unless the Local Planning Authority agree in writing that a set extent of development 
must commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, a remediation method statement is submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. This statement shall detail any required 
remediation works and shall be designed to mitigate any remaining risks identified in 
the approved quantitative risk assessment. All works must be carried out in 
compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current 
UK requirements for sampling and testing. 
 
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or 
near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are 
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following 
the development works, in accordance with Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local 
Plan (2018) and SPD Key Principles LC1 to LC7 (2018). 
 
15. Contamination: Verification Report 
 
Unless the Local Planning Authority agree in writing that a set extent of development 
must commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 

Page 129



commence until the approved method statement has been carried out in full and a 
verification report confirming these works has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority. This report shall include: details of the 
remediation works carried out; results of any verification sampling, testing or 
monitoring including the analysis of any imported soil; all waste management 
documentation showing the classification of waste, its treatment, movement and 
disposal; and the validation of gas membrane placement. If, during development, 
contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site, the Local 
Planning Authority is to be informed immediately and no further development (unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until 
a report indicating the nature of the contamination and how it is to be dealt with is 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Any required 
remediation shall be detailed in an amendment to the remediation statement and 
verification of these works included in the verification report. All works must be 
carried out in compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: 
Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the 
current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 
 
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or 
near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are 
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following 
the development works, in accordance with Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local 
Plan (2018) and SPD Key Principles LC1 to LC7 (2018). 
 
16. Contamination: Onward Long-Term Monitoring Methodology 
 
Unless the Local Planning Authority agree in writing that a set extent of development 
must commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development (except 
Enabling Works) shall commence until an onward long-term monitoring methodology 
report is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority where 
further monitoring is required past the completion of development works to verify the 
success of the remediation undertaken. A verification report of these monitoring 
works shall then be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority when it may be demonstrated that no residual adverse risks exist. All works 
must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to 
CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) 
or the current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 
 
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or 
near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are 
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following 
the development works, in accordance with Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local 
Plan (2018) and SPD Key Principles LC1 to LC7 (2018). 
 
17. Piling Method Statement  
 
No impact piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the type of 
piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling would be carried 
out including measures to prevent and minimise the potential for damage to 
subsurface water or sewerage infrastructure, and the programme for the works) has 

Page 130



been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in 
consultation with the relevant water or sewerage undertaker. Any piling must be 
undertaken in accordance with the terms of the approved piling method statement.  
 
To prevent any potential to impact on local underground water and sewerage utility 
infrastructure, in accordance with Policies 5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan (2016), 
Policies CC3 CC5 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the Planning 
Guidance SPD 2018. The applicant is advised to contact Thames Water Developer 
Services on 0845 850 2777 to discuss the details of the piling method statement. 
 
18. Air Quality Dust Management Plan (Demolition) 
 
Prior to the commencement of the demolition phase of the development hereby 
permitted, an Air Quality Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) in order to mitigate air 
pollution shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The AQDMP must include an Air Quality Dust Risk Assessment (AQDRA) 
that considers sensitive receptors off-site of the development and is undertaken in 
compliance with the methodology contained within Chapter 4 of the Mayor of London 
‘The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition’, SPG, July 
2014 and the identified measures recommended for inclusion into the AQDMP. The 
AQDMP submitted must comply with the Mayor’s SPG and should include: Inventory 
and Timetable of dust generating activities during demolition; Site Specific Dust 
mitigation and Emission control measures in the table format as contained within 
Appendix 7 of Mayor’s SPG including for on-road and off-road construction traffic; 
Detailed list of Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) used on the site. The NRMM 
should meet as minimum the Stage IV emission criteria of Directive 97/68/EC and its 
subsequent amendments. This will apply to both variable and constant speed 
engines for both NOx and PM. An inventory of all NRMM for the first phase of 
demolition shall be registered on the NRMM register https://nrmm.london/user-
nrmm/register prior to commencement of demolition works and thereafter retained 
and maintained until occupation of the development; use of on-road Ultra Low 
Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant vehicles in accordance with the emission hierarchy 
(1) Electric (2) Hybrid (Electric-Petrol) (3) Petrol, (4) Hybrid (Electric-Diesel) (5) 
Diesel (Euro 6 and Euro VI); Details of MCERTS compliant monitoring of Particulates 
(PM10) used to prevent levels exceeding predetermined PM10 threshold trigger 
levels. Developers must ensure that on-site contractors follow best practicable 
means to minimise dust, particulates (PM10, PM2.5) and NOx emissions at all times. 
Approved details shall be fully implemented and permanently retained and 
maintained during the demolition phases of the development. 
 
To comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 7.14a-c of the London Plan 
(2016) and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
19. Air Quality Dust Management Plan (Construction) 
 
Prior to the commencement of the construction phase of the development hereby 
permitted, an Air Quality Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) in order to mitigate air 
pollution shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The AQDMP must include an Air Quality Dust Risk Assessment (AQDRA) 
that considers sensitive receptors off-site of the development and is undertaken in 

Page 131



compliance with the methodology contained within Chapter 4 of the Mayor of London 
‘The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition’, SPG, July 
2014 and the identified measures recommended for inclusion into the AQDMP. The 
AQDMP submitted must comply with the Mayor’s SPG and should include: Inventory 
and Timetable of dust generating activities during construction; Site Specific Dust 
mitigation and Emission control measures in the table format as contained within 
Appendix 7 of Mayor’s SPG including for on-road and off-road construction traffic; 
Detailed list of Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) used on the site. The NRMM 
should meet as minimum the Stage IV emission criteria of Directive 97/68/EC and its 
subsequent amendments. This will apply to both variable and constant speed 
engines for both NOx and PM. An inventory of all NRMM for the first phase of 
construction shall be registered on the NRMM register https://nrmm.london/user-
nrmm/register prior to commencement of construction works and thereafter retained 
and maintained until occupation of the development; use of on-road Ultra Low 
Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant vehicles in accordance with the emission hierarchy 
(1) Electric (2) Hybrid (Electric-Petrol) (3) Petrol, (4) Hybrid (Electric-Diesel) (5) 
Diesel (Euro 6 and Euro VI); Details of MCERTS compliant monitoring of Particulates 
(PM10) used to prevent levels exceeding predetermined PM10 threshold trigger 
levels. Developers must ensure that on-site contractors follow best practicable 
means to minimise dust, particulates (PM10, PM2.5) and NOx emissions at all times. 
Approved details shall be fully implemented and permanently retained and 
maintained during the construction phases of the development. 
 
To comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 7.14a-c of the London Plan 
(2016) and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
20. Combustion Plant compliance with Emission Standards  
 
Prior to the first occupation of each Hotel, a report with details of the combustion 
plant in order to mitigate air pollution shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The report shall include the following: 
 
a) Details to demonstrate that the termination height of the shared Flue stack for 

the combustion Plant has been installed a minimum of 2 metres above any 
openable window and/or roof level amenity area  

 
b) Details of emissions certificates, and the results of NOx emissions testing of 

each CHP unit, Ultra Low NOx gas boiler and Emergency Diesel Generator 
Plant to demonstrate that all the CHP Plant, Ultra Low NOx Gas fired boilers, 
Emergency Diesel Generator Plant and associated abatement technologies 
shall meet a minimum dry NOx emissions standard of 25 mg/Nm-3 (at 5% 
O2), 30 mg/kWh (at 0% O2) and 95 mg/Nm-3 (at 5% O2) respectively by an 
accredited laboratory shall be provided following installation and thereafter on 
an annual basis to verify compliance of the relevant emissions standards in 
part b). Where any combustion plant does not meet the relevant emissions 
Standards in part b) above, it should not be operated without the fitting of 
suitable secondary NOx abatement Equipment or technology as determined 
by a specialist to ensure comparable emissions. 

 

Page 132



c) Details to demonstrate where secondary abatement is used for the 
Emergency Diesel Generator the relevant emissions standard in part b) is met 
within 5 minutes of the generator commencing operation. During the operation 
of the emergency Diesel generators there must be no persistent visible 
emission. The maintenance and cleaning of the systems shall be undertaken 
regularly in accordance with manufacturer specifications. The diesel fuelled 
generators shall only be used for a maximum of 48 hours when there is a 
sustained interruption in the mains power supply to the site, and the testing of 
these diesel generators shall not exceed a maximum of 12 hours per calendar 
year.  

 
Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the 
development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 
 
To comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 7.14a-c of the London Plan 
(2016), and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
21. Ventilation Strategy 
 
Prior to completion of the above ground core structure works in the development 
hereby permitted, a Ventilation Strategy report in order to mitigate air pollution shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Ventilation Strategy report should include the following information: 
 
a) Details and locations of the air intake locations at rear roof level of the 

buildings. 
b) Details and locations of ventilation extracts, chimney/boiler flues, to 

demonstrate that they are located a minimum of 2 metres away from the fresh 
air ventilation intakes, openable windows, balconies, roof gardens, terraces; 

c) If a part (a) is not implemented details of the independently tested mechanical 
ventilation system with Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and Particulate Matter (PM2.5, 
PM10) filtration with air intakes on the rear elevations to remove airborne 
pollutants. The filtration system shall have a minimum efficiency of 75% in the 
removal of Nitrogen Oxides/Dioxides, Particulate Matter (PM2.5, PM10) in 
accordance with BS EN ISO 10121-1:2014 and BS EN ISO 16890:2016; 

 
The whole system shall be designed to prevent summer overheating and minimise 
energy usage. The maintenance and cleaning of the systems shall be undertaken 
regularly in accordance with manufacturer specifications and shall be the 
responsibility of the primary owner of the property. Approved details shall be fully 
implemented prior to the occupation/use of the development and thereafter 
permanently retained and maintained  
 
To comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 7.14a-c of the London Plan 
(2016) and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
22. Ventilation Strategy (post occupation)  
 
Prior to occupation of each hotel hereby permitted, details of a post installation report 
of the approved ventilation strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

Page 133



the Local Planning Authority. Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the 
occupation/use of the development and thereafter permanently retained and 
maintained. 
 
To comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 7.14a-c of the London Plan 
(2016) and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
23. Ultra-Low Emissions Strategy  
 
Prior to occupation of each hotel hereby permitted, a Ultra Low Emission Strategy 
(ULES) for the operational phase of the development in order to mitigate the impact 
of air pollution shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The ULES must detail the remedial action and mitigation measures that 
will be implemented to protect receptors (e.g. design solutions). This Strategy must 
make a commitment to implement the mitigation measures that are required to 
reduce the exposure of poor air quality and to help mitigate the development's air 
pollution impacts, in particular the emissions of NOx and particulates from on-road 
vehicle transport by the use of Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant Vehicles 
in accordance with the emissions hierarchy (1) Cargo bike (2) Electric Vehicle, (3) 
Hybrid (non-plug in) Electric Vehicle (HEV), (4) Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle 
(PHEV), (5) Alternative Fuel e.g. CNG, LPG. A monitoring report of the 
implementation of the ULES shall be submitted on annual basis to the LPA. 
Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the 
development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 
 
To comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 7.14a-c of the London Plan 
(2016), and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
24. Open Space Green Infrastructure 
 
Prior to the occupation of each hotel hereby permitted, details of the construction of 
green infrastructure (including details of planting species and maintenance) in order 
to mitigate air pollution for public and private amenity areas on the site boundaries 
with Talgarth Road (A4) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The green infrastructure shall be constructed and planted in full 
accordance with the ‘Using Green Infrastructure to Protect People from Air Pollution’, 
Mayor of London, GLA, April 2019 guidance document within the first available 
planting season following completion of the development. Any plants which die, are 
removed, become seriously damaged and diseased within a period of five years from 
completion of the development shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of similar size and species. Approved details shall be fully implemented prior 
to the occupation/use of the development and thereafter permanently retained and 
maintained. 
 
To comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 7.14a-c of the London Plan 
(2016), and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
 
 
 

Page 134



25. Flood Risk Assessment 
 
The Flood Risk Assessment (Version 5.0 / March 2019) shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details, and thereafter all approved measures shall be 
retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter 
be permanently retained in this form.  
 
To reduce the impact of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants, 
in accordance with Policies 5.11, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 London Plan (2016), Policies 
CC3 and CC5 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the Planning Guidance 
SPD (2018). 
 
26. Revised Drainage Strategy  
 
Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted (excluding site 
clearance and demolition) a revised drainage strategy detailing any on and/or off-site 
drainage works, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in consultation with the sewerage undertaker. No discharge of foul or 
surface water from the site shall be accepted into the public system until the 
drainage works referred to in the strategy have been completed. Details shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details and thereafter permanently 
retained in this form. 
 
To ensure that sufficient drainage capacity is made available to cope with the new 
development; and to avoid adverse environmental impact upon the community in 
accordance with Policy 5.13 of the London Plan (2016) and Policy CC3 and CC5 of 
the Local Plan (2018). 
 
27. Sustainable Drainage Strategy (SuDS) 
 
Prior to commencement of the development (excluding site clearance and demolition 
works), a revised Sustainable Drainage Strategy (SuDS), identifying further details of 
how surface water would be managed on-site in-line with the London Plan Drainage 
Hierarchy's preferred SuDS measures, shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Information shall include details on the design, 
location and attenuation capabilities of the proposed sustainable drainage measures 
such as permeable surfaces, including green and blue roofs. Details of the proposed 
flow controls and flow rates for any discharge of surface water to the combined 
sewer system should also be provided, with the aim of achieving greenfield rates for 
final discharges. Where feasible, rainwater harvesting should also be integrated to 
collect rainwater for re-use in the site. The Strategy shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details, and thereafter all SuDS measures shall be 
retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter 
be permanently retained in this form. 
 
To prevent any increased risk of flooding and to ensure the satisfactory storage 
of/disposal of surface water from the site in accordance with Policy 5.13 of The 
London Plan (2016); and Policy CC3 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
 

Page 135



28. Blue and /Green Roofs 
 
Prior to commencement of relevant works, details of all blue and green roofs within 
the development; including the identification of further opportunities for these roofs, 
including details of types of roofs and a planting maintenance plan shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
not be occupied until the scheme has been carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and shall thereafter be permanently retained in this form.  
 
To ensure the provision of blue/green roofs in the interests of sustainable urban 
drainage and habitat provision, in accordance with Policies 5.11, 5.13 and 7.19 of 
the London Plan (2016) and Policy OS5 and CC4 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
29. Non- return valve 
 
Prior to the occupation of the basement hereby approved, a non- return valve and 
pump device should be installed to prevent sewage 'back-surging' into the 
basement in times of heavy rain and to allow the property's sewage to continue to 
flow properly into the sewer network. 
 
To protect the new units from flooding, as recommended by Thames Water and in 
accordance with Policy CC4 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
30. Sustainability 
 
Within 6 months of occupation or any use of each Hotel, a BREEAM (2011) 
certificate confirming that the buildings achieve an `Excellent' BREEAM rating shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
   
In the interests of energy conservation, reduction of CO2 emissions and wider 
sustainability, in accordance with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of the London 
Plan (2016) and Policies CC1, CC2 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
31. Updated Energy Strategy 
 
Prior to commencement of the development (excluding site clearance and demolition 
works), a revised Energy Strategy for the development shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The revised strategy shall 
include details of energy efficiency and low/zero carbon technologies and confirm 
that CO2 emissions would be reduced in line with the London Plan targets. No part 
of the development shall be used or occupied until it has been carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be permanently retained in 
this form. 
 
In the interests of energy conservation and reduction of CO2 emissions, in 
accordance with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of the London Plan (2016), and 
Policy CC1 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
 
 

Page 136



32. Thames Water: Waste Network 
 
The development shall not be occupied until confirmation has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by Local Planning Authority in consultation with Thames Water, 
that either:  
 
• All combined water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional 

flows from the development have been completed; or 
• An infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water to allow 

additional properties to be occupied. Where an infrastructure phasing plan is 
agreed no occupation shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed 
infrastructure phasing plan.  

 
Condition required by Thames Water as the development may lead to the 
requirement of sewage flooding and network reinforcement works, anticipated 
necessary to ensure that sufficient capacity is made available to accommodate 
additional flows anticipated from the new development and to avoid sewer flooding 
and/or potential pollution incidents, in accordance with Policy 5.13 of the London 
Plan (2016). 
 
33. Thames Water: Water Network 
 
The development shall not be occupied until confirmation has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by Local Planning Authority in consultation with Thames Water, 
that either:  
 
• All water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional flows from 

the development have been completed; or  
• An infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water to allow 

additional properties to be occupied. Where an infrastructure phasing plan is 
agreed no occupation shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed 
infrastructure phasing plan. 

 
Condition required by Thames Water as the development may lead to no/low water 
pressure and network reinforcement works are anticipated to be necessary to ensure 
that sufficient capacity is made available to accommodate additional demand 
anticipated from the new development in accordance with Policy 5.13 of the London 
Plan (2016). 
 
34. Background Noise Levels from machinery, extract/ventilation ducting, 
mechanical gates, etc. 
 
Prior to the installation of any plant within/on each building, details of the external 
noise level emitted from plant/ machinery/ equipment and mitigation measures as 
appropriate for that building, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The measures shall ensure that the external sound level 
emitted from plant, machinery/ equipment would be lower than the lowest existing 
background sound level by at least 10dBA in order to prevent any adverse impact. 
The assessment shall be made in accordance with BS4142:2014 at the nearest 
and/or most affected noise sensitive premises, with all machinery operating together 

Page 137



at maximum capacity. A post installation noise assessment shall be carried out 
where required to confirm compliance with the sound criteria and additional steps to 
mitigate noise shall be taken, as necessary. Approved details shall be implemented 
prior to occupation of each building and thereafter be permanently retained in this 
form. 
 
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 
premises is not adversely affected by noise from plant/mechanical installations/ 
equipment, in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
35. Emergency Generators 
 
Prior to first operational use of each Hotel, details shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to confirm that sound emitted by 
standby or emergency generators, during power outages or testing does not exceed 
the lowest daytime ambient noise level LAeq (15min) as measured or calculated 
according to BS4142:2014. 
 
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 
premises is not adversely affected by noise from mechanical installations/ 
equipment, in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
36. Anti- vibration mounts and silencing of machinery etc.   
 
Prior to first operational use of each Hotel, details of anti-vibration measures shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The measures 
shall ensure that machinery, plant/ equipment and extract/ ventilation system and 
ducting are mounted with proprietary anti-vibration isolators and fan motors are 
vibration isolated from the casing and adequately silenced. Approved details shall be 
implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently 
retained. 
 
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site and surrounding 
premises is not adversely affected by vibration, in accordance with Policies CC11 
and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
37. Sound Insulation of commercial/ industrial building envelope  
 
Prior to completion of the above ground core structures, details shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, of sound insulation of the 
building envelopes and other mitigation measures, as appropriate.  Details shall 
demonstrate that noise from uses and activities is contained within the building/ 
development site and shall not exceed the criteria of BS8233:2014 at neighbouring 
noise sensitive/ habitable rooms and private external amenity spaces. Approved 
details for that Phase shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development 
and thereafter be permanently retained. 
 
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 
premises is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance with Policies CC11 and 
CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 

Page 138



 
38. Extraction and Odour Control system for non-domestic kitchens 
 
Prior to occupation of each Hotel, details shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, of the installation, operation, and 
maintenance of the odour abatement equipment and extract system, including the 
height of the extract duct and vertical discharge outlet, in accordance with the 
‘Guidance on the Control of Odour and Noise from Commercial Kitchen Exhaust 
Systems’ January 2005 by DEFRA.  Approved details shall be implemented prior to 
the commencement of the use of the relevant kitchen and thereafter be permanently 
retained. 
 
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 
premises is not adversely affected by cooking odour, in accordance with Policies 
CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
39. Acoustic Lobbies 
 
Prior to first operational of each Hotel, details of acoustic lobbies to entrances and 
exits, which would otherwise allow the emission of internal noise to neighbouring 
noise sensitive premises, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The hotels shall not be used or occupied until the acoustic 
lobbies have been constructed in accordance with the approved details, and the 
acoustic lobbies shall thereafter be permanently retained in this form. 
 
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 
premises is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance with Policies CC11 and 
CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
40. Hours of Use  
 
Any outdoor seating areas within the ground floor public realm and the roof top 
terrace shall only be used between 08:00 hours and 23:00 hours daily. 
 
To ensure that control is exercised over the use of these terraces so that undue 
harm is not caused to the amenities of the occupiers of the development and 
neighbouring residential properties as a result of noise and disturbance, particularly 
in the quieter night time hours, in accordance with  policy CC11 and CC13 of the 
Local Plan (2018) and guidance within the Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (2018). 
 
41. Flat roof areas 
 
There shall be no access to the flat roof areas (excluding the roof top terrace 
identified on the approved plans) provided by the development hereby approved, 
except for maintenance purposes, and no part of the flat roof areas provided by the 
development shall be used as a terrace or other accessible amenity space. No walls, 
fences, railings or other means of enclosure other than those shown on the approved 
drawings shall be erected around the roofs, and no alterations shall be carried out to 
the approved building to form access onto these roofs. 

Page 139



 
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and so that the use of the building 
does not harm the amenities of the existing neighbouring residential properties as a 
result of overlooking, loss of privacy and noise and disturbance, in accordance with 
Policies DC1, DC2, DC8, CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018) and Key 
Principle HS8 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 
 
42. Plant/machinery or equipment 
 
No plant, shall be mounted externally on any part of the buildings outside of the 
designated plant areas identified on the approved drawings. 
 
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 
scene, in accordance with Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
43. Music 
 
Neither music nor amplified voices emitted from the development shall be audible at 
any residential/noise sensitive premises. Neither music nor amplified loud voices 
emitted from the commercial  part of the development shall be audible at any 
residential/ noise sensitive premises. 
  
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 
premises is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance with Policies CC11 and 
CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
44. Lighting 
 
Prior to the installation of any external artificial lighting, details of any proposed 
external artificial lighting, including security lights shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the number, 
exact location, height, design and appearance of the lights, together with data 
concerning the levels of illumination and light spillage and the specific measures, 
having regard to the recommendations of the Institution of Lighting Engineers in the 
`Guidance Notes for The Reduction of Light Pollution 2011 (or relevant guidance) to 
ensure that any lighting proposed does not harm the existing amenities of the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties. No part of the development shall be used or 
occupied until any external lighting provided has been installed in accordance with 
the approved details and shall thereafter be permanently retained in this form. 
 
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site / surrounding 
premises and natural habitat is not adversely affected by lighting, and to ensure a 
satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street scene and public 
realm, in accordance with Policies 5.11, 7.1, 7.3, 7.6 and 7.13 of the London Plan 
(2016) and Policies DC1, DC8, CC12, OS1 and OS2 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
45. Lights off 
 
Prior to the first occupation of each Hotel, a scheme for the control and operation of 
the proposed lighting (excluding bedrooms), during periods of limited or non-

Page 140



occupation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Details shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the relevant 
floorspace and operated only in accordance with the approved details. 
 
To ensure that the building does not cause excessive light pollution and to conserve 
energy when they are not occupied, in accordance with Policy CC12 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 
 
46. Materials 
 
Prior to the commencement of the relevant works thereby affected, details of 
particulars and samples (where appropriate) of all the materials to be used in all 
external faces and roofs of the buildings; including details of the colour, composition 
and texture of the brick, stone and metal work; details of all surface windows; 
balustrades to roof terraces; roof top plant and general plant screening; entrances 
and ground floor glazing, including window opening and glazing styles and all 
external hard surfaces including paving, planters and seating shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by Local Planning Authority. External material sample 
panels, including samples of brickwork, stonework, concrete, pointing style, mortar 
colour and mix shall be erected on site for the inspection by Local Planning 
Authority’s Conservation Officer and written approval by Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details as approved and 
thereafter permanently retained in this form. 
 
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 
scene and public realm, and to preserve the character and appearance of the 
surrounding conservation areas and other heritage assets; in accordance with 
policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan (2016), policies DC1, DC2, and DC8 of 
the Local Plan (2018), and guidance contained within the Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 
 
47. Sample Panels 
 
Prior to the commencement of the relevant works thereby affected, sample panels 
for both hotels, detailing brick colour, bond, pointing style, mortar colour, stone 
cladding and curtain walling shall be produced for on-site inspection by Council 
Officers, along with the submission to the Local Planning Authority of samples of 
these materials, for subsequent approval in writing. The development shall not be 
used until works have been carried out in accordance with the submitted material 
samples and sample panel, and the development shall thereafter be permanently 
retained and maintained as such. 
 
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 
scene and public realm, and to preserve the character and appearance of the 
surrounding conservation areas and other heritage assets; in accordance with 
policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan (2016), policies DC1, DC2, and DC8 of 
the Local Plan (2018), and guidance contained within the Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 
 
 

Page 141



48. 1:20 Details – Buildings 
 
Prior to completion of the above ground core structures, detailed drawings at a scale 
not less than 1:20 (in plan, section and elevation) of typical sections/bays of each of 
the approved buildings shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. These shall include details of the proposed façade and cladding 
treatment, fenestration (including framing and glazing details), balustrades (including 
roof terrace), entrances, ground floor restaurants and canopies (including glazing 
details). The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details as 
approved and thereafter permanently retained in this form. 
  
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 
scene and public realm, and to preserve the character and appearance of the 
surrounding conservation areas and other heritage assets; in accordance with 
policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan (2016), policies DC1, DC2, and DC8 of 
the Local Plan (2018), and guidance contained within the Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 
 
49. 1:20 Details – Boundaries 
 
Prior to the commencement of the public realm surface works, detailed drawings at a 
scale not less than 1:20 (in plan, section and elevation) of boundary walls, fences, 
railings and gates shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and no part of the development shall be used or occupied prior to the 
completion of the development in accordance with the approved details. 
 
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 
scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan 
2016 and Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
50. 1:20 Roof Top Plant Enclosures 
 
Prior to completion of the above ground core structures, detailed drawings at a scale 
not less than 1:20 (in plan, section and elevation) of the rooftop plant enclosures 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No 
part of the relevant hotel shall be used or occupied until the enclosures have been 
constructed in accordance with the approved details, and the enclosures shall 
thereafter be permanently retained in this form.  
 
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 
scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan 
and Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
51. Secure by Design 
 
Prior to completion of the above ground core structures, a statement of how 'Secure 
by Design' requirements are to be adequately achieved shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include, but 
not be limited to: site wide public realm CCTV and feasibility study relating to linking 
CCTV with the Local Planning Authority's borough wide CCTV system, access 

Page 142



controls, basement security measures and means to secure the site throughout 
construction in accordance with BS8300:2009.No part of the development shall be 
used or occupied until these measures have been implemented in accordance with 
the approved details, and the measures shall thereafter be permanently retained in 
this form. 
 
To ensure that the development incorporates suitable design measures to minimise 
opportunities for, and the perception of crime and provide a safe and secure 
environment, in accordance with Policy 7.3 of the London Plan (2016), and Policies 
DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
52. Self-Closing Doors  
 
Prior to first occupation of each hotel building, all external doors shall be fitted with 
self-closing devices, which shall be maintained in an operational condition; and at no 
time shall any external door be fixed in an open position. 
 
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site and surrounding 
properties are not adversely affected by noise /odour /smoke /fumes, in accordance 
with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
53. Protection of Existing Trees 
 
The development hereby permitted shall not commence until all the existing trees in 
the proximity of the development to be retained, have been protected from damage 
in accordance with BS5837:2012 during both the demolition and construction works. 
 
To ensure that trees on site are retained and to prevent harm during the course of 
construction, in accordance with accordance with Policies DC1, DC8, OS2 and OS5 
of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
54. Landscaping & Public Realm  
 
Prior to commencement of the public realm hereby permitted (excluding site 
clearance and demolition works), details of the proposed soft and hard landscaping 
of all areas external to the hotel buildings shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include: planting schedules 
and details of the species, height and maturity of any trees and shrubs, including 
sections through the planting areas; depth of tree pits, containers and shrub beds; 
details relating to the access of each building, pedestrian surfaces, wayfinding, 
disabled drop off areas, loading bays, pedestrian crossings means of 
pedestrian/cyclist conflict resolution, materials, kerb details, external steps and 
seating, street furniture, bins and lighting columns that ensure a safe and convenient 
environment for blind and partially sighted people. The landscaping works shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be 
permanently retained in this form. 
 
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance of the development and relationship 
with its surroundings, and the needs of the visually impaired are catered for in 

Page 143



accordance with the Equality Act 2010, Policies 3.1, 7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan, 
and Policies DC1, DC8, OS2 and OS5 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
55. Green Wall and greening of the south elevation 
 
Prior to the completion of the above ground core structure of each hotel building, 
final details of the construction of the green wall and greening of the south elevation 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details 
shall include system type, planting schedule and a maintenance plan. The green 
infrastructure shall be constructed and planted in full accordance with the Phyto 
sensor Toolkit, Citizen Science, May 2018 and the 'First Steps in Urban Air Quality', 
TDAG, 2017 guidance documents within the first available planting season following 
completion of Buildings. Any plants which die, are removed, become seriously 
damaged and diseased within a period of five years from completion of these 
buildings shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and 
species. Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of 
the development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained.  
 
In the interest of air quality and visual amenity, to comply with the requirements of 
the NPPF, Policies 7.14 a-c of The London Plan (2016) and Policy CC10 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 
 
56. Replacement Landscaping 
 
Any landscaping removed or severely damaged, dying or becoming seriously 
diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced with a tree or shrub of similar 
size and species to that originally required to be planted. 
 
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and biodiversity in accordance with 
policies OS4, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018) and in the interest of air quality, 
to comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 7.14 a-c of The London Plan 
(2016) and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
57. Landscape Management Plan 
 
Prior to the commencement of the public realm works, a Landscape Management 
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for 
all of the landscaped areas in the development including the green walls. This shall 
include details of management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all 
landscape areas The landscape management plan shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be permanently retained in 
this form. 
 
To ensure that the development provides an attractive natural and visual 
environment in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan (2016), and 
Policies DC1, DC8, OS2 and OS5 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
 
 
 

Page 144



58. Television Interference 
 
Details of methods proposed to identify any television interference caused by the 
proposed development, including during the construction process, and the measures 
proposed to ensure that television interference that might be identified is remediated 
in a satisfactory manner shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development (excluding site 
clearance and demolition) hereby permitted. The approved remediation measures 
shall be implemented immediately that any television interference is identified. 
 
To ensure that television interference caused by the development is remediated, in 
accordance with Policy 7.7 of The London Plan (2016) and Policies DC2 and DC10 
of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
59. Airwaves Interference Study 
 
Prior to commencement of development (excluding site clearance and demolition) 
the following details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority: 
 
(i) The completion of a Base-Line Airwaves Interference Study (the Base-Line Study) 
to assess airwave reception within/adjacent to the site; and of required and;  
(ii) The implementation of a Scheme of Mitigation Works for the purposed of 
ensuring nil detriment during the [Demolition Works and Construction Works] 
identified by the Base-Line Study.  
Such a Scheme of Mitigation Works shall be first submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details prior to occupation and shall thereafter be 
permanently retained in this form. 
 
To ensure that the existing airwaves reception is not adversely affected by the 
proposed development, in accordance with Policy 7.13 of the London Plan (2016), 
and Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
60. Permitted Development Rights - Telecommunications 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting 
that principal Order with or without modification), no aerials, antennae, satellite 
dishes or related telecommunications equipment shall be erected on any part of the 
development hereby permitted, without planning permission first being obtained. 
 
To ensure that the visual impact of telecommunication equipment upon the 
surrounding area can be considered, in accordance with in accordance with Policies 
7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2016), and Policies DC1 and DC8 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 
 
 
 
 

Page 145



61. Hotel Signage Strategy  
 
Prior to the first occupation of each Hotel, an occupier Signage Strategy for the 
buildings including details of wayfinding and signage proposed around and on each 
of the buildings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and all development pursuant to signage shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 
To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied with the detail of the 
proposed development and to ensure a satisfactory external appearance in 
accordance with Policies DC1 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
62. Window Cleaning Equipment 
 
Prior to the occupation of each Hotel, details of the proposed window cleaning 
equipment for each building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The details shall include the appearance, means of 
operation and storage of the cleaning equipment. Each building shall not be used or 
occupied until the equipment has been installed in accordance with the approved 
details and shall thereafter be permanently retained in this form. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the 
street scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London 
Plan, and Policies DC1 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
63. Blue Badge Parking 
 
No Hotel hereby approved shall be used or occupied until the provision of no.4 blue 
badge parking spaces have been provided in accordance with the approved plans. 
The accessible parking spaces shall be permanently retained for the life of the 
development for use by disabled staff and visitors. 
 
To ensure the satisfactory provision and retention of disabled car parking facilities, in 
accordance with Policy 7.2 of the London Plan (2016) and Policy E3, T1 and T5 of 
the Local Plan (2018). 
 
64. Cycle Parking 
 
No Hotel herby approved shall be used or occupied until the provision of cycle 
parking spaces have been provided in accordance with the approved plans and 
made available to visitors and staff, and such cycle storage/parking facilities shall be 
permanently retained thereafter in accordance with the approved details. 
 
To ensure the suitable provision of cycle parking within the development to meet the 
needs of future site occupiers, in accordance with policy 6.9 and 6.13 of The London 
Plan (2016) and Policy T3 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
 
 
 

Page 146



65. Cycle Management Plan 
 
Prior to first occupation of each Hotel, a Cycle Parking Management Plan shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This 
management plan shall include details of access to cycle parking and how any 
potential conflicts with vehicles would be resolved or managed. The development 
shall not be operated otherwise than in accordance with the Cycle Parking 
Management Plan as approved and shall thereafter be permanently retained in this 
form. 
 
To ensure an appropriate level, mix and location of cycle parking is achieved for the 
development and that management arrangements are in place to control its 
allocation and use in accordance with Policies 5.2, 5.18, 5.19, 5.21, 6.3, 7.14 and 
7.15 of the London Plan (2016), Policies CC1, CC2, CC6, CC7, CC9, CC10, CC11, 
CC12, CC13, T1 and T6 of the Local Plan (2018) and SPD Transport Policies of the 
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 
 
66. Electric Vehicle Charging Point 
 
Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of the 
installation including location and type of active electric vehicle charging points within 
the car parking area must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The electric vehicle charging points should comprise at least 2 of 
the total number of car parking spaces provided on site and shall be active electric 
vehicle charging points; the remaining number of the total number of car parking 
spaces provided on site shall be passive. The approved electric vehicle charging 
points shall be installed and retained in working order for the lifetime of the 
development. The uptake of the active electric vehicle charging points would be 
regularly monitored via the Travel Plan and if required additional charging points 
should be installed in place of the passive provision to meet demand. 
 
To encourage sustainable travel in accordance with policies 5.8, 6.13 and 7.2 of the 
London Plan (2016), Policies T1, T2 and T4 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
67. Delivery and Servicing Plan  
 
Prior to first occupation of the Development, a Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) 
including vehicle tracking where required, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The DSP shall detail the management of 
deliveries, emergency access, collection of waste and recyclables, times and 
frequencies of deliveries and collections/ silent reversing methods/ location of 
loading bays and vehicle movement in respect of each hotel. The approved 
measures shall be implemented and thereafter retained for the lifetime of the 
commercial uses in the relevant part of the site.  
 
To ensure that satisfactory provision is made for refuse storage and collection and to 
ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site and surrounding 
premises is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance with Policy 6.11 of the 
London Plan (2016) and Policies T2, CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018) and 
SPD Key Principle TR28 (2018). 

Page 147



68. Refuse 
 
Prior to the first occupation of each Hotel, the refuse storage enclosures, including 
provision for the storage of recyclable materials shall be provided as indicated on the 
approved drawings  All the refuse/recycling generated by the development hereby 
approved shall be stored within the approved areas and shall be permanently 
retained thereafter in accordance with the approved details. 
 
To protect the environment and to ensure that satisfactory provision is made for 
refuse/recycling storage and collection, in accordance with policy 5.17 of the London 
Plan (2016) and Policies CC6 and CC7 of the Local Plan (2018) and SPD Key 
Principle WM1 (2018). 
 
69. Waste Management Strategy 
 
Prior to the first occupation of each Hotel hereby permitted, a Waste Management 
Strategy shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Details shall include information related to each refuse storage (and provision for the 
storage of recyclable materials) facilities, show how recycling would be maximised 
and be incorporated into the facilities of the development. All refuse/recycling 
generated by the development hereby approved shall be stored within the agreed 
areas. These areas shall be permanently retained for this use. Refuse and 
recyclables shall be stored only within the curtilage of the application site. The 
approved details shall be implemented prior to the occupation of each Hotel 
development and shall thereafter be permanently retained. 
 
To protect the environment and to ensure that satisfactory provision is made for 
refuse/recycling storage and collection, in accordance with policy 5.17 of the London 
Plan (2016) and Policies CC6 and CC7 of the Local Plan 2018 and SPD Key 
Principles WM1 to WM11 (2018). 
 
70. Hotel - Wheelchair Standards 
 
A minimum of 10% of the hotel bedrooms hereby approved shall be capable of 
meeting the needs of wheelchair users and shall be designed and capable of 
adaptation. This arrangement shall thereafter be permanently retained. 
 
To ensure the provision and retention of facilities for all, including disabled people, in 
accordance with policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2016), and Policy DC1 and 
HO6 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
71. Inclusive Access Management Plan 
 
No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied or used until an 
Inclusive Access Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall set out a strategy for ongoing 
consultation with specific interest groups with regard to accessibility of the relevant 
part of the site. On-going consultation shall then be carried out in accordance with 
the approved IAMP. The development shall not be operated otherwise than in 

Page 148



accordance with the Inclusive Access Management Plan as approved and thereafter 
be permanently retained in this form. 
 
To ensure that the proposal provides an inclusive and accessible environment in 
accordance with the Policy 7.2 of the London Plan (2016) and Policy E3 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 
 
72. Level Threshold  
 
The ground floor entrance doors to the development and integral lift/stair cores shall 
not be less than 1-metre-wide and the threshold shall be at the same level as the 
adjoining ground level fronting the entrances to ensure level access. 
 
To ensure the development provides ease of access for all users, in accordance with 
Policy 3.1 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2016), and Policy DC1 and HO6 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 
 
73. Lifts  
 
Prior to first occupation of each Hotel, details of fire rated lifts including details of the 
loading lifts to the basement levels shall be submitted and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. All the lifts shall have enhanced lift repair services, running 
365 days/24-hour cover, to ensure no wheelchair occupiers are trapped if a lift 
breaks down. The fire rated lifts shall be installed as approved and maintained in full 
working order for the lifetime of the development. 
 
To ensure that the development provides for the changing circumstances of 
occupiers and responds to the needs of people with disabilities, in accordance with 
policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2016), and Policy DC1 and HO6 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 
 
74. Hotel Use 
 
The hotel use shall be used solely for the purposes of a hotel only and for no other 
purpose, including any other purpose in Class C1 of the Schedule to the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), or any subsequent 
Order or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification. 
 
In granting this permission, the Council has had regard to the particular 
circumstances of the case. The Council wishes to have an opportunity to consider 
such circumstances at that time, and to ensure the uses are compatible with the 
adjoining land uses and to ensure that the amenity of occupiers residing in 
surrounding residential properties would be safeguarded in accordance with Policies 
CF3, DC1, DC2, DC7, DC8, E1, HO11, T1, T2, TLC3, TLC5, CC10, CC11, CC11, 
CC12 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the Planning 
Guidance SPD 2018. 
 
 
 

Page 149



75. Hotel Bedrooms 
 
The Class C1 (hotel) use hereby approved shall be capped at a maximum 808 
bedrooms. 
 
In granting this permission, the Council has had regard to the particular 
circumstances of the case. The increase in the number of bedrooms could raise 
materially different planning considerations and the council wishes to have an 
opportunity to consider such circumstances at that time, in accordance with Policies 
T1, E3, DC1, DC2, DC8, CC10, CC11, CC11, CC12 and CC13 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 
 
76. Class B1 (office) 
 
The Class B1 (office) use hereby permitted shall be used only and for no other 
purpose including any other purpose within Class B1 in accordance with the Town 
and Country Planning (Use Classes Order) 1987 (as amended), or any subsequent 
Order, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification.  
 
In granting this permission, the Council has had regard to the circumstances of the 
case. The conversion of the approved new office accommodation to residential 
purposes could raise materially different planning considerations and the Council 
wishes to have an opportunity to consider such circumstances at that time, and to 
ensure the uses are compatible with the adjoining land uses and to ensure that the 
amenity of occupiers residing in surrounding residential properties would be 
safeguarded in accordance with Policies HRA, CF3, DC1, DC2, DC7, DC8, E1, T1, 
T2, TLC3, TLC5 of the Local Plan (2018) and Key Principles of the Planning 
Guidance SPD (2018). 
 
 
REASONS 
 
 
1) Land Use: The principle of the proposed hotel led development is considered 
to be appropriate in land use terms and would help to promote the vitality and 
viability of Hammersmith Regeneration Area and regenerate this part of 
Hammersmith town centre. The loss of former magistrates’ court is considered 
acceptable under Policy CF2 of the Local Plan (2018. The new hotel development 
together with the ancillary affordable workspace, meeting rooms, rehearsal/event 
space, public realm, ancillary restaurants and roof top bar use are considered to be 
an appropriate use for this town centre location, which is highly accessible by public 
transport. The proposal is therefore supported in land use terms and is considered to 
be in accordance with the NPPF, London Plan Policies 2.1, 4.1, 4.2, 4.5 and 4.6, 
Draft London Plan Policies E1, E2 and E10, and Local Plan Policies HRA, E1, E2, 
E3, E4, CF1 and CF2. 
 
2) Local Economy and Employment: The proposal would continue to provide 
significant employment opportunities both in the borough and London generally. The 
development would generate construction related full time equivalent (FTE) jobs over 

Page 150



the build period and some 425 FTE jobs once the development is complete and 
operational. Affordable space would be secured through the s106 agreement. The 
development would provide modern and upgraded floorspace and deliver wider 
benefits by way of increasing local expenditure through increased employment 
levels, additional visitors through the visit, cultural and leisure uses proposed, and 
job and job opportunities for residents and companies. The employment and training 
initiatives secured through the S106 agreement would bring significant benefits to 
the local area while a local procurement intuitive will be entered into by way of the 
legal agreement to provide support for businesses. Furthermore, contributions 
through the community use for borough residents and engage with local schools and 
colleges would have a positive effect on the borough. The development is therefore 
in accordance with Policies 3.1 and 4.12 of the London Plan and policies E1, and E4 
of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
3) Design and Heritage: It is considered that the proposals will deliver good 
quality architecture which optimises the capacity of the site with good quality good, 
hotel and commercial accommodation. The proposal remains in line with both 
national guidance and strategic and local policies on tall buildings and design 
considerations. The proposal for a taller building complies with Local plan policies in 
that it respects the existing townscape context, demonstrates tangible urban design 
benefits and is consistent with the Council’s wider regeneration objectives, and in 
doing so is sensitive to the setting of heritage assets. Officers consider that in design 
terms, the proposed elevations of the two hotel buildings have been refined and 
provide an architectural character which provides interest across the frontages. The 
development would connect the site with the surrounding townscape and the 
relationship between the proposed built form and new public realm would assist in 
the creation of a sense of place in the town centre. It is not considered that the 
stepped increases in height would negatively impact surrounding heritage assets. 
While less than substantial harm has been identified to The Mall and Barons Court 
Conservation Areas, this is acceptable and outweighed by the public benefits that 
the scheme delivers as identified. It is considered that this is compliant with Section 
66 and Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990. The proposal is also in line with national guidance in the NPPF, London Plan 
Policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 7.8 and 7.9 Policies H04, DC1, DC2 and DC8 of 
the Local Plan (2018). 
 
4) Transport: It is considered that the scheme would not have a significant 
impact on the highway network or local parking conditions and is thus considered to 
be acceptable. Satisfactory provision would be made for blue badge car parking and 
cycle parking. External impacts of the development would be controlled by conditions 
and section 106 provisions, related to blue badge parking, cycle and refuse storage, 
construction and demolition logistics plans while the monitoring of the Travel Plans is 
secured by legal agreement. Subject to the agreement of a hotel management plan 
secured through the S106 agreement, the development would not generate 
congestion or disturbance as a deliveries and servicing, coach and drop off/pick up 
parking. Adequate provision for storage and collection of refuse and recyclables 
would be provided. The accessibility level of the site is excellent, and the site is well 
served by public transport... In addition, servicing and road safety and travel planning 
initiatives would be implemented in and around the site to mitigate against potential 
issues. The proposed development therefore accords with Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 

Page 151



6.10, 6.11, 6.13, of the London Plan (2016), Policy, CC6, CC7, T1, T2, T3, T4 ,T5 
and T7 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the Planning Guidance SPD 
2018. 
 
5) Impact on Neighbouring Properties: On balance, the impact of the proposed 
development upon adjoining occupiers is not considered unacceptable. There would 
be no significant worsening of noise/disturbance and overlooking, no unacceptable 
loss of sunlight or daylight or outlook to cause undue detriment to the amenities of 
neighbours. In this regard, the development would respect the principles of good 
neighbourliness. The proposed development therefore accords with policies 3.5, 3.6, 
3.8, 7.3, 7.6, 7.7, 7.14 and 7.15 of the London Plan 2016; Policies DC1, DC2, DC8, 
CC10, CC11, CC12, CC13 and OS5 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of 
the Planning Guidance SPD 2018. 
 
6) Sustainability and Energy: The proposed development has been designed to 
meet the highest standards of sustainable design and construction. The application 
proposes a number of measures to reduce CO2 emissions to exceed London Plan 
targets, a revised Energy Strategy is secured by condition to ensure the highest 
levels of savings. The proposal would achieve a 'excellent' BREEAM rating and 
delivering this is secured by condition. The proposal would incorporate green roofs 
and a revised Sustainable Urban Drainage Strategy would be required by condition 
to reflect final design detail. The proposal would thereby seek to reduce pollution and 
waste and minimise its environmental impact. The proposed development therefore 
accords with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8, 5.9, 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14, 5.15 and 
7.19 of the London Plan 2016, Policies DC1, DC2, DC8, CC2, CC1, CC3, CC10, 
FRA, SFRRA1 and OS5 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the Planning 
Guidance SPD 2018. 
 
7) Air Quality: There will be an impact on local air quality because of the 
demolition, construction, and operation of the proposed development. However, 
inclusion of conditions prior to the commencement of above ground works for each 
phase of the development are included to mitigate the development. During 
construction and demolition an Air Quality Dust Management Plan for demolition and 
construction works is required by condition which will mitigate the air quality impacts 
of the development. The proposed operation of the development will have an air 
quality impact, however these can be suitably mitigated by siting and design and 
using appropriate NOx emissions abatement technology to ensure the CHP in the 
energy centre and other associated plant comply with the strictest emission 
standards possible; all of which are secured by way of condition. The proposed 
development therefore accords with London Plan Policy 7.14 and Policy CC10 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 
 
8) Safety and Access: Condition would ensure the development provides level 
access, a lift to all levels, suitable circulation space, 10% of hotel rooms to be 
wheelchair accessible, dedicated parking spaces for wheelchair users and an 
Inclusive Accessibility Management Plan. Satisfactory provision is therefore made for 
users with mobility needs, in accordance with Policy 7.2 of the London Plan 2016, 
Policies DC2 and HO6 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles DA1, DA22 and 
DA3 of the Planning Guidance SPD 2018. 
 

Page 152



9) Flood Risk: The site is located in Flood Zone 2/3. A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 
has been submitted which advises standard construction practices in order to ensure 
the risk of flooding at the site remains low, however mitigation measures are required 
to be submitted and approved by condition. Sustainable drainage systems (SUDS) 
would be integrated into the development to cut surface water flows into the 
communal sewer system. A basement assessment has been included to ensure that 
the basements of the site are suitably detailed design with water-proofing measures 
and is appropriately secured by way of condition. The development would therefore 
be acceptable in accordance with the Policy 5.21 of the London Plan 2016, Policy 
CC2, CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the Planning 
Guidance SPD 2018. 
 
10) Land Contamination: Conditions will ensure that the site would be remediated to 
an appropriate level for the sensitive residential and open space uses. The proposed 
development therefore accords with Policy 5.21 of the London Plan, and Policies 
CC9 and CC11 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
11) Archaeology: The site is located close to an Archaeological Priority Area and 
may have surviving archaeological remains. A condition will secure the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological work by way of a watching brief 
throughout relevant construction times. The proposed development therefore 
accords with Policy 7.8 of the London Plan, and DC1 of the Local Plan. 
 
12) Microclimate: The development would not result in an unacceptable wind 
microclimate that would cause harm, discomfort or safety issues to pedestrians or 
the environment around the buildings or surrounding properties. Conditions are 
secured to provide additional mitigation measures through the materials and 
landscaping. The proposal is considered to comply with Policies 7.6 and 7.7 of the 
London Plan and Policies DC3 and CC2 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
13) Environmental Impact Assessment: The Environmental Statement, and the 
subsequent Environmental Statement Addendum and the various technical 
assessments together with the consultation responses received from statutory 
consultees and other stakeholders and parties, enable the Council to determine this 
application with knowledge of the likely significant environmental impacts of the 
proposed development. 
 
14) Objections: Whilst a large number of issues have been raised by objectors to the 
scheme it is considered, for the reasons explained in the detailed analysis, that 
planning permission should be granted for the scheme subject to appropriate 
safeguards to ensure that necessary controls and mitigation measures are 
established. This decision is taken on the basis of the proposed controls, mitigation 
measures and delivery commitments contained in the draft conditions and Heads of 
Terms for the Section 106 Agreement set out in this committee report, which are 
considered to provide an adequate framework of control to ensure as far as 
reasonably practicable that the public benefits of the scheme will be realised in 
accordance with relevant planning policies whilst providing the mitigation measures 
and environmental improvements needed to address the likely significant adverse 
impacts of the development. 
 

Page 153



15) Conditions: In line with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town 
and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018, officers 
have consulted the applicant on the pre-commencement conditions included in the 
agenda and the applicant has raised no objections. 
 
16) Planning Obligations: Planning obligations to offset the impact of the 
development and to make the development acceptable in planning terms are 
secured. Contributions relating to the provision of economic development initiatives, 
including local training and employment opportunities and procurement are secured. 
The proposed development would therefore mitigate external impacts and would 
accord with Policy 8.2 of the London Plan and Policy CF1 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
 
INFORMATIVES  
 
 
That the applicant be informed as follows:  
 

1. Under Section 61 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974, developers and their 
contractors may apply for 'prior consent' for noise generating activities during 
construction work. The application must contain the details of the works to be 
carried out, the methods by which they are to be carried out, and the steps 
proposed to minimise noise resulting from the works. The Council may also 
attach conditions to the consent and limit its duration. 

 
2. Applications for prior consent must be received at least 28 days prior to the 

commencement of works and should be submitted to the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham, Noise and Nuisance Team, or by email 
environmental protection@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
3. Construction and demolition work and associated activities at the 

development, audible beyond the boundary of the site should not be carried 
out other than between the hours of 0800 - 1800hrs Mondays to Fridays and 
0800 - 1300hrs on Saturdays and at no other times, including Sundays and 
Public/Bank Holidays, unless otherwise agreed with the Environmental Health 
Officer. 

 
4. At least 21 days prior to the commencement of any site works, all occupiers 

surrounding the site should be notified in writing of the nature and duration of 
works to be undertaken. The name and contact details of a person 
responsible for the site works should be made available for enquiries and 
complaints for the entire duration of the works and updates of work should be 
provided regularly. Any complaints should be properly addressed as quickly 
as possible. 

 
5. Best Practicable Means (BPM) should be used in controlling dust, particulates 

(PM10, PM2.5), and NOx emissions, in accordance with the following 
guidance: 
 

Page 154



Best Practice Guidance by the GLA 2006 for The Control of Dust and 
Emissions from Construction and Demolition, Supplementary Planning 
Guidance, Mayor of London, (2014)  
Guidance on the assessment of dust from demolition and construction, 
Version 1.1, IAQM, June 2016  
Guidance on Monitoring in the Vicinity of Demolition and Construction Sites, 
Version 1.1, IAQM, October 2018  
‘Best in Class’ Guidance on Dust and Emissions from Construction, LLECP, 
March 2019 
 

6. No waste materials should be burnt on site of the development hereby 
approved. 

 
7. Best Practicable Means (BPM) should be used, including low vibration 

methods and silenced equipment and machinery, in accordance with the 
Approved Codes of Practice of BS5228:2009 for noise and vibration control 
on construction and open sites. 

 
Where works involve materials containing asbestos, specialist licensed 
contractors and carriers should be employed for the safe handling and 
disposal of asbestos materials.  

 
8. NOTE: Advisory and Enforcement body: Health & Safety Executive on tel. 

0845 345 0055, www.hse.gov.uk. 
 

9. Concrete crushing requires a permit under the Pollution Prevention and 
Control Act 1990. Please contact the Council’s Environmental Quality team, 
Environment Services Department on Tel. 0208 753 3454. E-mail: 
environmental.quality@lbhf.gpv.uk 

 
10. All waste materials and rubbish associated with demolition and/or construction 

should be contained on site in appropriate containers which, when full, should 
be promptly removed to a licensed disposal site. 

 
11. Under Section 80 of the Building Act 1984, the Council should be given a 

minimum of 6 weeks' notice of intention to carry out any works of demolition of 
the whole or part of a building. A notice of intended demolition should be 
submitted to the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham, 
Environmental Quality Team, or email Environmental.Quality@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
12. The applicant should contact the Environmental Quality team via e-mail to 

Environmental.Quality@lbhf.gov.uk or by phone on 0208 753 1081 as soon 
as possible to discuss the steps necessary to fulfil the contaminated land 
conditions. 

 
13. A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water would be 

required for discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made 
without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the 
provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. Thames Water would expect the 
developer to demonstrate what measures would be undertaken to minimise 

Page 155

http://www.hse.gov.uk/
http://www.hse.gov.uk/
mailto:environmental.quality@lbhf.gpv.uk
mailto:environmental.quality@lbhf.gpv.uk
mailto:Environmental.Quality@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:Environmental.Quality@lbhf.gov.uk


groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit enquiries should be 
directed to Thames Water’s Risk Management Team by telephoning 
02035779483 or by emailing wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk. 
Application forms should be completed on line via 
www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality. 

 
14. The applicant is advised that a relief storm sewer cross the development site. 

In order to protect public sewers and to ensure that Thames Water can gain 
access to those sewers for future repair and maintenance, approval should be 
sought from Thames Water where the erection of a building or an extension to 
a building or underpinning work would be over the line of, or would come 
within 3 metres of, a public sewer. Thames Water state they will usually 
refuse such approval in respect of the construction of new buildings, but 
approval may be granted in some cases for extensions to existing buildings. 
The applicant is advised to contact Thames Water Developer Services on 
0203 577 9998 to discuss the options available at this site. 

 
15. The developer can request information to support the discharge of the 

Thames Water conditions by visiting the Thames Water website at 
thameswater.co.uk/preplanning and liaises with Thames Water Development 
Planning Department (telephone 0203 577 9998) for further information. 

 
16. Written schemes of investigation will need to be prepared and implemented 

by a suitably qualified archaeological practice in accordance with English 
Heritage Greater London Archaeology guidelines. They must be approved by 
the planning authority before any on-site development related activity occurs. 
 

17. Applicant is advised that in order to mitigate the impact of air pollution, public 
amenity external seating should be located a minimum of 20 metres from the 
kerbside and orientated away from the northern site boundary on Talgarth 
Road (A4). 
 

18. To improve flood resilience, the Environment Agency recommend that, where 
feasible, finished floor levels are set above the 2100 breach flood level, which 
is 5.1m AOD. 
 

19. In determining the planning application, the Local Planning Authority has had 
regard to the following supporting documents:  

 
• Existing, Demolition and Proposed drawings;  
• Environmental Statement Volume 1 – Main Chapters and  Addendum; 
• Environmental Statement Volume 2 – Technical Appendices and 

Addendum; 
• Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary and Addendum; 
• Design and Access Statement and Addendum; 
• Planning Statement; 
• Statement of Community Engagement; 
• Hotel Demand Assessment; 
• Tree Survey; 

Page 156

http://www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality
http://www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality


• Tree Survey and Arboricultural Method Statement; 
• BREEAM – Pre-Assessment – Hotel 1; 
• BREEAM – Pre-Assessment – Hotel 2; 
• Ventilation and External Plant Assessment; 
• Transport Assessment and Addendum; 
• Framework Travel Plan; 
• Site Vehicle and Site Waste Management Plan; 
• Draft Demolition and Construction Management Plan 
• Outline Construction Logistics Plan; 
• Construction Statement for Basements and Addendum; 
• Acoustic Report; 
• Additional Acoustic Report (reflected noise); 
• Energy Statement; 
• Flood Risk Assessment incorporating Sustainable Urban Drainage 

Statement; and 
• Air Quality Assessment. 

 
20. In determining this application, the local planning authority has worked in a 
pro-active and positive manner with the applicant to foster the delivery of sustainable 
development, in accordance with the requirements of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

Page 157



1.0 BACKGROUND  
 
Site Description  
1.1 The proposed development relates to the former Hammersmith ('West 
London') Magistrates Court site. The application site (‘the site’) is located at the edge 
of Hammersmith town centre and lies to the south of Talgarth Road and the 
Hammersmith flyover (A4). 
 
1.2 The site is an irregular shape, approximately 0.67 hectare in area. The site is 
occupied by a former Ministry of Justice, Magistrates’ Court building. The 
magistrates court is a purpose built 1990’s, part two/part three storey, red brick/metal 
clad roof building. There is a secure car park area to the rear. Vehicle and pedestrian 
access is via the (A4) Talgarth Road slip road. The site is vacant (since the summer 
2018), following closure of magistrates’ court. 
 
1.3 The surrounding townscape is a mix of styles and form. Comprises a 
residential setting to the south and a predominantly commercial character to the 
north. The site sits within a 'commercial island' block isolated by existing road and 
rail networks. Bound to the north by Talgarth Road and the eastern section of the 
elevated section of the A4 (Hammersmith flyover) and the Novotel Hotel beyond. 
There are low-rise residential properties and an 18 storey tower (Linacre Court) to 
the north beyond the A4. To the south, the site is bound by the Piccadilly and District 
open London Underground tracks, running between Barons Court and Hammersmith 
Broadway stations. Beyond the railway lines, the scale of the built form reduces 
considerably, next to the rear boundaries and gardens of the terraced properties in 
Yeldham Road. Margravine Gardens and other surrounding residential streets view 
the site to the south, comprising low rise properties (typically 2-3 storeys). To the 
west, the site boundary is lined by several mature trees and adjoins the flank wall of 
a two-storey office/community building, known as the Lilla Huset Centre and the 
‘Ark’, a large 10 storey office building. To the east, there is a petrol station and 
beyond is the London Academy of Music and Dramatic Arts complex (LAMDA). 
 
1.4 Hammersmith Broadway is located approximately 450m to the north-west of 
the site, on the opposite side of the A4 and includes a key transport interchange 
underground station (District and Piccadilly lines) and bus interchange and 
approximately 5 minutes’ walk from the Hammersmith and City/Circle line services. 
The Hammersmith Broadway Shopping Centre is a large indoor shopping centre and 
a perimeter block of offices surrounded by the Hammersmith gyratory system. 
 
Designations 
1.5 The site has no specific site designation in the development plan, however, is 
situated within Hammersmith Town Centre and the Hammersmith Regeneration 
Area (HRA). Located within the Environment Agency’s Flood Risk 2/3. The site is not 
situated in a designated area of archaeological importance. There is however, an 
Archaeological Priority Area located close by to the west. The mature trees present 
along the west boundary of the site are the subject of a Tree Preservation Order 
(TPO’s). There is a Thames Water relief storm sewer which runs through the middle 
of the site. 
 
 

Page 158



Heritage 
1.6 The Hammersmith Magistrates Court building is not listed or locally listed, and 
the site does not fall within a conversation area. However, there are a number of 
heritage assets in the wider area including several conservation areas nearby. The 
Barons Court Conservation Area is to the east; the Hammersmith Odeon 
Conservation Area is to the west, and further west is The Mall Conservation Area. 
Both the 'Eventim Apollo' (former Hammersmith Odeon) theatre venue and St. Paul's 
Church located to the west of the site are Grade II* listed buildings. The Barons 
Court Underground Station to the east and 17 St. Dunstan’s Road to the south are  
Grade II listed buildings. Margravine Cemetery forms part of the Barons Court 
Conservation area and is designated as a Nature Conservation Area of Grade I 
Brough wide Importance. The 16.5 acres of cemetery land contains a number of 
distinctive monuments, three of which are listed buildings. At a greater distance is 
the Mall Conservation Area and Hammersmith Bridge, a Grade II* listed building. 
The 'Ark' office building is on the borough's Local Register of Buildings of Merit and 
is widely regarded as a local landmark. 
 
Transport 
1.7 The site is well served by public transport and has a public transport 
accessibility level (PTAL) of 6a/6b (excellent) on a scale of zero to 6b. The site is  
almost equal distance (approximately 300m) between Barons Court underground 
station and Hammersmith underground/bus stations. 
 
1.8 Vehicular access is via Talgarth Road. The main pedestrian access point is 
via a segregated footpath into the site on the southern side of Talgarth Road. There 
are signalised pedestrian crossings located to the west of the site underneath the 
Hammersmith flyover, providing connections across the gyratory road system to 
Hammersmith underground/bus stations to the north and the rest of Hammersmith 
town centre. Part of Talgarth Road forms part of the Transport for London Road 
Network (TLRN). 
 
Planning History 
1.9 The Magistrates Court building was granted permission in May 1989 under a 
Circular 18/84 (Crown Land and Crown Development) application submitted by the 
Metropolitan Police (ref: 1988/01940/GOV). 
 
1.10 There has been no significant planning history. Application history relate 
mostly to tree works. 
 
1.11 An Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) request for a Scoping Opinion, 
pursuant to Regulation 15 of the Town and Country Planning (EIA) Regulations 2017 
was submitted to the Council in November 2018 (ref: 2018/03820/SCOEIA). Related 
to the ‘Demolition of the existing building on site and the construction of two buildings 
ranging in height from 30 metres to 70 metres in height for hotel use (Use Class C1), 
providing approximately 850 hotel rooms, with ancillary food and beverage units, 
event space and affordable workspace (Use Class B1). The proposals also include 
two levels of basement, cycle parking and public open space.’ 
 
1.12 The scope of the Environmental Statement (ES) was agreed with by the 
Council in its decision dated 21st December 2018. 

Page 159



Proposal 
1.13 The application is for the re-development of the former Hammersmith 
Magistrates Court site. The proposal involves the demolition of the existing building 
and the erection of two hotel buildings, together with community space including 
affordable workspace and event/rehearsal space, ancillary roof top plant; servicing; 
cycle parking; creation of a new garden square; landscaping and enabling works. 
The two hotel buildings would accommodate a total of 808 bedrooms. For the 
purposes of the report, the two standalone hotels are identified as ‘Hotel 1’ (fronting 
Talgarth Road) and ‘Hotel 2’ (to the rear/southern end of the site, facing the railway 
lines). 
 
1.14 In land use terms, the proposed development is defined as a Class C1 (Hotel) 
use with ancillary Class B1(a) office space. The two hotels are design as standalone 
operations, however with shared amenity, parking, servicing and delivery 
arrangements (off Talgarth Road). The proposed 808 bedrooms are divided into 
Hotel 1 - 408 bedrooms and Hotel 2 – 400 bedrooms. The affordable workspace 
(18th and 19th floors), meeting rooms (20th floor), a roof garden bar (21st floor), and 
associated event/rehearsal space (basement level) are all provided in Hotel 1. 
 
1.15 In its original form, the proposed development comprised three distinct lateral 
blocks of varying heights, ranging between 6 to 26 storeys, split into two standalone 
hotels and accommodating up to 858 bedrooms. ‘Hotel 1’ included a ground plus 25-
storey hotel (and two levels of basement  floorspace), with ancillary restaurant, a roof 
top bar, conferencing facilities, one floor of affordable office workspace, gym, 
servicing and cycle parking facilities. The second hotel ‘Hotel 2’ is divided into two 
smaller volumes. A lower part 6 / part 8 storeys element connected to a taller, mid-
rise element rising to part 14 / part 15 storeys (and part basement level). The two 
hotels are linked by public open space, centred around a south facing garden square 
and delivery/servicing area. Both hotel entrances are located at ground floor level. 
Hotel 1 entrance would face Talgarth Road, while the entrance to Hotel 2 would be 
through the garden square. The office and roof top bar entrance is situated on 
Talgarth Road, but each will have their own dedicated lifts. The proposed event 
space located at basement level would have its entrance at ground floor on the 
western elevation of Hotel 1 with dedicated lifts and stairs. 
 
1.16 In response to the comments received during the first consultation, the 
proposed development was amended. The proposed amendments comprise: 
 
• Hotel 1 has been lowered in height by three storeys and internal uses have been 

rearrange. The tallest building has been reduced from ground plus 25 storeys to 
ground plus 22 storeys. The rear building (Hotel 2) remains as per the original 
submission. 

• The second basement level in Hotel 1 has been omitted. The layout of the 
remaining basement level and proposed event/rehearsal space has been 
rationalised. 

• The number of hotel bedrooms has been reduced from 858 to 808 (a decrease of 
50 rooms). 

• The affordable workspace provision has been increased from 746 m2 to 1527m2. 
An additional floor of affordable workspace is provided, and the space would be 

Page 160



located 18th and 19th floors of Hotel 1. These levels would be serviced by their 
own entrance and lifts, via the west elevation. 

• Meeting rooms would be provided on the 20th floor and part of the 21st floor of 
Hotel 1.  

• The 21st floor would comprise a publicly accessible rooftop bar with garden 
terrace. In addition to this, 2 meeting rooms would be provided on this floor which 
could also be use as private dining areas for the rooftop bar. 

 
1.17 The proposed floorspace within Hotel 1 has been reduced by 5,005 m2 (GEA) 
with the reduction in height of the building and basement floor area. As a result of the 
changes, the proposed development would have an overall total area of 35,779 m2 
gross external area (GEA) floorspace for the two buildings, divided in the following 
form: 
 
Type  Revised Total Floor Area 

(GEA m2)  
Previous Total Floor Area 
(GEA m2)  

Net Change  
(GEA m2) 

Hotel 1  20,958  25,963  -5,005  
Hotel 2  14,821  14,821  0  
    
Total 35,779 40,784  
 
1.18 In terms of Class C1 hotel only floorspace, the proposed development would 
provide 29,020m2 GEA (Hotel 1 - 15,641m2 GEA and Hotel 2 - 13,379m2 GEA). 
The development would provide 1,793m2 (GEA) affordable office workspace (Class 
B1a) floorspace (Hotel 1 only) and plant, servicing, and cycle parking. 
 
1.19 The main components of the proposed development are summarised in more 
detail below. 
 
Hotel 1: 
 
• 23 storeys (Ground + 22 floors above including plant) and a part single storey 

basement.  
• A 408 bed, full-service hotel (equivalent to 4*). 
• The hotel building comprises a long, rectangular form, with a maximum depth of 

16m on the upper floors, situated at the front (northern end) of the site, parallel 
with Talgarth Road and the Hammersmith Flyover. Setback 10-15m from the 
road by vehicular access, drop off/parking and landscaping. 

• The maximum height above ground is 69.85m (down from 77.2m). 
• At ground floor level, the hotel’s main entrance which includes the reception 

lobby would face Talgarth Road. A separate entrance to the basement space is 
located on the west elevation. Ancillary restaurant and bar open face onto the 
garden square to the south west corner of the building. Hotel gym is located on 
the first floor. 

• Floors 1-17 accommodate 408 hotel rooms (including 20 accessible and 20 
adaptable rooms). 

• 1,646m2 (GIA) of affordable office work space (Class B1(a)) would occupy the 
entire 18th and 19th floor, exclusively for use by small to medium size local 
businesses with dedicated lifts. 

Page 161



• The entire top floor (22nd floor) provides a roof top garden and bar, consisting of 
internal and external seating areas. This use would have a dedicated lift and 
would be available for public use. 

• Single basement level (1,264.5 m2 - GIA) to accommodate a variety of ancillary 
uses, including over 500 m2 rehearsal/conference space with a clear ceiling 
height of 4.5m. It is expected that the facilities would be accessible to both guests 
and the local community. The events and rehearsal space would have its own 
dedicated entrance and lifts via the west elevation of Hotel 1. 

• The east elevation would be clad with a green wall system one of the tallest 
green walls in London . 

• The building would also provide ancillary roof top plant, cycle parking and 
servicing. 

 
Hotel 2: 
 
• The hotel would comprise 2 smaller connected rectangular building blocks that 

step down in scale and height towards the south boundary of the site. The lower 
part being part 6/part 8 storeys, with the taller element rising to part 14/part 15 
storeys (and a part single storey basement level under the mid-rise block). 

• A 400-bed limited service hotel (equivalent to 3*), located to the rear of Hotel 1, 
accessed through the new public realm. 

• A internal landscaped courtyard at ground level that provides separation between 
the two blocks. 

• The maximum height of Hotel 2 above ground is 46.9m reducing to 19m to the 
south. 

• The 400 hotel rooms would be located across all the floors. 42 accessible rooms 
would be provided in total. 

• The ground floor would also accommodate a reception area, and a restaurant 
opening out onto the garden square to the south and west of the building. 

• Cycle parking would also be provided. 
• Back of house services are located at ground and basement level to the east of 

both Hotel 1 and 2. 
 
Landscaping Works: 
 
• The proposed development provides public realm within the site. This includes 

landscaping improvements along Talgarth Road to enhance the route between 
the site to Hammersmith station. 

• A south facing Garden Square shared by hotel and restaurant guests and the 
wider community. 

• Retention of 21 of the 22 existing mature trees on the site, including 8 trees along 
the northern boundary. One tree to be removed, located in the north-east corner 
of the site. A further 46 new trees are proposed as part of the landscape strategy 
to create a green buffer around the site. 

• Green roofs on the roof of the lower and mid-rise blocks providing sedum, 
wildflowers and grasses, forming a range of habitats and foraging opportunities 
including bird and bat boxes. 

• A 60m green wall would span most of the eastern elevation of the of the 
northernmost building. The living wall system would be made from 100% 

Page 162



organically grown planting and incorporate a fully automatic irrigation system of 
drainage from the roof of Hotel 1 to allow the wall to have the correct amount of 
water. 

• Provision for a possible future east to west connection link between the Ark and 
the petrol site between Hotel 1 and Hotel 2. 

 
Proposed Development Building Heights 
1.20 The proposed building heights vary across the blocks. The tallest element 
located towards the A4 and north of the site would be 70m high. The smaller blocks 
would be located to the south of the site and range between 19-50m in height.  The 
height of the proposed buildings is as follows: 
 

Hotel Height in metres (AOD) Height in storeys 
Hotel 1 69.85m 23 storeys 
Hotel 2 49.9m 15 storeys 
Hotel 2 41.7m 14 storeys 
Hotel 2 24.7m 8 storeys 
Hotel 2 19m 6 storeys 

 
Access and Parking 
1.21 The development would provide an active frontage along Talgarth Road. The 
development would have a designated drop off area outside the main hotel entrance 
and form a one-way through road. The proposed development would be car fee 
apart from 4 no. disabled parking spaces, drop off taxi parking and 2 coach parking 
spaces located on the northern boundary of the site. A total of 120 cycle parking 
spaces (108 long stay and 12 short stay) would be provided on site. 
 
Demolition and Construction works 
1.22 The proposed development would be built out in one phase. The demolition 
and construction works are expected to take approximately 3-4 years. A draft 
construction management plan, logistics plan and a basement works statement are 
included in the submission for consideration. 
 
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION 
 
Resident and Amenity Group Consultation 
2.1 Application was advertised as a major development that also affects the 
character and appearance of neighbouring conservation areas and accompanied by 
an Environmental Impact Assessment in accordance with EIA Regulations 2017. The 
application was publicised by way of a site notice (posted 8 February 2019) press 
advert (published 15 February 2019) and by way of 900 letters. 
 
2.2 A total of 102 objections received. The objections are summarised as follows: 
 
• High density and over-development of the site. 
• Development is excessively high. Would dominate and blight views from several 

hundred surrounding residential properties. 
• Intrusive, highly visible over a long distance, and out of scale and character with 

surrounding buildings. 

Page 163



• Oversized development that overwhelms neighbourhood in a disproportionate 
manner. 

• Overbearing, sense of enclosure and out of context with surrounding residential 
properties. 

• A monstrosity and an eyesore for miles around it. 
• Would dwarf the Ark, the Novotel, LAMDA and Charing Cross Hospital. 
• Would fill in, interrupt, dominate and blight the skyline; unbalance and reduce 

views from surrounding residential properties and Margravine Cemetery. 
• Hazard to aircraft on the approach to Heathrow. 
• Would obscure view of the Ark seen by people leaving London on the A4. 
• Should be refused or modified. Welcome a proportionate and thoughtful 

development. 
• Should be no taller than the Novotel or the Ark building. 
• Hammersmith town Centre has become cluttered by high-rise buildings, to the 

detriment of the residential character of the borough. 
• Height should be reduced by 5-10 stories and/or the present building. 
• Should be set back from the railway lines. 
• Ignores the future status of the Hammersmith Fly-over and its replacement by a 

tunnel should be taken into consideration. 
• Not in keeping with the surrounding residential nature or heritage of the area. 
• Would have an adverse effect on the character and appearance of the adjacent 

Barons Court Conservation Area. Does not make a positive contribution to the 
area. 

• Would have an adverse effect on the setting of the Ark and dominate and hid 
views on the A4. 

• Margravine Cemetery would be severely overlooked. 
• Development would loom over the cemetery, creating a distracting and over-

bearing backdrop and have a very negative impact on the open space and 
cemetery's conservation status. 

• Would have an adverse effect on the setting of the Listed Buildings in the 
cemetery, including the Lyons War Memorial, the Young Mausoleum, the 
Reception House and 17 St Dunstan's Road. 

• Townscape views have been very carefully selected. Do not fully represent the 
impact of the development. Further views required. 

• Many of the views in the conservation area and those incorporating listing 
buildings and beyond would be severely compromised. 

• Design has no architectural merit. Dull and ugly. Lacks flair and creativity. Old 
fashioned and unimaginative. 

• Concrete cladding would weather quickly following a period of exposure in these 
surroundings. 

• Share concerns of the Design Review Panel. 
• The ‘Ark’ building is iconic, very unusual and an important part of the 

Hammersmith townscape. 
• The ‘Ark’ is arguably one of the ugliest building in the whole country, is 

ridiculously high and dominates the skyline. 
• Support the objections expressed by the Hammersmith Society, Friends of 

Margravine Cemetery and the Resident Association of St Dunstan's Road and 
Margravine Gardens. 

• Blocks out daylight and impact on rights of light. 
• Brings overshadowing. 

Page 164



• Would Infringe overlooking and privacy standards from height/proximity of 
proposed bedrooms and roof-top bar. 

• Increase noise and vibration effects from operational trains and ‘bounce back’ off 
the proposed buildings on surrounding residential properties. Development would 
produce a tunnel effect, creating echo and increasing its disturbing effect. Only 
solution is covering the railway cutting. 

• Increase disruption, noise and dust pollution during construction works. 
• Noise and disturbance generated from the roof-top bar/restaurant and associated 

hotel plant/machinery. 
• Noise from outdoors seating for the restaurants on the ground floor. 
• Noise would be heard especially in the evening from surrounding residential 

properties. 
• Light pollution emitted from the two hotels at night would affect neighbouring 

residential properties. Advertising from the Novotel is already visible from 
surrounding residential streets. 

• Development would increase number of persons in the area and have an adverse 
effect. 

• Would affect highway safety with increased traffic generated by deliveries, 
coaches, minicabs and taxis, with only limited car parking provided on the site. 

• Vehicles coming in from the west would seek a route off the Broadway, e.g. via 
Fulham Palace Road, St Dunstan's Road and Margravine Gardens, before 
turning left onto this westbound carriageway by Barons Court Station. Rat 
running motorist would aggravate traffic congestion in the narrow side streets. 

• Staff working late-night or early-morning hours would seek to park in surrounding 
residential streets adversely affecting residents. 

• Would add pressure to public transport. Both Hammersmith and Barons Court 
stations are already struggling to cope. 

• Increase traffic congestion on Fulham Palace Road, Talgarth Road, and 
Hammersmith gyratory. The additional traffic would bring the area to a standstill 
and impact ambulances to and from Charing Cross Hospital. 

• Increase illegal U-turns at Barons Court Station or North End Road. 
• Increase traffic problems in the surrounding area during the construction phase. 
• Pedestrian environment to the hotel is unattractive and difficult to get to. 
• Development would lead to an increase in air pollution. Area already a hotspot. 
• 'Public open space' is tucked away and would be inaccessible to the general 

public. 
• The Magistrates Court is a community building and should be retained. 
• No benefit for local residents in use or amenity. Community benefits offered seem 

paltry. 
• Development does not contribute to a mixed economy of the town centre.  
• Development should be restricted to a housing use. Should provide genuinely 

affordable housing, meeting the local needs of young people, including student 
housing for LAMDA and Imperial College students, families, or the elderly.  

• Question necessity for two additional hotels. There are enough hotels and leisure 
venues in Hammersmith at present. 

• The hotels and restaurants would bring little to the area. 
• A lower hotel or office building with more trees and greenery would be far more 

appealing. 
• Lower buildings should be considered for the benefit of all the residents. 

Page 165



• Development would provide no benefit to residents as blocked by the railway 
lines. 

• Proposed improvements to the pedestrian environment would not benefit anyone 
other than those using the hotels. 

• Would encourage development to be BREEAM Excellent.  
• Developer should create a pedestrian / cycle bridge over the tube lines to the 

planned gardens from Yeldham Road to give easy access to the public amenity 
• S106 - local schools should be the priority and encourage community 

engagement. 
• Drawings presented by the developer at the exhibition were misleading. 
 
2.3 Upon the receipt of the revised proposals in June 2019, further publicity was 
undertaken for a period of 30 days in accordance with EIA Regulations 2017. 
Residents were given the opportunity to comment on the amendments received and 
the revisions were publicised by way of letters posted 28 June 2019, and a site 
notice and press advert. 
 
2.4 A  total of 37 objections have been received to this second round of 
consultation in addition to the amenity groups summarised above. In summary, it is 
considered that the reduction in height of the tallest hotel building does not make the 
scheme any more acceptable. It is still considered that the proposed development is 
too large, and out of character with the area and dominating the Hammersmith 
skyline, towering over all surrounding residential properties and Margravine 
Cemetery. The height of the nearby Ark building is referenced as a more appropriate 
guideline. Reference to previous objections relating to increased pressure on the 
local traffic, greater air pollution and noise and disturbance have also been cited. 
 
2.5 Four responses were received in support of the application and include 
representations from West London College and LAMDA. In summary, consider the 
proposed development would bring back the site into a good economic use and; 
commitment to provide apprenticeship and training opportunities for both the 
construction phase and the business operations once completed. The site is located 
close to good public transport links to inner London and Heathrow. The two hotels 
proposed, would cater for the market that exists in the area. Welcome the 
conferencing and leisure facilities bringing more people to work and stay in 
Hammersmith. Opportunities afforded to local businesses and start-ups through the 
affordable workspace are also supported and make a positive contribution to the 
availability of quality workspace in Hammersmith and would complement the two 
hotel uses. 
 
2.6 The following objections from amenity groups/resident groups have been 
received. The objections are summarised as follows: 
 
2.7 The Hammersmith Society (20/03/2019) & (29/09/2019) 
 
Object to the proposals on the following grounds: 

• The proposal offers a poor and uninspiring standard of development for 
Hammersmith town centre and the surrounding streetscape. 

• Contend development of the site solely for a hotel development. 
• Layout obstructs view of the Ark building approaching from the east. 

Page 166



• Verified views are selective. 
• The scale of the development is dominant from Biscay Road and Yeldham 

Road. Would have an adverse effect on the amenity of residents on these 
streets. 

• A lower development spreading the mass more evenly over the site would 
avoid overlooking, light spill, and noise reflection for these streets. 

• Despite pre-application discussions the proposals remain unexceptional. 
• Architecture reminiscent of 1960’s commercial architecture. 
• Re-constituted stone cladding on the tall building is a monotonous repetitive 

grid form, without visual relief or geometric hierarchy. 
• Planning conditions should be included requiring a full size two storey design 

mock-up to explore design refinement. 
• Architectural relief needed to the extensive prominent areas of brick cladding 

proposed on Buildings 2 and 3. The proposed mixture of materials lack visual 
coherence. 

• Vertical garden ‘wallpaper-like’ treatment (east elevation) on the tall building 
would be better integrated within the site landscaping, to create a natural 
appearance. 

• Landscape works appear uninviting and have limited recreational public 
benefit. 

• The proposed amendment does not address the fundamental failures of the 
application design and does not change the view summarised by the amenity 
group in the previous objection, as the development is considered to be an 
uninspiring scheme - a very substantial and visible development offering so 
little to the Hammersmith streetscape. Significant further design work is 
required before the scheme is worthy of consideration for planning approval. 

 
2.8      Hammersmith & Fulham Historic Buildings Group (15/04/2019 & 15/07/2019) 
 
Object to the proposals on the following grounds: 

• Proposals fail to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the 
Barons Court Conservation Area. 

• Setting of the conservation area would be badly affected by visual intrusion on 
surrounding streets causing overlooking, loss of privacy, overshadowing, night 
time and tube line noise and light pollution. 

• Adverse visual impact on Margravine Cemetery (particularly western half near 
to Margravine Road) by sense of enclosure and overlooking. 

• Fails to give due regard to setting of the listed buildings in the conservation 
area and cemetery. 

• Visible from 17 St Dunstan’s Road and fills the skyline when viewed from  
listed buildings in the cemetery. 

• Adverse effect on setting of BoM – Lilla Huset and The Ark. 
• High density/overdevelopment of the site. 
• Poor standard of design in terms of bulk, massing and materials. 
• Impact of the proposed development should take into consideration the 

proposals to replace Hammersmith Flyover. 
• Views have either been carefully chosen or do not include relevant views (e.g. 

outside 17 St Dunstan’s Road). 

Page 167



• Loss of community use should include improvements to the wider 
environment. 

• Absence of on-site car parking would result adverse effects on surrounding 
streets. 

• Development would aggravate traffic congestion in surrounding residential 
streets to the south. 

• The proposed development is contrary to the NPPF (2018), the Planning 
(Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (Sections 66 and 72), 
London Plan policies and Local Plan policies (E3, OS1, OS2, DC1, DC2, 
DC3, DC8). 

• Have studied the latest revisions and advise that all their points still remain. 
 
2.9 Friends of Margravine Cemetery (22/03/2019 & 29/07/2019) 
 
Object to the proposals on the following grounds: 

• Development looms over the cemetery (particularly western half). 
• Adverse effect on the character and appearance of the Barons Court 

Conservation Area; setting of the cemetery will be badly affected by sense of 
enclosure and overlooking. 

• Adverse effect on setting of the listed buildings in the cemetery - the Lyons 
War Memorial, the Young Mausoleum, the Reception House and 17 St 
Dunstan’s Road (just outside the cemetery). 

• Bulk, massing and design (detailing and materials) would be visually intrusive 
and does not reflect context or make a positive contribution to the appearance 
of the area or respect the setting of Margravine Cemetery. 

• Proposed development is overbearing, out of scale and character compared 
to existing development to the south and east reflecting its location on the 
edge of the town centre. 

• Townscape views (nos. 19, 20 and 21) are selective and do not fully represent 
the impact in the Barons Court Conservation Area. 

• The negative impacts outweigh the economic benefits to the borough. 
• The proposal would have the same order of impact on the neighbourhood as 

Charing Cross Hospital, without any of the mitigating benefits the hospital 
generates. 

• The proposed development is contrary to the NPPF (2018), the Planning 
(Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (Sections 66 and 72), 
London Plan policies and Local Plan policies (E3, OS1, OS2, DC1, DC2, 
DC3, DC8). 

• In terms of the revisions to the proposals, the Friends of Margravine Cemetery 
still find the development unacceptable and the points listed above still 
remain. 

 
2.10 Margravine Gardens & St. Dunstan’s Rd Residents Association (13/03/2019 & 

30/07/2019) 
 
Object to the proposals on the following grounds: 

• Adverse effect on residential amenity of the neighbourhood in terms of 
overlooking, loss of privacy, overshadowing, night-time noise and light 
pollution. 

Page 168



• Development looms over the houses, particularly those on the northside of 
Margravine Gardens, St Dunstan’s Road and nos. 86-92 Biscay Road. 

• Would have a negative impact on the character of the suburban streets in the 
Barons Court Conservation Area. 

• High density/overdevelopment of the site, squeezed between railway lines/A4 
and location opposite residential neighbourhood and locally listed building, the 
Ark and Lilla Huset. 

• Overbearing, out of scale and character compared to existing development to 
the south and east, reflecting its location on the edge of the town centre. 

• Adverse effect on highway safety and inconvenience local users in terms of 
traffic generated by deliveries, coaches, minicabs, and taxis. Increase traffic 
levels in Margravine Gardens and St. Dunstan’s Road on amenity of 
residential streets. would be used as a ‘rat run’ to the two hotels. Will impact 
on emergency services from Charing Cross Hospital.  

• No off-street parking provision would tempt staff and others to park in 
surrounding residential streets.  

• Townscape views do not fully represent the impact of the development on 
streets in the Barons Court Conservation Area. 

• Proposals would have the same order of impact on the neighbourhood as 
Charing Cross Hospital without any of the mitigating benefits the hospital 
generates. 

• Loss of the existing community use should consider benefit of local residents. 
• The proposed development is contrary to the NPPF (2018), the Planning 

(Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (Sections 66 and 72), 
London Plan policies and Local Plan policies (E3, OS1, OS2, DC1, DC2, 
DC3, DC8). 

• Reduction of the height of the proposed development would still not be in 
keeping with sense and intention of the Barons Court Conservation Area. 

• Development will result in a ‘white elephant’. 
 
2.11 Land Securities (Landsec & AccorInvest) on behalf of the Hotel Novotel 

(15/03/2019 & 01/08/2019) 
 
Object to the proposals on the following grounds: 

• The proposed development does not include an element of housing which is 
considered to be the Council’s “priority land use”, does not provide a true mix 
of uses and therefore fails to accord with the development plan. 

• Insufficient information regarding affordable workspace provision. 
• Insufficient information relating to how the hotel would be managed. 
• The proposed development would have adverse traffic impacts. 
• Insufficient information provided relating to the need for a hotel of this size 

and scale in this location. Would lead to an over-concentration of visitor 
accommodation in the area.  

• A Hotel Management Plan should be submitted alongside the application. 
• Uphold concerns despite revisions to the proposed development.  

 
External Consultees 
2.12 The following consultations from external consultees relate to the scheme 
submitted and are summarised below: 

Page 169



Department For Communities And Local Government 
2.13 Acknowledge receipt of the application. Confirm no comments to be made for 
the Environment Statement. 
 
GLA - Mayoral Referral (Stage I) 
2.14 Under the terms of the Town & Country Planning (Mayor of London) Order 
2008, the Greater London Authority (GLA) has been notified. The application is 
within the thresholds of potential strategic importance to London (Category IB.1(b): 
“Development…with a total floorspace of more than 20,000 square metres” and 
1C.1(c): ‘Development which…is more than 30 metres high and is outside the City of 
London’). 
 
2.15 The Mayor of London formally considered the proposal on 18 March 2019 and 
issued a Stage 1 report, a summary of which is set out below. The contents of the 
Stage 1 response have been considered by both the applicant and the Council and 
there have been discussions with the officers of the GLA and TfL to ensure that their 
concerns and comments have been properly addressed as far as is reasonably 
practicable. 
 
2.16 Should planning permission be granted, this application would be referred to 
the Mayor of London prior to the issue of any decision notice. The Mayor has a 
period of 14 days from the date of notification to consider the council's resolution 
before issuing a decision as to the call-in of the application for the Mayor to act as 
the local planning authority, or to allow the application to proceed. 
 
2.17 The Mayor’s Stage I supports the proposal in principle and makes the 
following comments: 
 

• Principles of development: In the absence of need for the existing social 
infrastructure, the proposed hotel, office, and community floorspace in the 
town centre site is supported. 

 
• Urban design: The approach to the layout, height, massing and architecture is 

considered appropriate for this town centre location. 
 

• Sustainable development: The applicant must provide further information and 
clarification for the carbon savings to be verified and compliance with the 
London Plan. 

 
• Transport: The Council must secure a Delivery and Servicing Plan, A 

Construction Logistics Plan, cycle provision and a revised Transport 
Assessment. 

 
Transport for London (TfL) 
2.18 No objection subject to the following information being provided: 
 

• Provide mode share assessment for the different elements of the proposed 
hotel use. 

• Undertake a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit for the proposed modified entry and 
exit points off Talgarth Road. 

Page 170



• Restrict coaches to no longer than 14 m in length. 
• Final Site Vehicle and Service Management Plan (SVSMP) to be conditioned. 
• Review cycle parking facilities, to be designed in line with London Cycle 

Design Standards (LCDS) including provision of shower/changing facilities for 
staff/workers. 

• Walking/Cycling conditions including lighting need to be improved between 
the site and Hammersmith Station. Section of Talgarth Road forms part of 
Cycle Future Route 23. Should be secured by the S106 agreement. 

• Travel Plan targets need to be more ambitious to increase walking /cycling 
and need to be reviewed and final Travel Plan should be secured by the S106 
agreement. 

• Secure the Delivery and Servicing Plan and Construction Logistics Plan by 
condition. 

 
London Underground 
2.19 No objection subject to a condition is included requiring a detailed design and 
method statement for all the demolition, foundations, basement, ground, and any 
other structures below ground level, including piling have been submitted for 
approval in consultation with London Underground. 
 
Historic England (15/02/2019 & 19/07/2019)  
2.20 Unable to support the proposals on the following grounds: 
The development’s height and location would likely be highly visible within the 
surrounding locality, have a negative impact on the skyline and viewpoints; appear 
prominent in the setting of nearby conservation areas and have an adverse and 
harmful impact on the historic environment, primarily the character and appearance 
of The Mall Conservation Area. Historic England urge Council to seek revisions to 
address harm to this conservation area and views and encourage options to reduce 
the presence of the tallest block through redistribution of density to the lower block 
element of the site. 
 
2.21 Historic England acknowledged and welcomed the reduction in height of the 
tallest block, which would lessen the development’s visual prominence somewhat. 
However, in light of previous concerns regarding not only the proposed scale of the 
development, but its inherently modern materiality, Historic England do not consider 
the revised scheme is sufficient to alleviate the harm previously identified. 
 
Historic England -  Greater London Archaeological Advisory Service 
2.22 No comments received. 
 
Environment Agency 
2.23 No objection. Recommend that finished floor levels are set above the 2100 
breach flood level, which is 5.1m AOD where feasible, to improve flood resilience. 
 
Thames Water 
2.24 Request conditions be added to any planning permission to determine the 
waste water infrastructure needs and the existing water supply infrastructure has 
insufficient capacity to meet the additional demands for the proposed development.  
 
 

Page 171



Civil Aviation Authority 
2.25 Recommend London Westland Heliport be advised of the proposal. Notice 
should be served or structures (including temporary such as cranes) above height of 
300ft (91.4m) ground level. Crane operator should contact the CAA's Airspace 
Regulation (AR) section. Cranes above height of 60m or more would need to be 
equipped with aviation warning lighting in line with CAA guidance. Also recommend 
contacting local emergency services Air Support Units through the National Police 
Air Service (NPAS) organisation. 
 
Crime Prevention Officer 
2.26 No comment received. 
 
Disability Forum 
2.27 Request a condition be included for an Inclusive Access Management Plan 
and provided advice relating to the public realm, public areas inside the buildings, 
provision of accessible and adaptable bedrooms and fire strategy to be incorporated 
into the design of the proposed development. 
 
Community Engagement 
2.28 In respect of community involvement, the applicants undertook a continuous 
programme of engagement with local stakeholders, local groups and residents 
throughout a pre-application period of approximately 10 months (March 2018 – 
January 2019). This included pre-application meetings with officers and a 
presentation of the emerging proposals to the Design Review Panel on 18 July 2018. 
 
Design Review Panel 
2.29 The panel questioned some elements including the use of the public realm 
and spacing between the buildings and encouraged further design development to 
enhance the quality. Suggested further work in terms of the connections to and 
around the site, provide a better relationship with the adjoining ARK building and 
reduce impact to the residential neighbourhood to the south. 
 
2.30 Officers requested further design amendments and clarification during the 
pre-application stage. Amendments included a reduction to the height/massing of the 
most rearward block opposite residential properties on Yeldham Road (to the south), 
and design changes to the front hotel, including at roof level to conceal the plant. 
 
2.31 The Statement of Community Involvement (SOCI) submitted in support of the 
planning application summarises the pre-application engagement undertaken by the 
applicant for proposals to redevelop the site. A two full-day public exhibition of the 
emerging proposals was held at the Lilla Huset Centre on Friday 23rd November 
2018 and Saturday 24th November 2018. A leaflet-style invitation to the exhibition 
was distributed to 8,298 addresses surrounding the site, including both residential 
properties and businesses. The exhibition was advertisement in the Ealing Gazette 
(covering Hammersmith and Fulham), as well as on Get West London online. In 
addition, stakeholders and amenity groups were invited to the exhibition or to a ‘one 
to one’ presentation. 
 
2.32 In total the SOCI states there were 40 attendees across the two exhibition 
days (19 attendees on the Friday and 21 attendees on the Saturday). Feedback was 

Page 172



recorded via questionnaires available to complete in writing or online at the 
exhibition. Freepost envelopes were provided for those wishing to return the 
questionnaires later. 
 
2.33 In total 8 feedback forms were received. The SOCI confirms that 50% of 
attendees were in support of the proposals. Most residents and stakeholders 
admired the design, especially the green wall. They also agreed that the garden 
square, rooftop bar, affordable workspace and event/meeting space would make a 
positive contribution to the local community. Main areas of concern were from 
residents living close to the site about the potential impact on views, light and noise; 
as well as whether there was a need for more hotels; and the potential obstruction of 
views of The Ark. 
 
2.34 A further post submission consultation was carried out by the applicant which 
coincided with the start of the Council’s statutory publicity and consultation for the 
application. The applicant undertook a further ‘drop-in’ session for residents and 
businesses on Friday 1 February and Saturday 2 February 2019. The purpose of the 
exhibition was to focus on the design and massing of the proposals, in response to 
concerns raised during the first public consultation. 
 
3.0 ENVIRONMENTAL STATEMENT 
 
3.1 The development falls within Part 10 (b) (Infrastructure Projects – Urban 
Development Projects) of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulation 2017. 
 
3.2 The threshold for developments under column 1 of Schedule 2, 10(b) are that: 

• The development includes more than 1 hectare of urban development which 
is not dwelling house development; or 

• The development includes more than 150 dwellings; or 
• The overall area of the development exceeds 5 hectares. 

 
3.3 The proposed development falls below the thresholds / criteria set out within 
this classification. The site area is 0.67 hectares and provides no dwellings. The 
applicant has considered the potential for likely significant environmental effects and 
has identified that some technical topics should be addressed through the EIA 
process. These relate to climate change; wind microclimate; daylight, sunlight, 
overshadowing and solar glare; townscape, heritage, and visual and effective 
interactions. 
 
3.4 On this basis, the applicant elected to voluntarily undertake an EIA, and an 
Environmental Statement (ES) supports the application. The ES which accompanied 
the application was submitted in response to a Scoping Opinion issued by the 
Council on 21 December 2018. The original ES was submitted in January 2019 and 
the ES Addendum (in response to the changes made to the application) was 
submitted in June 2019. The proposed amendments relate to the changes to Hotel 1 
and the underground basement. 
 
 
 

Page 173



3.5 The ES comprises: 
 
Volume I: Main Technical Assessments: The main body of the ES. Details the 
results of environmental investigations, effects arising and proposed mitigation 
measures: 
 

• Chapter 1: Introduction and EIA Methodology 
• Chapter 2: Alternatives and Design Evolution 
• Chapter 3: The Proposed Development 
• Chapter 4: Wind Microclimate 
• Chapter 5: Daylight, Sunlight, Overshadowing and Solar Glare 
• Chapter 6: Townscape, Heritage and Visual 
• Chapter 7: Effect Interactions 
• Chapter 8: Likely Significant Effects 
• Chapter 9: Mitigation and Monitoring Schedule 

 
Volume II: Technical Appendices: See below. 
 

• Appendix Introduction and EIA Methodology 
• Annex 1: EIA Scoping Report 
• Annex 2: EIA Scoping Opinion 
• Annex 3: Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Bat Survey Report 
• Annex 4: Phase 1 Contamination Assessment Report (Ground 

Contamination) 
• Annex 5: Archaeological Desk Based Assessment 
• Annex 6: Demolition and Construction Mitigation Measures (Draft CEMP) 

 
• Appendix Wind Microclimate 
• Annex 1: Planning Policy Context 
• Annex 2: Technical Report 

 
• Appendix Daylight, Sunlight, Overshadowing and Solar Glare 
• Annex 1: Legislative and Planning Policy Context; 
• Annex 2: Methodology and Baseline; 
• Annex 3: Drawings; 
• Annex 4: Daylight and Sunlight Impact Assessment; 
• Annex 5: Overshadowing Assessment; and 
• Annex 6: Solar Glare Assessment. 

 
• Appendix Townscape, Heritage and Visual  
• Annex 1: Townscape, Heritage, and Visual Impact Assessment 

 
Non-Technical Summary: Summarises the key findings of the ES in nontechnical 
language. 
 
3.6 The ES informs readers of the nature of the proposed development and the 
likely environmental effects. It also presents the measures proposed to eliminate, 
reduce, or mitigate any likely significant adverse effects on the environment (referred 

Page 174



to as ‘mitigation’ measures). The ES identifies environmental impacts and the effects 
during the demolition and construction phase, and on completion and occupation of 
the proposed development. 
 
3.7 The ES (June 2019) Addendum builds on the analysis and assessments 
presented in the January 2019 ES. Provides updated information where necessary 
to assess the likely significant effects of the proposed amendments to the 
development. The assessment is specifically focussed on Chapter 4: Wind 
Microclimate (confirming no material changes); Chapter 5: Daylight and Sunlight 
(providing an update to the ES chapter); and Chapter 6: Townscape, Heritage and 
Visual (providing an update to ES chapter). 
 
3.8 The ‘scale’ of the predicted effects have been classified according to the 
following scale. The definitions of the scale used follow either that set out below, or, 
as specified within the individual technical ES chapters: 
 
‘Negligible’: Effects which are beneath levels of perception, within normal bounds of 
variation or within the margin of forecasting error, these effects are unlikely to 
influence decision-making, irrespective of other effects; 
‘Minor’: These effects may be raised as local issues and may be of relevance in the 
detailed design of the project, but are unlikely to be critical in the decision-making 
process; 
‘Moderate’: These effects, if adverse, are likely to be important at a local scale and 
on their own could have a material influence on decision-making; and 
‘Major’: These effects may represent key factors in the decision-making process. 
Potentially associated with sites and features of national importance or likely to be 
important considerations at a regional or district scale. Major effects may relate to 
resources or features which are unique and which, if lost, cannot be replaced, or 
relocated. 
 
3.9 The definitions of the ‘nature’ of the resultant effect which are used throughout 
the ES are provided below: 
 
‘Adverse’: Detrimental or negative effects to an environmental / socio-economic 
resource or receptor. The quality of the environment is diminished or harmed; 
‘Beneficial’: Advantageous or positive effect to an environmental / socio-economic 
resource or receptor. The quality of the environment is enhanced; and 
‘Neutral’: Where the quality of the environment is preserved or sustained or where 
there is an equal balance of benefit and harm. 
 
3.10 Effects are also generally assigned a geographic extent (local, regional, or 
national) and duration (temporary or permanent). In addition, the ES identifies the 
potential for direct and indirect effects, interactions and cumulative effects. 
 
3.11 The EIA submitted has considered the effects of the proposed development 
during demolition and construction, and once the development is fully complete and 
occupied. The ES concludes that during the demolition and construction stages, it is 
expected that the development would result in effects. In terms of daylight, sunlight, 
and overshadowing these are expected to be of a temporary nature. Once the 
proposed development is fully complete and occupied, likely significant adverse 

Page 175



effects are limited to daylight, overshadowing and solar glare. Significant beneficial 
and neutral effects relate to with townscape views, conservation areas and heritage 
assets including listed and locally listed buildings. 
 
3.12 Demolition and Construction 
 
The EIA states that during the demolition and construction works, likely significant 
adverse effects are limited to demolition and construction works and related daylight 
effects to properties at 63, 65, 73, 77, 79, 82, 87, 89, 90, 91, 92, 93, 95, 96, 97 
Yeldham Road and properties 88,90,92 Biscay Road, overshadowing to communal 
gardens serving properties on Shortlands and Nazareth House Convent. 
 
3.13 Completed Development 
 
The EIA process has demonstrated that, once the Proposed Development is fully 
complete and occupied, likely significant adverse effects are limited to daylight 
effects to properties at 63, 65, 73, 77, 79, 82, 87, 89, 90, 91, 92, 93, 95, 96, 97 
Yeldham Road and properties 88,90,92 Biscay Road, overshadowing to communal 
gardens serving properties on Shortlands and Nazareth House Convent, and solar 
glare effects to three view points along Talgarth Road/A4 Westbound. Once the 
Proposed Development is fully complete and occupied, likely significant neutral and 
beneficial effects relate only to Townscape, Heritage and Visual. Significant neutral 
effects relate to changes in 1 townscape view assessed, 1 Conservation Area and 
the setting of 1 Listed Building. Significant beneficial effects ranging from moderate 
to major in scale relate to changes in 13 townscape views assessed, 2 Conservation 
Areas and the setting of 8 Listed Buildings and 11 Locally Listed Buildings. 
 
3.14 A more detailed summary of the main EIA conclusions is provided in Section 
4 below and conditions or planning obligations have been recommended 
accordingly. 
 
Other Supporting Information 
 
3.15 In addition to the ES the following documents support the application: 
 
•Design and Access Statement and drawings; 
•Air Quality Assessment; 
•Construction Statement for Basements; 
•Draft Demolition and Construction Management Plan; 
•Outline Construction Logistics Plan; 
•Hotel Need Assessment; 
•Flood Risk Assessment, incorporating Sustainable Urban Drainage Statement; 
•Noise Impact Assessment; 
•Site Vehicle and Service Management Plan; 
•Energy Statement; 
•BREEAM Pre-Assessment (for Hotel 1 and Hotel 2); 
•Transport Assessment; 
•Framework Travel Plan; 
•Tree Survey; 
•Aboricultural Method Statement; 

Page 176



•Ventilation Statement; and 
•Statement of Community Involvement. 
 
4.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Policy Framework  
4.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 and the Localism Act 2011 are the principal statutory 
considerations for town planning in England. 
 
4.2 Collectively the three Acts create a plan led system which requires local 
planning authorities to determine planning applications in accordance with an 
adopted statutory development plan unless there are material considerations which 
indicate otherwise (section 38(6) of the 2004 Act as amended by the Localism Act). 
 
4.3 In this instance the statutory development plan comprises the London Plan 
(2016), the Local Plan (2018) and the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning 
Document - 2018 (hereafter referred to as Planning Guidance SPD). A number of 
strategic and local supplementary planning guidance and other documents are also 
material to the determination of the application. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) 
4.4 The revised National Planning Policy Framework was published on 24 July 
2018 and updated in February 2019. The application has been evaluated against the 
Development Plan and the NPPF and the Authority has assessed the application 
against the core planning principles of the NPPF and whether the proposals deliver 
“sustainable development.” 
 
4.5 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development which for decision taking means approving development proposals that 
accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay; or where there are no 
relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless the 
application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 
 
4.6 NPPF Paragraph 118 (in Part 11 Making Effective Use of Land) requires that 
Planning decisions should (a) encourage multiple benefits from urban land through 
mixed use schemes and taking opportunities to achieve net environmental gain (et 
al); (c) give substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within 
settlements for homes and other identified needs (et al) and (d) promote and support 
the development of under-utilised land and buildings (et al). 
 
The London Plan 
4.7 The London Plan was published in July 2016. It sets out the overall strategic 
plan for London and a fully integrated economic, environmental, transport and social 
framework for the development of the Capital over the next 20-25 years. It forms part 
of the development plan for Hammersmith and Fulham. 

Page 177



The Draft New London Plan (November 2017)  
4.8 On 29 November 2017, the Greater London Authority published their Draft 
London Plan. The consultation period ended on 2 March 2018. In August 2018 the 
Mayor published a revised version of the draft Plan that includes minor suggested 
changes. Consultation comments relating to the draft Plan have been reviewed by 
the independent Planning Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State and the 
Plan’s formal Examination in Public (EIP) took place from January to May 2019. 
Following the examination, a draft Plan – Consolidated version was published in July 
2019. The 'consolidated' version shows all of the Mayor's suggested changes 
following the EIP. All of the suggested changes, along with submitted evidence, 
would now be considered by the Panel whose examination report was expected to 
be submitted to the Mayor in September 2019. 
 
4.9       It is expected that the new London Plan will be adopted in early 2020. Once 
adopted, the new London Plan would replace the policies of the current London Plan 
(2016) and would become the new regional Spatial Development Strategy. 
 
4.10       The policies within the Draft London Plan carry limited material weight at the 
time of writing the report however, have been considered and reference to key 
policies has been made where appropriate. 
 
The Local Plan 
4.11 The Council adopted the new Local Plan on 28 February 2018. The policies in 
the Local Plan together with the London Plan make up the statutory development 
plan for the borough. The Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) (February 2018) is also a material consideration in determining planning 
applications. Provides supplementary detail to the policies and is organised around 
key principles. 
 
4.12 With regard to this application, all planning policies in the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF), London Plan, Local Plan 2018, and Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPD) which have been referenced where 
relevant in this report have been considered with regards to equalities impacts 
through the statutory adoption processes, and in accordance with the Equality Act 
2010 and Council's PSED. Therefore, the adopted planning framework which 
encompasses all planning policies which are relevant in officers' assessment of the 
application are considered to acknowledge protected equality groups, in accordance 
with the Equality Act 2010 and the Council's PSED. 
 
4.13 The policies within the Local Plan aim to ensure development within the 
borough accords with the spatial vision of the borough. The key policies relevant to 
the proposals are: 
 

• Strategic Site Policy HRA – Hammersmith Regeneration Area  
• Policy E1 – Range of Employment Uses  
• Policy E2 - Land and Premises for Employment Uses  
• Policy E3 – Provision of Visitor Accommodation 
• Policy E4 – Local Employment, Training and Skill Development Initiatives  
• Policy DC1 - Built Environment 
• Policy DC2 - Design of New Build 

Page 178



• Policy DC3 - Tall Buildings  
• Policy DC7 – Views and Landmarks 
• Policy DC8 – Heritage and Conservation 
• Policy OS1 – Parks and Open Spaces  
• Policy OS5 – Greening the Borough 
• Policy TLC1- Hierarchy of Town and Local Centres  
• Policy T1 – Transport  
• Policy T2 – Transport Assessments and Travel plans  
• Policy T3 - Increasing and promoting Opportunities for Cycling & Walking  
• Policy T4 - Vehicle Parking Standards  
• Policy T5 – Blue Badge Parking  
• Policy T7 – Construction and Demolition Logistics  
• Policy CC1 – Reducing Carbon Dioxide Emissions  
• Policy CC2 - Ensuring Sustainable Design and Construction  
• Policy CC3 – Minimising Flood Risk and Reducing Water Use  
• Policy CC4 – Minimising Surface Water Run-off with Sustainable Drainage 

Systems  
• Policy CC7 – On-Site Waste Management  
• Policy CC9 - Contaminated Land  
• Policy CC10 – Air Quality  
• Policy CC11 – Noise  
• Policy CC12 – Lighting Pollution  
• Policy CC13 – Control of Potentially Polluting Uses 
• Policy CF1 – Supporting Community Facilities 
• Policy CF2 - Enhancement of Community Uses 
• Policy CF3 Enhancement of Arts, Leisure…uses. 

 
4.14 A Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is currently being prepared for 
the Hammersmith Regeneration Area which would guide development taking place 
within the area up to 2035. The Council has been collaborating with the appointed 
Hammersmith Residents Working Party and Grimshaw Architects to produce a 
Masterplan for Hammersmith which sets out a vision and design strategy for 
regeneration of the area. The SPD would need to be in conformity with the policies in 
the Local Plan and cannot introduce new policy, targets or site designations. 
 
4.15 The Draft Masterplan and SPD are currently being finalised and are 
anticipated to be published for public consultation in Autumn 2019. Given the draft 
status of the Masterplan and SPD at this current time, they have no material weight 
when assessing planning applications and have therefore not been formally 
considered by the applicant. However, officers have considered the proposed 
development in line with the Council’s aspirations for the Hammersmith 
Regeneration Area. 
 
4.16 The main planning considerations to determine the merit of the proposed 
development are: land use and acceptability of a hotel development in this location; 
employment uses; the quantum of the development in terms of its height, scale and 
massing, the design quality/external appearance, including materials of the proposed 
buildings; the impact of the development on the street scene and character and 
appearance of the surrounding conservation areas, the setting of adjacent listed 

Page 179



buildings and buildings of merit and surrounding townscape; impact on the existing 
amenity of the neighbouring properties in terms of noise, vibration, light, privacy, 
outlook and glare; traffic generation, servicing and parking; accessibility; energy 
efficiency and sustainability; and environmental impacts including flood risk and 
drainage, air quality and land contamination. 
 
Planning Assessment 
 
Principle of Development - Land Use 
4.17 The site is located in the Hammersmith Regeneration Area (Policy HRA) and 
Town Centre. Strategic Policy HRA sets a target of delivering 2,800 homes and 
10,000 indicative new jobs within the Hammersmith Regeneration Area and 
encourages the regeneration of the town centre and building upon the centre’s major 
locational advantages for office and retail development. Policy HRA seeks to actively 
engage with residents in delivering benefits for the surrounding area; supports a 
wide range of retail, office, local government services, leisure, arts, entertainment, 
community facilities and housing; promotes the continuation of the town centre as a 
key strategic office location through provision of modernised office blocks; and 
supports proposals that extend Hammersmith’s arts and leisure offer. 
 
4.18 Policy HRA states that proposals within the regeneration area should respond 
positively to local character and history, taking opportunities to enhance heritage 
assets; improve pedestrian and cycle infrastructure; improve the range and quality of 
specialist shops and services; provide appropriate social, physical, environmental 
and transport infrastructure; secure economic benefits for the wider community 
through job opportunities and recruitment; and seek the creation of public spaces, 
architecture and public realm of the highest quality. 
 
4.19 The application site is situated in the boundary of Strategic Site Policy HRA2 
(A4, Hammersmith Flyover, Hammersmith Gyratory and Adjoining land). This 
strategic policy is however relevant to development proposals coming forward 
following the release of land for development if the Hammersmith flyover and 
sections of the A4 are replaced with a tunnel. This policy is not specifically related to 
the application site and therefore of limited weight. 
 
4.20 The hotel proposals would assist in meeting aspirations to regenerate the 
town centre of Hammersmith. The proposal seeks to interact with local residents, 
businesses and creatives arts. In addition, to a publicly accessible roof top garden 
and bar and ancillary restaurant uses situated on the ground floor of both hotels, 
open to public use and not limited to hotel patrons only, the proposal would provide 
an event space open to use by the local community and affordable office workspace 
and meeting rooms run as a social investment. 
 
4.21 The proposal seeks to meet the strategic employment targets for the 
regeneration area and would provide a positive contribution to the economy and 
place making in the town centre, in accordance with Policy HRA. Officers do not 
raise objection to the principle of the land uses proposed, which are considered 
appropriate within this town centre location, and are consistent with relevant national, 
regional, and local planning policies.  
 

Page 180



Former Magistrates Court Use 
4.22 London Plan Policy 3.16 and Draft London Plan Policy S1 seek to protect 
and enhance social infrastructure provision, including justice facilities. London Plan 
Policy CF1 of the Local Plan states that unless there is clear evidence that there is 
no longer an identified need for a particular facility or service, or where that facility or 
service can be appropriately replaced or provided elsewhere in the locality the 
existing use would be protected. Policy CF2 requires new community uses to be 
compatible with and minimise impact on the local environment and be accessible 
and inclusive to all in the community and Policy CF3 supports enhancement of arts, 
culture, entertainment, leisure, recreation and sport uses. 
 
4.23 The closure of the Hammersmith Magistrates’ Court was agreed by the 
Ministry of Justice in February 2017, following a public consultation and review 
process of its court provision in London by the HM Courts & Tribunals Service in 
2016. The consultation concluded that the Hammersmith Magistrates’ Court function 
was surplus to the MoJ’s requirements and existing services would be consolidated 
into other existing court facilities. This enable the disposal of the land. The applicant 
acquired the site in 2017 and the magistrates’ function ceased in September 2017. 
 
4.24 The former court building comprises approximately 6,361 sqm (GIA) floor 
space spread over the three floors. This is a purpose built building, designed 
specifically with judicial facilities and security in mind, with the main public facilities 
limited to the front part of the building at ground floor level and with secure car 
parking to the rear. In land use terms, the former magistrates court is described as 
Class D1 space. However, the nature of a magistrates’ court is distinct from other 
forms of “social infrastructure” uses under a Class D1 classification. Following the 
closure of the court facilities, the building is vacant and unlikely to attract occupation 
for a similar use or alternative Class D1 use without significant major refurbishment 
and cost. The current building does not optimise the site’s development potential and 
would be difficult to convert, as it is a deep building with areas of no direct daylight. 
The proposal seeks to replace the redundant, former use with a modern hotel led 
development. As set out below, a proposed hotel led development is supported in 
policy terms and would provide significant employment in the local area plus other 
forms of services and facilities for the community.  
 
4.25 The proposed development provides a range of community benefits in 
response to the loss of the Class D1 use. The development would provide the 
following uses: 

• Affordable workspace – 18th/19th floors of Hotel 1 
• Community Rehearsal space – Basement of Hotel 1 
• Meeting rooms 20th and part 21st floors of Hotel 1 
• Roof top bar/restaurant –21st floor of Hotel 1 
• New publicly accessible garden square – between Hotel 1 and 2 
• Public realm enhancements to Talgarth Road 

 
4.26 The affordable workspace would be provided on the 18th/19th floor of Hotel 1. 
The space would serve the needs of the local community through the provision of 
flexible workspace for small to medium local businesses at affordable rates in 
Hammersmith town centre. In conjunction with the meeting rooms provided, the hotel 
use would deliver approximately 2,500 m2 office floorspace for local entrepreneurs 

Page 181



to meet and work at any time of day. It is considered that the proposed facilities 
would provide and ideal destination for entrepreneurs and start-ups, as well as 
media and creative businesses, offering informal work space, meeting areas and 
networking opportunities. 
 
4.27 A particular interest of the development proposals is the potential of 
supporting the borough's emerging Arts and Cultural Strategy. The applicant has 
confirmed its support for this strategy and to provide community space within their 
hotel scheme. The event/rehearsal space in the basement of Hotel 1 would be 
available for hire to the local community, with the key aim of extending the range and 
quality of facilities available to leisure and the arts to this part of the town centre. It is 
expected that the use of this space would be publicly accessible and provide a 
programmable rental space, serving the local community run in conjunction with the 
council. Further details on the exact nature and operation of this space need to be 
agreed through a joint community agreement between the applicant and council and 
would be secured through the S106 agreement. The proposals would also provide a 
significant quantum of recreational uses which include the amenities provided in 
association with space inside the hotels (food and beverage offer and conferencing 
facilities) and access to an extensive green areas of publicly accessible landscape 
space in the form of a new garden square. The proposed hotel development 
therefore accords with the objective of addressing the loss of the former use and 
complies with London Plan Policy 3.16 and Policy CF1,and CF3 of the Local Plan. 
 
Hotel use 
4.28 Policy 2.15 of the London Plan seeks to sustain and enhance the vitality 
and viability of town centres through accommodating economic growth and 
supporting and enhancing the competitiveness, quality and diversity of town centre 
retail, leisure, employment and arts and cultural uses. Draft London Plan Policy 
SD7 states specifically that major town centres should secure opportunities for 
higher density employment and leisure development. The proposed hotel led 
development with ancillary affordable workspace, community space and ancillary 
restaurant and public open space complies with these policies. 
 
4.29 Policy 4.5 of the London Plan (London’s Visitor Infrastructure) supports 
the visitor economy. The policy states that the Mayor seeks “to achieve 40,000 net 
additional hotel bedrooms by 2036, of which at least 10 per cent should be 
wheelchair accessible”. The policy goes on to advise that “beyond the Central 
Activities Zone (CAZ) [hotels] should be focussed in town centres and opportunity 
and intensification areas, where there is good public transport access to central 
London and international and national transport termini”. Policy E10 in the draft 
London Plan identifies an increased demand for hotel bedrooms, setting a target of 
58,000 net additional bedrooms by 2041 which is an average of 2,230 bedrooms per 
annum. The site is located in one of the borough’s town centres and regeneration 
areas and within proximity to two London Underground stations and bus station. A 
proposed hotel development on this site is therefore considered to comply with this 
policy. 
 
4.30 Local Plan Policy E3 identifies new visitor accommodation and facilities 
within the three town centres, and the Earls Court and White City Regeneration 
Areas, subject to compliance with the following criteria:  

Page 182



 
• The development being well-located in relation to public transport;  
• The development and any associated uses not having a detrimental impact on 

the local area;  
• No loss of priority uses such as permanent housing;  
• Provision of adequate off-street servicing and pick up points for the type of 

facility proposed;  
• At least 10% of hotel bedrooms designed as wheelchair accessible;  
• The facility being of a high standard of design; and  
• The scheme adding to the variety and quality of visitor accommodation 

available locally. 
 
4.31 The proposed development would provide visitor accommodation in the 
Hammersmith regeneration area and town centre, providing 808 bedrooms across 
two hotels. The development therefore assists London and its target for additional 
hotel bedrooms, in accordance with London Plan Policy 4.5. In addition, officers 
consider the proposed development would meet the criteria set out in Local Plan 
Policy E3. The site has excellent transport connections. The site is situated within 5 
minutes’ walk of Hammersmith underground station, a key interchange for the 
District, Piccadilly, Circle and Hammersmith and City lines and Barons Court station. 
Furthermore, there are a number of bus stops, the key bus station at the Broadway 
and cycle hire stands all in close proximity. The site features no housing and as such 
none would be lost from the proposal. Due to the physical constraints and 
characteristics of the site, a residential development would be significantly 
challenging in policy terms and for the reason of the existing poor air quality and high 
levels of background noise resulting from the site’s position next to the A4 and 
underground lines. The principle issue of the loss of the magistrate’s court and the 
case for consolidation has already been reviewed and agreed by the Ministry of 
Justice. Adequate off-street servicing and disabled parking would be provided and at 
least 10% of the hotel bedrooms are designed as wheelchair accessible. As detailed 
within the report and reports submitted in support of the application, the hotel 
development and its associated uses would not have a detrimental impact on the 
local area and is considered to be of an acceptable standard of design. This final 
point is considered in more detail below. 
 
4.32 A hotel needs assessment has been submitted with the application. The 
assessment identifies that there is a strong leisure and business demand from both 
domestic and international travellers in Hammersmith, and there is a limited amount 
of existing and proposed new visitor accommodation supply, with a lack of upscale 
quality hotels in the immediate surrounding area. The assessment summarises that 
the site is in a desirable location, within walking distance of Hammersmith 
underground and bus stations with good links to Heathrow airport, the M4 and 
Central London. The applicant states that the intention is for the hotel offer (Hotel 1) 
to be occupied by visitors at the higher end of the market and Hotel 2 to be occupied 
by an operator equivalent to a 3 star hotel. 
 
4.33 Whilst other hotels are present or intended within the town centre, the scheme 
would add to the variety and quality of visitor accommodation available locally while 
providing a high end facility in a key location both within the centre and within 
London generally. Visitor accommodation is encouraged and supported by policy as 

Page 183



a use within Hammersmith town centre and would contribute to the vitality and 
viability of this major town centre. The application site is key component of the 
proposed regeneration of Hammersmith town centre and Policy HRA supports a 
comprehensive redevelopment. Unlike most hotel models put forward which are 
inward focus, the hotel development under consideration look outwards, actively 
seeking interaction with residents, businesses, and creative uses. In addition to 
providing publicly accessible affordable workspace and community space, meeting 
rooms and bars and restaurants, the public would have access to the garden space. 
The proposed hotel development therefore accords with the objectives within the 
regeneration area and be beneficial to the town centre as a location for additional 
visitor accommodation. Therefore, officers consider that a hotel development in this 
location is suitable in land use terms in accordance with London Plan Policy 4.5 for 
providing additional accommodation within town centres (and Opportunity Areas) 
and the criteria outlined in Policy E3 of the Local Plan. 
 
Affordable Workspace - Office Use 
4.34 London Plan Policy 4.1 supports new office development across the capital 
and supports the growth of high quality office stock in inner London to provide an 
attractive offer to potential occupiers The draft London Plan continues to support 
office growth in inner London, directing new office floorspace to town centre 
locations. Draft London Plan Policy E2 (C) states that the applicant should show 
how a proportion of low cost and flexible business space would be incorporated into 
the proposals to provide workspace suitable for small and medium sized enterprises. 
Draft London Plan policy E3 introduces a strategic focus on the delivery of 
affordable workspace, defining affordable workspace as that which is provided at 
rents maintained below market rate for a period and makes reference to rehearsal 
and performance space. Local Plan Policy E1 relates to employment uses 
(including offices) It states the Council would support proposals, including mixed use 
schemes, for new employment uses (including those that recognise the existing 
strengths in the borough in the creative industry) and would require flexible and 
affordable space for small and medium enterprises in large new business 
developments. 
 
4.35 The development would provide 1,646 sqm (GIA) of affordable workspace on 
the 18th and 19th floor of Hotel 1. The affordable workspace is accessed via its own 
designated lift within the hotel building. In discussion with the applicant the 
development propose a strategy and management arrangements for flexible 
affordable workspace for small and medium size businesses, providing discounted 
rates and providing collaboration with Council’s business support programmes. The 
affordable workspace meets the policy requirements and would be secured through 
the S106 Agreement. The flexible workspace would take the form of co-working and 
either small format or self-contained space and would reduce upfront cost making 
the space more accessible for small businesses and improve social and economic 
benefits in the borough. A 35% discount to comparable market rates is proposed, 
with multiple price options and tailored needs for different users for a 25 year period. 
The facilities would provide support and networking through engagement and 
events. The provision is considered a public benefit in accordance with Policy with 
London Plan Policy 4.1 and Policy E1 of the Local Plan. 
 
 

Page 184



Cultural Space 
4.36 A conferencing/cultural (event/rehearsal) space would be provided as part of 
the scheme. Separate access arrangements from the entrance of Hotel 1 would be 
provided to allow for this to take place. These facilities would be located in the 
basement of Hotel 1 would be run and maintained by the applicant in conjunction 
with the council. The space would be accessible to both the guests of the hotels and 
the wider local community. 50% of the usable time would be available to members of 
the community; bookable either through the Council or a dedicated portal via the 
hotel website. It is intended that the space be fitted as rehearsal/studio space with 
the objective that schools and local theatre groups would have the ability to hire the 
event facilities. The final terms would be confirmed in a Community Use agreement 
that would be secured as part of the Section 106 agreement. Officers consider the 
provision of such facilities is strongly supported by adopted policy, would provide a 
beneficial use within the proposed development and would be a positive provision 
within the town centre both within the context of the immediate area and as part of 
the wider cultural offer within Hammersmith. The provision is therefore considered a 
further public benefit delivered by the proposal in response to the existing Class D1 
use. 
 
Employment Uses 
4.37 London Plan Policy 3.1 presents the Mayor’s commitment to ensuring equal 
life chances for all Londoners, borne out of the recognition that meeting the needs of 
particular groups and communities is key to addressing inequalities and fostering 
diverse communities. Policy 4.12 seeks to improve access to employment and 
employment opportunities for Londoners, supporting local employment, development 
and training. Local Plan Policy E4 states that the council would seek appropriate 
employment and training initiatives for local people of all abilities in the construction 
of major developments and in larger employment generating developments, 
including visitor accommodation and facilities when these are completed. Local 
businesses would be encouraged to adopt the London Living Wage. 
 
4.38 During the construction phase, the proposal would generate an estimated 27 
apprenticeships, 40 paid work and a further 40 unpaid placements and estimated 
skills and employment supporting contribution of £374,500. The proposal also has 
the potential to create new jobs for local people once the development is operational. 
Hotels run day and night and expected to generate approximately 425 net direct jobs 
once the development is operational. The applicant seeks to work with the borough 
and local training, employment and education agencies to maximise local take up of 
these positions, with a further £38,500 contribution provided towards training and 
upskilling local people. At least 10% of the project value would be sought to go to 
local small and medium sized businesses through the local procurement initiative, 
with a contribution of £12,750 sought to deliver this. In total the contributions sought 
and agreed with the applicant towards the council’s employment and training 
strategy is £425,750 which would be secured through the S106 agreement.  
 
4.39 Wider benefits would be delivered by way of increasing local expenditure 
through increased employment levels with job opportunities for local residents and 
companies and additional visitors through the borough .It is considered that the 
social and economic benefits derived from the development are substantial public 
benefits and represent the delivery of the Council’s spatial vision and strategic 

Page 185



objectives set out within the Local Plan as well as representative of the opportunity 
the development presents. Officers therefore consider that the proposal, subject to 
s106 legal agreement to secure the benefits identified and agreed, is in accordance 
with London Plan Policies 3.1, 4.1 and 4.12 and Draft London Plan Policies E2 and 
E3 and Local Plan Policies E1 and E4. These benefits however need to be weighed 
against the design and form of the proposed new build and whether the development 
would have an unacceptably impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties and 
the local area or impact significantly on the highway network and the generation of 
traffic. These points are examined below. 
 
Design, Townscape and Heritage 
 
Policy Context 
4.40 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 sets out the 
principal statutory duties which must be considered in the determination of any 
application affecting listed buildings or conservation areas.  
 
4.41 It is key to the assessment of this application that the decision-making 
process is based on the understanding of specific duties in relation to the listed 
buildings and conservation areas required by the relevant legislation, particularly the 
Section 16, 66 and 72 duties of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 together with the requirements set out in the NPPF. 
 
4.42 Section 66 of the above act states in relation to listed buildings that: “In 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the 
Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
it possesses.” 
 
4.43 Section 72 of the above Act states in relation to conservation areas that: ‘In 
the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, of 
any functions under or by virtue of any of the provisions mentioned in subsection (2), 
special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of that area. ‘ 
 
4.44 Among the core planning principles of the NPPF are that development should 
always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all 
existing and future occupants of land and buildings. Furthermore, proposals should 
conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance. 
 
4.45 The significance of each asset has been assessed in accordance with Historic 
England’s methodology for assessing “significance” as set out in ‘Conservation 
Principles Policies and Guidance for the Sustainable Management of the Historic 
Environment”. 
 
4.46 The identified heritage assets that are potentially affected by the 
redevelopment of the site – the conservation areas, the listed buildings and the 
Buildings of Merit - are important elements that contribute to the historic character of 
Hammersmith including ensuring the legibility of the historic development of the town 

Page 186



centre and its characteristic patterns of uses along the main arteries into London. 
The heritage assets are therefore considered to have historical and aesthetic value 
by virtue of their architecture and townscape contribution in their characteristic 
locations. 
 
4.47 When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that “…great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the 
asset, the greater the weight should be)”. Paragraph 194 further clarifies that “Any 
harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration 
or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and 
convincing justification”. 
 
4.48 Paragraph 196 states: “Where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should 
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use.” 
 
4.49 In regard to Buildings of Merit, paragraph 197 states that the “effect of an 
application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken 
into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or 
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be 
required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 
heritage asset”. 
 
4.50 In this case, the proposed development would result in less than substantial 
harm to the character and appearance of The Mall Conservation Area and the 
setting of the listed buildings and Buildings of Merit within it. In addition, less than 
substantial harm would be caused to the character and appearance of Barons Court 
Conservation Area and the heritage assets within it that are inter-visible with the 
proposed development in some views from the western part of Hammersmith 
Cemetery. 
 
4.51 The other heritage assets identified as potentially affected by the proposals 
are not considered to be harmed by the proposals. The reasoning is set out below in 
conjunction with the assessment of the submitted townscape views. 
 
Policies 
4.52 The NPPF states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development and should contribute positively to making places better for people. 
Part 124 of the NPPF outlines the requirement for good design and Paragraph 127 
sets out that planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments: 
a) would function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short 
term but over the lifetime of the development; 
b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping. 
c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change (such as increased densities); 

Page 187



d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive 
places to live, work and visit; 
e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and 
support local facilities and transport networks; and 
f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health 
and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and 
where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life 
or community cohesion and resilience. 
 
4.53 NPPF Paragraph 185 which advises that, in determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should take account of the desirability of 
sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to 
viable uses consistent with their conservation. Paragraph 193 states that when 
considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation; 
the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be 
harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or through 
development within its setting. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states that where a 
development proposal would lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of 
a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits 
of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.  Paragraph 197 states 
that a balanced judgement would be required having regard to the scale of any harm 
or loss and the significance of a non-designated heritage asset. Paragraph 200 of 
the NPPF states that Local Authorities should look for opportunities for new 
development within Conservation Areas to enhance or better reveal their 
significance. 
 
4.54 The NPPF states that development should respond to local character and 
history and the surrounding environment and setting, whilst not preventing innovation 
– but extends this to recognise a role for change and increased densities. The NPPF 
advocates a positive strategy for conserving and enhancing the historic environment, 
taking account of (amongst other things) the desirability of new development to make 
a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness. The NPPF state that 
economic, social and environmental gains are to be sought jointly and 
simultaneously in order to deliver positive improvements in the quality of the built, 
natural and historic environment. 
 
London Plan 
4.55 London Plan Policy 7.1 'London's Neighbourhoods' requires that all new 
development is of high quality that responds to the surrounding context and 
improves access to social and community infrastructure, contributes to the provision 
of high quality living environments and enhances the character, legibility, 
permeability and accessibility of the surrounding neighbourhood. Policy 7.4 'Local 
Character' requires development to 'have regard to the form, function, and structure 
of an area, place or street and the scale, mass and orientation of surrounding 
buildings.' Policy 7.6 'Architecture' relates to architecture and the design of 
developments. The policy says that 'development should be of a high quality of 
design, of a scale that is appropriate to its setting, and built using high quality 

Page 188



materials. It should complement the surrounding built form and should not cause 
unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding buildings'. Policy 7.8 D states that 
development affecting heritage assets and their settings should conserve their 
significance by being sympathetic to their form, scale, materials, and architectural 
detail. 
 
Local Plan 
4.56 Local Plan Policy DC1 requires all development within the borough, 
including in the regeneration areas should create a high quality urban environment 
that respects and enhances its townscape context and heritage assets. Policy DC2  
builds on the above-mentioned policies and other design and conservation policies, 
seeking new build development to be of a high standard of design and compatible 
with the scale and character of existing development and its setting. Policy DC3 (for 
Tall Buildings) outlines that the location of tall buildings within the regeneration and 
opportunity areas and Hammersmith Town Centre is considered to be appropriate. 
Policy DC3 also requires that tall buildings have a positive relationship to the 
surrounding townscape context and skyline and should not have an unacceptable 
impact on views from and to open spaces or heritage assets. Policy DC7 identifies 
views within the Borough to be protected and states that applications within the 
Thames Policy Area will not be permitted if it would cause unacceptable harm to the 
view from the following viewpoints: From Hammersmith Bridge; the view along the 
river, foreshore and riverside development and landscape between Hammersmith 
Terrace to the west and Fulham Football Ground to the south. Policy DC8 seeks to 
protect, restore or enhance the quality, character, appearance and setting of the 
borough's conservation areas and its historic environment including listed buildings. 
 
Existing townscape 
4.57 The eastern town centre is characterised by large scale building blocks that 
are visually and physically isolated by divisive transport corridors. Talgarth Road is 
characterised by a lack of defined edges and provides a weak and unwelcoming 
visual entrance into the town centre. The application site is part of the town centre 
and lies within the diverse setting of modern, commercial buildings. Other than their 
large scales and the strong horizontal banding of the elevations, there is no 
uniformity in building types and materials. The Magistrates Court shares an island 
block with the Ark and Lilla Huset building to the west and the petrol station to the 
east, and the visual and pedestrian links with its neighbours and between the blocks 
are of exceptionally poor quality. 
 
4.58 Hammersmith Magistrates Court lies on the southern edge of the town centre 
that is bounded by the District Line railway tracks to the south. The town centre 
buildings in the vicinity have 9-15 storeys while the general townscape scale drops 
down to a mid-height of 3-6 storeys further east and north-east, including the current 
building on site. The evolving masterplan for the town centre anticipates that heights 
in some parts of the town centre could rise further to and above the 20 storey mark 
in order to accommodate the projected economic growth and increasing housing 
demand. 
 
4.59 The current development on site is of a dated design and lacks positive 
engagement with the public realm and integration into the town centre. Both in 
design and environmental terms, the quality of the walkway along Talgarth Road 

Page 189



between the town centre, the site and further east is poor, in particular where there is 
a distinct lack of activation of the edges of the Magistrates Court site and of the 
petrol station directly to the east as buildings are set back into the sites. The 
redevelopment proposal offers the potential to integrate the site with the town centre, 
to include public access and community facilities, to improve the pedestrian links 
between the town centre, the site, LAMDA and Baron’s Court and address the poor 
environmental conditions not only for the benefit of the site but also for its 
neighbours. 
 
4.60 The design rationale is for a configuration of massing and a contemporary, 
high quality architecture that responds to both the specific town centre environment 
and the surrounding residential townscape, that respects the adjacent ‘Ark’ building 
as well as activates the public realm. Clearly visible and publicly accessible spaces 
on the ground and within the building including at the top for the public to enjoy 
would be incorporated to enliven the development and engage with the town centre. 
Officers consider that the activation of the public realm, improved integration of the 
island block and measures to address the environmental conditions would 
significantly contribute to the quality of the town centre. 
 
Height and Massing 
4.61 As summarised above, the scheme comprises 3 distinct blocks that address 
the specific site conditions and respond to the emerging town centre context. The 
northern block, Hotel 1, is a tall, linear form that occupies most of the northern edge 
of the site along Talgarth Road while the two linear southern blocks are lower and 
connected by a glazed atrium to form Hotel 2. 
 
4.62 With an overall height of 23 storeys, Hotel 1 would be the tallest building in 
the town centre. The intention is to provide a visually interesting addition to the 
series of solitary, commercial buildings in Talgarth Road and shelter to the southern 
part of the site from the difficult environmental conditions with regard to noise and air 
pollution associated with the A4. The entrance to the rear of the site with Hotel 2 and 
the garden square would be located between the western flank wall of Hotel 1 and 
the Lilla Huset building, animated by the glazed ground floor and the entrance to the 
proposed event space and by the line of retained mature trees on the site’s western 
boundary. The proposed massing creates a simple, sculptural form on the town 
centre,  that would contrast with the curvaceous form of the ‘Ark’ and frame the 
entrance to the town centre. 
 
4.63 Hotel 2 would consist of two parallel arranged, stepped volumes, reducing in 
height from 16 to 6 storeys, towards the District/Piccadilly line corridor, in line with 
the height of the tallest LAMDA building element to the east of the site and would be 
set back from the western boundary to form a protected garden space. The height 
and massing are designed to moderate between the large scale of the town centre 
townscape and the small scale of the residential areas to the south. The use of a 
greater variety of façade elements and materials between the two hotel buildings is 
intended to further visually break down the scale of the development. 
 
4.64 Hotel 1 would be set back from Talgarth Road by almost 10m to create an 
arrival area behind the retained and improved line of trees and landscaping on the 
site boundary. This would protect the ground floor entrances and reception space 

Page 190



from the traffic impacts of Talgarth Road and improve the pedestrian environment. A 
publicly accessible garden square would be located in the south-western part of the 
site near the line of retained, mature trees and would be benefit from optimal sunlight 
conditions. This location would enable a potential link with the Lilla Huset building 
along its eastern boundary, should this become desirable in the future. The creation 
of an alternative, pedestrian friendly east-west link between the Ark and the LAMDA 
site is an aspiration expressed in the draft Hammersmith Town Centre Masterplan 
which could potentially be implemented through the site with the garden square and 
the potential pedestrian connection through the gap to be formed between Hotel 1 
and 2 at ground level. 
 
Detailed Design 
4.65 Hotel 1 is designed as a solid, sculptural form that sits on a lighter, metal 
framed base with large glazed elements. The elevations are designed to respond to 
the urban town centre location, using alternating stone and glass elements in a strict 
horizontal order. To achieve texture and refinement, the reconstituted stone cladding 
and glazing modules would be arranged as chamfered bays within horizontally 
expressed stone frames. The warm tone and detailing of the metal window framing 
would contrast with the solid materiality of the stone. The narrow ends of the 
elongated form would be treated differently: the western end would feature a fully 
glazed stair and lift core that would enliven the building in views from the town centre 
while the eastern end would be clad with a full height green wall. This distinctive form 
of urban greening would provide visual interest, soften the visual impact of the 
building’s massing from the lower scale townscape to the east and provide 
environmental benefits. The building is terminated by a lightweight top, containing 2 
floors of affordable office floors and 1 floor for a bar, with a high proportion of 
glazing, at the rear recessed to incorporate a roof terrace. The activation of the top 
would indicate the public accessible facility and provide visual interest. Further 
design details and sample mock up panels for Hotel 1 would be sought by 
conditions. 
 
4.66 The facades of Hotel 2 would in contrast be more of a residential character, 
moderating between the town centre context and the small scale residential area to 
the south. The two linear blocks are divided by a 8m gap and only connected at 
ground level and by a slim, fully glazed bridge structure at the western end of the 
gap. The blocks would be distinguished by their different heights and types of brick 
cladding. The massing of the hotel would be further broken down by subtle material 
changes such as metal cladding to façade recesses and to the top floor elevations. 
Glazed slots to the east and west elevations would provide further separation 
between the stepped volumes. The proposed brickwork would be of the same tonal 
range as the predominant brickwork of the surrounding residential terraces. The 
windows would be set deep into the reveals to achieve depth and shadow effects 
that provide a clear rhythm and smaller scale to the facades. The variations in the 
modelling of the openings ensures that the scale and repetition of the facades is 
broken down into elements of residential scale. The same, warm tone of the metal 
framing and metal cladding panels would unify Hotel 1 and 2 that otherwise would 
appear quite different in character. Further design detail and sample mock up panels 
for Hotel 2 would be sought by conditions. 

Page 191



4.67 The roofs of Hotel 2 would be covered by extensive green roofs. Plant 
enclosures are integrated into the building envelope at top level of both Hotel 1 and 
Hotel 2 and screened across the top. 
 
Open spaces and landscaping 
4.68 One of the major public benefits of the development, are the variety of urban 
greening proposals that have been developed into the proposals that relate to the 
ground plane, the elevations and the roofscape. The proposals would also include off 
site opportunities to improve the pedestrian link towards the Broadway with 
continuous kerb side planting to match the north side of Talgarth Road. 
 
4.69 At ground level, a new publicly accessible garden square with a number of 
new mature trees and beds would be created in the south-western part of the site 
where there are ideal sunlight conditions and where the majority of the existing 
mature trees are located. The square would form a green buffer in views from south 
and would be accessed from the north-western site boundary in Talgarth Road, 
announced by a prominent wayfinding sculpture. Both route and the square would be 
designed with a uniform palette of hard and soft landscaping elements of high quality 
and would be enlivened by the entrances to the roof bar, two restaurant terraces and 
the entrance to Hotel 2. The open space layout provides the future opportunity for a 
protected route from the garden square through the gap between Hotel 1 and 2 to 
the neighbouring site to the east, that could be designed as an alleyway connecting 
urban green spaces on the two sites. 
 
4.70 A linear planting scheme of matching detailing along Talgarth Road is 
designed to protect the arrival area to Hotel 1 and the parallel running footway from 
the traffic noise and pollution of Talgarth Road. A water feature is incorporated to 
soften traffic noise to enhance the quality of the public realm.  
 
4.71 The east facing elevation of Hotel 1 is a prominent face of the development in 
long range views when approaching the town centre. It is proposed to install a full 
height green wall measuring 60m in height that, together with the contrasting glazing 
to its side and the strictly geometric from of the building, would create a visually 
interesting entrance portal to the town centre. Technical details of the wall and 
precedents have been submitted to ensure that this proposal is deliverable, long-
lasting and maintainable. Further opportunities for urban greening on the south 
facing elevations where appropriate facing residential properties have been 
discussed with the applicant, to soften the impact of the massing, are requested by 
condition. 
 
4.72 The roofscape offers further opportunities for urban greening, both intensive 
planting for the roof terrace and extensive green roofs (sedum and wild flower roofs) 
on all upper roof levels not specified for plant that would benefit cooling, biodiversity 
and rainwater attenuation.  
 
4.73 With the exception of 6 trees located along the footway in Talgarth Road, all 
the other existing trees on the site including all those subject to tree preservation 
orders would be retained. A large number of new trees (approximately 70 in total) 
would be planted as part of the landscaping proposals around the boundary of the 
site, including new planting alongside the east and south boundaries. This buffer of 

Page 192



screening would also be in the interests of noise and air pollution. As such officers 
consider that the proposed landscaping proposals accords with Policies 7.19 and 
7.21 of the London Plan and Policies OS1 and OS5 of the Local Plan in terms of 
urban greening. 
 
Design Review Panel 
4.74 As summarised in paragraphs 2.29, the panel commented on an early version 
of the pre-application scheme and recommended: 
• Improvements to the public realm and its links to the surrounding townscape 
• The inclusion of community facilities as integral part of the proposals 
• Increase of space between the hotel buildings 
• Enhancements to the design quality in terms of contextual justification and 

articulation to the roof silhouette 
• A strong contribution to the entrance to the town centre 
• Breaking up the length of the massing and an improved response to the domestic 

scale and architecture of the residential neighbourhood to mitigate visual impacts 
 
4.75 The detailed recommendations have been addressed by the applicants and 
incorporated into the application scheme. In particular, the landscaping proposals, 
the community and public facilities have been improved and the elevational design 
refined to reflect characteristics of the surrounding context as described above. 
 
Townscape Views and Heritage Impacts 
 
Heritage Assets - Conservation areas 
4.76 The site does not lie within a conservation area, however, due to the 
proposed scale, the development could potentially have an impact on views from or 
of surrounding conservation areas and hence indirectly on their character and 
appearance. These conservation areas are: 
 

• Barons Court CA 
• Brook Green CA 
• Gunter Estate CA 
• Hammersmith Broadway CA 
• Hammersmith Odeon CA 
• Hammersmith Town Hall CA 
• The Mall CA 
• Fulham Reach CA 

 
4.77 Barons Court, Brook Green and Gunter Estate conservation areas all are 
characterised by high quality, historic, residential terraces and include mature green 
spaces such as parks and cemeteries. 
 
4.78 Hammersmith Broadway, Hammersmith Odeon and Hammersmith Town Hall 
conservation areas are town centre areas of diverse townscape character, centred 
around the key sites of the Broadway, the former Apollo Theatre and the Town Hall. 
They include large scale commercial buildings, residential blocks and traditional 
terraces of various building periods. 
 

Page 193



4.79 The Mall and Fulham Reach conservation areas lie to the west and south of 
the town centre. The main historic relevance of the conservation areas lies in the 
relationship between the river, the riverbank and foreshore, and the views along and 
across the river that provide the important characteristics of the conservation areas. 
While Fulham Reach contains mostly modern, large scale residential and mixed use 
development today that developed on its former industrial sites, The Mall CA is a 
well preserved historic riverside characterised by a variety of finely grained buildings, 
many of them listed or designated as Buildings of Merit. 
 
Listed buildings and Buildings of Merit 
4.80 There is a number of listed buildings and Buildings of Merit in the vicinity of 
the site, the setting of which may be affected due to a potential inter-visibility with the 
proposed development. They can be grouped as follows: 
 
• The Grade II* listed Church of St. Paul and the Apollo Theatre located on 

Talgarth Road to the west of the site. Users of the A4 or the public realm 
underneath experience the diversity of buildings as they move along this corridor. 
The context of the heritage assets can only be glimpsed due to the position of the 
flyover. 

• The ‘Ark’, a locally designated as Building of Merit, direct neighbour to the site. 
This building is located in an isolated and exposed position, and due to its 
unusual form and architectural features, it is regarded as a local landmark that 
indicates the entrance to Hammersmith town centre when approaching from 
eastern direction. 

• William Morris Academy, designated as Building of Merit, in Biscay Road to the 
south of the Underground line and visible from St Dunstan’s Road. This building, 
designed in the Victorian London Board School style, rises over the surrounding 
2-3 storey residential terraces, thereby representing the typical historic 
relationship between residential and public buildings. 

• The cluster of heritage assets near Barons Court Station, including the Grade II 
listed station, St. Paul’s Studios at Nos 135-149 Talgarth Road, and various 
houses, terraces and buildings designated as Buildings of Merit in Margravine 
Gardens, Palliser Road and Talgarth Road. The architectural significance of 
these buildings and their relationship to each other are of special interest with 
regard to the building types and the townscape they form as a group. The larger 
scale, modernity and diversity of the town centre is clearly visible in the 
background in views from east. 

• Buildings, structures, war memorials and tombs, both listed and designated as 
Buildings of Merit, within Margravine (Hammersmith) Cemetery and the Grade II 
listed No 17 St. Dunstan’s Road and the street wall, railings and gates in front of 
it. The setting of these assets is characterised by the location within or on the 
edge of the leafy cemetery with a low level of overlooking by surrounding 
development. Some tall buildings, such as Charing Cross Hospital and residential 
towers to the north and south-west are clearly visible in views from the cemetery. 

• The Grade II* listed Hammersmith Bridge. 
• Listed buildings and Buildings of Merit located on the river in particular in the 

eastern part of The Mall Conservation Area, a diverse ensemble of small scale 
residential houses, sailing and rowing clubs, public houses and mansion blocks. 

 
 

Page 194



Heritage related responses 
4.81 The Greater London Authority summarises that “whilst the scheme will be a 
prominent addition to the local skyline, its impact in the existing and emerging 
contexts would not be adverse”. 
 
4.82 Historic England considers that the development would have an adverse and 
harmful impact on the historic environment, in particular the character and 
appearance of The Mall Conservation Area in views from the south bank of the river. 
Historic England notes that the settings of other heritage assets may also be 
affected. 
 
4.83 In summary, the local amenity societies/groups have the following objections: 
• Visual intrusive impact of bulk and massing on the Barons Court area, the 

cemetery and residential area to the south. 
• Development obscures views to the ‘Ark.’ 
• Architectural design does not reflect context and does not make a positive 

contribution to the context. 
• Harmful impact on the settings of heritage assets including Margravine Cemetery 

to the south. 
 
4.84 These comments will be addressed in the Townscape Assessment below. 
 
Townscape Assessment - Views 
4.85 To assess the impact of the proposed development, the Environmental 
Statement includes a Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment which assesses 32 
views from an agreed selection of locations around the site. On some of the images, 
wirelines have been used, where the degree of visibility or impact on the skyline is 
the most important part of the assessment. However, most of the studies are fully 
rendered representations of the proposed scheme which indicate the development 
and the design of the facades in its urban context. For the purpose of this report, the 
views have been grouped into viewpoint areas that present views which are in 
similar locations and/or demonstrate very similar levels of impact in terms of the 
appearance of the new development, its impact on the local townscape and on the 
setting of conservation areas and listed buildings. Officers have assessed all of the 
submitted views on site and have paid regard to the comments received and how the 
impact would change as the viewpoint is varied within each area. 
 
Riverbank views – Nos 01-05 
4.86 These views are from the north and south bank of the river looking north-east 
towards the site and are important views of The Mall and Fulham Reach 
Conservation Areas and Hammersmith Bridge as well as of a group of listed 
buildings and Buildings of Merit lining the riverside within The Mall CA. 
 
4.87 The new development would not be visible from the south bank opposite 
Fulham Reach Conservation Area or from Hammersmith Bridge, however, the 
building of Hotel 1 would rise above or close to the crow’s nest of the ‘Ark’ when 
viewed from The Mall open space or the south bank on the opposite side. From 
here, the building would contribute to an emerging layer of tall buildings in 
Hammersmith and Fulham that appear in the background of The Mall and Fulham 
Reach Conservation Areas. The cumulative view of existing and proposed tall 

Page 195



buildings does not indicate a grouping of such tall buildings, therefore the tall 
buildings that would be visible punctuate the background rather than creating a 
prominent new skyline. The top of the taller part of Hotel 2 would also become visible 
in the view from the north bank but it would not be prominent in the context of the 
trees of Furnivall Gardens that dominate this stretch of the north bank. 
 
4.88 The view of Hammersmith Bridge is not affected as the proposed building 
would appear at a distance away from the bridge that does not create a notable 
inter-visibility. 
 
4.89 The crow’s nest of the ‘Ark’ is not a characteristic feature in this view as it is 
too distant. Equally, the new building would appear in such a great distance that 
would not allow a distinction of design features. The foreground buildings in the 
Upper and Lower Mall would remain the characteristic and clearly visible features of 
the view, in addition to some modern development on or close to the river. 
 
4.90 It is a shared view with Historic England that the proposal clearly would have 
an impact on the background of the characteristic view of The Mall Conservation 
Area. However, the conclusion about the degree of identified harm differs. Officers 
have assessed the level of harm to be less than substantial due to the distance 
between the riverside and the application site that would result in a recessive 
appearance of the proposals and emphasise the strong composition of the riverside 
buildings in the foreground. Therefore, Officers consider that the significant features 
of the conservation area would remain legible in these views and the settings of the 
listed buildings and Buildings of Merit within it would remain characterised by their 
riverside location and small scale, diverse context. 
 
4.91 In addition, the draft Hammersmith Town Centre Masterplan has identified in 
cooperation with the residents’ working party opportunities for the regeneration and a 
densification of the most central, accessible parts of town centre to facilitate good 
growth (as sought in the draft London Plan). The potential impact of this level of 
growth on relevant townscape views such as the river views has been assessed as 
part of the masterplan. Considerations of skyline modelling and aesthetic, 
sustainable design will be of paramount importance to ensure a respectful and 
positive townscape response to the regeneration and growth of the town centre. 
 
Town centre views – Nos 07-09 and 14 
4.92 These views demonstrate that the new building would only become visible 
from the junction of Talgarth Road with Butterwick and when looking down 
Shortlands from Hammersmith Road where it blends with the general scale and 
character of the townscape.  View 9 shows Hotel 1 in direct context with the ‘Ark’ 
where its strict geometric form contrasts positively with the rounded form and 
features of the ‘Ark’ while its horizontal façade features relate to the horizontality of 
the commercial buildings in the view. When viewed in context with the listed Apollo 
Theatre from the space under the flyover, Hotel 2 appears behind the crow’s nest of 
the ‘Ark’ but not rising above it. Officers’ view is that, due to the distance from the 
viewpoint, the proposed building would not detract from the prominence of the Ark’s 
crow’s nest. 
 
 

Page 196



Brook Green and Olympia views – Nos 11-13 
4.93 The proposed development would not be visible in Brook Green views, and, 
the glimpse of the top of Hotel 1’s flank wall from Olympia would be negligible. 
 
Barons Court and Hammersmith Cemetery views – Nos 15, 16, 19, 20, 21, 24, 
27-30 
4.94 Approaching the town centre on Talgarth Road from the east, the proposed 
development would be prominently visible. The slender form of the flank wall of Hotel 
1 with its feature green wall would form a visually interesting landmark for the 
entrance into the town centre. The stepping form of Hotel 2 would also be visible 
from further away but not stand out from the continuous built form on the south side 
of the road. The distinctive shape of the ‘Ark’ would be visible either side of Hotel 1’s 
flank wall and therefore would remain legible in the town centre approach until it 
comes fully into view closer to the site. Officers consider that the setting of the ‘Ark’ 
would not be harmed as the flank with the green wall and the strict form of Hotel 1 
contrast positively with the ‘Ark’ and add visual interest to the town centre gateway. 
The journey through the town centre on the A4 would reveal unfolding views of a 
string of architecturally interesting buildings along the flyover between LAMDA and 
the Apollo Theatre that strengthen Hammersmith’s identity. 
 
4.95 Outside Baron’s Court the local environment has retained its historic 
character, however, when looking towards the town centre and the site, taller 
buildings, such as LAMDA and the residential tower (Linacre Court), come into view. 
The linear LAMDA development visually acts as a border between the Barons Court 
Conservation Area and the town centre beyond. The new development of Hotel 1 
would appear above the 6-storey LAMDA building but not larger in scale than 
Linacre Court, and with its green wall softening the visual impact, the proposal would 
not stand out uncomfortably in this view. 
 
4.96 From the leafy parts of Margravine Cemetery, buildings on Talgarth Road are 
barely visible even when the trees are not in leaf, with the exception of few glimpses 
afforded by gaps between trees. Due to the volume of the trees with and without 
leaves, sightings of the proposed development are not considered to harm the 
character of the cemetery. 
 
4.97 In contrast, the western part of the cemetery has less trees, and the new 
development would in its full width appear prominently in the background of those 
views. This background currently is characterised by low-rise residential terraces but 
also features the crow’s nest and curved roof of the Ark and glimpses of Linacre 
Court in the distance. Hotel 1 on its own would appear out of scale in this view, but 
this impact is reduced by the view of Hotel 2 that would be visible in front of Hotel 1 
with its lower scale and warmer brickwork colours that create contrast and distance 
between Hotel 1 and the cemetery with a separation distance of approximately 
230m. High quality façade detailing and greening further soften the impact from this 
view. 
 
4.98 Officers consider the remaining visual impact to cause less than substantial 
harm to the significance of Baron’s Court Conservation Area and the heritage assets 
within it that are inter-visible with the proposed development. 
 

Page 197



4.99 Officers are of the view that this harm would partially be offset by the fact that 
the setting of the cemetery already is distinctly urban with a number of large 
developments visible in southern, western and northern directions. Secondly, as set 
out above, further tall developments are anticipated within the town centre’s 
regeneration in the near future, in order to accommodate the projected growth and 
increasing housing demand, and some of those future developments in the eastern 
town centre and on the Broadway Centre, site are likely to push into these views. 
Such a contrast in scale between town centres and adjacent residential areas is not 
unusual in the London context, and high quality, contextual and sustainable design 
of new town centre development will be employed to ensure that the view of the town 
centre edge from these viewing points would be positive and visually interesting. 
 
North Fulham residents’ views – Nos 22-22c, 23, 25, 26, 26a/b, 31, 32 
4.100 Residents in the area closest to the south of the site have requested a 
number of views to demonstrate the visual impact of the development on their 
homes. These views show the proposed high quality design detailing that intends to 
clearly separate the development between the north orientated town centre side and 
the lower scale, more refined side facing south. To visually emphasise the 
considerable distance of a minimum of 72m between the highest part of the 
development and the closest residents’ homes, Hotel 1 and 2 would form a series of 
steps that are separated by variations in the materials and detailing, and the highest 
level would have a lightweight design with a landscaped terrace that would create 
visual interest. The visual impact of the large scale on the homes particularly in 
Yeldham Road, Biscay Road and parts of Margravine Gardens close to the southern 
boundary of the site cannot be ignore and appear still substantial in those views. 
However, in the wider local context, the town centre side and the residential area are 
clearly physically and visually separated by the underground lines and a close 
proximity between these two elements is not unusual for a major London town 
centre. Officers are of the opinion that the development has been designed to reduce 
the visual impact in a thoughtful and creative manner, and in addition to high quality 
design detailing and materials, further opportunities for urban greening to the south 
facing elevations opposite the residential properties have been sought by officers to 
soften the visual impact and details would be sought by condition. 
 
4.101 The development would affect some views within Barons Court Conservation 
Area and of the setting of the William Morris Academy, designated as Building of 
Merit, where the proposal would appear directly behind the school building and 
directly compete with its intended monumentality. However, the distance between 
the school’s roofscape or the St Dunstan’s Road and Margravine Gardens properties 
and the site would reduce the prominence of the background, appearing as a more 
distant backdrop to the residential neighbourhood. In the future, the town centre 
skyline is likely to evolve with similarly large scale buildings that will create a clearly 
defined town centre massing. The William Morris Academy and the terraces in St. 
Dunstan’s Road and Margravine Gardens would continue to be seen in their 
traditional setting in views from east and west along the residential streets. 
 
Design Heritage and Townscape Conclusion 
4.102  The proposed scheme represents an opportunity to regenerate the eastern 
part of Hammersmith town centre in accordance with the Council’s Local Plan 
policies. The site currently fails to contribute positively to the town centre’s 

Page 198



townscape, cohesion and identity, and the proposed scheme provides considerable 
potential to address these issues. 
Urban Design and Heritage Balance: 
• The proposed height and massing are considered to indirectly cause less than 

substantial harm to the significance of The Mall Conservation Area and of Barons 
Court Conservation Area in relation to their character and appearance, and to the 
setting of some listed buildings and Buildings of Merit within those areas, as 
described in the townscape views assessment. This impact is considerably 
lessened by the distance between the conservation areas and the proposed 
building’s location in the background.  

• The proposals would significantly increase the massing on site and appear in the 
background of the smaller scale residential neighbourhoods close to the eastern 
town centre. The visual impact has been reduced by placing the tallest element 
furthest away from the residential terraces, stepping down to a height below that 
of the Ark building on the edge of the Underground line that marks the town 
centre’s boundary. 

• The proposed height and massing would broadly be in line with the anticipated 
densities expected for a major London town centre in order to achieve the 
quantum of development required by the London Plan. 

• The configuration, design and materiality of the proposed development is thought 
to be well considered and would enhance the town centre’s legibility, the 
definition of historic urban spaces, the townscape character and identity. 

• The proposed buildings would provide substantial environmental benefits to the 
locality by way of offering public amenity spaces and routes protected by the built 
form and by substantial urban greening and landscaping. 

• The proposed development offers to contribute to reinstating the town centre’s 
historic cohesion and connectivity by improvements to the public realm and 
provision of publicly accessible internal and external spaces on site with activated 
frontages. 

 
4.103   In balancing the urban design and heritage impacts, Officers consider that on 
balance the proposal would result in an overall positive outcome for the town centre 
regeneration and therefore would be in accordance with the relevant national 
guidance and regional and local policies 
 
4.104  Officers have assessed the impact of the proposal on the heritage assets and 
consider that it is compliant with Section 16, 66 and Section 72 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The proposal is also in line with 
national guidance in the NPPF and strategic local policies on the historic 
environment and urban design. It is considered that this is compliant with Section 16, 
66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The 
proposed development is also considered acceptable in accordance with the NPPF, 
Policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 and 7.21 of the London Plan and Policies DC1, 
DC2, DC4, DC7 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 

Page 199



Archaeology 
4.105 London Plan Policy 7.8 states that new development should make provision 
for the protection of archaeological resources. Local Plan Policy DC1 states the 
following: ‘The existing character of the borough is heavily influenced by a variety of 
historical, landscape and architectural assets. Some of these are of national 
importance, such as listed buildings and the Fulham Palace Moated Site, whereas 
others are of borough importance, including archaeological priority areas... and 
locally listed buildings of merit. However, whether they are of national or local 
importance, they should be considered in all developments in accordance with the 
policies of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the associated 
Historic England Historic Environment Planning Practice Guide’. Policy DC8 states 
that the council would conserve the historic environment by protecting, restoring and 
enhancing its heritage assets and sets criteria for planning applications. Supporting 
paragraph 5.2.3 states that where the preservation of remains in situ is not possible 
or is not merited, ‘planning permission may be subject to conditions and/or formal 
agreement requiring the developer to secure investigation and recording of the 
remains and publication of the results’. 
 
4.106 The site is not located with an Archaeological Priority Area. The closest APA 
is located approximately 300m to the east and comprises Hammersmith Creek, 
Queen Caroline Street and the Broadway. A desk-based archaeology assessment 
was prepared. The assessment was submitted with the ES on the basis that the 
proposal comprises a potentially large major development which could harm heritage 
assets of archaeological interest, including significant remains which are present on 
the site. The authors’ view however is that the site has low archaeological potential 
and due to past activity at the site, it was not considered necessary to prepare a 
specific EIA chapter on the potential for significant impacts on archaeology. Given 
the identified low potential for archaeological remains within the site and depth of 
made ground, archaeological works would likely take the form of a watching brief. If 
significant archaeological remains were encountered, then further archaeological 
fieldwork, post-excavation analysis and reporting, including publication may also be 
required. 
 
4.107 Historic England’s – The Greater London Archaeological Advisory Service 
(GLAAS) provides archaeological advice to the borough and were consulted. To date 
no response has been received in respect to this application. Although the site has 
been identified with a  low potential to contain archaeological assets, a watching brief 
as set out above is recommended by officers to be undertaken during the basement 
and ground works in accordance with an approved Written Scheme of Investigation 
(WSI). This would be secured by condition. 
 
Accessibility 
4.108 London Plan Policy 7.2 'An Inclusive Environment' and draft London Plan 
Policy D3 require that all new development achieves the highest standard of 
accessible and inclusive design. Local Plan Policy DC1 and DC” requires all 
development to be of a high quality and should have an approach to accessible and 
inclusive urban design. Planning SPD Key Principles DA1, DA4, DA5, DA6, DA7, 
DA8, DA9, DA11, DA12, DA13 and DA14 requires all applications to ensure the 
buildings are designed to be accessible and inclusive to all who may visit or use the 
building, to remove barriers to all members of the community and how the 

Page 200



accessibility would be manged when operational, provide proportion of hotel rooms 
to be for use by disabled people, have minimum widths and gradients for accesses, 
essential lifts, toilets and other required facilities, fire safety and to engage and 
consult with disabled people. 
 
4.109 London Plan Policy 4.5 and draft London Plan Policy E10 seek accessible 
hotel accommodation including 10% if hotel room are delivered as wheelchair 
accessible units. 
 
4.110 Access to and within the proposed buildings has been designed to be 
wheelchair accessible and is achieved by the following:  
• Hotel 1 would provide 20 accessible and 20 adaptable bedrooms. 
• Hotel 2 would provide 42 accessible bedrooms. 
• All entrances from the street would be level and internally there would be no 

changes in level on any one floor (with the exception of maintenance only 
access); 

• A wheelchair accessible lift is provided to basement level and upper floors, 
corridor widths are designed to accommodate wheelchair users, and fire lobbies 
and doors are designed to comply with Building Regulations Approved Document 
M; 

• Back of house facilities have been designed to be accessible and female and 
male changing areas would include accessible shower and changing facilities. 

 
4.111 The applicant met the Disability Planning Forum Group. The forum confirmed 
they were pleased with the proposals including the dimensions and layouts of the 
wheelchair accessible and wheelchair adaptable bedrooms layouts. In response to 
forum recommendations the proposals were further amended to include further 
access improvements: 
 
4.112 It is considered that the proposal would provide a high-quality environment for 
disabled and impaired members of the community and that 10% of the hotel 
accommodation would be accessible or wheelchair adaptable. An Inclusive 
Accessibility Management Plan is secured by condition and this is considered 
reasonable and necessary to secure appropriate accessibility as these design 
element evolve. The commitments within the proposed development are positive and 
deliverable by way of conditions. As such the proposal would comply with Local Plan 
Policies DC1 and DC2 as well as Planning Guidance SPD Key Principles DA1, DA4, 
DA5, DA6, DA7, DA8, DA9, DA11, DA12, DA13 and DA14. 
 
Secure by Design 
4.113 The NPPF seeks to ensure that planning decisions promote public safety and 
take into account wider security and defence requirements. They should anticipate 
and address all plausible malicious threats and natural hazards and create safe, 
inclusive and accessible places that have high levels of amenity and do not 
undermine quality of life, community cohesion and resilience to due crime and 
disorder. 
 
4.114 London Plan Policy 7.13 states that through planning decisions development 
proposals should include measures to design out crime in a manner that is ‘in 
proportion to the risk, deter terrorism, assist in the detection of terrorist activity and 

Page 201



help deter its effects’. Local Plan Policy DC1 seeks to ensure that new 
developments, new publicly accessible open spaces and new community and leisure 
facilities are inclusive and accessible, contribute to improving quality of life and 
reducing the incidence of crime and anti-social behaviour (paragraphs 2.57, 10.5 and 
12.3). 
 
4.115 Discussions have taken place between the applicant’s design team and the 
local police Designing Out Crime Officer/Architectural Liaison Officer. The overall 
security strategy and design intent is considered acceptable at this stage and the 
next stage of the process is to continue dialogue with the applicant and architects to 
agree the detail of measures to be incorporated within the development. Full final 
details of how the proposed development would incorporate crime prevention 
measures to provide a safe and secure environment would therefore be secured by 
a condition. The proposed development is considered acceptable in this respect in 
accordance with policy DC1 of the Local Plan. 
 
Residential Amenity Impacts 
4.116 This section of the report focuses on the impact the scheme would have on 
the properties surrounding the site. A number of objections raise concerns about loss 
of outlook and daylight/sunlight. The NPPF (Paragraph 123-part c) and footnote 37 
states that daylight and sunlight guidance should be applied flexibly ‘where they 
would otherwise inhibit making efficient use of a site’, so long as they continue to 
provide adequate living standards. 
 
4.117 Policy 7.6 of the London Plan states that buildings and structures should not 
cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and buildings, 
particularly residential buildings, in relation to privacy, overshadowing, wind and 
microclimate. This is particularly important for tall buildings. Policy 7.7 states that 
'tall buildings should not affect their surroundings adversely in terms of microclimate, 
wind turbulence, overshadowing, noise, reflected glare, aviation, navigation and 
telecommunication interference'. Draft London Plan Policy D8 reiterates the 
importance of ensuring that tall buildings do not compromise the comfort and 
enjoyment of neighbouring residential properties and open spaces to new 
development. 
 
4.118 There are no policies specifically about daylight, sunlight or overshadowing in 
the Local Plan. Policies DC2 and Policy DC3 state that all new builds and tall 
buildings must be designed to respect good neighbourliness and the principles of 
residential amenity. Key Principles HS6 and HS7 of the Planning Guidance SPD 
seek to protect the existing amenities of neighbouring residential properties, in terms 
of outlook, light, and privacy. 
 
4.119 The site's immediate residential neighbours are located predominantly to the 
south, beyond the existing underground lines in Yeldham Road, Biscay Road, 
Margravine Gardens and St Dunstan’s Road. Residential properties located to the 
north are situated beyond the A4 flyover. Whilst other residential properties in the 
wider area would view the proposed development, the residential streets listed 
above are considered the main neighbours who by their proximity to the site have 
the potential to be directly affected in terms of amenity implications (i.e. light, outlook, 

Page 202



privacy, and noise/ disturbance). The principle impacts due to the orientation of the 
buildings would be to outlook and daylight. 
 
Daylight and Sunlight 
4.120 The BRE Guidelines provided in the Building Research Establishment (BRE) 
document entitled 'Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: A Good Practice 
Guide' (2011) are typically used to assess daylight and sunlight. The guideline sets 
out three methods for assessing existing daylight conditions into a room including the 
Vertical Sky Component (VSC) method; plotting of the no-skyline (NSL) method and 
the Average Daylight Factor (ADF) method. The introduction to the guide however 
stresses that the BRE guidelines should not be used as an instrument of planning 
policy and should be interpreted flexibly, because lighting is only one design factor 
for any scheme. Sunlight assessment is based on annual probable sunlight hours 
(APSH) and winter sunlight hours. In terms of overshadowing of gardens and open 
spaces the BRE guide recommends that for an open space to appear adequately 
sunlit through the year, more than half of the space should receive at least two hours 
of sunlight at the March equinox. 
 
Assessment 
4.121 An assessment of the daylight, sunlight, and overshadowing effects of the 
proposed development on surrounding properties and amenity space is contained 
within Chapter 5: ‘Daylight, Sunlight, Overshadowing and Solar Glare’ of the ES. The 
proposed amendments have been assessed in terms of daylight and sunlight in the 
ES Addendum. The ES Addendum has taken into consideration the reduction in 
height of the tallest building, in terms of the effects on daylight and sunlight. The EIA 
has however relied on the previous assessment set out in the original ES for solar 
glare effects and overshadowing. The assessment carried out has considered the 
impact of the proposed development based on a direct comparison between the 
'before' baseline scenario and the 'after’ proposed development scenario and other 
cumulative developments. In the case of the daylight and sunlight assessment, test 
have been undertaken on those properties most likely to experience impacts from 
the development, i.e. the nearest residential properties. Potential solar glare impacts 
(i.e. reflection from surfaces) for sensitive road junctions and rail lines and a light 
spillage (i.e. light from the site into the surrounding area) for sensitive neighbouring 
residential properties have been considered. 
 
Daylight 
4.122 The impact of 57 neighbouring residential properties, including a total of 879 
windows (serving 408 rooms) have been assessed to determine the 
existing/proposed daylight levels. The properties considered in the assessment are 
located generally to the south of the site, beyond the railway lines. These include 57 
to 109B (odd) and 82 to 102 (even) Yeldham Road, 1 Yeldham Villas, 86 to 92 
(even) Biscay Road and 50 to 70 (even) Margravine Gardens. Both 191 Talgarth 
Road and Linacre Court (Great Church Lane) have also been included. All the rooms 
assessed in Linacre Court meet both VSC and NSL guidelines. For this reason, no 
further properties located north of the A4 including Colet Gardens or Shortlands were 
selected for further assessment. Although the Ark building is close by, it is a 
commercial building and not considered relevant for this assessment. 
 

Page 203



4.123 The reduction in the height of the tallest block fronting onto Talgarth Road 
(Hotel 1) has been assessed in the ES addendum as a comparison with the results 
initially included in the ES. The height reduction has resulted in a slight betterment in 
daylight and sunlight conditions to the neighbouring properties. Four properties (nos. 
82, 90, 92 and 96 Yeldham Road) would experience a reduction in effect identified in 
the ES from minor adverse to negligible due to the proposed amendments. Overall, 
of the 879 windows assessed for VSC, the ES addendum states that 819 (93.2%) 
meet the BRE criteria, compared to 802 (91%) in original proposal. Of the 408 rooms 
assessed, 387 (94.9%) were found to meet the BRE criteria for NSL compared to 
383 (94%) included in the January 2019 Daylight and Sunlight ES Chapter. 
 
4.124 For those properties considered most sensitive, the proposed amendments 
result in the majority resulting in a negligible effect and therefore not significant. 35 of 
the 57 properties would experience no or little alteration in line with the BRE 
guidelines. There are however 14 instances identified with a minor adverse effects, 
with 4 instances of moderate adverse effect and no instances of major adverse 
effects. The four most affected properties identified are nos. 85, 83, 81 and 75 
Yeldham Road which all adjoin the railway tracks. The four properties have a total of 
37 windows. 18 of the 37 windows (49%) meet VSC guidelines, with the majority of 
the remaining affected windows experiencing an alteration between 20-39%. Two 
windows would be in excess of 40%. For NSL 12 of the 20 rooms tested would meet 
the BRE guidelines with only two rooms considered to have a major adverse effect. It 
should be noted that all the windows were assessed on the assumption they are 
used as habitable rooms. However, this is not the case. Some of the windows in 
question are also positioned to the side of the back additions or close to the rear 
boundaries of the small gardens opposite the tracks. Therefore, whilst there would 
be some breaches of the BRE guidelines, officers consider these are small in 
number and magnitude and would not significantly reduce the overall levels of 
daylight within the affected properties. On balance, it is considered that the proposal 
would be acceptable in this respect and the impact of the development on daylight to 
the surrounding properties would by nature of the location be acceptable. 
 
Sunlight 
4.125 A total of 213 rooms were assessed to determine the existing/proposed 
impact on both total and winter sunlight. All windows experience both total and winter 
PSH experience of little or no change in sunlight levels with the completed 
development. All effects in relation to sunlight are therefore considered negligible 
and not significant. 
 
Overshadowing  
4.126 The results of the BRE overshadowing assessment confirms that all except 
one of the surrounding existing amenity spaces tested would meet the BRE guideline 
criteria. This is in relation to the communal gardens serving Nazareth House 
Convent. Only a small proportion of this space would however be affected in winter 
months by overshadowing. Therefore, the potential effect of the proposed 
development on levels of overshadowing to nearby amenity areas would be 
negligible. Despite a reduction of the height of the tallest building by three floors, the 
ES Addendum states this space would still experience the same quantity of shadow 
in December and therefore, the effect to overshadowing would remain unchanged. 
Overall, officers consider a comprehensive adherence to the BRE guideline 

Page 204



recommendations with respect of overshadowing impacts is attained. As such, it is 
considered that there would be no adverse overshadowing impacts of the 
development and therefore the proposals are acceptable in this respect. 
 
Solar Glare 
4.127 A solar glare assessment has been carried out from signalised railways, road 
junctions and pedestrian crossings and in total 15 locations were assessed. In total 
12 were considered negligible, with 3 locations (Talgarth Road/A4 Westbound) 
experiencing a significant effect. The ES however states that the effects of solar 
glare are for brief instances and considered to be of minor adverse effect. 
 
Conclusion 
4.128 In regard to daylight and sunlight impacts on sensitive neighbouring 
properties, the development would result in minor adverse effects on some of 
properties assessed, with some instances of moderate adverse and moderate to 
major effects. The majority of properties assessed will not experience significant 
adverse effects and the design has considered the daylight and sunlight amenity 
typical of an urban context. A number of the retained levels of daylight and sunlight 
are not uncommon in dense urban areas of London and are therefore considered to 
be commensurate with the urban location. In terms of overshadowing, whilst there 
would be slight changes to the baseline overshadowing condition, the development 
would not result in significant effects. As such, officers consider that the proposal 
would provide acceptable living conditions to the neighbouring residential properties. 
 
Outlook/sense of enclosure 
4.129 Key Principle HS6 of the Planning Guidance SPD states that 'The proximity 
of a new building or an extension to an existing building can have an overbearing 
and dominating effect detrimental to the enjoyment by adjoining residential occupiers 
of their properties' and prescribes a method for assessment of outlook:' Although it is 
dependent upon the proximity and scale of the proposed development, a general 
standard can be adopted by reference to a line produced at an angle of 45 degrees 
from a point 2 metres above the adjoining ground level of the boundaries of the site 
where it adjoins residential properties. If any part of the proposed building extends 
beyond these lines, then on-site judgement would be a determining factor in 
assessing the effect which the extension would have on the existing amenities of 
neighbouring properties.' Where original rear gardens are less than 9 metres depth, 
a measurement is taken from ground level at the boundary. Where there are existing 
circumstances, such as buildings which would be replaced in a redevelopment, it 
would be inappropriate not  to have regard to these. 
 
4.130 The site is located in Hammersmith town centre and is an ‘island’ site, 
bounded to the north by Talgarth Road and the A4 Hammersmith flyover and to the 
south by London Underground Railway tracks. Despite being located in the town 
centre, the site is currently occupied by a low-rise commercial building and an open 
car park to the rear. At present the majority of the neighbouring residential properties 
to the south look out across the railway tracks onto unobstructed views, meaning 
they enjoy daylight and outlook conditions which are more akin to a suburban 
location rather than an urban environment in central London. It would not be realistic 
for there to be an expectation that this character should prevail given its location. 
The height, form and massing of the proposed development has been designed to 

Page 205



respond to existing surrounding conditions, with the tallest element of the proposed 
development set furthest away from the residential properties to the south, parallel to 
the Talgarth Road/flyover frontage, and the middle and rear sections dropping down 
in height through a sequence of blocks towards the southern boundary. The site's 
immediate residential neighbours located to the rear are in Yeldham Road, Biscay 
Road and Margravine Road/Gardens. The properties located opposite the site (nos. 
57 to 109B (odd) Yeldham Road) would be deemed to be most affected. Whilst other 
residential properties in the vicinity of the site would view the proposed development, 
the residents immediately to the rear are the residents who would be directly affected 
in terms of amenity implications (i.e. light, outlook, privacy, and noise/disturbance) 
due to the proximity of the development to these neighbours.  
 
4.131 The proposal introduces a stepped development facing the residential 
properties. The closest southern (rear) block would be 6 storeys high (19m AOD) 
stepping up to 8 storeys (24.7m AOD), followed by a mid-rise and a taller block at a 
maximum height of 23 storeys. In respect to the Council’s 0m/45 standard, the 
development does not breach a line drawn from the rear elevation of the dwellings in 
Yeldham Road at ground level towards the new buildings, tracing the angle (45 
degrees) and therefore complies with the requirements of this standard. The 
increased height of the mid-rise and the tallest blocks would also meet the standard. 
The standards in the Supplementary Planning Document support Local Plan policies, 
designed as a guide and each application must be considered on its own merits. 
Where the standards are met, on site judgement should still be taken into 
consideration. Officers have had regard to the site’s location in the town centre and 
regeneration area, the benefits of the development and the existing low rise building 
on the site. In comparison with the existing building the proposed development would 
be perceived to have an immediate impact on the existing amenities of the occupiers 
to the south by virtue of its increased height. In this case, the design of the proposed 
development has been carefully considered to minimise the impacts. The tallest 
element of the proposed development would be located on the northernmost part of 
the site and furthest from the residential properties with a separation gap of 72m. 
Each of the blocks would subsequently step down in height, mass and scale relative 
to the proximity of the surrounding residential conditions on the opposite side of the 
railway tracks. Officers consider both the principle and height, scale, design/form of 
the proposed development to be acceptable and conclude that the development 
whilst clearly visible from surrounding neighbouring properties would not adversely 
harm the amenities of surrounding occupiers. Based on on-site judgement, it is 
considered that the loss of outlook or increase the sense of enclosure would not be 
to such an extent to warrant the withholding planning permission. 
 
4.132 On balance, whilst acknowledging the objections received, it is considered 
that the proposed building does not result in a significant loss of outlook to 
neighbouring properties to warrant refusal of planning permission and as such, it is 
considered that it complies with Policies DC1, DC2, DC3, HO11 and Key Principle 
HS6 of the Planning Guidance SPD. 
 
Privacy/overlooking 
4.133 Key Principle HS7 (iii) of the Council’s Planning Guidance SPD sets an 18m 
standard from windows in new development to existing windows, in order to protect 
privacy. The SPD clarifies that the 18m distance would be measured by an arc of 60 

Page 206



degrees taken from the centre of the proposed new window to ensure that there is 
no loss of privacy to neighbouring occupiers.  
 
4.134 As a result of the gap formed by the existing railway tracks, none of the 
existing residential properties situated closest to the application site are within 18m 
of the proposed development. The closest dwellings to the application site are nos. 
71 to 109 (odd) Yeldham Road with a separation distance of approximately 20-21m, 
followed by nos. 84-102 (even) Yeldham Road, nos. 66-70 Margravine Gardens and 
nos. 86-92 Biscay Road. Proposed window openings on the south (rearmost) 
elevation of the 6 storey block serve the hotel corridor on each level and not the 
bedrooms. These window openings would be set back some 4m from the site 
boundary and approximately 25m from the rearmost elevation of the Yeldham Road 
properties. The design and form of each stepped hotel block would result in the 
window to window separation distances increasing, with the window to window 
separation for the 7th floor on the 8 storey block set at a minimum distance of 32m. 
The flat roof above the 6 storey block would also limit views out and down to the 
neighbouring properties from the 7th floor so that there would be no detrimental 
impact on residential amenity. Officers are of the opinion that the proposal would 
have an acceptable impact on the privacy to neighbouring properties. 
 
4.135 It is considered that the gap between the development and closest 
neighbouring properties would ensure that no loss of privacy or significant 
overlooking would occur to existing properties. Consequently, officers are of the 
opinion that the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact on the privacy to 
neighbouring properties. 
 
Noise 
4.136 London Plan Policy 7.15 states that development proposals should seek to 
reduce noise by minimising the existing and potential adverse impacts of noise on, 
from, within, or in the vicinity of, a development and promoting new technologies and 
improved practices to reduce noise. Draft London Plan policies D12 and D13 
reiterates that developments should consider how to moderate their noise impacts 
during construction and use once. 
 
4.137 Local Plan Policy CC11 seeks to control the noise and vibration impacts of 
developments, requiring the location of noise and vibration sensitive development ‘in 
the most appropriate locations’. Design, layout and materials should be used 
carefully to protect against existing and proposed sources of noise, insulating the 
building envelope, internal walls floors and ceilings, and protecting external amenity 
areas. Noise assessments providing details of noise levels on the site are expected 
‘where necessary’. 
 
4.138 Local Plan Policy CC13 seeks to control pollution, including noise, and 
requires proposed developments to show that there would be ‘no undue detriment to 
the general amenities enjoyed by existing surrounding occupiers of their properties’. 
 
4.139 The site is located in the town centre, surrounded by potential noise and 
vibration sources, including railway lines to the south, traffic noise from the 
Hammersmith flyover and Talgarth Road to the north and movement of vehicles from 
the adjacent petrol garage site to the east. The site is therefore in an area with a high 

Page 207



level of background noise. The residential properties nearest to the development are 
aligned to the south in Yeldham Road/Biscay Road and Margravine Gardens are 
already exposed to high levels of railway noise from the adjoining underground 
tracks. However, it is acknowledged that the proposed building and land uses could 
have its own noise/disturbance impacts, particularly with regard to the proposed 
uses and the potential for noise from new plant and equipment. Use of roof top 
terrace and use of the public square also needs to be considered. 
 
4.140 A noise and vibration impact assessment has been carried out to assess the 
existing background noise, establish the requirements for noise and vibration 
reductions to enable suitable indoor conditions for the proposed hotel development 
and to assess the impact of the development on surrounding properties, particularly 
with regard to operational noise breakout, deliveries and collections and the potential 
for noise from plant and equipment. Consideration has been given to the existing 
noise levels associated with the A4 flyover and underground lines and vibration as a 
result of the site’s position. The assessment specifies that a hotel use can be 
reasonably mitigated in this location through building construction and acoustic 
laminated glazing systems to ensure that ambient noise level remain within guideline 
limits. The implication of the construction of the proposed development in terms of 
noise breakout have also been considered and whilst noting there would an increase 
in noise generation on the site during the duration of the works, it would be 
unreasonable to refuse planning permission for a development scheme based on the 
temporary impact. Demolition and construction management plans, and an Air 
Quality Dust Management Plan would be required to be submitted and agreed by 
planning conditions, and these documents would be required to take into account the 
impacts and logistics any existing nearby construction sites. The overall effects from 
the potential noise impacts associated with plant, equipment and machinery and 
break out of operation from the rehearsal space in the basement, ancillary 
restaurants, roof top bar and open space have been considered. All plant items 
would be located internally within plant rooms or externally at roof level (7th, 15th and 
22nd levels) and would be installed with anti-vibration mounting, acoustic enclosures 
and louvres to reduce noise impact. Noise from mechanical plant would need to be 
designed to be capable of achieving compliance with the Council's noise standards 
(i.e. ensuring that the noise is at least 10dB below background noise) and therefore 
can be adequately controlled by planning conditions. The design of the ancillary 
rehearsal space in the basement between the two hotel blocks has been 
rationalised. The space is now contained with reduced openings above ground level. 
There is one roof top terrace on the 21st floor level (approximately 250 sqm) serving 
the roof top bar. The roof terrace would be approximately 75m from the closest 
residents in Yeldham Road. The impact of the terrace is considered to be 
acceptable, subject to a limit on hours of use, given the potential for late night noise 
and disturbance. A condition is attached to cover this. 
 
4.141 At night-time, the proposed development would be required to ensure noise 
does not give rise to sleep disturbance for guest in the development as well as 
neighbouring residents. In order to achieve, noise levels including music would need 
to be controlled and should not be audible outside the premises and guest will be 
prevented from accessing the rear external areas of the hotel after 23:00. Conditions 
are recommended to limit the hours of use of the outdoor garden space or ancillary 
bar and restaurant terrace areas. It is therefore considered that with suitable 

Page 208



conditions, the development could be adequately controlled to ensure that there is 
no harmful impact on local amenity in terms of noise and disturbance. 
 
4.142 Concerns have been expressed about the local noise conditions, including the 
potential noise impact of the development caused by the ‘bounce back’ sound 
reflection that may increase railway noise to the residential properties to the south 
and the proposed hotel development. Residents have informed the impacts 
associated with the 2 hour operations of the underground services and vibration 
effects associated with the ‘Ark’ building. An additional noise assessment has been 
commissioned by the applicant related to the reflected sound from train movements 
on the underground and its effects on surrounding residential properties. Noise 
measurements of the passing trains along the Piccadilly and District lines have been 
undertaken and the impacts of reflected sound from the facades of the adjacent Ark 
building have been assessed. The most distinct noise source was identified when 
trains switch rail tracks or from the wheels on the tracks causing bangs and squeals. 
Computer 3D noise modelling has then been used to calculate and compare the 
existing acoustic environment and the impacts of reflected sound of the proposed 
development on the nearest sensitive premises. 
 
4.143 The noise modelling indicates that the increase in noise levels would be 
negligible, with a maximum increase of only 1dB. For reference, the human ear can 
only discern a change in noise levels of around 3dB. Officers have considered the 
assessment in detail and are of the view that the issue raised by residents is not so 
much to do with the noise levels but due to the delay in the reflected sound being 
heard, as it appears as an additional noise, although at a lower level. The noise 
report has considered this ‘echo’ effect and modelled that the reflected sound from 
the development would arrive at the residential receptors within a few milliseconds of 
the sound reflected of the Ark building. This means that the additional sound would 
not be discernible from the existing ambient noise and for this reason the noise 
impacts from reflected sound are acceptable. 
 
4.144 Officers consider that the impacts for noise and vibration have been 
satisfactorily assessed. The proposed limits and mitigation measures are acceptable 
however specific details would be required to be submitted prior to the occupation of 
the development. It is therefore considered appropriate to require these details, 
including insulation and anti-vibration measures for machinery and plant by 
condition. Subject to the inclusion of conditions requiring the implementation of the 
submitted documents and submission of further information, officers consider that 
the proposed development accords with Policies 7.15 of the London Plan and 
Policies DC1, DC2, CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan and Key Principles NN1 and 
NN4. 
 
Lighting 
4.145 London Plan Policy 7.5 states that ‘London’s public spaces should be 
secure, accessible, inclusive, connected, easy to understand and maintain, relate to 
local context, and incorporate the highest quality design, landscaping, planting, 
street furniture and surfaces’. Paragraph 7.19 notes that the lighting of the public 
realm requires ‘careful consideration to ensure places and spaces are appropriately 
lit, and there is an appropriate balance between issues of safety and security and 
reducing light pollution’. Paragraph 7.22 notes that ‘lighting of, and on, buildings 

Page 209



should be energy efficient and appropriate for the physical context’. Paragraph 7.62 
notes that promotion of nature conservation should be integral to development 
proposals and, in this context, states that the indirect effects of development (which 
include lighting) need to be considered alongside direct impacts (such as habitat 
loss). Draft London Plan Policy D7 mirrors the policy and text relating to lighting in 
the adopted London Plan. Paragraph 3.7.10 further states seeks to ensure that 
lighting of public realm is appropriate to address safety and security issues and to 
make night-time activity areas and access routes welcoming and safe, whilst 
minimising light pollution. 
 
4.146 Local Plan Policy CC12 seeks to control potential adverse impacts from 
lighting by requiring all development proposals seeking permission for external 
lighting to submit details to demonstrate they it would be appropriate for the intended 
use, provide the minimum amount of light necessary to achieve its purposes, be 
energy efficient, and provide adequate protection from glare and light spill. 
 
4.147 A light strategy for the proposal is summarised in the Design and Access 
Statement. This sets out the intentions related to illumination of the different 
elements of the proposed development including the public realm. Such measures 
are considered appropriate in a town centre location and seek to enhance the public 
experience of the site. Lighting and signage to any facade of the hotel buildings 
would need to be sensitively considered and focus on key architectural elements, 
rather than illumination as a singular object. This would ensure its night time visibility 
is in keeping with its surroundings, rather than trying to dominate and create a 
hazard for highway safety or impact on visual amenity. Careful control of the 
measures proposed will be required to avoid light spillage and excessive illumination 
on the residential properties located to the south and the A4. This point has been 
highlighted in some of the objections received in respect to existing lighting on the 
Novotel hotel located north of the A4 and visible at night from surrounding residential 
streets and properties. The proposed development would be required to include 
appropriate lights off measures and an external lighting/advertising strategy at the 
detailed stage to minimise light pollution however ensure adequate lighting is 
provided within public amenity spaces. 
 
4.148 Subject to the inclusion of a condition requiring details of the required lighting 
strategy, officers consider that the proposed development accords with Policies 7.5 
of the London Plan and Policies CC12 of the Local Plan. 
 
Transport and Highways 
4.149 The NPPF requires that developments which generate significant movement 
are located where the need to travel would be minimised, and the use of sustainable 
transport modes can be maximised; and that development should protect and exploit 
opportunities for the use of sustainable transport modes for the movement of goods 
or people. All developments that generate significant amounts of movement should 
be required to provide a travel plan and the application should be supported by a 
transport statement or transport assessment so that the likely impacts of the 
proposal can be assessed. 
 
4.150 London Plan Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13 set out the intention to 
encourage consideration of transport implications as a fundamental element of 

Page 210



sustainable transport, supporting development patterns that reduce the need to 
travel or that locate development with high trip generation in proximity of public 
transport services. The policies also provide guidance for the establishment of 
maximum car parking standards. 
 
4.151 Local Plan Policy T1 sets out the Council’s intention to ‘work with strategic 
partners to improve transport provision, accessibility and air quality in the borough, 
by improving and increasing the opportunities for cycling and walking, and by 
improving connections for bus services, underground, national and regional rail’. 
 
4.152 Local Plan Policy T2 relates to transport assessments and travel plans and 
states “All development proposals would be assessed for their contribution to traffic 
generation and their impact on congestion, particularly on bus routes and on the 
primary route network”. Transport Assessments together with Travel Plans would be 
required as well as Delivery and Service Plans. 
 
4.153 Local Plan Policies T3, T4, T5 and T7 relate to opportunities for cycling and 
walking, vehicle parking standards, blue badge holders parking and construction and 
demolition logistics. Local Plan Policy CC7 sets out the requirements for all new 
developments to provide suitable facilities for the management of waste. Key 
Principles WM1, WM2, WM7 and WM11 of the Planning SPD are also applicable 
which seek off-street servicing for all new developments. 
 
4.154 A Transport Assessment and succeeding addendum have been submitted in 
connection with the proposed development and amendments involving the removal 
of three floors of hotel accommodation, increase in affordable workspace and 
rationalisation of the basemen space. 
 
Site Accessibility 
4.155 The application site is located on Talgarth Road and opposite the 
Hammersmith Flyover which forms part of the Transport of London Road Network 
(TLRN). The site is well served by public transport and as such has a public 
transport accessibility level (PTAL) of 6a, which is classified as 'excellent' in terms of 
its proximity to the public transport networks, service availability and walking time to 
public transport, with numerous bus routes servicing Hammersmith Station and 
Hammersmith and Barons Court stations a short distance from the site. 
 
Access 
4.156 Currently the site has a separate vehicle entry and exit arrangement, both 
from Talgarth Road with a one-way road that serves a car park area to the rear. In 
the proposed development the vehicle access and egress arrangement would be 
retained. The use of the existing arrangement would minimise the impact on the 
existing trees. Minor modifications to the existing arrangements are however 
proposed to enable 14m length coaches and servicing vehicles to enter and exit the 
site in a forward gear. A one-way internal access road would run alongside the front 
of the front hotel building and would be used by all vehicular traffic, including 
coaches, drop off’s and delivery/servicing. A new central access point is proposed off 
the footway to Talgarth Road and provide a new separate pedestrian and cyclist 
access/egress to the site. Highway officers accept the principle of access strategy as 
part of the planning application and is included as part of the Transport Assessment. 

Page 211



TfL have requested that a condition be attached requiring a Stage 1 Road Safety 
Audit  
 
Trip Generation 
4.157 In order to assess the relative traffic impact of the development proposals, the 
applicant has estimated the number of trips that would be generated by the proposed 
development. In this case, no information is provided of the trip generation for the 
former magistrates’ court use as a comparison. Additional sites were sought in lieu of 
existing trip generation information to ensure a robust assessment. 
 
4.158 The total number of daily trips anticipated to be generated by the proposed 
development is 5254. It is estimated that most trips to the site would be undertaken 
by foot. It is estimated that 233 total trips would be generated in the AM peak, with 
212 total trips generated in the PM peak and a total of 2355 daily trips by foot (45% 
of the total trips). 
 
4.159 Aside from servicing, most of the vehicular trips to the site are likely to by taxi 
(and private hire vehicle trips). The applicant has predicted the number of motor 
vehicles (excluding service vehicles) to the site based on data for five hotel sites 
within London that were on the TRICS database. It is predicated that 44 taxi arrivals 
and 57 departures in the am peak, 43 taxi arrivals and 45 departures in the pm peak, 
and a total of 893 taxi daily trips (17% of the total trips) would be generated by the 
development. 
 
4.160 In response to objections received by local residents, a further analysis of the 
impact taxis would have on the surrounding highway network was submitted by the 
applicant. The analysis suggested that it is unlikely that a significant proportion of 
taxis would ‘rat-run’ to the south of the site. Only taxis approaching the site from the 
west would be expected to rat-run and many of these taxis would choose to carry out 
a U-turn at the junction of the A4 with North End Road. The applicant states that in 
the scenario of 50% of taxis approaching from the west, and with a lot of these U-
turning on the A4 only 11 taxis in the AM peak hour would choose to use roads to 
the south. In addition, it is proposed that the hotel operators would be required to use 
taxi services located to the east of the site. 
 
4.161 In respect to the applicant’s analysis it is noted that the presence of Heathrow 
Airport to the west of the site may result in more arrivals from the west than the 
developer consultant’s 50% assumption. Also, with some satellite navigation 
applications using real time information to direct motorists the route taken by taxi and 
private hire companies will vary depending on traffic conditions. It is noted however 
that the magistrates court when it was functioning would have generated significant 
levels of taxi trips. Whilst the proposed hotel development is expected to generate an 
increase in vehicle activity, it is considered that the proposed taxi trips associated 
with the site is unlikely to have an adverse impact on the amenity of surrounding 
residential occupiers to warrant refusal of planning permission and can be 
accommodated within the application site. 
 
Car Parking 
4.162 London Plan Policy 6.1 states that proposals should encourage the 
reduction in the need to travel, especially by car. The London Plan sets no maximum 

Page 212



parking standards for hotels, but notes that in PTAL 4-6 areas, on-site parking 
should be limited to operational needs, parking for disabled people and the needs for 
servicing and coach parking (para. 6A.8) as necessary. The proposed development 
would result in the removal of the existing surface car park which has capacity for up 
28 car parking spaces which serve the former magistrate’s court building. The 
proposed development is to be car-free, except for car parking spaces for blue 
badge holders and taxi pick-up/drop off located at ground floor level. The 4 car 
parking spaces for blue badge holders would be fitted with electric vehicle charging 
points (2 active and 2 passive) and 5 spaces would be provided off the forecourt for 
taxi pick-up/drop-off, in accordance with London Plan and Local Plan policies. 
Officers are supportive of the overall reduction in parking provision within the 
application site. An Operation Hotels Management Plan is secured by way of the 
S106 agreement would be required to include measures in relation to impaired and 
disabled users’ requirements. The car parking spaces would be managed by the 
hotels and guests and would be required to notify staff of their requirements prior to 
arrival as part of the hotel’s booking arrangements. 
 
Coach Parking 
4.163 The London Plan states that hotel developments should provide one coach 
space per 50 bedrooms. Two coach bays are proposed and would be located at the 
eastern end of the site. Swept path analysis for a 12m coach has been tested 
entering/leaving and parking on the site has been included in the transport 
assessment. Coach drop offs are likely take place at the hotel entrance outside the 
peak hours. Coach arrivals would be managed by staff on site to ensure that a 
maximum of two coaches arrive at the site at any one time. Trip generation 
estimates a maximum of 3 coach arrivals in the AM peak and 4 coach arrivals in the 
PM peak. Assuming a dwell time of 30 minutes per coach, it is considered that the 
coach parking provision is sufficient to accommodate the proposed coach trip 
generation. TfL have requested that a condition be attached limiting the size of 
coaches to a maximum 14m. Officers consider this point and management of 
coaches arriving and leaving the site can be reasonably controlled through the Hotel 
Management Plan to be secured by the S106 agreement. 
 
Cycle Parking  
4.164 Echoing Policy 6.9 of the London Plan, Draft London Plan policy T5, and 
Local Plan Policy T2 seeks to develop and promote a safe environment for cyclists 
across the borough to encourage residents and businesses to consider these 
modes. Policy T3 seeks to increase and promote opportunities for cycling through 
the provision of convenient, accessible, and safe secure cycle parking within the 
boundary of the site. Appendix 8 of the Local Plan seek to ensure that satisfactory 
cycle parking is provided for all developments. The draft London Plan standards 
require hotels to provide a minimum of 1 space per 20 beds for staff and an 
additional 1 space per 50 beds for visitors. A minimum 43 long-stay and 17 short 
stay cycle spaces, with a total minimum of 60 spaces is therefore required. 
 
4.165 The Transport Assessment (TA) sets out the cycle parking requirements for 
all the land uses on the site (including hotels, event space, offices, and roof top bar). 
A minimum 104 cycle parking spaces (67 long stay and 37 short stay) is required for 
the proposed development. A total of 120 cycle parking spaces would be provided 
which exceeds the minimum required standards set out within London Plan policy 

Page 213



6.13 and Draft London Plan policy T5. Long stay cycle parking spaces used mainly 
by staff would be provided in secured cycle store rooms accessed via the service 
yard. Both hotels buildings would have their own respective cycle storage facilities. 
Hotel 1 would provide 72 spaces in the basement level and 16 spaces on the ground 
level and 20 spaces would be provided on the ground floor of Hotel 2 next to the 
service yard. It is proposed that the storage facilities would be used mainly by staff 
and serviced by the concierge for any resident guests at the hotel who have cycled. 
A member of staff would accompany the guest to the cycle store. All 12-short stay 
visitor cycle parking would be provided at ground floor level in the public realm in the 
form of six Sheffield style stands. 
 
4.166 The application is supported by a Cycling Level of Service (CLoS) audit, 
which concludes that the conditions for cycling in the local area are slightly below 
average. There is access to cycle routes relatively close to the site, however, safety 
on busy roads such as Fulham Palace Road, Hammersmith Gyratory Talgarth Road 
and Hammersmith Road affected scores. Nonetheless, the CLoS audit identifies 
some further enhancements could make cycle use more attractive and ensure that 
car trips are minimised. A contribution of £50,000 towards Hammersmith Underpass 
Cycle Hub has been sought and would be secured through the S106 legal 
agreement. 
 
Public Transport 
4.167 The TRICs analysis indicates that public transport (rail/underground and bus) 
would account for 22% of the proposed trips to the application site. Given the 
frequency of public transport services the change in travel demand is unlikely to 
have an effect on existing services. Coach passengers would account for 5% of total 
trips and cyclists would represent 1% of all proposed trips to the site. 
 

 

 
 
4.168 The Council's highways officer has considered the impacts of the proposed 
development in respect of trip generation alongside the submitted Transport 
Assessment and addendum and raises no objection to the proposals. 
 
Travel Plan  
4.169 A framework Travel Plan has been submitted alongside the transport 
assessment which sets out the objectives and measures to be incorporated in a full 

Page 214



Travel Plan which would aim to target both staff and guests. As the proposal is a 
predominantly a car free development, the travel patterns of employees, hotel guests 
and office employees would have significantly influences. The Council's Highways 
officer is satisfied with the framework document and recommends a full Travel Plan 
in line with Transport for London guidance, together with allowance for periodic 
monitoring by the Council, and revision if necessary. The framework Travel Plan 
seeks to manage the predicted sustainable travel patterns to and from the site and 
increase the sustainable travel mode share in place of cars, taxis and private hire 
vehicles. As part of any S106 agreement, a more detailed Travel Plan for the 
different elements of the hotel led development would be subject to ongoing 
monitoring and review, to encourage users of the development to travel by 
sustainable modes other than the car. It is considered that there is capacity within 
the existing public transport network to accommodate the trips proposed from this 
development. Officers welcome the provision of a Travel Plan in support of the 
proposal for sustainable travel for occupiers of the development. A Construction 
Workers Travel Plan would also be required with a monitoring fees of £5,000 per 
annum until completion of works to be secured through the S106 agreement. 
 
Walking 
4.170 The application is supported by a Pedestrian Environment Review System 
(PERS) audit, which concludes that the conditions for walking in the local area and 
access to the site from nearby public transport nodes are generally good. The 
existing footway on the southern side of Talgarth Road borders the northern 
boundary of the site and is opposite the elevated flyover. This footway provides a 
walking connection between the site and Barons Court Station to the east and the 
centre of Hammersmith to the west, including all public transport services, to the 
north-west. There are a series of signalised pedestrian crossings on Talgarth Road, 
providing various walking routes to the centre of Hammersmith. These crossings 
mitigate against the severing effects of the Hammersmith gyratory and A4 slip roads. 
The proposed hotel development is expected to generate an increase in footfall 
activity in and around the site when compared with the former magistrates’ court. 
However, this is not considered to be at a scale which would be problematic. The 
proposed development aims to increase pedestrian permeability into the site by 
providing internal pedestrian walkways each connected to and centred around the 
garden square and onto Talgarth Road. 
 
4.171 The PERS audit identifies some further enhancements that could make 
pedestrian access and wayfinding from the surrounding area to the site more 
convenient and safer. The underpass has recently been greened using Business 
Improvement District (BID) funding. It is expected that most trips associated with the 
development would arrive and depart on foot, connecting to the various public 
transport options within walking distance of the site at Hammersmith underground 
and bus stations or Baron Court station. A contribution towards improving the state 
and quality of surrounding footways from the east and lighting around the underpass 
are sought by TfL and would be secured through the legal agreement. Contribution 
towards enhancing the public realm outside our red line boundary along Talgarth 
Road – the exact delivery of this to be agreed. The land between the site and station 
is largely in TfL’s remit. TfL potentially seeking public realm improvements on 
Talgarth Road and further discussion with TfL will be required on this matter to 

Page 215



ensure improvements on the walking/ cycling environment in the vicinity and secured 
through the S106 agreement, in line with Draft London Plan policy T2 Healthy Street. 
 
Refuse and Servicing/Delivery  
4.172 London Plan Policy 5.16 seeks to minimise waste and exceed recycling 
levels. Local Plan Policy CC7 seeks for all developments to have suitable facilities 
for the management of waste generated by the development. Key Principle TR27 of 
the Planning Guidance SPD seeks off-street servicing for all new developments. 
Appendix 5d of the SPD sets specific guidance on waste capacity and storage 
requirements for different commercial uses. It states that for hotels, 7,500 litres of 
waste storage are required per 1,000m2 per week. 
 
4.173 The applicant has submitted a draft delivery and servicing plan. Adequate 
refuse storage for both the hotel and retail premises is considered to be provided 
within clearly defined areas on the site. The Council's Highways officer raises no 
objections in principle to this document, which provides detail on the operational 
servicing of the premises.  
 
4.174 Delivery and servicing vehicles would be marshalled to the servicing yard 
upon arrival. The servicing yard is located in the north-east corner of the site and can 
accommodate one large vehicle (14.6m) without impacting the use of the two 
proposed coach spaces. It is estimated using the TRICs database that up to 13 
delivery and servicing trips would be generated daily, if the proposed hotels 
coordinate and consolidate deliveries.  
 
4.175 On review of the site vehicle and service management plan and having regard 
to the existing highway conditions on Talgarth Road, officers are satisfied that 
through appropriate management and timing of deliveries, the delivery and servicing 
requirements of the development can be undertaken without prejudice to the use of 
Talgarth Road. Nonetheless, the applicant is required to update the delivery and 
servicing plan to include a commitment to prevent delivery/servicing of the site via 
residential streets. A final Delivery and Servicing Plan would be secured by 
condition. 
 
Demolition and Construction Logistic Plans  
4.176 A Draft Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and Draft 
Constructions Logistics Plan (CLP) have been submitted by the applicant’s 
contractors in accordance with Policy T7 of the Local Plan. Final documents 
including works associated with the demolition phase would be required to include 
demolition details, contractors' construction method statements, site classification 
and disposal procedures and locations, dust and noise monitoring and control, 
provisions within the site to ensure that all vehicles associated with the 
demolition/construction works are properly washed and cleaned to prevent the 
passage of mud and dirt onto the highway, and other matters relating to traffic 
management to be agreed. The documents at this stage identifies preliminary 
proposals to manage the demolition and subsequent construction processes, 
including details regarding environmental and amenity mitigation, site logistics, traffic 
management and routing, health and safety, community liaison etc. To minimise the 
likelihood of congestion during the demolition and construction period, strict 
monitoring and control of vehicles entering and exiting, and routing and travelling to 

Page 216



and from the site, would need to be implemented through the DLP and CLP. A final 
plan of proposed routes to and from the site is required with the submission of the 
detailed CLP. Construction deliveries would also need to be carefully planned with 
delivery times agreed with each contractor in order to regulate deliveries and 
eliminate bottle necks on surrounding roads. At this early stage, the information has 
yet to be fully finalised, and the documents need to be developed. Officers consider 
this information needs to be provided in compliance with TfL guidelines. The 
documents would need to be developed to be in accordance with Transport for 
London (TfL) requirements, which seeks to minimise the impact of construction traffic 
on nearby roads and restrict construction trips to off peak hours only. These would 
be secured in conditions. 
 
Conclusions on Highway Matters 
4.177 Subject to the submission of the required documents by condition or legal 
agreement and the mitigation to the impacts of the development required by way of 
legal agreement, officers consider that the proposed development would be 
acceptable and in accordance with London Plan Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.10, 6.11 and 
6.13 and Local Plan policies T1, T2, T3, T4, T5, T7 and CC7.  
 
Energy and Sustainability 
4.178 The NPPF states that development proposals are expected to comply with 
local requirements and should take account of landform, layout, building orientation, 
massing and landscaping to minimise energy consumption and to increase the use 
and supply of renewable and low carbon energy. 
 
4.179 London Plan Policies 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3 require developments to make the 
fullest contribution to the mitigation of and adaptation to climate change, ensure 
sustainable design and construction and minimise carbon dioxide emissions. 
Policies 5.5, 5.6, 5.7 and 5.8 require developments to provide decentralised energy, 
renewable energy, and innovative energy technologies where appropriate. The 
Mayor’s Sustainable Design and Construction SPG provides guidance on the 
implementation of London Plan Policy 5.3 and provides a range of additional 
guidance on matters relating to environmental sustainability. 
 
4.180 Draft London Plan Policy SI2 seeks to extend the extant requirement on 
residential development to non-residential development to meet zero carbon targets. 
It maintains the expectation that a minimum reduction of 35% beyond Building 
Regulations to be met on site (10% or 15% of which should be achieved through 
energy efficiency for residential development, and non-residential development). 
Where it is clearly demonstrated that the zero-carbon target cannot be met on site, 
the shortfall should be provided through a cash in lieu contribution to the borough’s 
carbon offset fund, or off-site provided an alternative proposal has been identified 
and delivery is certain. 
 
4.181 Draft London Plan Policy SI3 identifies Heat Network Priority Areas, which 
include the Fulham Gasworks site. Here, major proposals should have a communal 
heat system in accordance with a hierarchy that priorities connection to local existing 
or planned heat networks, followed by: use of available local secondary heat 
sources; generation of clean heat/power from zero-emission sources; and use of fuel 
cells. CHPs are ranked fifth of the six options, followed by ultra-low NOx gas boilers. 

Page 217



Supporting text explains that further information about the relevance of CHP in 
developments of various scales would also be provided in an Energy Planning 
Guidance document, which would be kept updated as technology changes, however 
this guidance has not yet been published. The draft Plan states that it is not 
expected that gas engine CHP would be able to meet the standards required within 
areas exceeding air quality limits with the technology that is currently available. 
 
4.182 Draft London Plan Policy SI4 seeks to minimise internal heat gain and the 
impacts of urban heat island effect through design, layout, orientation and materials. 
An energy strategy should demonstrate how development proposals would reduce 
potential for overheating and reliance on air conditioning systems in accordance with 
a hierarchy that prioritises the minimisation of internal heat generation through 
energy efficient design and reductions to the amount of heat entering a building. 
 
4.183 Local Plan Policy CC1 requires major developments to implement energy 
conservation measures by implementing the London Plan sustainable energy 
policies and meeting associated CO2 reduction target and demonstrating that a 
series of measures have been taken to reduce the expected energy demand and 
CO2 emissions. It requires the use of on-site energy generation to further reduce 
CO2 emissions where feasible. 
 
4.184 Local Plan Policy CC2 seeks to ensure the implementation of sustainable 
design and construction measures by implementing the London Plan sustainable 
design and construction policies. 
 
4.185 As required for all major development proposals, an energy assessment and 
addendum statement has been provided with the application. The London Plan 
Energy Hierarchy has been followed in developing an energy statement for the 
scheme which has prioritised the inclusion of energy efficiency measures and low 
carbon energy generation on-site. The long distance to an existing district heating 
network is not suitable for a connection to this site. The nearest DH network is 
approximately 7 miles from the site. An on-site Combined Heat and Power (CHP) 
and Heat Pump option has been considered and would serve the space heating and 
hot water requirements of the development. 
 
4.186 A Building Regulations compliant scheme has been calculated as emitting 
1,884 tonnes of CO2 a year. The proposed energy efficiency measures include 
improved insulation, better airtightness to reduce heat loss, heat recovery on 
ventilation systems, energy efficient lighting and an efficient space and water heating 
system which includes the Combined Heat and Power (CHP) system are calculated 
to reduce annual CO2 emissions to 1,165 tonnes. At this stage no solar PV’s are 
included as part of the development which could deliver further carbon dioxide 
reductions. On-site renewable energy generation is also proposed in the form of 
Heat Pumps which reduce emissions to 1,093 tonnes a year. The carbon reduction 
measures provide a 40% reduction in emissions compared to the baseline set by the 
Building Regulations 2013, which meets the London Plan 35% target. 
 
4.187 As required of a major development, a Sustainability Statement in the form of 
a BREEAM Pre-Assessment report has been provided with the application. This is in 
the form of two assessments, one for Hotel 1 and one for Hotel 2. Both assessments 

Page 218



show that if the identified credits are achieved as outlined then the development 
would achieve a BREEAM rating of "Excellent".  
 
4.188 In addition to the carbon reduction measures outlined in the energy 
assessment, other measures that would be designed include water efficiency, waste 
management and recycling facilities, use of building materials with low environmental 
impacts where possible, including recycled materials where feasible, inclusion of 
measures to minimise noise pollution and air quality impacts, flood risk and 
sustainable drainage measures, sustainable transport measures and biodiversity 
improvements. The development site would also be registered with the Considerate 
Constructors Scheme to encourage environmentally and socially considerate ways 
of working and reduce adverse impacts arising from the construction process. 
 
4.189 The proposed approach in terms of energy and sustainability are supported, 
subject to the implementation of the measures outlined in the Energy Assessment 
and Sustainability Statement and a requirement for the submission of post 
construction BREEAM assessments to demonstrate that the “Excellent” rating has 
been achieved for both hotels. Subject to conditions to ensure that the 
implementation of the carbon reduction measures as outlined in the energy 
assessment and sustainability measure are carried out officers consider the 
proposals would meet planning policy requirements in terms of sustainable design 
and construction issues and accords with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8, 5.9, 
5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14, 5.15 and 7.19 of the London Plan and Policies CC1, CC2 and 
CC7 of the Local Plan. 
 
Air Quality 
4.190 The development site is within the borough wide Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMA), designated in 2000 for exceedance of two pollutants - Nitrogen 
Dioxide (N02) and Particulate Matter (PM10). The main local sources of these 
pollutants are road traffic and buildings (gas boiler emissions). The air quality in parts 
of Hammersmith are poor, particularly close to busy roads. NPPF Paragraph 124 
relates to air quality and it states planning decisions should ensure that any new 
development in Air Quality Management Areas is consistent with the local air quality 
action plan. 
 
4.191 London Plan Policy 7.14 seeks that development proposals minimise 
pollutant emissions and promote sustainable design and construction to reduce 
emissions from the demolition and construction of the buildings; not worsen existing 
poor-quality air quality. Where additional negative air quality impacts from a new 
development are identified, mitigation measures would be required to ameliorate 
these impacts. This approach is consistent with paragraphs 120 and 124 of the 
NPPF. Further the Mayor of London’s Air Quality Strategy (2010) provides a 
framework of policy which aims to improve air quality in London. 
 
4.192 Local Plan Policy CC10 seeks to reduce potential adverse air quality impacts 
arising from new developments and sets out several requirements. 
 
4.193 As required, an air quality assessment has been provided. The proposed 
development is for commercial use, with no live-in staff or permanent residents. The 
annual mean objectives for N02 and PM10 do not apply. The one-hour objective for 

Page 219



NO2 does apply, as there are outdoor locations within the proposals where people 
are reasonably expected to spend an hour or more. A risk assessment of the 
potential impacts of the demolition and construction phases of the proposed 
development on air quality and dust has been undertaken to identify appropriate 
mitigation measures. The impacts of the demolition, construction and operation 
phases of the proposed development have been considered. Due to the uplift in 
floorspace and use of the site there will be an impact with regards to air quality 
locally, however the overall impact is considered acceptable. Impacts of road traffic 
generated by the development on the surrounding area has been undertaken 
together with cumulative impacts. It is anticipated that the impact from road traffic 
would be low due to the provision of limited on-site parking and proximity to good 
public transport links. Mitigation measures through the use of travel plans promoting 
sustainable travel to reduce impacts on road traffic have been proposed. The impact 
of the emissions from the proposed energy plant on air quality and surrounding 
properties has been assessed. The energy plant consists of twelve gas fired water 
heaters, four combined heat and power (CHP) units and two gas fired boiler units. 
Subject to the inclusion of conditions prior to the commencement of above ground 
works for each phase of the development to address the above mitigation measures, 
officers consider that the proposed development can accord with Policies 7.14 of the 
London Plan and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 
4.194 The NPPF seeks to meet the challenge of climate change, flooding, and 
coastal change by supporting the transition to a low carbon future in a changing 
climate taking account of flood risk and coastal change. 
 
4.195 London Plan Policies 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 require new 
development to comply with the flood risk assessment and management 
requirements of national policy, including the incorporation of sustainable urban 
drainage systems, and specifies a drainage hierarchy for new development. Policy 
5.3 identifies the efficient use of natural resources (including water) as a principle for 
informing the achievement of other policies in the London Plan. Policy 5.11 Part A 
subsection b recognises the role of green roofs and walls in delivering sustainable 
urban drainage objectives. Policy 5.13 further states that development should utilise 
SuDS unless there are practical reasons for not doing so and should aim to achieve 
greenfield run-off rates and manage surface water run-off close to source. Policy 
5.14 states that planning decisions must ensure that adequate waste water 
infrastructure capacity is available in tandem with development. Draft London Plan 
Policy SI13 sets out the same requirement and additionally states that proposals for 
impermeable paving should be refused and that drainage should be design and 
implemented to address water efficiency, river quality, biodiversity, and recreation. 
 
4.196 Local Plan Policy CC2 requires major developments to implement 
sustainable design and construction measures, including making the most efficient 
use of water. 
 
4.197 Local Plan Policy CC3 requires a site-specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 
for developments in Flood Zones 2 and 3 that: (a) addresses the NPPF 
requirements; (b) takes account of the risk of flooding from all relevant sources; (c) 
integrates appropriate flood proofing measures where there is a risk of flooding; and 

Page 220



(d) provides structural waterproofing measures in subterranean elements and using 
non-return valves or equivalent to protect against sewer flooding. 
 
4.198 Local Plan Policy CC4 (‘Minimising surface water run-off with sustainable 
drainage systems’) requires all proposals for new development to ‘manage surface 
water run-off as close to its source as possible and on the surface where practicable, 
in line with the London Plan drainage hierarchy’. It also requires all major 
developments to implement SuDS ‘to enable reduction in peak run-off to greenfield 
run off rates for storms up to the 1 in 100-year event (plus climate change 
allowance)’ and to provide a sustainable drainage strategy to demonstrate how the 
strategy would enable these requirements. These are to be retained and maintained 
for the lifetime of the development, with details of their planned maintenance to be 
provided. SPD Key Principles FR1, FR2, FR3, FR6 and FR7 are also applicable. 
 
4.199 This site is situated 650m north east of the River Thames and in the 
Environment Agency's Flood Zones 2 and 3. The east and far south of the site is 
located within Flood Zone 3. As required, a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been 
provided with the application which considers a range of flood risks for the site. 
 
4.200 With regards to flood risk from the River Thames, the site is well defended by 
flood defences in the form of the Thames Barrier and river wall defences. If these 
were breached or over-topped, Environment Agency modelling suggests the site 
would not be impacted. The railway cutting to the south of the site would most likely 
intercept flows in the worst-case scenario. The site is not in a surface water flooding 
hotspot although there could be some ponding of water in the event of a major 
storm. Surface water would be managed by implementing a Sustainable Drainage 
Strategy (SuDS). Basements are proposed, so groundwater and sewer flooding 
would need to be mitigated. 
 
4.201 The FRA notes that, based on EA guidance, that the Finished Floor Levels 
(FFLs) should be set above the 2100 breach flood level which is 5.1m AOD. This is 
based on EA guidance of applying 300mm above the ground level of the site (4.8m 
AOD). The flow route of flood water is not clear at this stage would be determined by 
the ground levels of the proposed development. Currently the site is not completely 
level falling south to north. The FFL should be designed to encourage the flow of 
water away from buildings and towards the permeable areas. It is also stated that it 
is recommended that a Flood Action Plan is prepared to provide for safe access and 
egress procedures during a flood. Other recommendations have also been made for 
the inclusion of flood resistance measures and flood resilient materials to both the 
basement and ground floor level. Protection against sewer flooding would be 
provided by installing a non-return valve and pumped drainage within the basement. 
A warning bell or alarm system and the preparation of a Flood Evacuation Plan are 
also included. 
 
4.202 With regards to groundwater flood risks, the FRA states that excavating below 
the development may result in the basement being susceptible to groundwater 
flooding when water table levels rise, or to seepage from water percolating and 
infiltrating through the gravel from the surface. Deep excavation may reach the 
average water table depth for the aquifer and pumping of water may be required 
during construction. The FRA recommends that the building is designed in 

Page 221



accordance with flood resilient design principals and states that it is expected that 
the requirements to meet normal building regulations and satisfy appropriate design 
criteria would deliver development that is at low risk from groundwater penetration or 
flooding. Measures recommended include sealing of the basement and the use of 
pumps with appropriate backup pumps. 
 
4.203 Initially The London Plan Drainage Hierarchy did not follow the SuDS 
strategy. The proposed use green roofs was noted but no reference to integration of 
blue roofs was included or details relating to rainwater harvesting. More detail of the 
SuDS measures proposed for the site were therefore requested to ensure that the 
SuDS opportunities would be maximised on site and to be included an updated FRA. 
A number of additional SuDs measures are proposed in the revised FRA. Rainwater 
harvesting (RWH) is now proposed. Approximately 740 m2 of roof area would drain 
into RWH tanks with 15,000 capacity. Water stored is proposed to be re-used for 
toilet flushing. Additional information has been provided on the green roof proposals. 
In total 1,200 m2 of green roof space would be provided. Blue roofs are also 
included, integrated into 995 m2 of the green roofs with approximately 95m3 of 
attenuation provided. Permeable paving and underground tanks would improve 
attenuation measures. Final discharge of surface water into the public sewer 
restricted to 2l/s represents a 95-98% improvement compared to the current 
arrangements. This is welcomed. Given that there are a number of elements where 
further design work is required, a condition is secured to require the submission of a 
detailed Surface Water Management Strategy for our approval. This will confirm the 
details of all SuDS measures to be integrated into the site, provide details of final 
discharge rates and connection points, quantify the attenuation achieved and provide 
information on how the SuDS measures will be maintained. Plans showing SuDS 
measures will also be required. 
 
4.204 Subject to the inclusion of conditions requiring the submission of a Surface 
Water Drainage Strategy and Flood Risk Assessment officers consider that the 
proposed approach would be acceptable and in accordance with Policies 5.11, 5.13, 
5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan and policy requiring flood risk assessment and 
development to mitigate flood risk, Policies CC2, CC3, CC4 and CC5 of the Local 
Plan which requires development to minimise future flood risk. 
 
Land Contamination 
4.205 London Plan Policy 5.21 explains that ‘the Mayor supports the remediation 
of contaminated sites and would work with strategic partners to ensure that the 
development of brownfield land does not result in significant harm to human health 
or the environment, and to bring contaminated land to beneficial use’. For decision-
making, the policy requires ‘appropriate measures’ to be taken to ensure that 
development on previously contaminated land does not activate or spread 
contamination. 
 
4.206 Local Plan Policy CC9 requires a site assessment and a report on its 
findings for developments on or near sites known to be (or where there is reason to 
believe they may be) contaminated. Development would be refused ‘unless 
practicable and effective measures are to be taken to treat, contain or control any 
contamination’. Any permission would require that any agreed measures with the 

Page 222



council to assess and abate risks to human health or the wider environment are 
carried out as the first step of the development. 
 
4.207 Key Principles LC1-6 of the Planning Guidance SPG identify the key 
principles informing the processes for engaging with the council on, and assessing, 
phasing and granting applications for planning permission on contaminated land. 
The latter principle provides that planning conditions can be used to ensure that 
development does not commence until conditions have been discharged. 
 
4.208 A Preliminary Phase 1 Contamination Assessment Report (PRA) was 
submitted with the application. The site investigation undertaken conclude that none 
of the pollution linkages were active and therefore the overall risk was confirmed to 
be low. Further investigations are therefore not considered to be required and 
remediation works are unlikely to be required or would be limited. 
 
4.209 Officers consider that in principle this report is acceptable. Further detail is 
however required due to potentially contaminative land uses possibly having 
occurred at, or near to, this site and these details can be appropriately and 
reasonably secured by way of conditions. 
 
4.210  Subject to the inclusion of conditions requiring the submission of further 
information by condition, officers consider that the proposed development accords 
with Policies 5.21 and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan given that all identified potentially 
significant effects during the demolition and construction and the operational stages 
can be suitably adequately mitigated, such that the significance of the residual 
effects of the proposed development would be negligible and that the land would be 
suitable for the proposed uses. 
 
Wind and Microclimate 
4.211 London Plan Policy 7.6 states that buildings and structures should not cause 
unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and buildings in relation to 
(inter alia) wind and microclimate. London Plan Policy 7.7 states that tall buildings 
should not affect their surroundings adversely in terms of microclimate, wind 
turbulence, overshadowing. 
 
4.212 The Mayor’s Sustainable Design and Construction SPG recognises at 
paragraph 2.3.7 that large buildings can alter their local environments and affect the 
micro-climate and notes that the Lawson Comfort Criteria can be used to assess the 
impact of a large building on the comfort of the street environment. It further states 
that developers should assess the potential impacts at ground level of any building 
that is significantly taller than its surroundings. 
 
4.213 Local Plan Policy DC3 states that tall buildings should not affect their 
surroundings adversely in terms of microclimate, wind turbulence, overshadowing. 
Local Plan Policy CC2 seeks to ensure that developments are comfortable and 
secure for users and avoid impacts from natural hazards. In supporting text 
paragraph 13.7 explains that this policy is intended to ensure that developments help 
to enhance open spaces and contribute to well-being. 
 

Page 223



4.214 Draft London Plan further addresses wind and microclimate. Indirectly, draft 
Policy GG1 requires streets and public spaces to be planned for circulation by the 
comfort in comfort and safety, and to be welcoming. More directly, draft Policy D8 
addresses the environmental impact of tall buildings, requiring careful consideration 
of the wind (and daylight, sunlight penetration and temperature) conditions around 
tall buildings and their neighbourhoods so that they do not compromise the comfort 
and enjoyment of them. Draft paragraph 3.1.2 further states the importance of a 
comfortable pedestrian environment with regard to levels of sunlight, shade, wind, 
and shelter from precipitation. 
 
4.215 Chapter 4:’Wind Microclimate ‘of the ES/ES Addendum considers the likely 
wind microclimate changes of the proposed development in and around the site. The 
consequences of the amendments to the proposed development on the wind 
microclimate assessment involving a reduction in height of the tallest part of Hotel 1 
by three storeys have been considered. In the ES Addendum, the wind microclimate 
assessment states that a reduction in overall building height of Hotel 1 by three 
storeys would reduce the local wind speed at ground and terrace levels around the 
proposed development however, the reduction would be small and relatively 
localised. At worst, the wind microclimate conditions would be no windier than the 
original ES assessment. For this reason, the proposed wind microclimate is based 
on the results of the January 2019 ES assessment and have not been updated. 
 
4.216 The existing wind conditions across the site and surroundings have been 
examined using wind tunnel testing and comparisons have been made with a 
completed development and landscape and structural mitigation measures. 
 
4.217 During the construction phase wind speeds may increase slightly and locally 
during periods of demolition, as parts of the site become relatively free of 
obstructions. The effects of wind during the construction phase of the proposed 
development are considered to be negligible and therefore no mitigation measures 
are proposed. Once completed the proposed development is expected to have 
negligible or moderate effects on the site and surroundings. The windiest conditions 
are found at the southwest and south-east corner of the tallest building and between 
Hotel 1 and 2. Negligible effects on building entrances, rooftop terraces and amenity, 
sitting and play areas are anticipated. The conditions are however considered 
suitable for walking use. The effects on pedestrian circulation areas within the site 
have been considered and proposed soft landscaping and boundary treatments 
would act as a natural wind-break. The ES concludes that there are negligible 
cumulative effects on wind microclimate due to the size and distance of the 
committed developments from the development. 
 
4.218 Subject to the inclusion of conditions requiring the implementation the 
mitigation measures required, officers consider that the proposed development 
would not result in an unacceptable wind microclimate that would cause harm, 
discomfort or safety issues to pedestrians or the environment around the buildings 
and accords with Policies 7.6 and 7.7 of the London Plan and Policies DC3 and CC2 
of the Local Plan. 
 
 
 

Page 224



5.0 SECTION 106 HEADS OF TERMS AND CIL 
 
S106 Heads of Terms 
 
5.1 The NPPF provides guidance for local planning authorities in considering the 
use of planning obligations. It states that ‘authorities should consider whether 
otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the use of 
conditions or planning obligations and that planning obligations should only be used 
where it is not possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning 
condition’. 
 
5.2 London Plan Policy 8.2 states that: ‘When considering planning applications 
of strategic importance, the Mayor would take into account, among other issues 
including economic viability of each development concerned, the existence and 
content of planning obligations. Development proposals should address strategic as 
well as local priorities in planning obligations. Affordable housing and other public 
transport improvements should be given the highest importance’. It goes onto state: 
‘Importance should also be given to tackling climate change, learning and skills, 
health facilities and services, childcare provisions and the provision of small shops.’ 
 
5.3 Local Plan Policy INFRA1 (Planning Contributions and Infrastructure 
Planning) states: ‘The Council would seek planning contributions to ensure the 
necessary infrastructure to support the Local Plan is delivered using two main 
mechanisms: ‘Community Infrastructure Levy The Council would charge CIL on 
developments in accordance with the CIL Regulations (as amended) and the LBHF 
CIL Charging Schedule. The Council would spend CIL on: 
 
• infrastructure in accordance with the H&F Regulation 123 (R123) List; 
• projects identified for ‘Neighbourhood CIL’; and 
• CIL administration expenses (no more than the statutory cap). 
 
5.4 The proposed S106 agreement heads of terms are: 
 
• Affordable Workspace in ‘Hotel 1’ comprising the delivery of 1,646 sqm (GIA) 

floorspace on the 18th and 19th floors and provision/access to meeting rooms 
on the 20th and part of the 21st floors at affordable rates. 

• Provision of community/rehearsal space in ‘Hotel 1’, free of charge for the 
local community and strategy for use by local groups/community and art 
groups, linked to a Community Use agreement. 

• Local employment, skills and training comprising 27 apprenticeships, 40 paid 
& 40 unpaid work placements during the construction phase of the 
development a contribution of £374,500 towards training, outreach and 
engagement. 

• Contribution of £38,500 towards skills development for local unemployed or 
underemployed people. 

• Local procurement amounting to 10% of the total construction cost and 
contribution of £12,750 to assist local businesses  

• Unrestricted access to new public open space ( circa 1,900 sqm). 
• Unrestricted access to the general public to the top floor bar of Hotel 1. 

Page 225



• Contribution of £100,000 payable to Transport for London (TfL), towards 
Healthy Street improvement works on the A4/Talgarth Road, to ensure 
improvements on the walking/ cycling environment in the vicinity of the 
application site. 

• Provision of a comprehensive Travel Plan with review at years. 1, 3 and 5 and 
monitoring fees of £3,000 per year. 

• Construction Workers Travel Plan monitoring fee of £5,000 per annum until 
completion of works 

• Contribution of £50,000 towards Hammersmith Underpass Cycle Hub. 
• Operational Hotel Management Plan including details of coach management 

arrangements (plus restriction on length of coaches to a maximum 14m) and  
adequate management arrangements in place to control traffic and minimise 
disruption to the network from taxis and deliveries. 

 
Mayoral and Local CIL 
5.5 This development would be subject to a London wide community 
infrastructure levy. The Mayor's CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) came into 
effect in April 2012 and new fee rates came into effect in April 2019. This would 
contribute towards the funding of Crossrail. The GLA expect the Council, as the 
Collecting Authority, to secure the levy in accordance with London Plan Policy 8.3 
and is chargeable in the case of B1 office space at £185 per sqm and £140 per sqm 
for the hotel space and this is calculated on an uplift in floor space (GIA). The 
chargeable amount applicable to Local CIL is zero in the case of hotel floorspace 
and would therefore be only applicable to the Class B1(a) office floorspace at a rate 
of £80/m2 (GIA). 
 
6.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
6.1 In considering the planning application, the Local Planning Authority has had 
regard to the development plan as a whole and planning applications that accord 
with the development plan should be approved without delay, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise and any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 
 
6.2 In the assessment of the application regard has been given to the NPPF, 
London Plan, and Local Plan policies as well as guidance. It is considered that the 
proposal is acceptable in land use and design terms. The quantum of the proposed 
land uses and the resulting nature of the site does not give rise to any unacceptable 
impacts and will amount to sustainable development in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
6.3 The proposal would result in the demolition of a vacant building, in a prime 
town centre location and the construction of a two hotel buildings up to 23 storeys in 
height, affordable workspace and meeting rooms, public accessible roof top bar and 
garden space and a basement cultural facility. The reasons set out in this report, 
officers consider the development would have a positive impact on the viability and 
vitality of the town centre, with substantial public gain with regard to employment 
opportunities during demolition, construction and operation in addition to the benefits 
realised by the cultural offer, the introduction of permeability through the site, the 
public bar and the linkage of the site to the town centre. 

Page 226



 
6.4 The proposal would contribute strongly to building a strong, responsive and 
competitive local economy, that would contribute to the function of the town centre 
and would create further employment opportunities in a mixed and varied way 
leading to a range of uses. The redevelopment and the proposed uses would also 
contribute by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services 
that reflect the community's needs and support its health, social and cultural well-
being. The proposed development will achieve an excellent sustainability rating, will 
exceed London Plan target with regards to CO2 savings and would see a reduction 
of car parking spaces on site with the introduction of 120 cycle spaces and adapting 
to climate change. 
 
6.5 It is considered that the proposals will deliver good quality architecture which 
optimises the capacity of the site with good quality good hotel, cultural and 
commercial accommodation. The development would provide new high-quality public 
realm. The height, scale and massing of the proposed built form is appropriate and 
provides a satisfactory design response to the site and surrounding townscape at its 
edges. The elevations have an architectural character which provides interest across 
the frontages. The relationship between the built form and public realm would assist 
in the creation of a sense of place. Where harm has been identified to heritage 
assets, including both the Mall, and Barons Court conservation areas, it is 
considered this is outweighed by the substantial social, economic and environmental 
public benefits that the proposal would deliver. 
 
6.6 The proposed development is considered to have an acceptable impact upon 
the amenities and living conditions within surrounding properties in respect of 
daylight, sunlight, over-shadowing, overlooking/privacy, noise, and vibration impacts. 
Although there are recorded incidences whereby the impacts exceed the BRE 
technical guide for daylight, there are very few overall transgressions and the extent 
of level changes are moderate at worst. With regards to noise and privacy impacts, 
the proposals are acceptable on the basis that planning conditions are secured to 
limit the additional impacts to arise out of the development, including those during 
construction and demolition phases. Potential impacts in terms of air quality, light 
pollution, and noise would be acceptable regarding the various mitigation methods 
proposed which are secured by condition. In this regard, the development would 
respect the principles of good neighbourliness.  
 
6.7 Accordingly it is recommended that the proposal be granted subject to the 
conditions listed, the completion of s106 and no contrary direction from the Mayor of 
London. 

Page 227



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  College Park and Old Oak 
 

Site Address: 
M&S White City Site  54 Wood Lane  London  W12 7RQ   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2019/01300/RES 
 
Date Valid: 
26.04.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
15.10.2019 

Case Officer: 
Mr Neil Button 
 
Conservation Area: 
Wood Lane Conservation Area - Number 42 

 
  

Page 228

Agenda Item 8



 

Applicant: 
St James Group 
C/o Agent    
 
Description: 
Submission of a reserved matters application dealing with all reserved matters including 
access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale in respect of Development Plots E1, 
E2 and E3 (erection of 17 to 35 storey buildings with basement level providing 518 
residential units and commercial floorspace with associated external amenity space, 
public realm, car and cycle parking and other works) pursuant to planning application 
2017/04377/VAR (for the comprehensive residential led mixed use redevelopment of 
the former Marks and Spencer Warehouse Site in White City). 
Drg Nos: Approved Drawings listed in Condition 1. 
 
 
Application Type: 
Submission of Reserved Matters 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
 That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy, be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission subject to the condition(s) listed below: 
 
To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the Director of 
Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee to make any 
minor changes to the proposed conditions which may include the variation, addition or 
deletion of the conditions, any such changes shall be within their discretion. 
 
 
 1) The development, as set out in this reserved matters application in respect of 

scale, appearance, layout, access and landscaping shall not be constructed 
unless in accordance with the approved drawings marked: 

  
 425-PT-P3-B1-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan basement 1:200 

PL1  
 425-PT-P3-00-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan ground floor 1:200 

PL2  
 425-PT-P3-01-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 01 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-02-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 02 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-03-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 03 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-04-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 04 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-05-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 05 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-06-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 06 1:200 PL2 
 425-PT-P3-07-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 07 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-08-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 08 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-09-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 09 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-10-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 10 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-11-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 11 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-12-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 12 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-13-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 13 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-14-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 14 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-15-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 15 1:200 PL2  

Page 229



 

 425-PT-P3-16-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 16 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-17-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 17 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-18-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 18 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-P3-19-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 19 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-20-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 20 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-21-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 21 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-22-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 22 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-23-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 23 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-24-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 24 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-25-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 25 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-26-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 26 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-27-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 27 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-28-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 28 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-29-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 29 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-30-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 30 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-31-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 31 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-32-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 32 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-33-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 33 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-34-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 34 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-P3-35-DR-A-1201 Phase 3 general arrangement plan level 35 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-B5-ZZ-DR-A-1601 Building E1 Elevation East 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-B5-ZZ-DR-A-1602 Building E1 Elevation West 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-B5-ZZ-DR-A-1603 Building E1 Elevation North 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-B5-ZZ-DR-A-1604 Building E1 Elevation South 1:200 PL1 
 425-PT-B5-ZZ-DR-A-1605 Building E1 Elevation Core J (E1.4) North 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-B5-ZZ-DR-A-1606 Building E1 Elevation Core K (E1.2) North 1:200 PL2  
 425-PT-B5-ZZ-DR-A-1607 Building E1 Elevation Core K (E1.2) South 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-B6-ZZ-DR-A-1601 Building E2 Elevation West & North 1:200 PL1 
 425-PT-B6-ZZ-DR-A-1602 Building E2 Elevation East & South 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-B11-ZZ-DR-A-1601 Building E3 Elevation West & North 1:200 PL1  
 425-PT-B11-ZZ-DR-A-1602 Building E3 Elevation East & South 1:200 PL1  
 J106-LEW-MW-P3-GA-LS- 9481 Phase 3 Illustrative Landscape Masterplan 1:250 

PL1  
  
 In order to ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved 

and to prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in 
accordance with policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 7.7, 7.8, 7.9 and 7.21 of the 
London Plan (2016) and policies DC1, DC2, DC3, DC5 and DC8 of the Local Plan 
(2018) and White City Opportunity Area Planning Framework (2013). 

 
 2) In accordance with condition 2(i) of the extant planning permission (Ref: 

2017/04377/VAR), the Development, hereby approved as set out in the reserved 
matters submission shall commence on Development Plots E1, E2 or E3 within 2 
years from the approval date of this reserved matters  application. 

  
 To comply with section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended). Extended time periods for which the planning permission can be 
implemented is given in light of the exceptional circumstances relevant to the 
ownership of the site and to the development. 

 
 3) Prior to the commencement of phase 3, a detailed Wind Microclimate Report shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The Report 

Page 230



 

shall comprise of an assessment of the wind microclimate at various receptors 
within the phase 3 reserved matters site area and will include a detailed 
description of the mitigation measures necessary to reduce the wind microclimatic 
conditions to a level which is appropriate for their intended purpose. No part of the 
development shall be occupied until the micro climate mitigation measures 
necessary to provide an appropriate wind environment in this part of the 
development identified within the Microclimate Report have been implemented in 
accordance with the report, with regards to the relevant part of the development. 
The measures shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plans and 
report and shall be permanently retained thereafter.    

     
 To ensure that suitable measures are incorporated to mitigate potential adverse 

wind environments arising from the development and to ensure an acceptable 
external environment for the occupiers and visitors in accordance with policies 
DC1, DC2 and DC3 of the Local Plan (2018) and policies 7.6 and 7.7 of the 
London Plan (2016). 

 
 4) Prior to the commencement of the works on Development Plots E2 or E3, a 

detailed colour strategy for the terracotta cladding on the external facades of 
Buildings/Plots E2 and E3 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and no part of that Development Plot or relevant part 
thereof shall be used or occupied prior to the implementation of the approved 
details. The development shall be carried out in accordance with such details as 
have been approved. 

      
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, in accordance with policies DC1, DC2, DC3, DC7 and 
DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 5) Prior to the commencement of any above ground floor construction on Buildings 

E2 or E3, details of the samples of the terracotta panels that are proposed for use 
on the external elevations of Buildings E2 and E3 of the buildings shall be 
displayed on site for inspection and shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority and no part of that Development Plot or relevant 
part thereof shall be used or occupied prior to the implementation of the approved 
details.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with such details as 
have been approved. 

      
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, in accordance with policies DC1, DC2, DC3, DC7 and 
DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 1) Principle of Development:  The reserved matters submission is broadly in 

accordance with the approved outline planning permission for  
 the comprehensive residential led mixed use redevelopment of the site. Phase 3 

will make an important contribution towards meeting local and strategic housing 
needs by delivering a significant number of homes and flexible ground floor active 
uses and would also create a vibrant and creative place with a stimulating and 
high quality environment where people will want to live, work, shop and spend 
their leisure time. Phase 3 will provide a high quality external environment in the 

Page 231



 

landscaped waterside settings and public realm at the frontages and will provide 
an active ground floor with the retail and/or leisure uses.  The reserved matters are 
considered to be acceptable and in accordance with policies 2.13, 2.15, 3.3B, 
3.3D and 3.3E of the London Plan (2016) and Policies WCRA, WCRA1, H01, H03, 
DC1, DC2 and DC3 of the Local Plan (2018) and White City Opportunity Area 
Planning Framework (2013). 

  
 Housing: Phase 3 of the WCl development will deliver a significant number, range 

and mix of homes which will make a valuable contribution towards the Council's 
Housing targets, which have been increased within the White City Regeneration 
Area in the Local Plan (2018). The proposed mix of tenure types and sizes would 
be in accordance with the approved outline planning permission and would comply 
with Policies 3.3B, 3.3D and 3.3E of the London Plan (2016), and policies H01, 
H03, H05 and H07 of the Local Plan (2018) and the Council's Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document (2018) and White City Opportunity Area 
Planning Framework (2013).      

     
 Design:  The reserved matters submission is in accordance with the parameter 

plans and design codes, and condition tolerances as set out in the outline planning 
permission. Development Plots E1, E2 and E3 provides a considered design 
response to the emerging character of the Regeneration Area and has no 
unacceptable adverse impacts on the surrounding built environment which 
includes the Wood Lane Conservation Area and Grade II listed Television Centre 
building. The scale, appearance and layout of Development Plots E1, E2 and E3 is 
considered to meet the policy requirements in delivering buildings with good 
quality architecture which optimises the residential capacity of the site and 
provides high quality urban realm. Specifically, the distribution of scale, massing 
and height of the taller elements has been demonstrated to have minimal adverse 
townscape, heritage and visual amenity impacts on the local and wider context. 
Although this part of the WCL proposed development will be highly visible and will 
have an impact on views from within LBHF and in the short-medium term from 
RBKC, it is considered that the impact is not one of significant harm to 
conservation areas or local townscape and the proposed development would have 
a neutral impact on the skyline of this part of White City. The proposed 
development is therefore considered acceptable in accordance with policies 7.1, 
7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 7.7, 7.8 and 7.21 of the London Plan (2016) and policies 
WCRA, WCRA1, DC1, DC2, DC3 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018) and the 
Council's Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018) and 
White City Opportunity Area Planning Framework (2013). 

         
 Built Heritage:  It is considered that the proposed development within Phase 3 

which comprises Buildings E1, E2 and E3 and the associated public realm and 
external areas would cause less than substantial harm to the character or 
appearance of the conservation area and setting of the nearby listed buildings. 
The limited extent of harm that is caused would be outweighed by the significant 
townscape, urban design and regeneration benefits of the proposals, individually 
and as part of the comprehensive development which together, form significant 
public benefits to outweigh the less than substantial harm. The proposed 
development would be visible from within LBHF and from isolated instances in the 
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea. The impact of the proposal on the 
historic significance, visual amenity, character and appearance of these areas, in 
particular Wood Lane Conservation Area and setting of the Grade II listed 

Page 232



 

buildings in the area, is considered on balance acceptable. Special regard has 
been given to the desirability of preserving the heritage assets (or settings of) in 
accordance with the statutory duty, which it is accepted is a higher duty, in 
accordance with Sections 66 and 72 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended. The proposed 
development is therefore considered to be acceptable and would be in accordance 
with policies 7.4, 7.7 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2016), policies WCRA, WCRA1, 
DC1, DC2, DC3 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018) and the Council's Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018) and White City Opportunity 
Area Planning Framework (2013). 

    
 Residential Amenity: The proposed development within Phase 3 which comprises 

Buildings E1, E2 and E3 and the associated public realm and external area would 
not result in significant harm to the amenities of adjoining occupiers in terms of 
daylight/sunlight, over-shadowing, and privacy. It is considered that the proposals 
have been designed so that they do not unduly prejudice the development 
potential of the adjoining sites to the west and north which have the capacity to 
contribute towards the comprehensive regeneration of the Opportunity Area, by 
virtue of the extent of the daylight, sunlight, overshadowing and privacy impacts. 
Potential impacts (both of the scheme and its cumulative effects) in terms of air 
quality, light pollution, solar glare, wind tunnelling, noise or TV/radio reception 
would be acceptable, subject to the various mitigation methods proposed which 
are secured by conditions in the outline permission. In this regard, the 
development would respect the principles of good neighbourliness.  The proposed 
development is therefore considered to be acceptable and would be in accordance 
with policies 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, 7.3, 7.6, 7.7, 7.14 and 7.15 of the London Plan (2016) 
and policies WCRA, WCRA1, CC10, CC11, CC12, CC13, DC1, DC2, DC3 and 
DC8 of the Local Plan (2018) and the Council's Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (2018) and White City Opportunity Area Planning Framework 
(2013). 

     
 Access: Subject to conditions, it is considered that the development within Phase 

3 which comprises Buildings E1, E2 and E3 and the associated public realm and 
external area would provide a safe and secure environment for all users. The 
development is therefore considered to be acceptable in accordance with Policies 
3.8, 6.12 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2016), policy H05, DC1 and DC2 of the 
Local Plan (2018) and the Council's "Planning Guidance" Supplementary Planning 
Document (2018).  

      
 Quality of Residential Accommodation: Notwithstanding the instances whereby the 

residential accommodation falls short of standards set out in the planning 
guidance (in terms of light levels and privacy), the proposed Buildings E1, E2 and 
E3 and associated external landscaped areas which form Phase 3 of the wider 
WCL development is considered, on balance to provide an acceptable standard of 
accommodation for future occupiers of the residential accommodation in respect of 
the living space, aspect and amenity, for a scheme which is located within a high 
density urban context that is envisaged to optimise development capacity.  The 
majority of the proposed units within Buildings E1, E2 and E3 would benefit from 
acceptable levels of daylight/sunlight, outlook and privacy.  The Phase 3 
development is therefore considered, on balance, to be acceptable in accordance 
with Policies 3.5 and 3.8 of the London Plan (2016), Policy H04 and H011 of the 

Page 233



 

Local Plan (2018) and the Council's "Planning Guidance" Supplementary Planning 
Document (2018). 

     
 Highways: Subject to conditions recommended in the reserved matters 

application, and the conditions and s106 obligations attached to the outline 
planning permission, Development Plots E1, E2 and E3 (Phase 3) would not result 
in any significant adverse impacts on traffic generation or congestion of the road 
network. Satisfactory provision would be made for car and cycle parking for this 
phase, and subject to appropriate details being secured as conditions on the 
reserved matters application and the outline permission, adequate servicing 
facilities and provision for storage and collection of refuse and recyclables would 
also be provided for in this part of the WCL development. The development would 
therefore be acceptable in accordance with the NPPF (2019), London Plan (2016) 
Policies 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11, 6.13, Policies T2, T3, T4 and T7 of the Local Plan 
(2018) 

        
 Sustainability: Sustainability measures for sustainable design and construction 

have been incorporated into Development Plots E1, E2 and E3 (Phase 3). In 
addition, measures have been secured by conditions pursuant to the outline 
permission 2017/04377/VAR to reduce CO2 emissions. The development would 
therefore be acceptable in accordance with London Plan (2016) Policies 5.1,5.2, 
5.3, 5,6, 5.7, 5.8 and 5.9 and Local Plan (2018) policies CC1, CC2 and CC4. 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 25th April 2019 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  
2018 

 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
London Underground Limited 17.05.19 
Historic England London Region 13.05.19 

 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 

117 wood lane w12 7ed London 7ed   07.07.19 
1E Aviation House Gatwick Airport South Crawley RH6 0YR  14.05.19 
117 wood lane w12 7ed London 7ed   03.06.19 
 

Page 234



 

1.0     BACKGROUND 
     
1.1     This planning report relates to the submission of a reserved matters application 
dealing with all reserved matters including access, appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale in respect of Development Plots E1, E2 and E3 (erection of 17 to 35 storey 
buildings with basement level providing 518 residential units and commercial floorspace 
with associated external amenity space, public realm, car and cycle parking and other 
works) pursuant to planning application 2017/04377/VAR (for the comprehensive 
residential led mixed use redevelopment of the former Marks and Spencer Warehouse 
Site in White City).  
 
1.2     The reserved matters constitute Phase 3 of the White City Living development, to 
the east of Wood Lane, within White City. The submission follows the approval of a 96A 
Non-Material Amendment to the planning permission 2017/04377/VAR (for the 
comprehensive development) which amended parameter plans relating to phases 3, 4 
and 5 of the development to allow for changes to the positions, heights, footprint and 
orientation of the various development plots. The recently approved amendments also 
included a minor adjustment to the phasing plan. Conditions 4 and 5 (of the extant 
planning permission for the wider redevelopment scheme) are thus updated to reflect 
the substituted parameter plans, design codes and phasing plan.  
  
1.3     Further design development work has been carried out by the applicant to 
facilitate the submission of a reserved matters application for phase 3 and the applicant 
has engaged with the council in preparing the phase 3 detailed designs for 
Development Plots E1, E2 and E3 in addition to the public realm surrounding these 
blocks. 
  
1.4     The WCL application site was previously occupied by a 21,807square metre 
warehouse that Marks and Spencer plc (M&S) used as a mock layout store with 
associated car parking and service yard. The site was purchased by the St James 
Group in 2014.  The former warehouse has been demolished and Phases 1 and 2 of the 
development are under construction. 
  
1.5     The WCL site is accessed off the A219 Wood Lane via a site access road in the 
south-west corner which bridges over the Central Line track. In addition to the site, the 
access road also serves the Ugli Campus building. The applicant is in possession of a 
long-term lease allowing access over the bridge providing access from the A219 across 
the Central Line cutting. To the south-west of the WCL site lies the new pedestrian deck 
which provides pedestrian access through the proposed Exhibition Gardens and Kiralfy 
Square to Wood Lane. There is a secondary access point to the site from the south 
through one of the arches beneath the Hammersmith and City Line viaduct for 
emergencies. All vehicle access, aside from emergency vehicles, enters and exits the 
site from the existing bridge across the Central Line cutting.  
 
1.6    The Site of Phase 3 is positioned in the south eastern corner of the wider 
application site. The wider site comprises land which lies adjacent to the Hammersmith 
and City Line/Circle Line underground viaduct to the south and is adjacent to the 
Network Rail embankment and National Rail Overground line to the east. The central 
green is located to the west of the phase 3 land, which is to be constructed as part of 
the public open space provided as part of the WCL development. 
 
 

Page 235



 

Image 1: Phase 3 Site Plan 
 

 
  
Planning Designations 
  
1.7    The London Plan (as altered 2016) and the subsequent Draft London Plan (2017) 
designate the site within the White City Opportunity Area; which is expected to deliver a 
substantial number of new homes and jobs through comprehensive regeneration. The 
White City Opportunity Area Planning Framework (WCOAPF, October 2013) identifies 
the site within the White City East Area and within a proposed housing area as part of 
mixed-use schemes.  
   
1.8     The LBHF Local Plan (2018) identify the site as being located within the Wood 
Lane Conservation Area; which was designated by LBHF in 1991 to principally protect 
the Grade II Listed BBC Television Centre which is located 100m west of the site. It is 
also designated in the Local Plan as being within the White City Regeneration Area, and 
within Strategic Site WCRA 1 'White City East'. The site is affected by Aerodrome 
safeguarding of Heathrow 150m and Northolt 91.4m and is also located in close 
proximity to listed buildings most notably the BBC Television Centre and the Dimco 
Building off Ariel Way (on the Westfield site).  The site is located within Flood Risk Zone 
1 and is also located within an Air Quality Management Area (as is the whole Borough). 
The site does not contain any listed buildings or any nationally designated heritage 
assets such as scheduled monuments or registered parks and gardens and is not within 
an Archaeological Priority Area nor is it affected by any strategic views.   
  
 
 
 

Page 236



 

Surrounding Area  
  
1.9    The surrounding area currently comprises predominantly of commercial, 
residential and retail uses.  Immediately to the north of the site is the former Dairy Crest 
site, which currently comprises industrial and storage companies.  Although the site 
currently benefits from outline planning permission for a residential led mixed use 
development comprising up to 1,150 residential units (Ref: 2012/02454/OUT), the site 
was acquired by Imperial College London (ICL) in 2014, who have submitted plans to 
redevelop the site for mixed uses with predominantly educational/academic uses. An 
application for temporary uses has been submitted by ICL for this site and has been 
approved by LBHF which is currently under construction. 
   
1.10   ICL also owns a strip of land immediately to the west of the Site which comprises 
4-6 storey UGLI buildings and is occupied in part by the BBC. The applicant (St James) 
has an option to acquire this site and has submitted a planning application for its 
redevelopment (Ref: 2018/03058/FUL). Access to this site from Wood Lane is shared 
with the M&S site.  Further west is the former BBC Television Centre and beyond lies 
Hammersmith Park.  The owner of the former TVC (Stanhope) has obtained planning 
permission for a hybrid application for a comprehensive mixed-use development of the 
site comprising up to 943 residential units and the provision of new offices, leisure, retail 
and restaurant uses and the retention of Studios 1-3. The applicant has implemented 
this permission with Development Area 1 now completed. 
  
1.11   Approximately 300m to the south of the site is Westfield Shopping Centre.  
Westfield Ltd has received resolution to grant outline planning permission for a 
retail/leisure and office extension and residential dwellings on land to the north of the 
existing shopping centre. This application has subsequently been modified and the 
applicant is in the process of implementing the amended consent alongside standalone 
developments for additional retail and office floorspace which are currently under 
construction with the retail phase completed in 2018.  
  
1.12   To the south is the Hammersmith and City/Circle Line viaduct, the arches of 
which are subject to their own design proposals with planning permission secured for 
the change of use to retail and office uses and reopening several arches to provide 
connectivity between the M&S site and the Westfield site to the south.  
  
1.13   The nearest residential properties within LBHF are located approx 400m to the 
west of the site within the Wood Lane Estate which comprises a council-owned housing 
estate to the north of the refurbished Television Centre building.  The properties in the 
Estate will have limited views of the Phase 3 development as the properties in the Wood 
Lane Estate are located to the West of Wood Lane. The approved buildings within 
Phases 1 and 2, and the Ugli Buildings and White City Station lie in between the estate 
and Phase 3. Phase 3 lies immediately adjacent to the eastern boundary of the site, 
which runs alongside the A3220 West Cross Route and Overground rail line lies the 
Shugard Self Storage warehouse and the Harrow Cub which are located within RBKC. 
  
1.14   The Westway Travellers' Site is located approximately 250m to the northeast 
underneath the A3320 flyover. To the east is the West London Line Railway, the railway 
embankment is designated as a Green Corridor and area of Nature Conservation and 
the A3320 lies beyond this. The A3320 is a major multi-lane highway and is set at an 
elevated level for much of its length, therefore acting as a major physical barrier 
between the areas either side of it. The area immediately to the east of the West Cross 

Page 237



 

Route is largely occupied by commercial buildings and lies within the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea.  
  
1.15  The site is highly accessible, which is reflected in its Public Transport Accessibility 
Level (PTAL) of 6b.  White City Bus Station with numerous bus services is located to 
the south of the Site and White City and Wood Lane London Underground Stations are 
a short walk to the north and south of the site respectively, providing access to the 
central, circle and Hammersmith and City Lines. Shepherd's Bush Station is also 
located approximately 800m to the south of the Site and provides links to destinations 
such as Milton Keynes Central and Willesden Junction to the north and Clapham 
Junction and Croydon South to the south and Stratford to the east. A Santander Cycle 
Hire Docking Station is located approximately 200m to the south of the site. The site is 
also in close proximity to a wide range of amenities including Westfield Shopping Centre 
and Shepherds Bush to the south. A number of schools and places of worship are 
within the vicinity of the site and Hammersmith Hospital is situated approximately 900m 
to the north-west of the Site across the A40.  
  
2.0     PLANNING HISTORY: 
  
2.1     Planning History records indicate that the former warehouse (Units 1-7) was 
erected in the early 1980s, although there are several planning permissions issued 
between 1978 and 1986 for various extensions and alterations to the building and site. 
The authorised use class appears to be Class B8 (storage and distribution) which was 
permitted in the original planning permission dated 19/10/1977 (Ref: RN/H/401/77) for 
the whole building. Marks and Spencer are listed as the applicant in all applications in 
this period.  
  
2.2 The original planning application (Ref: 2014/04726/OUT) for the comprehensive 
redevelopment of the site was granted permission on 16th December 2015 with the 
following description: 
  
Planning application (part detailed/part outline) for the demolition of all existing buildings 
and structures and the redevelopment of the site for residential and mixed uses 
comprising the erection of new buildings ranging from 11 to 30 storeys to provide up to 
1,465 residential units (Class C3) and use classes (A1-A5, B1, D1 & D2), the provision 
of a new publicly accessible open space, new pedestrian and vehicle routes, accesses 
and amenity areas, basement level car park with integral servicing areas and other 
associated works:  
  
(1) Detailed planning application for up to 37,935 sqm. (GEA) new residential floorspace 
with ancillary residential facilities (C3) (excluding basement floorspace); up to 1,995 
sqm. (GEA) flexible commercial floorspace (A1-A5), community (D1) and leisure (D2) 
(excluding basement floorspace); provision of a new basement level; provision of a new 
bridge over the central line cutting; means of access; and associated amenity space, 
landscaping, car parking and cycle parking, energy centre, and other associated 
infrastructure works.  
  
(2) Outline planning application (with all matters reserved) for up to 112,295 sqm. (GEA) 
residential floorspace and ancillary residential facilities (C3) (excluding basement area), 
flexible commercial (A1-A5), office (B1) use, community (D1) and leisure (D2) 
floorspace; provision of a new basement level; new and altered pedestrian and 
vehicular access including decked area over the central line cutting at the south west 

Page 238



 

corner of the site; and associated amenity space, open space, landscaping, car parking 
and motorcycle parking, and other associated infrastructure works. APPROVED 
16/12/2015 
  
2.3 This permission was varied in 2017 (ref: 2016/03907/VAR - the First Variation 
Application) dated May 2017 and varied again in 2018 (ref: 2017/04377/VAR - the 
Second Variation Application) dated 25th June 2018. The Second Variation Application 
comprises the extant permission and is the relevant permission subject to amendment 
in this application. The description of the development of the extant planning permission 
is as follows: 
  
Variation to conditions 1-8 of planning permission 2016/03907/VAR (for the 
comprehensive phased redevelopment of the site for a residential-led mixed-use 
development) granted 23/05/2017 in order to permit minor material amendments to the 
outline form of development. Amendments comprise modifications to the approved 
Parameters Plans and Development Specification and Parameters Report that cover 
design alterations to Development Plots B1 (varying the horizontal parameters (to -
0.92m to +27.98m) to permit an extended southern building line), Development Plots D1 
and E1 (varying parameters to extend the maximum heights by an additional +2.31m 
and 8.86m), Development Plots D2, D3 and E2 (varying parameters to extend 
maximum heights by an additional +4.79m) and incorporating a new additional 
Development Plot E3 (to comprise residential use within a new building up to 74.45m in 
height). The specified amendments would facilitate the optimisation of residential units 
to increase the overall maximum unit numbers from 1,477 to 1,814 units including the 
provision of an additional 118 affordable units (35% of the additional units). 
 
Reserved Matters 
 
2.4 Various applications have been submitted for the approval of reserved matters in 
connection with the following phases, which are relevant to the extant planning 
permission; 
 
Phase 1B - The Pedestrian Deck [Ref: 2016/03650/RES] Submission of reserved 
matters (access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) for the Decking over the 
Central Line cutting (Phase 1B) in connection with planning permission ref: 
2014/04726/OUT for the redevelopment of the former M&S Warehouse Site granted 
16th December 2015. Approved 09/11/2016. 
Phase 1C - Exhibition Park [2017/03358/RES] Reserved Matters Application to 
discharge access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale pursuant to Condition 1 
for the land identified as Exhibition Park within the masterplan for the M&S Site 
redevelopment, pursuant to Outline Planning Permission ref: 2017/04377/VAR 
Approved 22/01/2019  
Phase 1E - Central Gardens South [2017/04827/RES] Reserved Matters Application to 
discharge access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale pursuant to Condition 1 
for the land identified as Spring Garden within the masterplan for the M&S Site 
redevelopment, pursuant to Outline Planning Permission reference 2014/04726/OUT, 
approved on 16th December 2015. Approved 04.06.2018 
Phase 1F - Kiralfy Square [2017/04823/RES] Reserved Matters Application to discharge 
access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale pursuant to Condition 1 for the land 
identified as Kiralfy Square within the masterplan for the M&S Site redevelopment, 
pursuant to Outline Planning Permission reference 2014/04726/OUT, approved on 16th 
December 2015. Approved 04.06.2018. 

Page 239



 

Phase 2 - Development Plan B1 [2018/02377/RES] Submission of reserved matters 
application dealing with all reserved matters including access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale in respect of Development Plot B1 comprising the 
erection of 13-27 storey building with basement level providing 427 affordable homes 
(including 60 x Extra Care Units) and 1,027 sqm (GEA) flexible commercial floorspace 
(Use Classes A1/A2/A3/A4/A5/B1/D1 or D2) with associated external amenity space, 
public realm, car and cycle parking and other works) pursuant to planning application 
2017/04377/VAR (for the comprehensive residential led mixed use redevelopment of 
the former M&S Warehouse Site in White City). Approved 18/10/2018 
THIS APPLICATION. Phase 3 - Development Plots E1, E2 and E3 [Ref: 
2019/01300/RES] Submission of a reserved matters application dealing with all 
reserved matters including access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale in 
respect of Development Plots E1, E2 and E3 (erection of 17 - 35 storey buildings with 
basement level providing 518 residential units and commercial floorspace with 
associated external amenity space, public realm, car and cycle parking and other 
works) pursuant to planning application 2017/04377/VAR (for the comprehensive 
residential led mixed use redevelopment of the former M&S Warehouse Site in White 
City). Pending 
 
Non- Material Amendments (NMAT) 
  
2.5 The applicant has obtained multiple approvals for a range of non-material 
amendments to the above planning permissions with the most recent approval which 
relates to the extant planning permission ref: 2017/04377/VAR comprising the following: 
 
Ref: 2019/00722/NMAT: Non Material Amendment to Planning Permission (Ref: 
2017/04377/VAR dated 25/06/2018) seeking to amend the approved horizontal and 
vertical parameter plans to allow amendments to the proposed form and height of 
Building E1, clarification to the ground floor land uses parameter plan (to indicate 
flexible ground floor uses in Building E2), and position and siting of buildings D2, D3, 
E2, E3; amendments to the Mandatory Design Code; and Phasing Plan; including 
variation of condition 4 (design codes and parameter plans) and condition 5 (phasing 
plan) under s96A (3) of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990) as amended. 
Approved 1st August 2019. 
 
Ref: 2018/02116/NMAT: Non Material Amendment to Planning Permission (Ref: 
2017/04377/VAR dated 25/06/2018) seeking to change the mix and number of 
dwellings in Phase 1 and provision of additional residential dwelling no.s within Phases 
2 and 3 of the comprehensive redevelopment of the former M&S Warehouse Site; by 
way of variation of condition 3 (amended drawing numbers) and condition 7 (no. of 
dwellings) to permit up to 1845 residential units (an additional 31 x units) under s96A (3) 
of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990) as amended. Approved 21st August 2018. 
 
Phasing: 
  
2.6 The planning permission will be implemented in phases, although the approved 
development comprises a series of Development Plots and Public Spaces, which shall 
be referred to as the following for the purposes of this report: 
  
2.7 The development is in the process of being implemented and is subject to a 
phasing plan (approved through discharge of Condition 5 of 2014/04726/OUT on 12 
August 2016. The phasing plan was subsequently varied by virtue of the amendments 

Page 240



 

set out in the above extant permission Ref: 2017/04377/VAR). The phases of 
development comprise:  
  
Phase 1: 

 Phase 1A - bridge (now completed) 

 Phase 1B - pedestrian deck (now completed) 

 Phase 1C - Exhibition Park (part completed with Temporary Marketing Suite) 

 Phase 1D - construction of Development Plots A1, A2, and A3, associated 
basement, access roads and communal open space/landscaping (under 
construction)  

 Phase 1E - southern part of the Central Gardens  

 Phase 1F - Kiralfy Square  

 Phase 2:  

 Phase 2 - construction of Development Plots B1; associated basement, access 
roads and communal open space/landscaping (under construction)  

 Phase 3:  

 Phase 3A- construction of superstructure of Development Plot E1; part of 
Counters Quay; associated basement, access roads and communal open 
space/landscaping  

 Phase 3B - construction of superstructure of Development Plot E2; part of 
Counters Quay; associated basement, access roads and communal open 
space/landscaping  

 Phase 3C - construction of superstructure of Development Plot E3; part of 
Counters Quay; associated basement, access roads and communal open 
space/landscaping  

 Phase 4:  

 Phase 4A - construction of superstructure of Development Plot D1; part of 
Counters Quay; associated basement, access roads and communal open 
space/landscaping  

 Phase 4B - construction of superstructure of Development Plot D2; part of 
Counters Quay; associated basement, access roads and communal open 
space/landscaping  

 Phase 4C - construction of superstructure of Development Plot D3; part of 
Counters Quay; associated basement, access roads and communal open 
space/landscaping  

 Phase 5: 

 Phase 5A - construction of superstructure of Development Plot C1; associated 
basement, access roads and communal open space/landscaping  

 Phase 5B - northern part of Central Garden 
 
2.8  This application is seeking non-material amendments to phases 3, 4 and 5 and a 
minor amendment to the phasing plan.  
     
3.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
3.1 The application has been advertised by way of a Site Notice (17/05/2019) and a 
Press Release (17/05/2019) with an expiry date for comments of 10/06/2019.  
 
3.2 372 Consultation letters were sent to adjoining occupiers and businesses in 
surrounding properties on Wood Lane,  White City Close, White City Road, Exhibition 
Close, Hunt Close, Silver Road, Eynham Road, Evesham Street, Clifton Avenue, Ariel 

Page 241



 

Way, South Africa Road, MacFarlane Road, Relay Road, White City Place, Television 
Centre, Olaf Street, Imperial College (Woodlands), Imperial College (Dairy Crest), 
Westfield London.   
 
3.3 One objection has been received from the Wood Lane Tenants and Residents 
Association [representing residents within the Wood Lane Estate to the west of Wood 
Lane] raising the following points: 
 
- (i) Where is consultation being carried out? 
- (ii) Where is the entrance site for cars? There is enough traffic on Wood Lane 

already.  
- (iii) Height of 35 floors is too high and unsightly and will block light 
- (iv) What about social housing? Is the 35% is for imperial staff? 
 
[Response: (i) The planning consultation has been carried out in accordance with the 
statutory requirements as set out in para 3.1 of this report. (ii) The vehicular access is 
located adjacent to Wood Lane south of White City Station with the car park entrance 
provided in Phase 1 of the development. The access and car park entrance are 
approved under phase 1. The outline planning permission for the development has 
established that the impact on local traffic would be acceptable subject to conditions 
and planning obligations secured in the permission. No further consideration of traffic 
impact is required as part of this reserved matters submission. (iii) The parameter plans 
permit a tall building of up to 35 storeys (subject to detailed design) in Phase 3 therefore 
the principle of a tall building (of 35 storeys) is considered acceptable. The detailed 
design complies with the Design Codes and Parameter Plans and officers assessment 
of the scale and detailed design is set out in the report below.  The submitted 
daylight/sunlight report demonstrates that there would be minimal daylight/sunlight 
transgressions to existing properties in the area and that an acceptable level of light 
could be provided within the development itself, acknowledging it is in an urban dense 
location. (iv) The affordable housing provisions for the development are located in 
phase 2 in addition to phases financial contribution towards affordable housing in the 
Borough. The tenure and quantum of affordable is not a consideration for this reserved 
matters application.] 
 
External Consultation: 
 
3.4 The following external consultations were undertaken: 
 
a) Transport for London: In the submitted Access Statement, Section 3.4 Cycle 
Parking stated 'Cyclists will access the basement level via a shared cycle and vehicular 
ramp accessed from the private road. The access ramp will have a shallow gradient of 
1:21 and a safe cycle route clearly segregated from the vehicular route.'  Further details 
required to show how cycle route would be segregated from vehicular route while 
sharing the same ramp for access? And enable cycle to access/ exit without running 
risk of collision with other vehicles.      
 
A number of cycle stores have been shown in the Basement Plan as well as in the 
submitted Access statement; the applicant needs to clarify the capacity of each of the 
cycle stores within the application.  It should be noted the London Cycle Design 
Standards (LCDS) and West Trans Cycle guidance seeks that cycle store to be in 
smaller clusters to maximum convenience and security for cyclists; therefore any single 

Page 242



 

residential cycle storage area with a capacity of over 100 bikes would not be 
acceptable, a revision to layout would therefore be required.   
 
The provision of electric vehicle charging points (EVCP) are not shown in the submitted 
Access Statement and Plan. EVCP must be provided to the London Plan standards 
accordingly. 
 
(Officer Response: The cycle access route is expected to be shared with vehicles. The 
access routes within the basement are 6000mm wide allowing for two vehicles passing 
and sufficient turning space in and out of parking spaces. The width of access route 
allows for at least 2m clear passing of cycles. The applicant has submitted a technical 
note which sets out how the applicant has investigated introducing smaller stores within 
the basement. The note states that the basement layout (which contains 11 x stores (for 
851 cycles) with only 2 x stores which accommodate 220 and 265 cycle spaces) has 
been carefully co-ordinated around site constraints, performance requirements and 
service strategies in order to achieve the most efficient use of space. It also states that 
introducing smaller stores (of around 150 capacity) is not feasible as it would make the 
layouts less efficient as new routes in and out of the stores would need to be created, 
increasing circulation but decreasing usable floor space for storage. Officers consider 
the note provides justification to ensure there is an appropriate balance between the 
quantum of cycle spaces being provided and the practicality and efficiency of their use).  
 
b) Network Rail: No response.  
 
c) London Underground: No objections. LU can confirm that the planning applicant is 
in communication with London Underground engineers with regard to the development 
above. Therefore, no comment is made on the application except that the developer 
should continue to work with LU engineers. 
 
d) Historic England: No objections  
 
e) Greater London Archaeology Advisory Service: No response. 
 
f) Environment Agency:  No response  
 
g) London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority: No response.  
 
h) Metropolitan Police: No response.  
 
i) Crime Prevention Design Advisor: No response. 
 
j) Civil Aviation Authority: No objections. Recommend that London Westland Heliport 

is advised of this proposal. 
 
k) Thames Water: No response. 
 
l) The Hammersmith Society: No response. 
 
m) Action on Disability Forum:   
 
 
 

Page 243



 

Internal Consultation:   
     
3.5 The following internal consultation was undertaken. 
 
a) Urban Design and Conservation: Raises no objections and provides comments 
which are summarised in section 6 of this report.  
 
b) Air Quality (Environmental Quality): No objections subject to conditions on the 
outline application being complied with. 
 
c) Environmental Policy Officer: An Energy Statement has been submitted with the 
application. A 41% reduction in CO2 emissions is required to demonstrate compliance 
with the commitment given in the Energy Strategy submitted with the original 
application. The Energy Statement submitted with this RES application shows that 
energy efficiency measures and connection into the locally available heat network are 
calculated to provide 41.3% reduction in CO2 emissions. This is in line with the 
commitment provided previously and meets the London Plan minimum target of a 35% 
reduction. For this phase, the proposals are acceptable and comply with energy policy 
requirements 
 
The landscaping proposals include a water feature with cascade, lagoon and also an 
amenity lawn. It is stated that lawns and planting will provide a landscaped setting to the 
buildings and a buffer to the access road. There is also a Japanese communal garden 
between Buildings E1 and E2 and a densely planted area along the eastern boundary 
along with other landscaping. Have sustainable drainage proposals for this Phase been 
submitted? Opportunities for sustainable drainage measures should be incorporated 
into the landscaping proposals but there is no reference to this in the landscape section. 
How can LBHF ensure that SuDS measures such as rainwater harvesting and re-use 
(possibly for irrigation of landscaping or as part of the water feature) and use of 
infiltration and permeable surfaces (including permeable paving and landscaped 
features where possible) are being integrated?  
 
A Sustainability Statement has been submitted with the application. A BREEAM rating 
of "Very Good" for the non-residential elements is to be achieved which will 
demonstrate compliance with sustainability policy requirements. For the residential 
units, details of sustainability measures to be integrated have also been provided. Water 
efficiency measures are proposed, waste management and recycling provisions will be 
provided to minimise waste production and maximise recycling on site, waste will also 
be minimised during the construction phase, sustainable building materials will be used 
where possible with reference to the BRE's Green Guide to Specification, landscaping 
enhancements will be implemented to improve biodiversity. Other measures are also 
proposed to minimise pollution impacts and promote sustainable transport. Energy 
efficiency measures will also be integrated - as outlined in the separate Energy 
Statement. The submitted Sustainability Statement shows that sustainable design and 
construction measures will provide sufficient sustainability performance to meet our 
Local Plan requirements. For this phase, the proposals are acceptable and comply with 
sustainability policy requirements 
 
Response: A site-wide drainage strategy has been approved under condition 25 
(2016/00889/DET). The site strategy allows for a 1000m3 tank (under Exhibition Park) 
to control the flow of water release into the local network in a controlled manner. 
Condition 31 requires details of a sustainable urban drainage system (SUDS) for each 

Page 244



 

Development Plot to be submitted and approved. For Phase 3 the submitted details will 
demonstrate compliance with the site-wide strategy. It will demonstrate that all Phase 3 
landscaping is located above a podium with a drainage mat under to catch and convey 
water to collection points and then into the storage tank for controlled release.  
 
d) Highways and Engineering: No objections (verbally made) 
 
e) Public Protection and Safety: No objections 
 
f) Director of Children's Services: No response. 
 
g) Building Control: No response. 
 
h)  Arboricultural Officer: No response  
 
i) Recycling team: No response.  
 
j) Bi-Borough Legal Services: No response 
 
k) Hammersmith and Fulham Primary Care: No response. 
 
l) Land Contamination Team: No objections. 
 
m) Licensing Team: No response.  
 
n) Adult Social Care: No response.  
  
4.0  PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
  
4.1 This application seeks approval for all reserved matters relating to Development 
Plots E1, E2 and E3 in Phase 3 of the WCL development.  
 
4.2 Condition 4 of 2017/04377/VAR requires details of the layout and scale brought 
forward under Reserved Matters applications to be fully in accordance with the 
Development Specification and Parameters and the approved Parameter Plans. 
Condition 4 also requires Reserved Matters applications to be accordance with the 
mandatory guidelines in the Design Codes which were submitted with the outline 
application. The Design Codes provide adequate assurance in respect of the quality of 
the architecture and design. 
 
4.3 The RMA addresses details relating to  
 

 Access;  

 Appearance;  

 Landscaping;  

 Layout; and  

 Scale of development.  
 
4.4  On the basis of the above, this application is submitted for: 
  
'Submission of a reserved matters application dealing with all reserved matters 
including access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale in respect of Development 

Page 245



 

Plots E1, E2 and E3 (erection of 17 - 35 storey buildings with basement level providing 
518 residential units and commercial floorspace with associated external amenity 
space, public realm, car and cycle parking and other works) pursuant to planning 
application 2017/04377/VAR (for the comprehensive residential led mixed use 
redevelopment of the former M&S Warehouse Site in White City).'  
 
4.5 In respect of access, building appearance, layout and scale of development, full 
details of all elements are provided in the plans, elevations and sections, and within the 
Design and Access Statement which have been revised subsequent to the original 
submission. 
 
4.6 The detailed scheme proposed under this RMA comprises a total of 518 
residential units. 1,465sqm (GEA) of flexible commercial floorspace is provided at 
ground floor levels in Plots E1 and E2. The commercial floorspace is flexible to provide 
class A1 (retail), A2 (financial and professional services), A3 (food and drink), A4 
(drinking establishments); A5 (hot food takeaway); B1 (office); D1 (non-residential 
institutions) and D2 (assembly and leisure) uses. Car and secure residents' cycle 
parking is provided at basement level with 71 car parking spaces shown in the 
submitted plan (17 x accessible bays and 54 x standard bays).  
 
Land Use Amounts 
 
4.7 The proposed development in Phase 3 comprises the following provisions within 
each Development Plot. The consented maximum amounts are set out on the last 
column. 
 
Table 1. Land Uses 
 

Plot  Land Use Proposed Maximum 
Consented 

Plot E1 Residential (C3) 32,294 sqm 32,496 sqm 

Plot E1 Non-Residential (A1-A5, B1, D1 & D2) 1,047 sqm 1,200 sqm 

Plot E2 Residential (C3) 9,442 sqm 9,468 sqm 

Plot E2 Non-Residential (A1-A5, B1, D1 & D2) 418 sqm 1,000 sqm 

Plot E3 Residential (C3)  9,442 sqm 9,469 sqm 

Plot E3 Non-Residential (A1-A5, B1, D1 & D2) 0 sqm 1,200 sqm 

 

4.8 These uses will front all elevations of E1 and E2, onto the public open spaces of 
the proposed Central Gardens and proposed Counters Quay. The commercial spaces 
are to provide uses to compliment the predominantly residential development and 
opportunities to activate the ground level façades and public realm. 
 
Residential quantum 
 
4.9 Phase 3 provides a total of 518 homes within the three Development Plots. All 52 
x Wheelchair Accessible M4(3) (b) (and could be easily adapted to (a) standard) sized 
properties are located within Buildings E2 and E3, in a variety of locations and property 
types. The following mix of dwellings are proposed: 
 
 
 
 

Page 246



 

Table 2. Dwelling Mix 
 

 Plot E1 Plot E2 Plot E3 

Studio 1 Bed 13 units 9 units  10 units 

1 Bed 2 Person 107 units 27 units 29 units 

2 Bed 4 Person 175 units 57 units 55 units 

3 Bed 6 Person 22 units 6 units 6 units 

Penthouses 2 units 0 units 0 units 

Total 319 units 99 units 100 units 
 

 
Public amenity space and play space 
 
4.10 The proposals include provision for publicly accessible open spaces around the 
edges of the buildings which accommodate some natural play spaces and water 
features around the base of buildings E2 and E3. These areas have been designed to 
integrate with the site wide landscape masterplan and complement the landscape 
themes within phases 1 and 2.  
 
Parking and cycle storage 
 
4.11 Car parking within Phase 3 is provided as part of the overall basement parking 
strategy. Standard dimension parking spaces within the basement will be available for 
lease. Phase 3 provides a total number of 71 parking bays comprising 54 standard 
parking bays and 17 accessible parking bays. The wheelchair spaces are located within 
reasonable distance to the relevant residential cores. 
 
4.12 Cycle parking is provided for the residents of Building E1, E2, E3 in enclosed, 
secured basement areas. For the proposed mix of homes to be provided within Phase 
3, this equates to a requirement of 851 long term residential cycle parking spaces in the 
basement. A total of 851 will be provided across 11 x stores, located evenly between 
the cores. In addition, 13 short stay cycle parking stands are provided at podium level 
within the landscape area. 
 
Layout 
 
4.13 Phase 3 comprises three Buildings, E1 to the west and E2 and E3 to the east. The 
buildings are separated by a north-south access route, soft landscape and a cascading 
water feature (known as Counters Quay within the Masterplan).  
 
4.14 Building E1 comprises similar 'skyline' typology buildings as consented in phases 
1 and 2 with a landmark tower to the south extending to 35 storeys.  Buildings E2 and 
E3 comprise two of four buildings proposed along the eastern site boundary collectively 
known as 'Counters Quay'.  
 
4.15 Following the natural topography of the site, the landscape will rise to the north 
with a meandering and cascading water feature wrapping the building façades of E2 
and E3 and terminating in a cascade and lagoon to the south of E2. Lawns and planting 
will provide a landscaped setting and a buffer to the access road. External terraces at 
ground floor water feature and landscape. A Japanese inspired garden will provide 
amenity space between E2 and E3. A 'torii' gateway and bridge will provide access into 
the garden. The garden pathways include raised planters with integral seating and 

Page 247



 

feature lighting. Aligned with the bridge a Japanese themed sculpture will provide added 
interest. The eastern boundary will be densely planted in a naturalistic, botanic style 
creating a landscape which will host a variety of tree species.  
 
Landscaping and Biodiversity 
 
4.16 Native species and sub-cultivars of native species (of value to wildlife) are 
proposed to enhance the biodiversity value of the site. Tree and shrub planting including 
native species and species selected from the Royal Horticultural Societies' 'Perfect for 
Pollinators' schedule of plants are proposed alongside hedge planting along the eastern 
boundary, evergreen and native species, species rich amenity grass, localised 
increased depth of water to southern lagoon and Bird & Bat nesting boxes. 
 
4.17 A palette of hard landscaping materials has been selected which is consistent with 
and complementary to the palette used throughout the wider Masterplan and 
development phases that are under construction. The proposed surface material is a 
granolithic block pavier with a mixed aspect ratio and colour tone. Feature paving areas 
will be laid in blocks of dark and light contrasting colour mixes with silver granite 
banding. Elsewhere paving areas will include resin bound gravel. 
 
Play and Amenity 
 
4.18 The majority of the sitewide playable space requirement is to be provided in earlier 
phases of the development. The Phase 3 proposals comprise mainly amenity lawns 
which incorporate open lawn area and natural play features. Playable and amenity 
spaces are anticipated established (in phase 1 and 2) prior to completion and 
occupation of Phase 3. Future phases will incorporate the Communal Central Garden 
which will also incorporate natural play elements, an open lawn area and playable 
paths. 
 
Building Heights and Description 
 
Building E1 
 
4.19 Building E1 is broken down into 4 sub-buildings E1.1, E1.2, E1.3 and E1.4 which 
range from 17 to 35 storeys.  
 
4.20 Building E1.1 is the northernmost block bookending the building which is 19 
storeys (71.4m in height above ground level). To create an open corner in keeping with 
the Design Code and Building A3 across the Spring Gardens, the corners of block E1.1 
have balconies which project on the east and westerly direction. The top of the block is 
treated with a low parapet and handrail around the roof terrace; external private 
amenity. The proposals have been amended following further design development 
which reconfigures the northern most dwellings by moving the bedrooms to the north 
façade. The fenestration pattern has been modified to respond to this change and the 
inset balconies have been omitted.  
 
4.21    Building E1.2 is the northern tower element of the building which is 23 storeys 
(87.8m in height). The tower serves as a feature, articulating the skyline and forming a 
relationship with the towers of the other Skyline typology buildings; in particular block 
A3.2 on the opposite side of the Central Gardens. The top of the blocks include plant 

Page 248



 

enclosures and private roof terrace set back within, and projecting above, the precast 
concrete frame, in keeping with the design of phases 1 and 2. 
 
4.22 Building E1.3 comprises the central block which is 17 storeys (68.3m in height). 
The massing of this central block is proposed to maximise the potential of the parameter 
massing. To the East and West, the facade steps back to allow for projecting balconies. 
The top of the block includes a smoke extract plant enclosure set back from the external 
facade line, in keeping with the design of Blocks A3.3 and B1.3. 
 
4.23 E1.4 is the tallest element of the building and Masterplan at 35 storeys (122.3m in 
height). This building comprises a townscape marker for the Masterplan which is 
located at the eastern end of the Green. The massing form with rounded 'plectrum-
shaped' plan is proposed to maximise the potential of the parameter massing, with 
wrap-around projecting balconies to all sides. The top of the block tiers back at level 28 
and steps back further at the top storey, to form an elegant profile and top of the block.  
 
Buildings E2 and E3  
 
4.24 Buildings E2 and E3 comprise the southern two of four x 20 storey buildings 
proposed along the eastern site boundary collectively known as Counters Quay.  
Conceptually the buildings were conceived as 'vases in the water landscape'. Buildings 
E2 and E3 form a family of four complementary buildings. Buildings D2 and D3 which 
complete this family will come forward within Phase 4.  The massing of both buildings is 
proposed to be setback from the parameter line to allow for projecting balconies to all 
sides which sit within the prescribed 'Zone of Articulation' - in accordance with the detail 
described within the Design Codes. The roof level is utilised as both private amenity 
terrace spaces and enclosed rooftop plant. 
 
Materiality 
 
4.25 The façades of Buildings E2 and E3 will be comprised of a Terracotta cladding 
façade cladding material. Window frames are 'played-down' with a dark tone grey. 
Metalwork balcony balustrades are also grey so as not to visually compete with the 
primary terracotta cladding. A provisional colour and texture strategy has been 
developed and illustrated in the Design and Access Statement. This defines the 
different approaches to both buildings with Building E2 comprising a blue tone and 
Building E3 a red tone, with variations of the selected colours within each colour range. 
 
4.26 The facades of Building E1 generally are consistent with Phases 1 and 2 which 
comprises a material palette in keeping with the Skyline typology blocks, with the 
precast concrete, metal window frames and trims and a palette of natural white, 
portland, natural stone and cerise precast concrete and bronze metalwork. Building 
E1.4 (the tallest building) is articulated by the strong curved pre-cast frame with curved 
metal balustrading with inset glazed facades following the curve. 
 
4.27 Revised plans and elevations have been submitted to ensure that the curved form 
of the taller block is consistent with the Design Codes submitted with the outline 
application which confirmed that the facades would not be faceted. The metal 
balustrading which follows the curved frame of Building E1.4 has been revised to omit 
the balustrade detail and be fully curved (and not faceted as originally proposed). The 
revised plans also include modified floorplans of the two bed units at the northern end of 
Building E1 and external amendments which comprise filling in the original recessed 

Page 249



 

corner balconies and inserting new projecting balconies on the eastern and western 
facades from levels 2 upwards. 
 
5.0 Planning Considerations 
 
5.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (referred to as 'the Act'), the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Localism Act 2011 are the principal 
statutory considerations for town planning in England and Wales.  
 
5.2 Collectively, the three Acts create a 'plan led' system, which requires local 
planning authorities to determine planning applications in accordance with an adopted 
statutory Development Plan, unless there are material considerations which indicate 
otherwise (section 38(6) of the 2004 Act as amended by the Localism Act). It is 
important to note that the previously approved reserved matters submission, approved 
within the same statutory Development Plan is an important material planning 
consideration which is to be taken into account in the assessment of this application for 
reserved matters. 
 
5.3 In this instance, the relevant Development Plan for the area at the time of 
determining this application comprises the following: 
 

 The London Plan (2016) 

 The Local Plan (2018) 
 
5.4 In addition, the various Mayor's Supplementary Planning Guidance and the LBHF 
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Guidance (2018) (and the White City 
Opportunity Area Planning Framework) are material planning considerations at the date 
of the planning committee and at the date which the application will be determined. 
 
National Planning Policy 
 
5.5 In July 2018, a new National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published by 
the Department of Communities and Local Government which has been updated in 
February (2019) and again in June (2019). The NPPF (2019) sets out the Government's 
economic, environmental, and social planning policies for England; it sets out that the 
purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. In terms of development management, the NPPF advises that the primary 
objective of development management is to foster the delivery of sustainable 
development, not to hinder or prevent development. The NPPF encourages 
engagement in pre-application discussions, consultation and generally front-loading the 
planning application process. It also sets out that in determining planning applications, 
local planning authorities should apply the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The NPPF (2019) does not introduce any major new planning policy 
guidelines that are of relevance to this reserved matter submission, other than the need 
to ensure the development supports high quality communications.   
 
Regional Planning Policy 
 
The London Plan 2016  
 
5.6 Both the adopted and emerging London Plan designates the Site within the White 
City Opportunity Area (WCOA). Opportunity Areas are identified on the basis that they 

Page 250



 

can accommodate substantial new jobs and homes and the London Plan advises that 
their potential should be maximised. The Draft New London Plan is currently out for 
consultation and the weight to be attached to these policies at the current time is limited. 
 
Local Planning Policy 
 
LBHF Local Plan 2018 
 
5.7 The Local Plan together with the London Plan form the LB Hammersmith and 
Fulham's Development Plan, which will be used to determine individual planning 
applications and shape the future development of the borough.  
 
5.8 The Local Plan incorporates an increase in target additional new homes within the 
White City Regeneration Area to 6,000 (from 5,000 in the former Core Strategy). 
 
5.9 Policy HO1 - (Housing Supply) states that the Council will work with partner 
organisations and landowners to exceed the London Plan (2016) target of 1,031 
additional dwellings a year up to 2025 and to continue to seek at least 1,031 additional 
dwellings a year in the period up to 2035. 
 
5.10 The following policies in the Local Plan (2018) are of most relevance to the 
consideration of the reserved matters.  
 
- The Proposed Local Plan policy WCRA incorporates an increase in target 
additional new homes within the White City Regeneration Area to 6,000 (from 5,000 in 
the former Core Strategy). Strategic Site Policy WCRA1 (White City East) states that 
the council will seek regeneration in White City East for a mixed-use urban quarter 
within a high-quality environment. The application site falls within this strategic 
development site. 
 
- Policy HO4 (Housing Quality and Density) sets out that the Council will expect all 
housing development to respect the local setting and context, provide a high-quality 
residential environment, be well designed internally and externally, be energy efficient 
and provide a good range of housing types and sizes 
 
- Policy H05 (Housing Mix) states that all new housing provided as part of the new 
major development should provide a mix of housing including family housing. 
Developments should aim to meet a range of different mixes depending on the tenure of 
housing. 
 
- Policy HO11 (Detailed Residential Standards) requires that that the design and 
quality of all new housing, including new build, is of a high standard and that 
developments provide housing that will meet the needs of future occupants and respect 
the principles of good neighbourliness. The policy sets out a number of design 
considerations which will be taken into account in assessing schemes.  
 
- Policy DC1 (Built Environment) requires all development within the borough, 
including in the regeneration areas, to create a high-quality urban environment that 
respects and enhances its townscape context and heritage assets.  
 

Page 251



 

-   Policy DC2 (New Build Development). New build development will be permitted if it 
is of a high standard of design and compatible with the scale and character of existing 
development and its setting 
 
- Policy DC3 (Tall Buildings) highlights that tall buildings are appropriate within the 
several areas of the borough, including the White City Regeneration Area, subject to a 
number of considerations, such as the proposal demonstrating that it has a positive 
relationship to the surrounding townscape context in terms of scale, streetscape and 
built form. 
 
- Policy OS2 (Access to Parks and Open Spaces) states that the council will seek to 
reduce open space deficiency and to improve will protect and enhance the quality of, 
and access to, existing open space by (but not limited to) requiring provision of 
accessible and inclusive new open space in major development, particularly within the 
council's regeneration areas; 
 
- Policy OS3 (Playspace for Children and Young People) requires accessible and 
inclusive, safe and secure communal playspace will be required on site within new 
residential development that provides family accommodation; that is well designed and 
located and caters for the different needs of all children, including children in younger 
age groups, older children, teenagers and disabled children. The scale of provision and 
associated play equipment will be in proportion to the scale and nature of the proposed 
development. 
 
- Policy OS5 (Greening the Borough) states that the council will seek to enhance 
biodiversity and green infrastructure in the borough by maximising the provision of 
gardens, garden space and soft landscaping, seeking green or brown roofs and other 
planting as part of new development; seeking retention of existing trees and provision of 
new trees on development sites; and adding to the greening of streets and the public 
realm. 
 
- Policy DC5 (Shopfronts) requires new developments which include retail areas to 
provide a framework into which a shopfront and signage of a suitable scale can be 
inserted. 
 
- Policy T3 (Increasing and promoting Opportunities for Cycling and Walking) states 
that the council will encourage and support the increasing use of bicycles by requiring 
new developments to include the provision of convenient accessible and safe secure 
cycle parking within the boundary of the site; the provision of suitable changing and 
showering facilities and developer contributions for improvements to cycling 
infrastructure, including contributions to the extension of TfL's Cycle Hire Scheme TfL or 
other Cycle Hire schemes to mitigate their impact on the existing network. The council 
will facilitate walking by requiring larger developments to provide: accessible, inclusive 
and safe pedestrian routes within and through the larger developments and contributing 
to improvements in the local highway infrastructure and walking environment. 
 
- Policy T4 (Vehicle Parking Standards) requires any proposed development (new 
build, conversion or change of use) to conform to its car parking standards; and requires 
car parking permit free measures on all new development unless evidence is provided 
to show that there is a significant lack of public transport available. Policy T5 (Parking 
for Blue Badge Holders) requires new developments that include vehicular access to 

Page 252



 

provide accessible, off street car parking bays for Blue Badge holders even if no other 
general parking is provided as part of the development. 
 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS  
 
6.1 The key planning considerations relevant to Phase 3 (comprising Development 
Plots E1, E2 and E3) reserved matters are: 
 
- Principle of Development 
- An assessment of the principle of the reserved matters submission with regards to 

layout, scale, appearance, landscaping and means of access 
-        Heritage Considerations 
- Commercial Uses 
- Housing; 
- Dwelling mix; 
- Residential quality; 
- Amenity Space and Play Space; 
- Accessible Design. 
- Amenity Impacts;  
- Transport and Parking (Car and Cycle); 
- Waste and Recycling Arrangements; 
- Environmental Impacts; 
 
6.2 The reserved matters submission for phase 3 is in full accordance with the 
parameter plans and development specification report which stipulate the land use 
provisions, site-wide dwelling mix, scale, siting, layout and form of the development, as 
set out in the approved outline planning permission. The development blocks are in 
accordance with the vertical and horizontal and land use parameters approved under 
planning permission Ref: 2017/04377/VAR (as amended by non-material amendments 
in 2018 and 2019).  
 
6.3 Phase 3 will contribute towards meeting local and strategic housing needs by 
delivering a significant number of new homes (518). This would also assist the creation 
of a new vibrant urban location within the Borough with a stimulating and high-quality 
environment, accessible to the public, where people will want to live, work, shop and 
spend time. The development aims to provide a high-quality external environment in the 
landscaped areas and public realm in between the development blocks. The frontages 
will provide an active ground floor with the retail and leisure uses on Buildings E1 and 
E2 that could increase vibrancy and vitality.   
 
6.4 The principle of the land uses and type of development set out in the reserved 
matters submission is considered to be acceptable, and would be in accordance with 
policies 2.13, 2.15, 3.3B, 3.3D and 3.3E of the London Plan (2016) and Policies WCRA, 
WCRA1, H01, H03, DC1, DC2 and DC3 of the Local Plan (2018).  
 
Reserved Matters 
 
Layout 
 
6.5 The Phase 3 development site is located in the southeast corner of the wider WCL 
Masterplan and comprises proposals for three new buildings E1, E2 and E3 as well as 
landscape, public realm and associated infrastructure. The eastern and southern 

Page 253



 

boundaries of Phase 3 are adjacent to active rail lines, on land owned and operated by 
Network Rail and London Underground. To the south, the railway is elevated above the 
Site, supported by the viaduct with archways below.  
 
6.6 Building E1 forms a backdrop to the eastern edge of Central Gardens. The block 
also addresses Kiralfy Square, and Counters Quay to the east; which will accommodate 
a family of four buildings (including Buildings E2 and E3, which form part of this phase) 
set within a landscaped water feature. Buildings D2 and D3 are located within Phase 4 
and will come forward in future reserved matters submissions. 
 
6.7 Building E1's building line steps in and out to achieve a division in plan, and the 
heights of each section of the building step up and down. The staggered massing and 
articulation of the 4 component parts of the building breaks up the scale and height of 
the development. In addition, by setting back the tops of the taller elements of the 
building, a varied skyline is created. Building E1 addresses the eastern side of the 
central green and lies opposite Phases 1 which is currently under construction. The 
proposals include provision of a 'marker' tower element in the southern element. The 
marker building has an elliptical plan form and façade articulation, responding to all 
sides with equal hierarchy. The elliptical form of the tower responds to its setting as the 
key 'gateway' marking Kiralfy Square and the east-west open space with the western 
view terminating in the Television Centre.  The elliptical plan form of Building E1.4 is 
expressed by the external pre-cast curved frame which contains private external 
amenity spaces, which wrap around the full length of the facade cladding.  
 
6.8 At ground floor level it is proposed to create a mixture of flexible, commercial 
floorspace; providing class A1 (retail), A2 (financial and professional services), A3 (food 
and drink), A4 (drinking establishments); A5 (hot food takeaway); B1 (office); D1 (non-
residential institutions) and D2 (assembly and leisure) uses. These commercial units will 
have active frontages to the main public spaces of the Central Gardens and Counters 
Quay which is supported and is in accordance with the land use and ground floor 
parameters plans. Building E1 is located above the single level car park (at basement 
level), which extends across the majority of the Phase. The basement provides for 
building services and plant, refuse and recycling storage, and cycle and car parking. 
 
Buildings E2 and E3  
 
6.9  Buildings E2 and E3 comprise the southern two of four buildings proposed along 
the eastern site boundary identified in the masterplan as Counters Quay. The landscape 
will rise to the north with a cascading water feature wrapping the base of the building 
façades and terminating in a cascade, lagoon and amenity lawn to the south. It is an 
opportunity to introduce water and diversify the range of character areas within the 
development with a softer landscaped base, in contrast to the urban environment 
beyond.  
 
6.10   Island gardens and planted peninsulas will step into the water landscape to 
provide a mixture of residents' and publicly accessible gardens at the waterside. The 
applicant suggests that the buildings were conceived as 'vases in the water landscape'. 
Buildings E2 and E3 form a family of four complementary buildings. Buildings D2 and 
D3 which complete this family will come forward within Phase 4.  
 
6.11   Buildings E2 and E3 are of equal massing and collectively form the eastern 
boundary of the Masterplan. The buildings are positioned at oblique angles to one 

Page 254



 

another and the adjacent linear Building E1. By siting buildings E2 and E3 at oblique 
angles, instances of direct overlooking within the minimum 18m separation distances 
(from habitable room window to habitable room window) between the buildings can be 
minimised. The provision of projecting balconies and the angled facades ensures that 
there are no instances of habitable room windows that are directly adjacent to each 
other in the opposing building. The buildings' square form plan ensures that their 
facades are treated with equal hierarchy presenting a 'front' to all sides.  
 
6.12   It is proposed to create a mixture of flexible, commercial floorspace at the ground 
floor level of E2; providing class A1 (retail), A2 (financial and professional services), A3 
(food and drink), A4 (drinking establishments); A5 (hot food takeaway); B1 (office); D1 
(non-residential institutions) and D2 (assembly and leisure) uses. The ground floor of 
Building E3 provides ancillary residential space. The provision of non-residential uses at 
the ground floor within E2 is in accordance with the land use and ground floor 
parameter plans. 
 
Scale and Massing 
 
6.14 Local Plan policy DC3 (Tall Buildings) highlights the White City Regeneration Area 
as an area where tall buildings are considered appropriate subject to their design being 
of the highest architectural quality and which have a positive relationship to the 
surrounding townscape. Building E1 ranges between 17 and 35 storeys in height, whilst 
Buildings E2 and E3 are both 20 storeys in height.  
  
6.15   The height and scale of the proposed buildings within the RMA accord with the 
horizontal and vertical parameters set out within the updated parameter plans (March 
2019) submitted with the approved non-material amendment application 
(2019/00722/NMAT). The applicant has provided a statement of compliance with the 
Scheme Parameters which is set out in the Design and Access Statement. Officers 
confirm that with regards to scale, massing height, layout and land uses that the 
reserved matter submission is in broad compliance with the approved parameter plans 
and development specification document. 
 
Appearance   
 
6.16  Under the outline planning permission, a Design Code was approved for 
Development Plots E1, E2 and E3 which provided detailed design guidelines that the 
development must follow, and which the reserved matters submissions should adhere 
to.   
 
6.17   The façade design of each of the three buildings has been developed following 
the design principles established within the Design Codes and quality precedent 
established within the approved Phases 1 and 2. The detailed proposals for Building 
E1.4 (the tallest building) have been revised to ensure that the metal balustrades 
follows the curved pre-cast concrete bands on each floor to ensure the strong curved 
form of the building is achieved which was required as part of the outline masterplan 
and detailed in the design codes. The Design and Access statement has been amended 
to confirm that the external frame and balustrades will be fully curved and will not be 
faceted. It is recognised that the development will require the outer frame and 
balustrade details to be made in a bespoke way for construction purposes and that they 
will need to be inserted with vertical joins. It is considered that the joins will appear less 
pronounced when the building frame is fully curved. Officers consider the curved 

Page 255



 

building will make a positive contribution to the masterplan and the townscape within the 
area by forming a building of unique quality and architectural character.  
 
6.17   In addition, the development respects and contributes to the design of the wider 
masterplan site and complies with the approved Design Codes. A Design Code 
Compliance Statement has been prepared by Patel Taylor and accompanies this 
application.   
 
6.18   The materials in the composition of the façades for Plot E1 have been selected to 
express the various design objectives for each building, whilst complementing and 
creating connections with each other. The facades will comprise a simple palette of 
precast concrete frames in white or natural stone colours; pre-cast concrete cladding in 
cerise, taupe and natural stone colours; and metal cladding, window frames and 
balustrades in bronze or black tones. Glass balustrades and full height glazing will also 
be used throughout. 
   
6.19    Buildings E2 and E3 will be comprised of a simple palette of materials, with the 
principal material being terracotta cladding with various profiles, finishes and colours. 
Terracotta cladding has the potential to comprise a high-quality material and is 
considered to provide a complimentary counterpoint to the precast cladding materials 
elsewhere in the masterplan. The terracotta is anticipated to achieve a radiance and 
would change appearance in varying light conditions and throughout the day and 
seasons. It is also expected to reflect the water from the lagoons below.   
 
6.20  It is important to ensure that the varied cladding profiles, colour variation and 
finishes of the terracotta panels are refined at the construction stages to ensure the 
design quality of Buildings E2 and E3 is optimised.  Further details of materials/samples 
will be required via planning conditions which will set out a detailed colour and texture 
strategy for the cladding in Buildings E2 and E3.  Accordingly, it is considered that the 
proposals comply with Local Plan policies DC1, DC2 and DC3 as well as the design 
policies within the LBHF Planning Guidance SPD. The overall design quality is in 
accordance with the design principles and design codes set out in the outline 
permission.  
 
Built Heritage:   
 
6.21 Phase 3 is situated on the eastern side of the WCL site, but the buildings would be 
viewed in various viewpoints within the area alongside the remaining parts of the 
development which, combined, would form the setting of the Grade II listed Television 
Centre building which has recently been redeveloped. Phase 3 has no direct 
relationship with the locally listed White City Station buildings or the Grade II listed 
Dimco buildings on the Westfield site. The site is also located within the Wood Lane 
Conservation Area and so it is considered that the development would have an impact 
on the character and appearance of the Wood Lane Conservation Area and the setting 
of the Grade II listed Television Centre. 
 
6.22 It is considered that the phase 3 development would cause less than substantial 
harm to the character or appearance of the conservation area and setting of the nearby 
listed Television Centre. The limited extent of harm that is caused would be outweighed 
by the significant townscape, urban design and regeneration benefits of the proposals, 
individually and as part of the comprehensive development which together, form 
significant public benefits to outweigh the less than substantial harm. The proposed 

Page 256



 

development would be visible from within LBHF and from isolated instances in the 
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea. The impact of the proposal on the historic 
significance, visual amenity, character and appearance of these areas, in particular 
Wood Lane Conservation Area and setting of the Grade II listed buildings in the area, is 
considered on balance acceptable. Special regard has been given to the desirability of 
preserving the heritage assets (or settings of) in accordance with the statutory duty, 
which it is accepted is a higher duty, in accordance with Sections 66 and 72 of the Town 
and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended. 
The proposed development is therefore considered to be acceptable and would be in 
accordance with policies 7.4, 7.7 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2016), policies WCRA, 
WCRA1, DC1, DC2, DC3 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018) and the Council's Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018) and White City Opportunity Area 
Planning Framework (2013). 
 
Landscaping 
 
6.23 Local Plan policy OS5 (Greening the Borough) sets out that the Council will seek 
to enhance biodiversity and green infrastructure in the borough by maximising the 
provision of soft landscaping and other planting as part of the development. The original 
outline application established character areas relating to each proposed phase of 
development. The character area established for this Phase within the approved 
masterplan is retained and developed within this Reserved Matters applications.   
 
6.24   The focal aspect of the landscaping is a meandering and cascading water feature 
which takes advantage of the natural topography of the site's landscape. The water 
features wrap around the facades of Buildings E2 and E3 and terminate in a cascade, 
lagoon and amenity lawn to the south. Lawns and planting will provide a landscaped 
setting to the buildings and a buffer to the access road. The base of the water feature 
will be finished in dark paving to promote the reflectivity of the water and providing a 
continuity of tone with the dark coloured facade treatment at the ground floor of the 
buildings. Marginal and aquatic planting will be established in suitable locations along 
the course of the water feature, providing a naturalistic aesthetic and promoting 
biodiversity.  
 
6.25 A Japanese themed communal garden is proposed which is located between 
Buildings E2 and E3. This space is accessible to visiting members of the public via a 
'torii' gateway and bridge. This will provide an intimate and attractively landscaped 
public amenity space of a contrasting scale and character to the principal open spaces 
provided elsewhere within the overall masterplan.  
 
6.26  The eastern site boundary will be densely planted in a naturalistic and botanic 
style creating a rich and dynamic landscape hosting a variety of tree species. Swathes 
of underplanting will flow alongside Buildings E2 and E3 which will assist the natural 
movement of the cascading water feature.  
 
6.27 Where appropriate, native species and sub-cultivars of native species have been 
proposed, as well as species of known value to wildlife, in order to improve the 
biodiversity value of the proposals.  
 
6.28  The landscaping throughout Phase 3 is designed to be accessible and will provide 
opportunities to socialise, play and relax. Specifically, Phase 3 will deliver amenity 

Page 257



 

lawns - incorporating open lawn areas and natural play features; and communal 
gardens - incorporating natural play elements, playable paths, seating and landscaping. 
   
6.29    Overall, the proposals will provide high quality landscaping across phase 3 as 
required by Local Plan Policy OS5 (Greening the Borough). 
 
Commercial land use  
 
6.30 Building E1 will accommodate 1,047 sqm GEA of flexible, commercial floorspace 
at ground floor level. This does not exceed the maximum commercial space provision of 
1,200 sqm which is set by the Amended Development Specification and Parameters 
(October 2017).  
 
6.31   Building E2 will accommodate 418 sqm GEA of flexible, commercial floorspace at 
ground floor level. This is also below the maximum commercial space provision of 1,000 
sqm which is set by the Amended Development Specification. No commercial 
floorspace is proposed within E3, with the ground and parts of the first floor providing 
ancillary communal residential areas for the benefit of residents.   
 
6.32 The commercial uses within Buildings E1 and E2 are located so that they face the 
main public spaces to the south, west and north of the buildings. The flexible 
commercial units will provide active surveillance and ground floor level activity and 
accord with the aims of Local Plan Strategic Policy WCRA (White City Regeneration 
Area) which seeks high quality, mixed use development.  No further conditions are 
necessary in connection with the land uses as conditions are set out in the outline 
permission which regulate the various land use operations and their impacts. 
 
Housing  
 
6.33 Table 1 in part 4 of this report confirms the dwelling mix across the three buildings. 
The three buildings would provide a mix of unit sizes and types to ensure that a mixed 
and balanced community would be achieved. In this regard the proposal incorporates 
an appropriate range of one- and two-bedroom units as well as larger three and four 
bedroom units suitable for family accommodation. Therefore, the proposed housing mix 
is considered appropriate to meet a variety of housing needs and current market 
conditions and complies with Local Plan Policy HO5. 
 
6.34 No affordable housing is provided in this block as Phase 2 comprises the full 
affordable housing requirement for the wider development and therefore no affordable 
housing is required within this particular phase. The legal obligations for development 
set out in the s106 agreement require the affordable housing in Phase 2 to be 
completed and transferred to a Registered Provider prior to the occupation of further 
private housing on the site. Phase 2 comprises 427 affordable housing homes. 
Construction of Phase 2 has commenced on site and the applicant has confirmed this 
will be delivered and transferred before 70% of the private housing (within the 
development) can be occupied. The requirements of the s106 agreement do not fetter 
or restrict the local planning authority from determining the Phase 3 reserved matters 
submission. 
 
 
 
 

Page 258



 

Standard of residential accommodation  
 
6.35 Local Plan Policy HO4 (Housing Quality and Density) and London Plan policy 3.5 
requires all housing development to respect the local setting and context, provide a 
high-quality residential environment, be well designed and provide a good range of 
housing types and sizes. Local Plan Policy HO11 (Detailed Residential Standards) 
requires that that the design and quality of all new housing, including new build, is of a 
high standard and that developments provide housing that will meet the needs of future 
occupants and respect the principles of good neighbourliness. The policy sets out a 
number of design considerations which will be taken into account in assessing 
schemes.   
 
Density 
  
6.36 The proposed residential density for the RMA, based on the Phase 3 site area, 
would be 854 hr/ha or 316 units/ha. The principle of high-density housing is established 
in the outline planning permission, and by the approval of the reserved matters in phase 
2 and detailed approval in phase 1. The density ratio of phase 3 fits within the density 
range for central London sites with good public transport accessibility, as outlined with 
Table 3.2 of the London Plan (2016). Accordingly, the density is considered acceptable 
recognising the high quality of design, the imperative to optimise the delivery of housing 
on sites in Opportunity Areas with high public transport accessibility, and always 
recognising the quantum of housing has been established by planning permission 
2017/04377/VAR.    
 
Internal space standards  
 
6.37 London Plan policy 3.5 (Quality and design of housing developments) requires the 
internal sizes of all new residential units adhere to the MHCLG's Technical Housing 
Standards - Nationally Described Space Standards (2015).  Local Plan policy HO4 
(Housing Quality and Density) sets out that the Council will expect developments to 
meet the space standards which are set out within the London Plan.  
 
6.38 The scheme provides high quality residential accommodation for future occupants. 
All dwellings meet or exceed the minimum internal floorspace standards set out in the 
Nationally Described Space Standards.  Average floorspace sizes for each dwelling 
type are as follows:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 259



 

Table 3. Dwelling Sizes 
 

 Minimum 
Floorspace 
sqm 

Average 
Floorspace 
sqm 

Studio 1 Bed 39 43.7 

1 Bed 2 Person 50 53.7 

2 Bed 4 Person 70 87 

2 Bed M4(3) 
wheelchair 
accessible unit 

70 73.7 

3 Bed 6 Person 95 125.6 

3 Bed M4(3) 
wheelchair 
accessible unit 

95 127.9 

Penthouses 124 201.7 

 

 
 
6.39 Floor to ceiling heights within all primary habitable areas are at least 2.5m in 
height. This accords with the requirements for the standard of accommodation as set 
out within Local Plan policy HO4 and London Plan policy 3.5.  The use of separate 
cores within the buildings, where necessary, ensures that each core is accessible to no 
more than eight units, in accordance with the Mayor's Housing SPG (2016). 
 
Wheelchair accessible units  
 
6.40 Both Local Plan Policy HO6 (Accessible Housing) and London Plan policy 3.8 
(Housing choice) requires that ninety percent of new housing is accessible and 
adaptable with the remaining ten percent of new units to be developed as wheelchair 
user dwellings, i.e. is designed to be wheelchair accessible, or easily adaptable for 
residents who are wheelchair users.  
 
6.41 Of the 518 proposed units, every apartment has been designed to be accessible 
and adaptable dwellings, whilst 10% (52) will comply with the requirements as 
wheelchair user dwellings. A mixture of two and three bed wheelchair accessible units 
are provided across the development. The applicant has submitted a detailed Access 
Statement which provides dimensions and details of the in-built provisions which 
demonstrate the units are capable of being built to full wheelchair accessible standards 
set out in Part M4 (3) A & B of the Building Regulations. The proposals are considered 
to adhere to the technical standards and are considered to demonstrate compliance 
with planning policy HO6 of the Local Plan and 3.8 of the London Plan.  
  
Amenity Spaces  
 
6.42 The Mayor's Housing SPG sets a minimum of 5sqm of private outdoor space to be 
provided for 1-2 person dwellings and an extra 1sqm should be provided for each 
additional occupant. In terms of private amenity, each dwelling within the development 
will have access to generously sized private balcony which meets the requirements set 
by the Mayor's SPG. All dwellings within the three buildings will also have access to the 
expansive public amenity spaces throughout the development, including public spaces 
being delivered ahead of this Phase (i.e. Exhibition Park, Central Gardens and Kiralfy 

Page 260



 

Square). The wider masterplan will deliver over 3,500 sqm of playspace, which is policy 
compliant, and is established in the outline planning permission.  
 
Daylight and sunlight   
 
6.43 Local Plan Policy HO4 (Housing quality and density) expects housing 
development to be well designed internally and externally, and to ensure that good 
levels of daylight and sunlight are accessible to both future occupiers and sensitive 
adjoining occupiers.  It expects housing to deliver a high-quality environment for its 
occupants, balancing requirements for factors such as outdoor amenity space against 
the quality of light within a development.    
 
6.44 Policy 3.5 of the London Plan expects housing developments to be of the highest 
quality, internally and externally.  Guidance on the application of Policy 3.5 is provided 
by the Mayor's Housing SPG (2016).  The SPG echoes Policy 3.4 of the London Plan, 
which seeks to optimise housing output, and recognises that in achieving optimum 
housing delivery that "an appropriate degree of flexibility needs to be applied when 
using BRE guidelines to assess the daylight and sunlight … within new developments. 
Guidelines should be applied sensitively to higher density development, especially in 
opportunity areas, town centres, large sites and accessible locations, where BRE advice 
suggests considering the use of alternative targets. This should take into account local 
circumstances; the need to optimise housing capacity; and scope for the character and 
form of an area to change over time."  
 
6.45  The Housing SPG goes on to state that "The daylight targets within a proposed 
scheme should be assessed drawing on broadly comparable residential typologies 
within the area and of a similar nature across London. Decision makers should 
recognise that fully optimising housing potential on large sites may necessitate 
standards which depart from those presently experienced but which still achieve 
satisfactory levels of residential amenity.".  It states that "BRE guidelines on assessing 
daylight and sunlight should be applied sensitively to higher density development in 
London, particularly in central and urban settings, recognising the London Plan's 
strategic approach to optimise housing output (Policy 3.4) and the need to 
accommodate additional housing supply in locations with good accessibility suitable for 
higher density development (Policy 3.3). Quantitative standards on daylight and sunlight 
should not be applied rigidly, without carefully considering the location and context and 
standards experienced in broadly comparable housing typologies in London."  
 
6.46   The reserved matters submission includes a technical Daylight and Sunlight 
Report which uses the methods set out in the Building Research Establishment's (BRE) 
"Site layout planning for daylight and sunlight: A guide to good practice" to determine 
the provision of daylight and sunlight amenity within the proposed residential 
apartments.  The BRE guidance document provides guidance for developers and local 
planning authorities. It is not an instrument of planning policy but is applied to all types 
of development and contexts. Officers have considered the resulting daylight and 
sunlight results within the development and have had regard to the guidance in coming 
to a view on the proposals. It is acknowledged that the BRE standards should be 
applied flexibly with respect to the development, which comprises a high-density urban 
city central development.  
 
6.47   It is considered that the proposal has been designed to strike a balance between 
delivering satisfactory outlook and access to daylight/sunlight by virtue of the levels of 

Page 261



 

glazing with need to avoid over-heating within the apartments. The number of dual 
aspect units across the development has also been maximised where possible.  
 
6.48   The Daylight and Sunlight Report includes the key existing neighbouring buildings 
and also other reasonable foreseeable neighbouring developments sufficiently close to 
the Site to warrant consideration. These include the Former Dairy Crest Site 
immediately to the north (pending application); and the Land North of Westfield 
Shopping Centre (or 'Westfield Phase 2') to the south.  These schemes were built into 
the 3D computer model to provide a future baseline condition which assumes that they 
are fully built out and this effectively presents a worst-case scenario, not least because 
the key blocks included from the neighbouring cumulative schemes are primarily based 
on maximum outline parameters.  
 
6.49  The analysis within the report demonstrates in the author's view that all residential 
units in the development will benefit from light provision to ensure that a suitable 
residential environmental is being created.  The Assessment tested all rooms within the 
lowest 19 storeys of the buildings on plots E1, E2 and E3. This amounts to 1277 rooms, 
of which 470 are living rooms, dining rooms or kitchens (or a combination thereof), and 
757 are bedrooms.  Balconies have been considered as being in place.  
 
6.50   With regards to the daylight results (within Phase 3), the Assessment concludes 
that 1038 of the 1227 rooms (85%) would satisfy the appropriate target for Average 
Daylight Factor (ADF).  This level of compliance is considered very good for such a 
high-density urban development and represents a higher level of compliance than 
achieved in Phase 1 and Phase 2 (the two previous approved detailed components of 
the development).  Officers have reviewed the ADF assessment and concur with the 
findings and the broad conclusions.  
 
6.51  Of the rooms that do not satisfy the recommended targets, around one-third 
represent minor transgressions with daylight levels within a factor of 0.3 of the target 
ADF. The remaining rooms that receive lower daylight levels are primarily located on 
the lower floors, where levels of obstruction are inevitably higher.  In most cases these 
rooms are overhung by balconies which, whilst restricting daylight receipt, provide the 
units with private external amenity space, which is essential to meet other planning 
policy requirements. It is considered that the resultant lower daylight levels do not 
significantly compromise the quality of residential accommodation within the lower level 
units, which would otherwise be acceptable in terms of internal and external space 
standards. 
  
6.52   In terms of sunlight, the emphasis of the BRE guidance is on living rooms rather 
than bedrooms and kitchens.  The guide recommends that "Sensitive layout design of 
flats will attempt to ensure that each individual dwelling has at least one main living 
room which can receive a reasonable amount of sunlight ... Where possible, living 
rooms should face the southern or western parts of the sky and kitchens towards the 
north or east."   
 
6.53   The degree of satisfaction for occupants is related to the expectation of sunlight, if 
a room is north facing, or in a densely-built urban area, the absence of sunlight is more 
acceptable. Accordingly, and as required by BRE guidance, only the living rooms of 
Buildings E1, E2 and E3 with windows orientated towards 90 degrees of due south have 
been presented within the report. 
 

Page 262



 

6.54   The results demonstrate that 130 (50%) of the 260 south facing windows adhere 
to the BRE guidelines for the annual sunlight assessment.  For winter sunlight testing 
203 (78%) of the same 406 south facing windows adhere to the guidelines. The results 
demonstrate that a reasonable level of sun-lighting could be achieved. However, as with 
the daylight results, the apartments that will experience lower levels of sunlight will 
otherwise meet the relevant planning and design standards for external and internal 
spaces and will otherwise provide a good standard of accommodation. In addition, given 
the high amenity value of the location and quality of the external environment in the 
development, it is reasonable to expect that residents/occupiers would be willing to 
compromise on the expectation for sunlight within the apartments. The level of 
compliance is very similar to that of Phase 2 for which reserved matters were approved 
in 2018.  
 
6.55   As noted above, the results of the technical assessment are considered on the 
basis that an appropriate balance needs to be struck between providing adequate 
daylight and sunlighting, with the potential for overheating.  It is considered that the size 
of window openings and the light transmittance of the glazing in a development needs 
to balance these competing requirements.  Equally, the need to provide daylight and 
sunlight to homes needs to be balanced against the strong planning policy imperative to 
provide private amenity space to homes in the form balconies, which often overshadow 
windows that would otherwise receive a higher level of light.  The sunlight reaching the 
balconies, while not included in the APSH calculation at the centre of the windows, will 
undoubtedly contribute to the perception of sunlight and to the overall degree of 
satisfaction of the amenity within a home.  
 
6.56   In conclusion, it is considered that the level of daylight and sunlight to windows 
within buildings E1, E2 and E3 is considered to be adequate, on balance, and having 
regard to the overall standard of accommodation and recognising the site's high-density 
urban context.  London Plan and LBHF's Local Plan policies recognise the need to 
balance such considerations against the need to optimise sites, particularly in 
Opportunity Areas.    
 
Aspect  
 
6.57 LBHFs Planning Guidance SPD Policy 8 states that north facing residential units 
should be avoided where possible.  Across the phase only 36 dwellings (7%) are north-
facing, single aspect units. All of these are within Buildings E2 and E3 which, are angled 
and do not face due north. There are no single aspect north facing units within Building 
E1.    
 
6.58 Again, recognising the high-density nature of the development and the need to 
balance delivery of homes in Opportunity Areas against detailed amenity guidance, this 
is considered acceptable.   
 
Overlooking  
 
6.59  Condition 79 of the outline permission (2017/04377/VAR) states:  
 
The following non-principal elevations of the outline components shall be designed in 
such a way as to minimise direct overlooking between the plot and the directly adjacent 
development (where the details are known).  
 

Page 263



 

South elevation of B1  
South elevation of D1  
North elevation of E1  
 
Where the details of the opposing Development Plot are unknown, the plot (relevant to 
the submitted details) shall be designed to include a combination of bay windows, 
obscure glazing or oriel style windows to any habitable or non-habitable room. No 
balconies or winter gardens will be permitted on these elevations.  
 
6.60   The reserved matters application seeks to addresses the north elevation of Plot 
E1 referred to in the condition (which is adjacent to the south elevation in Plot D1 which 
is in phase 4). The plans and elevations of Building/Plot E1 was revised by the applicant 
in order to make changes to the internal flat layouts and to re-orientate living rooms to 
provide additional views over the central green. The resulting changes have led to the 
introduction of bedroom windows on the northern elevation which serve the 2nd 
bedroom within the 2-bed corner apartments.  These elevations previously contained 
non-habitable room windows and secondary living windows to living rooms. 
 
6.61 The elevations and plans for Plot E1 have been further amended to relocate the 
living room balconies. The original plans identified recessed areas within the north east 
and North West corners to Plot E1. These have been filled in to increase the internal 
living areas. Projecting balconies are proposed on the east and western elevations. It is 
considered that the revised proposals increase the number of primary habitable room 
windows on the northern façade and thus increases opportunities for overlooking within 
the minimum 18m separation distance set out in the Council's SPG. This will result in 
phase 4 being compromised somewhat if the building footprint seeks to mirror E1. 
Notwithstanding the potential relationship being close and inviting additional 
opportunities for direct overlooking, there is adequate scope for seeking further control 
under the submission of the phase 4 reserved matters application. It is recommended 
that condition 79 on the outline component sets out measures for which to follow in 
consideration of these proposals. 
 
6.62 Recognising the high-density nature of the development as approved in outline, 
the proposed arrangement is considered to result in some overlooking between E1 and 
the adjacent northern building in the masterplan. However, as stated in the above 
paragraphs, it is considered that there remain adequate controls in the outline planning 
permission such as the condition and design codes to ensure unacceptable overlooking 
between the buildings (from directly facing habitable room windows) could be avoided. 
 
6.63  Turning to Buildings E2 and E3 and their relationship with the linear E1 building, 
the axial orientation of Buildings E2 and E3 which creates oblique angles between these 
buildings and Building E1. This ensures that opportunities for overlooking from directly 
parallel windows are reduced. The distances between buildings, at their closest are 
comparable to the distances already approved on the site within other phases of the 
development.  
 
6.64 The presence of projecting balconies on Buildings E2 and E3 also assist with 
providing further obstructions between adjacent apartments. Balconies which serve 
homes required to be located in the centre of the facades are restricted to two sides of 
the building only. Overall, the buildings' internal floor-plate arrangement is such that it 
locates these balconies to the outside, to minimise overlooking and maximise views to 
open vistas, away from Buildings E1 and D1.  

Page 264



 

 
6.65 It is acknowledged that the three buildings subject to the reserved matters 
submission are in close proximity to one another and that there will be a high degree of 
potential overlooking between residential properties. Notwithstanding this, the 
relationship is a typical one comparable with elsewhere in the development and the 
majority of windows will extend beyond the minimum separation distances set out in the 
SPG to prevent unacceptable overlooking. It is also considered the buildings have been 
sited at angles to prevent direct window to window overlooking to achieve adequate 
separation. It is also recognised that the site is in a dense urban city central 
development which provides access to a high level of amenities, public transport and 
accessibility, recognised in the Regeneration Area/Opportunity Area planning 
designation (which allows high density housing development at optimum levels). These 
factors provide justification to support the proposal and allow a relaxation of strict 
separation distances set out in planning guidance. 
 
Transport and Parking (Car and Cycle); 
 
Car Parking  
 
6.66 The development is mostly car-free recognising its public transport accessibility, 
but the extant permission allows for a total of 586 spaces across the Site.  
    
6.67 Local Plan Policy T2 states that any proposed development must conform to its 
car parking standards; these permit a maximum of:  
 
- Up to 2 spaces per 4 bed units  
- up to 1.4 spaces per 3 bed units  
- less than 1 space per 1-2 bed units 
 
6.68 The RMA proposals provide 17 wheelchair-accessible parking spaces and a 
further 54 standard sized spaces within the basement; providing 71 in total. The 
submitted plans indicate that there are 34 spaces provided as part of the basement area 
in phase 1 and a further 37 are provided in the basement within the Phase 3 area. 
These spaces are allocated for occupiers in phase 3. Each accessible parking space is 
located within 50m of its residential core. All spaces have an electrical vehicle charging 
point. Although this results in an overall ratio of 0.13 spaces per unit in this phase, 
which is well below the ranges set out in Policy T2, the car parking provisions of the 
whole development have been previously approved and therefore are not a matter for 
consideration of this reserved matters application. 586 car spaces are provided for the 
whole development which comprises a ratio of 0.32 spaces per dwelling. This level 
remains consistent with the site's accessibility and with the level of provision of 
previously approved Phases within the development.   
 
6.69 No car parking is provided for the commercial elements of the development.  The 
modal share of commercial employees is weighted towards public transport and 
sustainable modes of travel in line with much of the commercial uses in the 
Regeneration Area.  
 
Cycle Parking  
 
6.70 The cycle standards outlined in Policy 6.13 of the London Plan recommend a 
minimum of 1 space per one bedroom flat or studio, and 2 spaces for all other 

Page 265



 

dwellings. The development provides a policy complaint quantum of 851 secure cycle 
parking spaces for residents, within several secure storage areas at basement level. 
These are accessed via four communal residential lift cores. 5% (43) of the spaces 
would be accessible or flexible use cycle spaces in accordance with the London Cycle 
Design Standards.    
 
6.71 Concern has been raised by TfL about the larger cycle storage areas and 
considers that that these should be reduced in size in order to create additional smaller 
stores for under 100 cycles. There are three stores larger than the 100 spaces 
mentioned below. The guidance within the mentioned documents (West Trans Cycle 
guidance) states 'Where possible, several smaller cycle parking areas are preferred to 
one large cycle storage room/cage'.  
 
6.72 The applicant has produced a response to TfL noting that phase 3 requires 851 
cycle spaces in addition to the provision for plant and other ancillary areas. The 
applicant contends that plant spaces have been designed and optimised to have the 
best use of space for equipment and circulation. The applicant considers that the 
current layout allows the applicant to achieve the number of cycle spaces required 
utilising double stacked double sided storage which will be lost in some stores if limited 
to 100 cycles max. It is considered that in light of the restricted floor area within the 
basement in phase 3, that creating additional smaller cycle stores would also make the 
layouts less efficient as this would require new circulation routes in and out of the stores 
to be created which could in the applicants opinion, result in the loss of cycle storage. 
 
6.73 Taking the above qualitative and quantitative recommendations and opinions into 
account, it is considered that there is a balance which needs to be found to determine 
whether the proposed solution is the optimum one. It is recognised that the physical 
floorspace area in the basement provides a constraint as does the need to provide 
sufficient area for plant machinery, circulation and fire escape access. It is considered 
that whilst 3 stores exceed the 100 limit recommended by TfL, there are a further 8 
stores which are under this amount. The sizes of the larger stores appears to have 
limited scope for further internal subdivision without resulting in loss of spaces, therefore 
it is considered appropriate to seek to maximise the quantum of spaces available.  
 
6.74 In accordance with the London Plan requirements, 13 residential visitor cycle 
parking spaces (1 per 40 units) are proposed at podium level within the landscaped 
area.   
 
6.75 In conclusion, it is considered that the cycle provisions meet the London Plan 
requirements and is likely to encourage sustainable modes of travel, in accordance with 
emerging Local Plan T3. 
 
- Waste and Recycling Arrangements; 
 
6.76 Local Plan policy CC7 highlights the importance of sustainable waste 
management, ensuring that new developments have sustainable waste and recycling 
store facilities.   
 
6.77 The plans and Design Statement demonstrate that each new home will be 
provided with adequate space to accommodate a general waste and separate recycling 
bin. Residents will be able to deposit waste and recycling at centrally located 
waste/recycling stores within each residential core at basement level.  

Page 266



 

 
6.78 Both commercial and residential waste and recycling storage would be provided in 
designated waste stores at basement level, removing it from the public realm as much 
as possible. Each residential core will have a separate provision of Eurobins at 
basement level for recyclable and general waste to be collected by the estate 
management for centralised compaction and twice-weekly collection.  There is also a 
centralised store for larger items such as furniture which would be collected and 
removed as required.  Commercial waste would be collected from dedicated stores 
daily.   
 
6.79 The refuse and recycling provisions are considered to be compliant with the Local 
Plan policy CC7 and relevant design guidance. 
 
- Environmental Impacts; 
 
6.80 The environmental impacts have been fully considered and assessed within the 
Environmental Statement and Environmental Statement Addendums, submitted as part 
of the outline permission and subsequent variations. The most recent non-material 
amendment (ref: 2019/00722/NMAT) considered the additional environmental effects to 
result from the modified scheme. The Phase 3 RMA relates to the details of scale, 
appearance, layout, landscaping and access which are in full accordance with the 
conditions parameter plans and development specifications approved under the outline 
approvals.  
 
6.81 It is considered the detailed proposals would not result in materially different 
conclusions from the assessments and conclusion within the recent 2019 ES 
Addendum.  
 
Wind  
 
6.82 The ES submitted with the original hybrid planning application, and its subsequent 
addenda, specify a requirement that future RMAs be accompanied by a plot-specific 
assessment of potential wind impacts and, if necessary, mitigation.  
 
6.83   RWDI carried out wind tunnel testing of the Phase 3 buildings and their report 
accompanies the RMA planning submission.  The wind tunnel testing was carried out on 
the basis of there being no landscaping or wind mitigation features and therefore 
presents a worst-case scenario.  
 
6.84 The report identifies a number of locations within the Site where wind conditions 
are likely to be stronger than the intended use of a space, or in some limited cases 
where strong winds are likely that could endanger public safety. However, The report 
recommends that a suitably designed package of purposely designed landscaping and 
other design features will be capable of mitigating those areas identified to an 
acceptable and safe level. The detail of the landscaping package will require further 
wind tunnel testing to ensure that it will achieve the necessary mitigation, and this could 
be secured by way of a planning condition. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 267



 

Energy and Sustainability  
 
6.85 The original, and subsequently amended planning permissions for development of 
the Site include a planning condition (56) that requires the development to be carried 
out in accordance with the approved Energy Strategy.    
 
6.86  A Sustainability Statement, Dynamic Overheating Assessment and Energy 
Statement prepared by Hodkinson are submitted with this application and demonstrate 
that Phase 3 will be developed in accordance with this condition.  No further conditions 
are necessary. 
  
Fire Strategy  
 
6.87 A Fire Strategy Report has been submitted which outlines the fire strategy for the 
development in collaboration with fire safety inspectors and will form the basis for 
submission to Building Control.  
   
6.88 The report examines fire detection and alarm systems, means of escape, and in 
particular the potential for external fire spread.  Whilst these are not considered to 
comprise planning matters, they are not strictly relevant to the RMA. Nonetheless, the 
report demonstrates that they are of importance to the Applicant who has considered 
them with due diligence at this stage in the implementation process. 
 
7.0  CONCLUSION 
 
7.1 This application addresses the matters which are reserved in respect of Plots E1, 
E2 and E3 (Phase 3 of the WCL development), including the basement and external 
area pursuant to planning permission 2017/04377/VAR. The access, scale, layout, 
appearance and landscaping as detailed in this submission are considered to be 
acceptable and are in accordance with the parameters set out in the outline scheme. 
 
7.2 The proposed development detailed in this submission is compliant with the 
principles and details approved under the outline planning permission and planning 
policies and guidance at all levels. 
 
7.3 In summary, the detailed plans for Development Plots E1, E2 and E3, as amended 
in this reserved matters submission for this part of the wider development will form part 
of a high-quality residential-led mixed use development that would make a positive 
contribution to the White City Regeneration Area and will seek to deliver a significant 
part of the Strategic Regeneration site WCRA1 (designated in the Local Plan 2018) and 
the White City Opportunity Area (as designated in the London Plan 2016).  
  
7.4 The development will deliver the entire affordable housing element of the former 
M&S site at its second phase which must be completed before any residential dwelling 
within phase 3 is occupied.  The design quality of the architecture and associated 
landscape and public realm would be of a high standard recognising Building E1 
contains one of the more significant land mark buildings within White City adjacent to 
the new Central Green and Kiralfy Square. The design quality is broadly consistent with 
standard in the detailed component within the approved phases 1 and 2 (Development 
Plots A1, A2 and A3, and B1 including the bridge and deck landscape/public realm 
works).  

Page 268



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  College Park And Old Oak 
 

Site Address: 
Mitre Yard  104 - 108 Scrubs Lane  London  NW10 6SF   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2019/02610/OPDOBS 
 
Date Valid: 
19.08.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
15.10.2019 

Case Officer: 
Sally Prowd 
 
Conservation Area: 
 

 
  

Page 269

Agenda Item 9



 

Applicant: 
Tom Cardis 
Old Oak And Park Royal Development Corporation    
 
Description: 
Section 73 application to vary Condition 1 (Approved Plans) of planning permission 
(17/0055/FUMOPDC) for the 'demolition of existing buildings and structures and the 
redevelopment of the site to provide two new buildings ranging from 6 storeys (24 
metres above ground level) to 19 storeys (71.8 metres above ground level) in height, 
comprising 609 sqm (GIA) of ground floor flexible non-residential floorspace (Use 
Classes A 1 / A2/ A3/ A4/Bl /Dl /D2), 514 sqm (GIA) ground floor workspace (Use Class 
Bl/Artist Studios) and 200 residential units (Use Class C3) with disabled car parking, 
plant space, amenity space, landscaping and associated works' to primarily: increase 
the number of residential units (Use Class C3) from 200 to 241; increase the maximum 
height of the scheme from 19 storeys to 22 storeys (71.8 to 77.5 metres above ground 
level); and increase the provision of accessible car parking. 
Drg Nos:  
 
Application Type: 
Observations to OPDC 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 

1) LBHF will hold the nomination rights for the development and as such the 
affordable housing offer must be one that can be utilised by the Council for its 
residents. The Council would recommend that the 4 person 5 bedroom dwellings 
are increased to 4 person 6 person dwellings if possible, and that London Living 
Rent is applied to all unit sizes. The viability assessment submitted raises 
concerns as to the methodology adopted and the assumptions made to bring 
forward a scheme that is fundamentally unviable. Any s106 agreement should 
secure appropriate review mechanisms and clawbacks at the end of the 15 year 
covenant as advised by the Mayor’s Affordable Housing and Viability SPG, and 
secure options to reduce the rents on smaller unit sizes. Council do not object to 
the proposal on these grounds but recommend changes are sought where 
possible to further improve the offer.  

  
2) It is recommended that the S106 obligations and conditions as outlined are 

secured to ensure adequate mitigation to the impacts of the development.  
  
That the applicant be informed as follows:  
  
Please refer to the Case Officer's report to read the full assessment of the proposal and 
the Council's requested conditions and obligations should planning permission be 
granted. 
   
Officer Report  
 
1.0  BACKGROUND    
  
1.1 The London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham (LBHF) have been consulted 
on the above planning application by the Old Oak and Park Royal Development 
Corporation (OPDC). The Council is a statutory consultee for all applications within the 

Page 270



 

Old Oak and Park Royal Opportunity Area (the Opportunity Area) that fall within its 
borough boundary.  
  
1.2 The 2011 Localism Act provided the Mayor with powers to set up Mayoral 
Development Corporations.  The OPDC was established by a Statutory Instrument in 
January 2015, and was granted planning powers through a further Statutory Instrument 
in March 2015. The OPDC came into existence on 1 April 2015. On this date the OPDC 
became the local planning authority for the area, taking on planning functions including 
plan making powers and determination of planning applications. LBHF remains the 
highway authority for the area within the borough boundary  
  
1.3 The site is within LBHF and falls within the Old Oak and Park Royal Opportunity 
Area which is expected to accommodate at least 25,000 new homes and 65,000 new 
jobs.  Under the draft London Plan table 4.1 sets a ten year housing target for the 
OPDC of 13,670 completions.   
  
1.4 This application is being brought to Planning and Development Control Committee 
to give Members the opportunity to consider and endorse comments that officers 
recommend be submitted to OPDC.  This application is a s73 amendment to vary 
Condition 2 of a scheme that has already been approved.  
  
1.5 Members should be aware that the application is scheduled to be presented to 
OPDC’s Planning Committee meeting for a decision on the 12 November 2019 under 
reference 19/0104/VAROPDC.   
  
Site and Surroundings  
  
1.6 The site is located at land occupied by 104 and 106-108 Scrubs Lane and 
comprises two parcels of land to the north and south of a private access road, which 
provides vehicular access to the Powerday and EMR waste sites. The northern parcel 
of land, 104 Scrubs Lane, is licensed to process metal recycling and vehicle 
dismantling. The southern parcel of land, 106-108 Scrubs Lane, is licensed to process 
the recycling or reclamation of wood, scrap metal and crush concrete / bricks. The site 
is approximately 0.58 hectares in area and each parcel of land contains a metal clad 
building and hardstanding.  
  
1.7 The Mitre Yard site is located on the eastern edge of the administrative area of the 
OPDC within the Opportunity Area and LBHF. The site is bounded by Hythe Road to the 
north, Scrubs Lane to the east, the Mary Seacole Gardens to the south and the West 
London Line railway to the west. To the east and west of the site are industrial buildings 
of 2 to 4-storeys in height. Beyond Hythe Road to the north is surface car parking and a 
7-storey office building, known as Cumberland House. To the south, beyond the Grand 
Union Canal and railway lies Wormwood Scrubs approximately 200m from the 
development site.  
   
1.8 The development site does not contain any listed buildings, nor is it located within 
a conservation area. The Grand Union canal conservation area lies immediately south 
of the site. The western edge of the St Mary’s Catholic Cemetery, which is a designated 
Conservation Area, lies beyond the buildings on the eastern side of Scrubs Lane. The 
eastern boundary of the cemetery forms the boundary with the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea, and Kensal Green Cemetery; a Conservation Area and Grade 

Page 271



 

I listed Registered Park and Garden. Both cemeteries contain a number of statutorily 
listed structures and monuments.  
   
1.9 The site has the lowest Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 1b (on a 
scale of 1 to 6 where 1 is the lowest and 6 highest).  It is noted that should the 
anticipated public transport infrastructure within the Opportunity Area come forward with 
is likely to increase to a level of 6a.  
  
Planning History  
  
1.10 There is an extant permission on the site OPDC ref 17/0055/FUMOPDC granted 
on 1 Feb 2018. LBHF sent observations (ref: 2017/01654/OPDOBS) dated 14 June 
2017 raising concerns regarding the proposal.  The permission granted pertained to the 
demolition of existing buildings and structures and redevelopment of the site to provide 
two new buildings ranging from 6 storeys (24 metres above ground level) to 19 storeys 
(71.8 metres above ground level) in height, comprising 746 sqm (GIA) of ground floor 
flexible non-residential floorspace (Use Classes A1/A2/A3/A4/B1/D1/D2), 377 sqm 
(GIA) ground floor workspace (Use Class B1/Artist Studios) and 200 residential units 
(Use Class C3) with disabled car parking, plant space, amenity space, landscaping and 
associated works. 
  
1.11  There are number of ongoing proposals for development in the wider area; 
16/0119/FULOPDC - 115-129A Scrubs Lane, ‘North Kensington Gate South’. Granted 
planning permission on 11 June 2018 for the demolition of the existing buildings and the 
construction of 164 residential units and 600sqm of commercial space. The 
development is proposed in 3 adjoining buildings of 6, 8 and 22 storeys. The 
commercial space would be provided at ground floor level and in a mezzanine floor. A 
basement would be excavated to provide 32 car parking spaces. A total of 308 cycle 
parking spaces would be provided across the site.  
  
1.12 16/0118/FULOPDC – 93-97A Scrubs Lane, ‘North Kensington Gate North’. 
Granted planning permission 31 January 2018 for the demolition of the existing building 
and the construction of 47 residential units with 165sqm of commercial space on the 
ground floor. The development is proposed in 2 adjoining buildings of 4 and 11 storeys. 
  
2.0 PROPOSAL  
  
2.1 An application for a variation to the extant planning permission has been submitted 
to vary Condition 1 (approved plans), the changes proposed include:  
 

- Amendments to internal layouts of Blocks A and B; 
- Increase total units from 200 to 241; 
- Reduction in floor to floor heights (retaining floor to ceiling heights); 
- Increase in Block A from 19 to 22 storeys increase in 1.3 metres; 
- Increase in Block B from 9 to 10 storeys with an increase of 1.3 metres; 
- Reduction in height of 1.2m of the street facing (7 storey) element of Block B; 
- Increase in child playspace provision at rooftop level to a total of 700sqm 

(increase of 420 sqm); 
- Uplift in 9 affordable homes (retained 35% affordable provision by habitable room 

across the site) 
 
 

Page 272



 

2.2 The applicant has submitted the following in support of the planning application:  
 
Planning Statement, prepared by Quod; 
Affordable Housing Delivery Report, prepared by Quod;  
Design and Access Statement prepared by Make; 
Landscaping Strategy prepared by Townshend;  
Statement of Community Involvement, prepared by Four Communications; 
Air Quality Assessment, prepared by Waterman;  
Arboricultural Impact Assessment, prepared by Waterman;   
Construction Logistics Plan, prepared by Meinhardt; 
Daylight, Sunlight & Overshadowing Report, prepared by Point 2;  
Ecology Report, prepared by Waterman;  
Energy and Sustainability Strategy, prepared by Meinhardt;  
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy, prepared by Waterman;  
Health Impact Assessment, prepared by Quod;  
Heritage, Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment, prepared by Turley;  
Historic Environment Desk Based Assessment, prepared by Waterman;  
Land Contamination Assessment, prepared by Waterman;  
Noise and Vibration Assessment, prepared by Waterman;  
Topographical Survey, prepared by Murphy Surveys;  
Transport Assessment, prepared by iTransport;   
Framework Travel Plan, prepared by iTransport;  
Framework Delivery and Servicing Plan, prepared by iTransport;   
Wind Assessment, prepared by RWDI; and  
Lighting Strategy, prepared by Point 2. 
  
3.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS  
  
3.1 This application was submitted to OPDC who are the Local Planning Authority, 
and it is their statutory duty to consult on the planning application. LBHF have been 
consulted as a statutory consultee on this application. OPDC have notified residents 
and consultees, including the London Borough’s of Brent and Ealing, the Royal Borough 
of Kensington and Chelsea, the GLA and TfL.   
  
3.2 LBHF have received 1 letter of objection relating to this application which is 
summarised below: 

- Damage future development potential of the area; 
- Height of 22 storeys compromise important entrance to the local area; 
- Block light; 
- Overshadowing and impacts on amenity; 
- Misleading visualisation of the development. 

    
3.3 Comments were forwarded to LBHF by the StQW Neighbourhood Forum 
regarding the lack of consultation.  
 
4.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
Policy Framework 
 
4.1 As The Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 and the Localism Act 2011 are the principal statutory 
considerations for town planning in England. 

Page 273



 

4.2 Collectively the three Acts create a plan led system which requires local 
planning authorities to determine planning applications in accordance with an 
adopted statutory development plan unless there are material considerations 
which indicate otherwise (section 38(6) of the 2004 Act as amended by the 
Localism Act). 

 
4.3 In this instance the statutory development plan comprises the London Plan 

(2016), the Local Plan 2018 and the Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document 2018 (hereafter referred to as Planning Guidance SPD). A 
number of strategic and local supplementary planning guidance and other 
documents are also material to the determination of the application. Supporting 
the London Plan is the Old Oak and Park Royal Opportunity Area Planning 
Framework (OAPF) (adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) to 
the Mayor’s London Plan in November 2015). It is noted that the OPDCs Local 
Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for independent examination 
on the 4 October 2018. 

 
4.4 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) came into effect on 27 March 

2012 and was revised in 2018 and is a material consideration in planning 
decisions. The NPPF, as supported by the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), 
sets out national planning policies and how these are expected to be applied. 

 
4.5 The NPPF does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the 

starting point for decision making. Proposed development that accords with an 
up to date Local Plan should be approved and proposed development that 
conflicts should be refused unless other material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

 
4.6 The NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For 

decision-taking this means: 
 

 approving development proposals that accord with the development plan 
without delay; and 

 where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out 
of date, granting permission unless: 

 any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole; or 

 specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be 
restricted. 

 
Draft London Plan 

 
4.7 The new draft London Plan was published on 29 November 2017. The Plan's 

consultation ended on 2 March 2018. An Examination in Public (EiP) opened on 
15th January 2019 and publication of the new Plan is expected in the autumn of 
2019. It is therefore considered that the new draft London Plan should be given 
limited weight at this stage. In the interim, consideration shall be given to the 
London Plan (Consolidated with Further Alterations 2016). 

 
4.8 With regards to this application, all planning policies in the National Planning 

Policy Framework (NPPF), London Plan, Local Plan 2018 and Planning 

Page 274



 

Guidance Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPD) which have been 
referenced where relevant in this report have been considered with regards to 
equalities impacts through the statutory adoption processes, and in accordance 
with the Equality Act 2010 and Council's PSED. Therefore, the adopted 
planning framework which encompasses all planning policies which are relevant 
in officers' assessment of the application are considered to acknowledge 
protected equality groups, in accordance with the Equality Act 2010 and the 
Council's PSED. 

 
5.0 PLANNING ASSESSMENT   
 
5.1 LBHF have been consulted on the above planning application as a statutory 

consultee. The application is within LBHF and as such if granted has potential 
impacts on the borough and the services LBHF provides. As the application is a 
S73 variation to an approved scheme, it is considered that the key 
considerations for LBHF relating to this application are:   
 
Principle of Development 
Housing  
Standard of accommodation   
Design and heritage  
Impacts on residential amenity   
Highways and transportation   
Environmental considerations   
S106 Heads of Terms 

 
Principle of development 
 
5.2 The proposed development lies within a designated Opportunity Area (OPDC) 

and this variation does not seek to change the approved uses on the site. The 
scheme is still proposed to be a residential led mixed use scheme, with the 
proposed amendments resulting in an uplift of 41 additional homes and will still 
provide 746sqm (GIA) of flexible ground floor retail/ café/ restaurant/ 
microbrewery/ bar/ employment/ community uses (Use Classes 
A1/A2/A3/A4/B1/B2/D1/D2) fronting onto Scrubs Lane, Hythe Road and the Mary 
Seacole Gardens. It is proposed that 377sqm (GIA) of employment/ artist studio 
uses (Use Class B1/D1) front onto Mitre Yard. LBHF has no objection to the 
principle of the use of the site.  

 
Housing 
 
5.3 The variation proposes an increase of 41 additional units on site, increasing the 

consented 200 residential units to 241 units on site. The construction of 241 
homes represents  1.76% of the ten year target for the area (13,670 completions 
under the draft London Plan).  

 
Density  
 
5.4 The site is currently considered to be “suburban” in character and has a PTAL 

rating of 1b, a low score attributable to it being marginally beyond TfL’s 960 
metre walk maximum to rail services (the centre of the site is 1000m from 
Willesden Junction). However, the PTAL rating of the site is planned to increase 

Page 275



 

significantly as a result of the Crossrail, High Speed 2, National Rail and 
London Overground strategic rail interchange at Old Oak, coupled with a future 
local bus strategy, as identified in the draft OPDC Local Plan. This will likely 
increase the PTAL rating to 6a – considered as ‘Excellent’.   

 
5.5 The application site is 0.58 ha in area, however when excluding the land within 

the public highway, the site area amounts to 0.53 ha. When assessed against the 
latter, the proposed uplift to 241 units (608 habitable rooms) equates to a density 
level of 455 units/ha increased from the permitted 377 u/ha and 1,008 hr/ha.  

 
5.6 London Plan Policy 3.4 states that development should optimise housing output.  

Policy 2.13 sets out that development proposals within Opportunity Area’s should 
seek to optimise residential densities and should realise the scope for 
intensification associated with proposed improvement in public transport 
accessibility.  

 
5.7 The new density range is substantially greater than the indicative range under 

the London Plan, however, Policy 2.13 sets out that development proposals 
within Opportunity Area’s should seek to optimise residential densities and 
should realise the scope for intensification associated with proposed 
improvement in public transport accessibility. As such officers to do not object to 
the proposed density subject to the provision of high quality accommodation, 
amenity space and other factors impact on future occupiers amenity.  
 

Mix 
 

5.8 The proposed mix of units has been amended a follows: 
 

 Approved Mix Proposed Mix Change 

No. 
Bedrooms 

Units % Units % Units % 

Studio 
 
1-Bed (2p) 

0 
 
101 

50.5% 
 
 

42 
 
75 

49% +16 -1.5% 

2- Bed (3p) 
2-Bed (4p) 

69 34.5% 29 
56 

35% +16 +0.5% 

3-Bed (4p) 
3-Bed(6p) 
 
4-Bed (5p) 

25 
 
 
5 

15% 9 
25 
 
5 

16% +9 +1% 

 
 

5.9 Overall the proposed mix of units is considered acceptable.   
 

Affordable Housing  
 

5.10 GLA policy is a minimum of 30% London Living Rent, with the remainder being 
at a range of discounts below market rent to be agreed with the borough (or 
mayor). Boroughs may set their own thresholds to reflect local housing market 
circumstances and affordable housing need. However, it is important that where 
a lower threshold is set, Build to Rent schemes must still operate according to 

Page 276



 

the stipulations in this guidance in order to qualify for the application of the Built 
to Rent policy. 

 
5.11 Local Plan Policy HO3 suggests that 60% of affordable housing should be 

social or affordable rent with the 40% remainder as intermediate. The proposal 
remains a 100% build to rent scheme providing 35% affordable by habitable 
room with an uplift of 9 affordable units. The proposed changes are as follows: 
 

 Approved 
Affordable mix 

Proposed 
Affordable mix 

Change 

No. 
Bedrooms 

Units % hab 
room 

Units % hab 
room 

Units % hab 
room 

Studio 
 
1-Bed (2p) 

0 
 
28 

30% 0 
 
32 

30%  
 
+4 

0% 

2-Bed (3p) 
2-Bed(4p) 

25 40% 4 
24 

40% +3 0% 

3-Bed(4p) 
3-Bed(6p) 
4-Bed (5p) 

12 
 
2 

30% 2 
12 
2 

30% +2 0% 

Total 67 35% 76 35% +9 0% 

 
 

5.12 The proposed discounts are as follows: 

Unit Type No. Units Discount from Market 
(inclusive of service charge) 

1-Bed 32 No more than 80% of Market rent 

2-Bed 28 No more than 75% of Market rent 

3-Bed 14 London Living Rent 

4-Bed 2 London Living Rent  

 
5.13 The majority of the family sized affordable housing is 3 bed 6 person which is 

preferred. LBHF does not support 4 bed 5 person units as an appropriate product 
and recommends that this is requested to be a 4 bed 6 person unit at a minimum.  
 

5.14 LBHF would request that the proposed discounted rents meet London Living 
Rent Benchmark. However, LBHF considers that as the family sized 
accommodation will be provided at London Living Rent there is no objection on 
these grounds. 

 
5.15 LBHF requests that they have exclusive nomination rights which cascades to 

Ealing and Brent. LBHF recommends that within the S106 agreement there are 
adequate viability review mechanisms in place to ensure maximum viable 
provision of affordable housing on-site.  
 

5.16 The revised Financial Viability Assessment (FVA) shows additional deficit, and 
Council has concerns over the deliverability of a scheme that is unviable.  
 

5.17 LBHF will hold the nomination rights for the development and as such the 
affordable housing offer must be one that can be utilised by the Council for its 

Page 277



 

residents. The Council would recommend that the 4 person 5 bedroom dwellings 
are increased to 4 person 6 person dwellings if possible, and that London Living 
Rent is applied to all unit sizes. The viability assessment submitted raises 
concerns as to the methodology adopted and the assumptions made to bring 
forward a scheme that is fundamentally unviable. Any s106 agreement should 
secure appropriate review mechanisms and clawbacks at the end of the 15 year 
covenant as advised by the Mayor’s Affordable Housing and Viability SPG, and 
secure options to reduce the rents on smaller unit sizes. Council do not object to 
the proposal on these grounds but recommend changes are sought if possible.  
 

Standard of Accommodation 
 

5.18 London Plan Policy 3.5 requires that housing be of the highest quality.  The 
Housing SPG (2016) sets out the Mayor’s Housing Standards, incorporating the 
latest national technical standards.  
 

5.19 All the proposed additional 1, 2, 3 and 4 bed units are dual aspect units, however 
the 42 new studio units are single aspect. These studio units are not north facing, 
and habitable rooms have been designed with adequate passive ventilation, 
privacy, daylight and oriented to enhance amenity. These units face west and 
have views towards the canal.  
 

5.20 The one, two, three and four bedroom units will all have adequate private 
amenity space (balcony). The studio units will not have balconies and able to 
access the public open space and private communal roof terrace. The site is 
adjacent to of Mary Seacole Gardens and is within 400m walk of Wormwood 
Scrubs. Given the high proportion of studio units that only just meet the London 
Plan space standards being 37.1sqm, officers consider that it would be beneficial 
to provide private amenity space where possible or to provide additional internal 
floorspace.  
 

5.21 Officers have concerns over the size of the studio units and lack of private open 
space for these units. While the units meet the minimum London Plan space 
requirements of unit size, they do not have access to private amenity space. 
LBHF recommends that where possible these units are increased in size to 
accommodate internal amenity space. It is recognised that there is access to 
open space on site and within close proximity to the site for these units.  
 

5.22 Overall, officers are satisfied that the proposal would provide an acceptable 
standard of accommodation for its residents and do not propose any objections 
on these grounds.  
 

Accessibility  
 

5.23 The proposed amendments exceed London Plan Policy 3.8, and draft new 
London Plan Policy D5 (Accessible Housing) requiring 10% of dwellings to be 
wheelchair accessible (M4(3)).  In this regard, all of the proposed units are 
compliant with Building Regulation M4(2), and 13% of the proposed homes will 
be ‘wheelchair user dwellings’ which are compliant with Building Regulation 
M4(3). There are no changes to the rest of the scheme which will ensure level 
access.  
 

Page 278



 

Play space Provision 
 

5.24 Policy 3.6 of the London Plan sets out that development proposals for new 
housing should make provision for play and informal recreation based on the 
expected child yield generate by the scheme. Policy S4 of the Draft New London 
Plan further sets out that residential developments should incorporate good-
quality play provision for all ages of at least 10 sq m per child. 
 

5.25 Local Plan Policy HO4 outlines the importance of access to private gardens or 
amenity space, and shared amenity space. Policy OS2 and OS3 seeks to 
improve provision and access to public and private open space, as well as 
providing playspace for children and young people in new residential 
development.   
 

5.26 The proposal increases the play space provision from 280sqm to 700sqm at 
rooftop level (389 sqm on the northern site and 311 sqm on the southern site). 
The proposed development generates a playspace requirement of 897.2sqm.  
 

Residential Amenity  
 

5.27 Policy 7.6 of the London Plan states that buildings and structures should not 
cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and buildings, 
particularly residential buildings, in relation to privacy, overshadowing, wind and 
microclimate. This is particularly important for tall buildings. Policy 7.7 states that 
'tall buildings should not affect their surroundings adversely in terms of 
microclimate, wind turbulence, overshadowing, noise, reflected glare, aviation, 
navigation and telecommunication interference'.  
 

5.28 There are no residential uses close to the site and as such no existing residents 
will be directly impacted in terms of privacy or overlooking. The proposed units 
are considered to receive a good level of daylight and sunlight.  

  
Heritage and Design 
 
5.29 London Plan Policy 7.4 requires developments to provide high quality design 

responses to existing spaces, to create a positive relationship with street level 
activity and to allow ‘existing buildings and structures that make a positive 
contribution to the character of a place to influence the future character of an 
area’. London Plan Policy 7.5 requires public realm to be comprehensive at a 
human scale through appropriate treatment such as gateways, focal points, 
landmarks and landscape treatment. Proposals should be informed by the 
heritage of an area, reinforcing the connection between public spaces and (inter 
alia) local features that may be of heritage significance. Proposals should further 
consider integration with high quality public art. Policy 7.6 sets high architectural 
standards for all buildings and structures, and requires these to enhance, 
activate and define the public realm. It allows for materials that complement but 
do not necessarily replicate the local architectural character. Policy 7.8 (Heritage 
assets and archaeology) states that development affecting heritage assets and 
their setting should conserve their significance by being sympathetic to their form, 
scale, materials, and architectural detail. 
 

Page 279



 

5.30 Local Plan Policy DC1 states that all development within the borough ‘should 
create a high quality urban environment that respects and enhances its 
townscape context and heritage assets. There should be an approach to 
accessible and inclusive urban design that demonstrates how good design, 
quality public realm, landscaping, heritage assets and land use can be integrated 
to help regenerate places’. 
 

5.31 Local Plan Policy DC2 permits new build development that is of a high design 
standard and compatible with the scale and character of existing development 
and its setting. It requires proposals to respect: 

 

 historical context, townscape and the sense of place of a site; 

 the surrounding area scale, mass, form and grain; 

 the relationship of the proposed development to the existing townscape; 

 local design context to promote and reinforce local distinctiveness; 

 good neighbourliness and principles of residential amenity; 

 local landscape context, providing high quality landscaping and public realm with 
good permeability where appropriate; 

 sustainability objectives; 

 the principles of accessibility and inclusive design; and 

 the principles of Secured by Design. 
 
 
5.32 The Draft London Plan seeks to secure the delivery of good design in a variety 

of ways. Going beyond the expectations of the adopted London Plan, Policy D2 
does the following. Part C encourages use of digital modelling techniques to 
analyse potential design options, and to use 3D/virtual reality to inform and 
engage Londoners in the planning process. Part F requires proposals to go 
through a design review (which must align with the Mayor’s guidance on design 
reviews) if a scheme is referable to the Mayor and is above the design threshold 
in Policy D6 or a tall building is proposed in an area where there is ‘no local tall 
building definition’. Part H seeks to ensure design quality is retained through 
(inter alia) avoiding deferring the assessment of the design quality of large 
elements of a development to the consideration of a planning condition or 
referred matter, and the use of architect retention clauses in legal agreements 
‘where appropriate’. 
 

5.33 The proposed amendments increase the height of the tower by 5.7m and the 
height of the street block by 1.3m. The street facing element of the street block 
will be reduced by 1.2m. There would be no additional height to the southern, 
canal facing block. The architectural elements would be adjusted to the new floor 
to floor heights but otherwise would remain as approved.  

 
5.34 It is regrettable that the HTVI assessment does not demonstrate the differences 

between the approved scheme and the amended scheme. However, the 
increased heights of the tower and the street block are not considered to 
increase the visual impact on the already approved scheme on the sensitive 
contexts of the adjacent conservation areas and heritage assets within them, nor 
would they alter the approved general townscape and streetscape. LBHF do not 
object to the proposed amendments on design.  

   
 

Page 280



 

HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION  
 
5.35 London Plan Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13 set out the intention to 

encourage consideration of transport implications as a fundamental element of 
sustainable transport, supporting development patterns that reduce the need to 
travel or that locate development with high trip generation in proximity of public 
transport services. The policies also provide guidance for the establishment of 
maximum car parking standards.  
 

5.36 Local Plan Policy T1 sets out the Council’s intention to ‘work with strategic 
partners to improve transport provision, accessibility and air quality in the 
borough, by improving and increasing the opportunities for cycling and walking, 
and by improving connections for bus services, underground, national and 
regional rail’.  

 
5.37 Local Plan Policy T2 relates to transport assessments and travel plans and 

states “All development proposals would be assessed for their contribution to 
traffic generation and their impact on congestion, particularly on bus routes and 
on the primary route network”.  

 
5.38 Local Plan Policies T3, T4, T5 and T7 relate to opportunities for cycling and 

walking, vehicle parking standards, blue badge holders parking and construction 
and demolition logistics. Policies 5.16 and 5.17 are relevant to waste and 
recycling.   

 
5.39 Local Plan Policy CC7 sets out the requirements for all new developments to 

provide suitable facilities for the management of waste.   
 
5.40 Planning SPD (2018) Key Principles WM1, WM2, WM7 and WM11 are also 

applicable which seek off-street servicing for all new developments.  
 
5.41 LBHF is the highways authority within OPDC. The proposed increase in unit 

numbers is considered to have a negligible impact on the local highway network.  
 
5.42 The proposed development remains car free which is considered acceptable 

given the expected future transport connections in this location.  
 

5.43 Draft London Plan Policy T6.1 sets out that for 3% of dwellings, at least one 
disabled parking bay should be available from the outset, and that it should be 
demonstrated how an additional 7% can be provided with one space per dwelling 
in future upon request, amounting to a total of 10%. Seven blue badge parking 
spaces were approved and a further two additional spaces is identified on the 
southern site, which would provide 3.7% blue badge parking on the site. The two 
additional spaces will be identified but landscaped from the outset, with the ability 
for future provision of these spaces if required. 
 

5.44 It is not considered that this level of shortfall is acceptable. This is especially the 
case as the local highway network does not practically allow on street parking 
with a blue badge in the immediate vicinity of the site. The parking bays should 
have electric charging points in line with London Plan policy and be conditioned 
solely for residents of the development with blue badges.  
 

Page 281



 

5.45 The development provides dedicated storage for 376 residential cycles (260 in 
the north within each unit, increase of 50 spaces from the consented). There is 
no change in cycle parking on the southern site. There is no provision specified 
for staff of the flexible commercial space. It is encouraged that provision is made 
in the future. LBHF encourages provision of additional cycle parking where 
possible for both visitors, residents and staff, however, has no objection on these 
grounds.   
 

5.46 The individual residential cycle stores would need to be conditioned for the 
exclusive use for cycle storage for the lifetime of the development. These cycle 
storage facilities should be supported by appropriate notification as to the use of 
these area for future occupiers via any section 106 agreement. In addition, 
appropriate permanent signage indicating the use of these storage areas for 
cycle parking would be recommended.  
 

5.47 Logistics plans, car parking, cycle parking, waste management and other 
highways matters should be secured by condition. The following should be 
secured by the way of the S106; A Travel Plan and monitoring costs for this plan 
should be secured by way of S106. A Delivery and Servicing Plan; Travel plans 
(residential and work place) with funding for Year 1, 3 and 5 reviews by the local 
authority at £2,500 per review; Funding for bus service improvements; Funding 
for infrastructure improvements. 
 

5.48 LBHF recommend that the development should contribute towards the delivery of 
key transport infrastructure improvements (as identified in the OPDC draft Local 
Plan) by way of financial contributions secured through the s106 agreement.  
 

5.49 In particular, LBHF recommend that the improvements to Scrubs Lane required 
including potential additional land required for additional road width, is secured 
through the S106 by way of a s278 agreement with LBHF Highways.    
 

Waste Management   
 

5.50 There is no change to the proposed waste management on-site. Adequate 
additional provision for the increased units should be secured.  

 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS  
 
Air Quality  
 
5.51 The development site is within the borough wide Air Quality Management Area 

(AQMA) and in an area of very poor air quality that exceeds the WHO health 
based Air Quality Guideline Values for NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 due to the road 
traffic emissions from Scrubs Lane (A219), Hythe Road and the private access 
road which currently serves Powerday and European Metal Recycling (EMR) 
waste processing facilities to the north. The development proposal will introduce 
new receptors into an area of poor air quality and will lead to deterioration in local 
air quality due to the construction, and operational phases of the development. In 
respect to this development site the air quality specifically the NO2 and PM2.5 
concentrations at the proposed property even in the background currently fails 
the 40ugm-3 air quality objective for NO2. Additional mitigation measures will be 

Page 282



 

required to make the development acceptable in accordance with Local Plan 
Policy CC10, London Plan Policy 7.14 and NPPF (2019). 

 
5.52 The EQ team recommends the following mitigation to comply with policy CC10 

and to reduce human health exposure to poor air quality: 

 The habitable rooms and balconies/residential amenity/roof terraces of the building 
are orientated away from the front elevation on Scrubs Lane (A219), Hythe Road and 
the private access road as part of the design mitigation.  

 The fresh air intake for the B1, C3, D1 and D2 use class should be located at roof 
level on the rear elevation. There should be no fresh air intakes or openable windows 
for habitable rooms on front elevations with Scrubs Lane (A219), Hythe Road and the 
private access road. Care will need to be taken to locate the inlets for the ventilation 
away from any local sources such as boiler flues and kitchen vents. 

 The air intakes for A1-A5 use class should be located on the rear elevations 

 To avoid contamination of the fresh air intake supply the Ventilation system should be 
designed to ensure that all the extracts for the ventilation system are located are a 
minimum of 2m away from the fresh air intakes.  

 No external public and private amenity and A1-A5 use class seating areas on the site 
are located within 12 metres of the kerbsides of Scrubs Lane (A219), Hythe Road and 
the private access road. 

 Green infrastructure is installed for public and private amenity spaces on the site 
boundaries with Scrubs Lane (A219), Hythe Road and the private access road Green 
infrastructure during the operational phase would provide some mitigation from the 
vehicle traffic emission if implemented in accordance with the hierarchy below and the 
recommendations of the ‘Using Green Infrastructure to Protect People from Air 
Pollution’, Mayor of London, GLA, April 2019 guidance document 

 
5.53 The use of a Combustion based energy plant will result in a new point emission 

source being introduced into the area and will cause a further deterioration in 
local air quality in a designated AQMA. Non-combustion based energy 
technologies should be prioritised over Combustion based energy technologies 
to avoid adverse impacts on Local Air Quality. The development can meet the 
target for CO2 emissions reduction of 35% by using a combination of non-
combustion air quality neutral technologies such as ASHP, GHSP, PV. 
 

5.54 If the development is likely to completed after Autumn 2019 the applicant should 
give due consideration to the air quality positive approach as defined in policy 
SI1 of the draft new London plan. A significant benefit of low carbon (and low 
pollution) heat pumps over conventional boilers and gas-fired CHP is that there is 
no combustion at source (combustion of gas emits nitrous oxides). Beside the 
direct advantages (safety), technical advantages (e.g. no need for flues) this is 
very beneficial for cities like London with poor levels of air quality.  

 
5.55 If the Low Energy building design is not possible the Environmental Quality Team 

recommends on Air Quality terms that the applicants use highly efficient fabric 
insulation and install non-combustion air quality neutral technology measures in 
addition to the installation of Ultra-Low NOx boilers with NOx emissions of less 
than 30 mg/KWH of heat supplied. 
 

5.56 There are some concerns regarding the proposal as outlined above. The 
proposed recommendations should be taken into consideration and conditions 
secured to minimise the impacts on Air Quality.  

Page 283



 

Noise and Vibration  
 

5.57 The proposed amendment do not create any new impacts to noise and vibration 
and officers to not raise any objection to the proposal on these grounds.  
 

Energy and Sustainability  
 

5.58 The revision will still meet the London Plan CO2 reduction targets. No revised 
sustainability statement has been provided so it is considered that the original 
commitments will be carried forward. No objections are raised in relation to 
Energy and Sustainability.  
 

Flood Risk  
 

5.59 The main variation relates to the increased heights which does not raise any 
issues in relation to flood risk of sustainable drainage. There are is no objection 
to the scheme on this basis.   

Land Contamination  
 

5.60 The proposed variation does not identify any additional risks relating to land 
contamination. Conditions are required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are 
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works. LBHF recommends conditions relating to the 
submission of a preliminary risk assessment, site investigation scheme, 
qualitative risk assessment, remediation method statement, verification report 
and a long term monitoring report.  

 
S106 AGREEMENT  
 
5.61 Council considers it is important to be signatories to the s106 agreement. The 

Council is the highway, housing, waste and education authority, the local 
authority for public health, and responsible for Air Quality. The Council also plays 
a key role in economic and employment provisions. As such it is appropriate that 
it should manage relevant planning obligations, which it can only do if it is party 
to the agreement.  
 

5.62 Being party to the s106 agreement will enable the Council to monitor compliance 
and thus reduce the need for the OPDC to do so. It will also avoid the need for 
the OPDC to collect monies and distribute to the Council.  
 

5.63 Without the council formally securing commitments by being party to s106 
agreements, its ability to promote and comply with its council wide duties will be 
severely undermined.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 284



 

5.64 The following table outlines the heads of terms secured and the proposed 
amendments to these heads; 

 

Secured HOT Consented S73 HOT Request 

Affordable Housing Rent Secure LLR on family housing, and 
option to reduce rents on other 
affordable unit sizes. 

Affordable housing mix Update to proposed mix 

Viability review Update the trigger date and GDV 
number 

Highways agreement No change requested 

Transport contribution Update to current value 

Accessibility contribution No change 

Car Club No change  

Car free No change 

Travel Plan Update travel plan fee 

Education contribution Increased contribution   

Healthcare contribution Increased contribution  

Training and Skills 
15% local jobs in construction 
phase 
Not less than 12 construction trade 
apprentices  

Increased provision of apprentices 
(recommend 2 additional). 

Open Space contribution No change 

Street Tree contribution No change  

Carbon Offset No change 

Design monitoring costs No change  

 
5.65 LBHF are involved in ongoing discussions regarding the S106 agreement and 

the final contributions have not been agreed to date. In principle, LBHF is 
satisfied that the proposed HOT to be secured with this s73 application are 
acceptable. Officers have discussed the S106 agreement with the OPDC and are 
satisfied that they will have continued involvement in securing adequate 
contributions.   

 
6.0       CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION  
  
6.1 The proposed variation is considered acceptable in terms of design, highways, 
environmental considerations subject to appropriate conditions and/or S106 obligations.  
  
6.2 LBHF will hold the nomination rights for the development and as such the 
affordable housing offer must be one that can be utilised by the Council for its residents. 
The Council would recommend that the 4 person 5 bedroom dwellings are increased to 
4 person 6 person dwellings, and that London Living Rent is applied to all unit sizes. 
The viability assessment submitted raises concerns as to the methodology adopted and 
the assumptions made to bring forward a scheme that is fundamentally unviable. Any 
s106 agreement should secure appropriate review mechanisms and clawbacks at the 
end of the 15 year covenant as advised by the Mayor’s Affordable Housing and Viability 
SPG, and secure options to reduce the rents on smaller unit sizes. Council do not object 
to the proposal on these grounds but recommend changes are sought if possible 
  

Page 285



 

6.3 That the OPDC be advised that LBHF does not object to the proposal but requests 
that the identified concerns raised with regards to the affordable housing products are 
considered.  
 
6.4 If OPDC are minded to approve the development, LBHF recommends the 
following conditions be placed on the consent; 
 
Recommended Conditions: 
Time Limit 
Drawings as approved 
1:20s 
Materials 
Ventilation Strategy 
Ventilation Strategy - implementation & verification 
External Seating 
Green Infrastructure 
Combustion Plan compliance with Emission Standards  
Ultra Low Emission Strategy 
Air Quality Dust Management Plan (Demolition and Construction) 
Preliminary risk assessment 
Site investigation scheme 
Qualitative risk assessment 
Remediation method statement 
Verification report  
Long term monitoring report.  
Demolition Logistics Plan 
Construction Logistics Plan 
Waste Management Plan 
Disabled Parking 
Cycle Parking 
Level Access 
 
 
 
 

Page 286


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Kensington Centre, 66 Hammersmith Road, Avonmore and Brook Green, 2017/04752/FUL
	5 The Castle Centre, Broomhouse Lane, Sands End, 2019/00732/FUL
	6 The Castle Centre, Broomhouse Lane, Sands End, 2019/00733/LBC
	7 West London Magistrates Court, 181 Talgarth Road, Hammersmith Broadway,  2019/00195/FUL
	8 M&S White City Site, 54 Wood Lane , College Park and Old Oak, 2019/01300/RES
	9 Mitre Yard, 104 - 108 Scrubs Lane, College Park and Old Oak, 2019/02610/OPDOBS

